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1

ON APR IL 10, 2019, a prominent Palestinian activist named Omar Barghouti 
arrived at Ben Gurion International Airport in Israel and learned that he could 
not board his flight to the United States because he was barred from entry. 
The Arab American Institute in Washington, DC, had invited Barghouti to 
come to the United States to participate in a series of lectures, debates, con-
versations, and interviews on Israel and human rights. Barghouti had sched-
uled speaking engagements at New York University and Harvard University, 
and he had planned to attend his daughter’s wedding in Texas. Barghouti had 
previously visited the United States, accepting the Gandhi Peace Award at Yale 
University in 2017, and possessed Israeli travel documents and a valid US visa, 
yet, US Citizenship and Immigration Services (USCIS) instructed the US con-
sulate to exclude him. According to Barghouti, USCIS did not provide a 
reason, stating at the time, it was an “immigration matter.” He believed it was 
an “ideologically and politically motivated measure” taken by the US govern-
ment based on his associations and expressions.1

Barghouti was born in Qatar in 1964, the son of a founding member of 
the Palestine Liberation Organization (PLO). He grew up in Egypt, earned a 
master’s degree in electrical engineering from Columbia University, and, in 
1993, settled in Israel. In 2005, Barghouti co-founded the Boycott, Divestment, 
and Sanctions movement (BDS), which seeks to pressure Israel to change its 
policies toward and treatment of Palestinians by ending international support 
for Israel through a global campaign of boycotts, economic sanctions, and 
public criticism.2

BDS has gained international attention and growing popularity on col-
lege and university campuses, where it has drawn comparisons to the 
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anti-apartheid student movement. Yet, BDS remains controversial within 
in the United States, described by some as an anti-Semitic movement that 
threatens Israel’s existence and jeopardizes US foreign relations with Israel.3 
The Israeli government has condemned BDS and, in 2017, passed an entry 
law excluding foreign nationals who “have issued a public call to boycott 
the State of Israel or pledged to participate in the said boycott.”4 Some 
American universities and colleges have sought to restrict or prevent BDS 
activism on their campuses, and the US Senate and various states have passed 
legislation to prohibit and penalize associations with BDS. Yet, these efforts 
have met public criticism and legal challenges as violations of the First 
Amendment’s constitutional protections of freedom of speech and associa-
tion, which, according to the US Supreme Court, include participation in 
economic boycotts.5

After being prevented from entering the United States, Barghouti re-
marked, “I am hurt, but I am not deterred.”6 While he arranged to give inter-
views and participate in events and discussions via live-streamed video con-
ference calls, his exclusion drew more public and media attention to his 
criticism of Israel and his BDS activism. Barring Barghouti also raised ques-
tions about the right of a sovereign nation to exclude or deport, the right of 
those who invited him to come to the United States to engage with him and 
his ideas, and whether his exclusion was a suppression of dissent that under-
mined the nation’s values and identity as a liberal democracy. Barghouti de-
scribed his exclusion as part of Israel’s repression of BDS— “outsourcing its 
anti-democratic tactics to the US.”7 Yet, others viewed it as an authentically 
American tool.

“This looks like an ideological exclusion, which is a long-discredited 
form of government censorship that prevents Americans from meeting 
with and hearing from a speaker whose views the government dislikes,” 
remarked Hina Shamsi, director of the American Civil Liberties Union’s 
National Security Project, when asked to comment on the decision to bar 
Barghouti from the United States. “Ideological exclusion was used in the 
past to revoke or deny visas to some of the world’s leading writers, artists, 
and thinkers. If the Trump administration is using this political censor-
ship tool again, it’s a disgrace and a violation of Americans’ First Amend-
ment rights.”8

If Shamsi is correct, Barghouti’s name will be added to the list of foreign-
born visitors or immigrants barred or expelled because of their political be-
liefs, expressions, and associations. The United States has a very long history 
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of such ideological exclusions and deportations. Threat of Dissent traces that 
history from the late eighteenth century to the War on Terror.

Beginning with the Alien Friends Act of 1798, Congress has passed or revised 
ideological exclusion and deportation laws in the name of national security 
during wartime or when on the brink of war, in the aftermath of a dangerous 
attack or act of violence, in an economic depression, and amid labor strikes 
or international tensions. These laws reveal an underlying, perpetual fear of 
internal and external subversion in the United States, as well as the percep-
tion of foreigners as the source of subversion, responsible for instigating dis-
sent and importing radical ideologies. Conflating foreigners and subversion 
in the United States, the passage and enforcement of ideological exclusion and 
deportation laws both reflected and manipulated the nation’s anxieties and 
fears.

American political theorist Corey Robin describes political repression as 
one of the consequences of “political fear.” He defines this fear as “a people’s 
felt apprehension of some harm to their collective well-being” and a response 
to “the intimidation wielded over men and women by governments or 
groups.” Thus, political repression includes policies and restrictions sup-
pressing free expression, belief, and association, as well as intimidation and 
fear. Public officials choose, identify, define, interpret, and respond to “objects 
of fear” in ways that are “influenced by their ideological assumptions and stra-
tegic goals.” According to Robin, liberal democracy and “constituent elements 
in the American polity can be both instruments of freedom and weapons of 
fear.” The rule of law and the political system can provide protection from po
litical repression, but can also serve to uphold and legitimate it.9

I argue that ideological exclusions and deportations are a consequence 
of the political fear of subversion. They are enduring tools of political re-
pression used to suppress the threat of dissent. This threat includes criti-
cism of the United States and its politicians, laws, and foreign and domestic 
policies; challenges to the status quo and capitalism; calls for reform or 
revolution; as well as associations with anarchist, Communist, or terrorist 
organizations perceived to subvert the United States and its government 
and / or commit, support, or encourage acts of violence. Rooted in earlier 
laws, ideological exclusions and deportations have continuously served to 
suppress the threat of dissent throughout the twentieth century and into 
the twenty-first.
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When public officials identify foreigners as objects of fear and deem 
dissent subversive and “un-American,” they are expressing “anti-radical 
nativism,” which historian John Higham defined as arising when the nation 
loses its “confidence” in the “stability of American institutions” and “nation-
alistic fears of revolution” reemerge.10 I contend that the fear of foreigners 
and subversion is constant. Ideological exclusions and deportations do not 
necessarily reflect a loss of confidence; rather, they employ suppression as a 
way to alleviate or increase this fear, extinguish the threat of dissent, promote 
political interests, or reflect national identity.

Ideological deportation laws, as well as denaturalization and restrictions 
on obtaining citizenship that facilitate deportation efforts, attempt to elimi-
nate a perceived internal threat of subversion by exploiting the vulnerability 
of foreign residents to expulsion. Conversely, ideological exclusion laws have 
prohibited foreign visitors and immigrants from entering the United States 
to prevent an external threat of subversion from becoming an internal one.

There are two types of ideological exclusion and deportation laws, which 
I refer to as “explicit” and “implicit.” Explicit restrictions are those that bar or 
eject noncitizens based on specific beliefs, expressions, or associations listed 
and defined within the text of a federal statute, typically an immigration law 
(such as barring anarchists, members of Communist organizations, or those 
who espouse, endorse, or materially support terrorism). Challenges to exclu-
sion or deportation of individuals under explicit restrictions focus on the 
interpretation and meaning of the specific language, syntax, and grammar 
used in the text of the statute, as well as the breadth or narrowness of the cat-
egories of beliefs, associations, and expressions listed in the statute.

Implicit restrictions are those that bar or eject noncitizens at the discre-
tion of a public official (such as the president, attorney general, or secretary 
of state), who determines that a foreign noncitizen would be prejudicial to 
the public interest or endanger the welfare, safety, or security of the United 
States if he or she were to enter or remain. Challenges to exclusion or depor-
tation under implicit restrictions focus on the reasons behind an official’s de-
cision to exclude or deport, the use or abuse of the official’s discretion and 
authority, and demonstrating the foreign noncitizen does not pose an actual 
threat to national security or to US foreign policy.

Selective ideological exclusions and deportations are a form of retaliation 
by the government to punish or suppress a specific foreign noncitizen because 
of his or her beliefs, expressions, or associations, including criticisms of the 
US government and its policies and participation in or association with organ
izations advocating reform or radical change. Public officials exclude or 
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deport these individuals under implicit and explicit ideological laws, as well 
as nonideological restrictions, such as barring or expelling individuals for 
illegal entry or for violating visa requirements. They may also advance a de-
ferred deportation or revoke a visa as a form of retaliation for dissent. The 
statutory basis is often a pretext used to selectively target individuals and to 
conceal the motivation to punish and suppress dissent. Challenges to selec-
tive exclusions or deportations focus on exposing the government’s motiva-
tion behind excluding or deporting this individual and the government’s 
abuse of authority and discretion under the law.

The legislative and executive branches of government have continuously 
struggled over the passage and revision of exclusion and deportation laws. 
Tensions have also arisen within and between these branches regarding the 
implementation and enforcement of these laws and specific instances of ide-
ological exclusions and deportations under them. Some of these tensions 
concerned discretionary authority held by public officials charged with en-
forcing restrictions.

Legal scholar Daniel Kanstroom has distinguished three main categories 
of discretion. “Prosecutorial discretion” is the exercise of authority to choose 
not to exclude or deport despite an explicit restriction or to defer or delay 
taking action to deport. “Ultimate discretion” is the exercise of absolute au-
thority to admit, deport, or exclude, with the final decision often left in the 
hands of a particular individual, such as the attorney general or the president. 
“Interpretive discretion” is the exercise of authority by public officials to in-
terpret the meaning of the explicit or implicit restrictions within the text of 
the statute to determine whether to exclude or deport.11

Immigration restrictionists have sought to prevent use of prosecutorial 
discretion, while advocates for more liberal immigration policies and oppo-
nents of ideological exclusion and deportation have supported it and ultimate 
discretion to admit, while pushing for reforms to immigration restrictions. 
They have also sought to prevent public officials’ abuse of ultimate or inter-
pretive discretion when enforcing implicit and explicit restrictions and argued 
for judicial review. Immigration restrictionists and advocates for liberal im-
migration policies have both engaged in congressional oversight of public 
officials’ use of discretion to exclude or deport.

Ideological exclusions and deportations present a unique intersection 
of immigration and First Amendment legal doctrine and precedent. While 
the Supreme Court has placed limits on public officials’ ultimate discretion to 
exclude or deport, the court has looked to immigration legal doctrine and 
precedent to guide its interpretation and evaluation of ideological restrictions 
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and their constitutionality. Despite acknowledgment of the First Amend-
ment implications of these restrictions, the majority of the court has con-
sistently interpreted cases of ideological exclusion or deportation as an 
immigration issue, rather than as a First Amendment issue.

The court’s application of immigration legal doctrine and judicial defer-
ence under it has served to insulate ideological exclusions and deportations 
from substantive judicial review under current First Amendment standards, 
including strict scrutiny, requiring restrictions to be narrowly tailored to serve 
a compelling governmental interest. It has also insulated ideological depor-
tation from constitutional protections under the Fifth Amendment, guaran-
teeing that no “person” in a criminal case be “compelled” to self-incriminate, 
“nor be deprived of life, liberty, or property without due process of law,” in-
cluding a fair, impartial hearing and constitutional rights and protections. De-
portation is considered a civil, not criminal, proceeding, and thus, is not 
subject to the same protections under the Fifth Amendment. I argue that by 
making this distinction and choosing to apply immigration legal doctrine and 
legal precedent, the majority of the court has helped to maintain and perpet-
uate the use of ideological exclusions and deportations as tools to suppress 
dissent and restrict free expression, association, and belief of citizens and non-
citizens within the United States.

Taking the opposite approach of the majority of the Supreme Court, civil 
liberties and immigration advocates, members of the press and the public, 
and those excluded or deported have interpreted ideological restrictions not 
as an immigration issue, but rather as a violation of First Amendment rights. 
They have described ideological exclusions and deportations as effectively 
transforming public officials into censors and have argued that barring for-
eigners from entry and expelling foreigners from the United States restrict 
Americans’ free speech and exchange, including the right to hear and receive 
information protected by the First Amendment.

Those critical of ideological restrictions have also noted that whereas the 
First Amendment makes no distinction between native or foreign-born 
citizens or between citizens and noncitizens, ideological deportation and 
denaturalization punish foreigners in the United States for their beliefs, as-
sociations, and expressions through expulsion or the threat of expulsion. The 
result is thus another violation of the First Amendment, referred to as the 
“chilling effect,” that leads to self-censorship, inhibiting and restricting ex-
pression, suppressing and concealing belief, and limiting and precluding as-
sociation due to intimidation and fear.
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Foreign-born residents share the fear of repression and prosecution under 
laws suppressing free expression, belief, and association felt by American-
born citizens, but they also experience the fear of potential denaturalization, 
deportation, and detention. Even if these foreign-born residents are never 
arrested and expelled or lose their citizenship, the intimidation and fear 
may prove equally or more potent as a form of repression. In the past, public 
officials exploited the fears and vulnerabilities of foreign residents through 
deportation drives and mass arrests, public announcements of the inten-
tion to deport thousands of foreigners, lengthy detentions and excessive bail, 
and burdensome supervisory parole requirements. This intimidation caused 
foreigners to fear deportation and some to preemptively leave the United 
States. Foreign visitors and immigrants worried about being excluded were 
also intimidated by long delays to obtain visas, intrusive interrogations and 
investigations, and the embarrassment of being barred if their visas were 
denied. Some simply decided not to come to the United States.

When Americans challenged the constitutionality of state and federal laws 
that suppressed free expression, belief, and association, state and federal 
courts often upheld these laws and legitimized prosecutions under them. Yet, 
when the Supreme Court struck them down and created speech-protective 
standards to evaluate the constitutionality of restrictions under the First 
Amendment, many jurists chose not to apply these new standards to cases 
involving foreigners facing ideological exclusion or deportation. For for-
eigners, the rule of law has served to reinforce political repression, rather 
than remove it. While for some the response to ideological restrictions has 
been fear, for others it has been defiance. In those cases, suppression tactics 
have often backfired, drawing more attention to First Amendment values and 
their violation and creating more support for radical movements and defense 
of free speech.

Critics of ideological exclusion and deportation laws have argued that 
these policies portray the United States as fearful and repressive and as turning 
its back on its core values and its identity as a nation of immigrants. They have 
claimed that such restrictions damage America’s reputation abroad by un-
dermining its image as a liberal democracy, which preserves and protects the 
free expression and exchange that are essential to self-government. Some have 
also criticized the application of immigration legal doctrine as threatening 
the founding constitutional principles of separation of powers and checks and 
balances by placing so much unchecked power in the legislative and execu-
tive branches to decide whom to bar or expel from the United States. To these 
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critics, ideological exclusions and deportations do not reflect a country that 
is a strong, fearless nation, upholding its democratic ideals and values, and 
welcoming of foreigners as a beacon of freedom; instead, exclusions and de-
portations reflect an insecure, repressive nation that fears and punishes dis-
sent and banishes and bars foreigners.

Political scientist Aristide Zolberg characterized the United States as a “na-
tion by design,” one that creates a national identity by controlling who can 
enter and reside within its borders.12 Thus, the nation’s identity is defined not 
only by whom it chooses to include, accept, and protect, but also by whom 
it chooses to exclude, deport, and suppress. Daniel Kanstroom and histo-
rian Deirdre Moloney have described immigration restrictions as filters or a 
form of social control used to shape America’s population and as reflections 
of societal values and prejudices.13 The same can be said of restrictions on 
free expression, belief, and association. The history of ideological exclusion 
and deportation in the United States reveals a national identity that has 
been shaped by fear of the threat of dissent and by the political repression 
of dissent.

The subject of ideological exclusion and deportation straddles immigra-
tion and free expression law and history and appears across works by histo-
rians and legal scholars. Some describe ideological exclusion or deportation 
within a limited time period, such as historian William Preston Jr.’s exami-
nation of the suppression of radicals during and after World War I in Aliens 
and Dissenters, or historian David Caute’s discussion of Cold War anti-
Communism during the 1940s and 1950s in The Great Fear.14 Immigration 
scholars have included examples of particular ideological restrictions in larger 
works on citizenship, deportation, exclusion, or refugee policy based on ra-
cial, economic, or religious discrimination.15 Civil liberties scholars have in-
corporated ideological exclusion and deportation in broader histories of 
American political repression or First Amendment jurisprudence, such as 
legal scholar Geoffrey Stone’s examination of restrictions on freedom of 
speech during wartime in Perilous Times.16

Threat of Dissent is the first book to focus exclusively on ideological exclu-
sion and deportation in the United States and to trace the legal, political, and 
social history of these restrictions over an extensive time period. This focus 
provides a fresh perspective on immigration and First Amendment law and 
history, while exploring their intersection.

This long, narrative examination reveals the dynamics and motivations 
behind the passage and use of ideological exclusion and deportation laws. It 
includes the vast network of legal and nonlegal actors who shaped, enforced, 



Introduction

9

interpreted, and challenged these laws, as well as the foreign-born immigrants 
and visitors who have faced ideological exclusion or deportation under them. 
This history also serves as a window to understandings of national identity, 
security, sovereignty, and foreign policy, the role of fear, dissent, and censor-
ship in society, xenophobia and nativism within legislation, and challenges 
to immigration and free speech restrictions and their constitutionality.

Threat of Dissent highlights the changes as well as the striking continuities 
within the history of ideological exclusion and deportation in the United 
States. Many of the figures described in the book include Supreme Court 
justices; legal advocates; deported or excluded foreign radicals; scholars, 
artists, and writers; and public officials. Some are familiar names, such as 
Justices Thurgood Marshall and Robert Jackson, Clarence Darrow, Emma 
Goldman, John Lennon, Charlie Chaplin, Carlos Fuentes, Frances Perkins, and 
J. Edgar Hoover. Others may be less familiar, such as Justice Frank Murphy, 
Carol King, Harry Bridges, Louis F. Post, Ernest Mandel, Senator Patrick Mc-
Carran, and Leonard Boudin. Some of these figures appear in more than one 
chapter. Like the narrative itself, they examine the meanings and effects of 
ideological exclusion and deportation within the United States. They also 
compare current restrictions with those in previous periods, placing them 
in historical context, as well as in light of American values, ideals, and legal 
precedent.

While this book covers such a long time period, it does not intend to serve 
as a general, all-encompassing history of immigration restriction and civil lib-
erties, and leaves discussions of discrimination and restriction based on 
race, ethnicity, gender, nationality, sexual orientation, religion, and socioeco-
nomic status to past and future scholarship. Other countries have barred or 
expelled foreigners from their borders, but this book is limited to analyzing 
ideological exclusion and deportation laws and challenges to them within the 
United States. Its goal is to explore the constitutionality of ideological restric-
tions as interpreted by American courts, as well as to examine this specific 
intersection of American immigration and First Amendment law and history. 
The book demonstrates how ideological restrictions fit within American 
jurisprudence and history, as well as their role in civil liberties and immi-
gration advocacy, including the legal challenges and public responses to ex-
clusion and deportation in the United States.

Threat of Dissent begins with the Alien Friends Act of 1798—the first im-
plicit ideological restriction—and continues through the nineteenth century 
with a discussion of sovereignty, self-preservation, and the establishment of 
federal immigration restriction and the plenary power doctrine. It enters the 
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twentieth century during the War on Anarchy after the assassination of Pres-
ident William McKinley in 1901, when Congress passed the first explicit 
ideological restriction in the United States, and the Supreme Court upheld 
its constitutionality. The narrative then traces this explicit restriction’s revi-
sions and expansions—and deportations under them. It also examines ques-
tions of interpretation and enforcement and the shift from the threat of an-
archism to that of Communism, from World War I to the Great Depression.

The book continues to explore these questions in the second half of the 
twentieth century, when foreigners faced deportation drives and visa denials 
during the Cold War. It then describes the response to the Nixon and Reagan 
administrations’ suppression of dissent and critics of their foreign policies 
under the McCarran-Walter Act of 1952, and the subsequent legal challenges. 
The book examines efforts in Congress to repeal ideological restrictions as 
the Cold War came to a close and how it introduced new restrictions as the 
threat of Communism shifted to that of terrorism. Threat of Dissent concludes 
with a discussion of ideological restrictions in the twenty-first century during 
the War on Terror, including the use of social media and guilt by association 
to chill speech, and the extreme vetting measures pursued by the Trump 
administration.
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I N HIS 1796 FAREWELL ADDRESS, President George Washington spoke to 
the American people as their “fellow-citizen” and an “old and affectionate 
friend.” Washington warned about the dangers of foreign influence, as well 
as political factions and divisions within the nation, for they “are likely, in the 
course of time and things, to become potent engines, by which cunning, am-
bitious, and unprincipled men will be enabled to subvert the power of the 
people and to usurp for themselves the reins of government.”

Turning to foreign affairs, the departing president advised the young 
country not to have “excessive partiality for one foreign nation and excessive 
dislike of another,” which he argued “gives to ambitious, corrupted, or de-
luded citizens (who devote themselves to the favorite nation), facility to be-
tray or sacrifice the interests of their own country, without odium, sometimes 
even with popularity.” Washington spoke of “the insidious wiles of foreign 
influence,” and that “a free people ought to be constantly awake, since his-
tory and experience prove that foreign influence is one of the most baneful 
foes of republican government.”

Washington cautioned against one political faction dominating and con-
trolling the government, claiming this could lead to a “more formal and per-
manent despotism” and would result in a gradual inclination by men to seek 
revenge and security through absolute power. He emphasized the importance 
of the separation of powers within the federal government and the need to 
guard against the “spirit of encroachment” and too much power held by one 
department without a check by others. Washington called for unity and for 
a focus on a shared story of fighting for liberty and forging a new nation 
together.1

1

Sovereignty and Self-Preservation
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The nation that Washington addressed was a deeply divided one. The ar-
guments over the ratification of the Constitution in 1787 had extended into 
the 1790s, reflecting a fundamental, perpetual disagreement over the role of 
the federal government and of the states in the new democratic republic. The 
Federalists, led by Washington, John Adams, and Alexander Hamilton, fa-
vored a strong central government, which encouraged business and trade. 
The Democratic-Republicans, led by Thomas Jefferson and James Madison, 
opposed a strong central government, favored independent farmers, and were 
concerned that the new Constitution had given too much power to the fed-
eral government, which could infringe upon the states’ autonomy and power.2

Washington’s warning about factions reflected his apprehension regarding 
the rise of Democratic-Republican societies, where people gathered to dis-
cuss politics and their opposition to his administration. These societies viewed 
themselves as preserving the “legacy of the Revolution,” which they argued 
Washington’s administration undermined with its financial policies and 
foreign relations with Great Britain. They considered open challenges to 
Washington’s decision-making as a patriotic check on federal power, and they 
believed sovereignty was held by the people and the individual states, and 
not by the federal government. The Federalists viewed these Democratic-
Republican societies as subversive, undermining the interests of the people 
and the government by expressing dissent and criticism in their own circles, 
and not through the electoral process and political petitions to Congress.3

The United States faced crisis not only at home, but also abroad. Interna-
tionally, the United States was caught in the middle of tensions between Great 
Britain and France following the French Revolution. In the 1790s, the Feder-
alists were pro-British, while the Democratic-Republicans were sympathetic 
to France.4 When France declared war on Great Britain in 1793, Washington 
issued a Proclamation of Neutrality, but in 1795, Washington signed the Jay 
Treaty with Great Britain. The treaty granted the United States “most favored 
nation status” and sent compensation for prerevolutionary debts and British 
seizure of American ships into arbitration.5 It exacerbated tensions with 
France, which considered the Jay Treaty a step away from neutrality and a step 
toward the United States’ open alliance with Great Britain.6 Because of this 
perceived partiality toward Great Britain and a step away from France, the 
Jay Treaty was also incredibly unpopular with Democratic-Republicans and 
was denounced by Jefferson.7

Both the Federalists and the Democratic-Republicans shared Washing-
ton’s concerns about foreign influence, but this consensus also served to 
contribute to the political chasm and increasing enmity within the United 
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States. Desperate to distinguish the United States from Europe and to increase 
partisan political gains, the Federalists and the Democratic-Republicans ac-
cused each other of changing the nature of the United States through its alli-
ances and partiality. The Democratic-Republicans charged the Federalists 
with bringing elements of British aristocracy to the United States, thus cor-
rupting the new nation’s experiment in democracy. The Federalists charged 
the Democratic-Republicans with bringing terror and chaos to the United 
States with their support of the French Revolution and referred to Democratic-
Republicans as American “Jacobins.”8

By 1798, the Federalists controlled Congress and, with the election of John 
Adams, the presidency as well. The nation’s division had grown even sharper 
and more contentious, and the United States was in a quasi-war with France. 
The infamous “XYZ Affair” was primarily responsible for Adams’s decision 
that the nation would enter this “virtual state of undeclared war.”9 This dip-
lomatic scandal involved three French agents (referred to as “X, Y, Z”) who 
demanded enormous concessions as a condition for continuing bilateral 
peace negotiations, including a $10 million loan and a $250,000 personal 
bribe to French foreign minister Charles Maurice de Talleyrand. The Amer-
ican delegates sent to France rejected these demands, replying “No. Not a six-
pence.”10 When this news broke, the Federalists urged war with France, 
while the Democratic-Republicans supported maintaining neutrality and 
openly denounced Adams.11

On the brink of open war with France, the Federalists passed legislation 
that conflated foreigners with dissent and subversion, and they abused their 
political power in the executive and legislative branches to exploit the vul-
nerability of foreign noncitizens. In addition to changing naturalization 
requirements and criminalizing criticism of Adams, Congress, and the quasi-
war, the Federalists also passed the Alien Friends Act in 1798, the first im-
plicit ideological deportation law. This act gave the president absolute 
power and discretion to deport any foreigner he deemed “dangerous to the 
peace and safety of the United States.” One of the legal justifications for the 
Alien Friends Act’s passage—Congress’s power to regulate commerce with 
foreign nations—was later used to support and strengthen federal power 
and regulation throughout the nineteenth century. Other justifications, in-
cluding national sovereignty and the inherent right of self-preservation, 
served as the basis for Congress’s plenary (absolute) power and the plenary 
power doctrine to uphold the constitutionality of federal immigration 
restriction.
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The Four Acts Passed in 1798

Before the American Revolution, individual colonies restricted their borders 
and expelled undesirable foreign newcomers.12 After the Revolution, these 
colonies-turned-states continued their practice of exclusion and ejection. 
Thus, individual states, and not the federal government, were responsible for 
the restrictions on foreigners coming to and residing in the United States.

By the late 1790s, the United States had become a haven for various refu-
gees, including French radicals and aristocrats, French planters escaping the 
Haitian Revolution, and persecuted Irish fleeing British rule.13 Approximately, 
80,000 had emigrated from Great Britain, 60,000 had arrived from Ireland, 
and 30,000 French immigrants were living in the United States, many of them 
residing in Philadelphia.14

The Democratic-Republicans worried that the Haitian planters would 
bring their sympathies for monarchy and fear of revolution to the United 
States and support the Federalists. They were also concerned that the free 
black Haitian émigrés would import radicalism and insurrection to the slave-
holding states.15 Meanwhile, the Federalists focused on the anti-British, anti-
monarchical Irish, who they feared would become Democratic-Republicans.16 
Irish immigrants who had been members of the United Irishmen, a secret 
organization fighting against British rule and for Irish independence, es-
tablished similar societies in the United States and voted Democratic-
Republican.17 The Federalists worried the Irish and French immigrants would 
unite and work together to bring rebellion against the United States and its 
government.18

The Federalists in Congress and members of the Adams administration 
had also become increasingly angered by the verbal and published attacks 
hurled at them by the Democratic-Republicans.19 In the 1790s, newspapers 
and their circulation increased, as did their partisanship and use by Hamilton 
and Jefferson as organs of the Federalists and the Democratic-Republicans, 
respectively.20 Encouraged by Jefferson, Benjamin Franklin Bache (Benjamin 
Franklin’s grandson), the editor of the Aurora, the leading Democratic-
Republican newspaper published in Philadelphia, explicitly and forcefully 
opposed the Jay Treaty. Bache turned the paper into an organizing vehicle for 
the Democratic-Republicans and their support for Jefferson.21 He denounced 
the Federalists and described the president as “old, querulous, Bald, blind, 
crippled, Toothless Adams.”22

As war with France loomed, the Federalists seized the opportunity to curb 
the Democratic-Republicans’ vitriol by turning them into the enemy. They 
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characterized the Democratic-Republicans as “foreign” and attacked their pa-
triotism by casting them as disloyal and subversive. Jefferson was the Feder-
alists’ main target. The Porcupine’s Gazette, Philadelphia’s Federalist newspaper 
and rival to Bache’s Aurora, described Jefferson, as “the head of the democratic 
frenchified faction in this country.” At a Federalist rally to celebrate the Fourth 
of July, all raised their glasses to Adams: “May he, like Samson, slay thousands 
of Frenchmen with the jawbone of Jefferson.”23 The Federalists declared that 
an American who opposed the Adams administration was a “traitor.” An-
other Federalist newspaper, the Gazette of the United States, coined the political 
slogan: “He that is not for us, is against us.”24

The Federalists’ turn toward federal legislation as a tool to suppress the 
threat of dissent began with naturalization. Under Article I of the Constitu-
tion, Congress held the power to “establish an uniform rule of Nationaliza-
tion,” and in 1790, it passed the first Naturalization Act. Attempting to en-
courage immigration to the new nation and increase citizenry, the act granted 
citizenship to “free white persons” of “good moral character” who had resided 
for two years in the United States.25 Fears of foreign influence and foreigners’ 
political participation and support for the Democratic-Republicans led Con-
gress, which was then controlled by the Federalists, to revise the Naturaliza-
tion Act in 1795, lengthening the time to become a US citizen by increasing 
the US residency requirement to five years.26

Now, on the brink of war, Federalists sought to more than double the resi-
dency requirement. On June 18, 1798, Congress passed a new Naturaliza-
tion Act, which increased the residency requirement to fourteen years. The 
act also included a requirement for all foreigners over the age of twenty-one 
to register with a clerk at the nearest US district court to entry or residence 
and provide identification information, including gender, place of birth, age, 
nation of origin and citizenship, occupation or status, and residence in the 
United States.27

One week later, on June  25, Congress passed an “An Act concerning 
Aliens” also known as the “Alien Friends Act.” It authorized the president “at 
any time during the continuance of this act, to order all such aliens as he shall 
judge dangerous to the peace and safety of the United States, or shall have 
reasonable grounds to suspect are concerned in any treasonable or secret 
machinations against the government thereof, to depart out of the territory 
of the United States, within such time as shall be expressed in such order.”28

Under the act, foreigners ordered deported could obtain a license from the 
president to remain if they could prove their presence posed “no injury or 
danger to the United States.” If a foreigner ordered deported did not obtain a 
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license and attempted to evade deportation, he or she could be imprisoned 
for up to three years, and the president could deport the foreigner at any time 
“if public safety requires a speedy removal.” If a foreigner who was deported 
returns without permission from the president, the foreigner could be im-
prisoned at the president’s discretion and for as long as the president is of the 
opinion that the public safety requires it. The act was passed as a temporary 
measure and set to expire two years from its passage.29

Anticipating war with France, the Federalists in Congress also pushed for 
a law to control, contain, and deport French residents during wartime. The 
following week, on July 6, 1798, Congress passed “An Act Respecting Alien 
Enemies,” which stated that during “a declared war between the United 
States and any foreign nation or government, or any invasion or predatory 
incursion . . . ​all natives, citizens, denizens or subjects of the hostile nation 
or government, being males of the age of fourteen years and upwards, who 
shall be within the United States, and not actually naturalized, shall be liable 
to be apprehended, restrained, secured and removed, as alien enemies.”30

The Federalists next turned their attention to the Democratic-Republicans’ 
criticisms, passing “An act for the punishment of certain crimes against the 
United States,” referred to as the “Sedition Act,” on July 14, 1798. It punished 
anyone who “shall write, print, utter or publish” any “false, scandalous and 
malicious writing or writings against the government of the United States, 
or either house of the Congress of the United States, or the President of the 
United States, with intent to defame the said government, or either house of 
the said Congress, or the said President, or to bring them, or either of them, 
into contempt or disrepute; or to excite against them, or either or any of them, 
the hatred of the good people of the United States, or to stir up sedition within 
the United States.”31 While proving the “truth” of the expression was a de-
fense under the Sedition Act, Democratic-Republicans argued this was near 
impossible to do with statements of political opinion.32 Those convicted 
under the Sedition Act faced a $2,000 fine and two years in prison. Like the 
Alien Friends Act, the Sedition Act was also a temporary measure, set to 
expire on March 3, 1801.

Over the course of four weeks in 1798, Congress had passed what would 
become considered the most despotic legislation in American history. The 
Democratic-Republicans denounced the passage of this restrictive legislation 
as unconstitutional and undermining American values in democracy, in-
cluding the separation of powers and sovereignty held by the people and the 
states, as well as freedom of speech and press. Jefferson wrote to Madison that 
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the Sedition Act and the Alien Friends Act were both “so palpably in the teeth 
of the Constitution as to shew they mean to pay no respect to it.”33

The Alien Friends Act

Crafted by a Federalist committee and passed quickly in the Senate, the Alien 
Friends Act faced two days of debate in the House of Representatives before 
its passage.34 The Democratic-Republicans in the House voiced their oppo-
sition, raising a number of arguments challenging its constitutionality and 
the power of the federal government to deport. The Democratic-Republicans 
first dismissed the Alien Friends Act as alarmist and unnecessary. They ar-
gued that the Federalists had failed to prove any threat or danger posed by 
foreigners in the United States and that the Alien Friends Act was too broad.35 
Not only was it unnecessary and excessive, but also existing state laws were 
sufficient to punish those who presented an actual threat.36

The Federalists declared that the United States had the right to expel 
whomever it wished. Furthermore, as a sovereign nation, the United States 
possessed the inherent right to self-preservation and could pass laws “neces-
sary and proper” to expel those foreigners who threatened that preservation 
and who sought to overthrow the government. The Federalists pointed to the 
preamble of the Constitution, “We, the people of the United States,” which 
established sovereignty and the right of the government to pass laws to main-
tain “domestic tranquility,” “provide for the common defence,” and “pro-
mote the general Welfare.”37 The Democratic-Republicans responded by ar-
guing that the sovereign power was held not by the federal government, but 
rather by the people and the states.38

While the Democratic-Republicans did not dispute that every nation held 
an inherent right to self-preservation to exclude foreigners from its borders, 
they insisted that the Constitution did not delegate that power to the federal 
government. Instead, the individual states held the exclusive power over the 
admission and expulsion of foreigners. The Democratic-Republicans cited the 
Tenth Amendment: “Powers not delegated to the United States by the Con-
stitution, nor prohibited by it to the States, are reserved to the States respec-
tively, or to the people.”39 The Federalists sarcastically dismissed this argu-
ment as suicidal at a time when the nation was on the brink of open war with 
France and there was an enemy within: “Though we see the knife of the traitor 
held to our throats, we are to wait until the State Governments come in and 
snatch it away.”40
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In an attempt to find more constitutional support for passage of the Alien 
Friends Act, the Federalists argued that because Congress held the power to 
regulate commerce with foreign nations, and foreigners generally came to 
the United States for commercial purposes, the Alien Friends Act was con-
stitutional as a permissible regulation of commerce.41 The Democratic-
Republicans assailed that argument as ridiculous, insisting that immigrants 
were not articles of commerce; the Alien Friends Act was a political measure, 
not a commercial one.42

The Democratic-Republicans then contended that even if the Federalists 
were correct and Congress did hold the power to regulate foreigners, it could 
not exercise that power now. The Migration Clause in Article I, Section 9 of 
the Constitution prevented Congress from prohibiting the “migration” or “im-
portation” of those “the States now existing shall think proper to admit” 
until 1808.43 The Federalists interpreted the clause differently. They first ar-
gued that the prohibition applied only to the importation of slaves, not to im-
migration or expulsion of free, European, white foreigners.44 The Federalists 
then insisted that even if the clause did apply to foreigners, importation and 
migration could be considered “admission,” and not expulsion. While the 
states controlled the admission of foreigners and the Migration Clause barred 
Congress from regulating such admission, it did not address or prohibit de-
portation. Thus, the Migration Clause did not bar Congress from passing an 
act authorizing the president to deport.45

In their final attempt to defeat the Alien Friends Act, the Democratic-
Republicans, led by New York Congressman Robert Livingston, argued that 
the act violated the separation of powers, the underlying principle of the na-
tion’s democratic, republican government, which had distinguished it from 
Europe’s monarchies. By placing absolute power and discretion to deport 
solely in the hands of the president, without a judicial check, and without due 
process protections under the Fifth Amendment, or legislative balance, the 
Alien Friends Act would create the potential for despotism. Enforcement of 
the act would be completely discretionary, and foreign residents could simply 
be deported at the whim of the president. Livingston predicted the Alien 
Friends Act would also cause foreigners to flee the United States in fear:

A careless word, perhaps misrepresented, or never spoken, may be suf-
ficient evidence; a look may destroy, an idle gesture may insure pun-
ishment; no innocence can protect, no circumspection can avoid the 
jealousy of suspicion; surrounded by spies, informers, and all that in-
famous herd which fatten under laws like this, the unfortunate stranger 
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will never know either of the law, or of the accusation, or of the judg-
ment, until the moment it is put in execution; he will detest your tyr-
anny, and fly from a land of desolators, inquisitions, and spies.46

Despite their efforts, Democratic-Republicans were unable to prevent the 
Alien Friends Act from becoming law; it passed in a partisan vote in the House 
of Representatives before Adams signed it. By this time, Livingston’s fears of 
fleeing foreigners had already come true, and his concerns regarding the Act’s 
arbitrary and capricious enforcement would prove prescient.

Even before passage of the Alien Friends Act, Jefferson observed that many 
who were frightened had begun to flee the United States.47 In July and Au-
gust, over a dozen ships filled with “anxious Frenchmen” transported them 
back to France or to Santo Domingo in Haiti. The Federalists celebrated their 
departure. “When the state is in danger and strong remedies are necessary . . . ​
none but an ENEMY can resist their use,” proclaimed the Albany Centinel. “Such 
remedies have been provided by the late Session of Congress; and however 
long the partisans of France may declaim against them, every good citizen 
rejoices in the provision, and will aid in giving it efficacy.”48

Secretary of State Timothy Pickering was a zealous, pro-British Federalist 
who had opposed neutrality and any attempt to negotiate with France and 
had actively encouraged Adams to go to war. He was the chief enforcement 
officer for the Alien Friends Act, as well as the Sedition Act.49 While Adams 
did not deport a single foreigner under the Alien Friends Act, he did never-
theless sign it into law, and he and Pickering did seek to deport foreigners 
under it. Ultimately, it is their use of the law, their attempts or refusal to de-
port, and the unchecked, absolute power and discretion Adams held under 
the Alien Friends Act that is most significant.

Pickering proposed that Adams should sign a few blank deportation 
warrants that Pickering and the cabinet would fill in later, and that Adams 
should find a person to assist with licenses for deportees if Adams saw fit to 
issue one to permit the deportee to stay.50 While Adams preferred to make 
the decision to deport himself, he signed three blank warrants.51

Georges-Henri-Victor Collot was one of the top names on Adams’ list to 
deport. Collot led an expedition of the western border, funded by the French 
government to learn more about the western and southern states and their 
attitude toward France and the United States. The purpose was to encourage 
states to “secede from the Union, and form a separate connection with a for-
eign power.” Believed to be a spy for France, it was assumed that Collot was 
one of the intended targets of the Alien Friends Act and would be one of the 
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Act Concerning Aliens. June 25, 1798, blank warrant, signed by John Adams. 
Timothy Pickering Papers

Collection of the Massachusetts Historical Society.
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first deported. It was understood between Adams and Pickering that one of 
the blank warrants was for Collot.52

Yet, Collot was never deported. Pickering was busy enforcing the Sedition 
Act and expressed his reservations about enforcing the Alien Friends Act 
when there was no mechanism within the act to detain foreigners once they 
received a deportation order. He believed deportees could simply flee or go 
into hiding. While Adams was eager to use the act to deport Collot, Pickering 
was more concerned about Collot returning to France and helping to plot an 
attack on the United States. Pickering arranged to withhold Collot’s passport 
to prevent him from returning to France. Collot found another way to travel 
to France and left the United States in 1800.53

Médéric-Louis-Elie Moreau de St. Méry was a French scholar and a former 
member of the French Assembly. Moreau had fled the Reign of Terror and 
settled in the United States; he opened a bookstore in Philadelphia in 1794. 
Members of Washington’s administration patronized the store, and Adams 
was a customer. It was not until 1798 that Moreau fell under the Federalists’ 
suspicions. Moreau ended up on Adams’s list of Frenchmen to be deported 
under the Alien Friends Act. When questioned why Moreau was on the list, 
Adams replied, “Nothing in particular, but he’s too French.” Moreau and his 
family resolved to voluntarily depart rather than face deportation under the 
Alien Friends Act. Pickering did not remove Moreau from the list, but he did 
help to provide Moreau with a “letters of safe conveyance” in order to hasten 
his voyage back to France. Moreau and his family left the United States in 
August 1798.54

Adams did not just use his authority and discretion to deport, but also to 
exclude foreigners from the United States. In July 1798, Rufus King, the Amer-
ican minister to England, informed Adams that French philosopher Pierre 
DuPont de Nemours and a delegation of French colleagues wished to obtain 
permission to come to the United States on a mission to improve and extend 
the sciences. Adams explained he was not willing to grant permission to 
DuPont or his delegation at present. “We have had too many French phi
losophers already,” Adams wrote, “and I really begin to think, or rather to 
suspect, that learned academies, not under the immediate inspection and 
control of government, have disorganized the world, and are incompatible 
with social order.”55

Adams and Pickering also sought to use the Alien Friends Act and Sedi-
tion Act to supplement each other to suppress dissent and Democratic-
Republican criticisms. Irish immigrant John D. Burk headed the New York 
local lodge of the United Irishmen and co-edited the Democratic-Republican 
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journal, New York Time Piece. Pickering believed prosecuting Burk under the 
Sedition Act would prove more expedient in silencing him, but also intended 
to deport him under the Alien Friends Act after his prosecution and punish-
ment for sedition. Burk attempted to strike a deal with the Adams adminis-
tration. If Adams agreed to authorize the dismissal of his case and release him 
on bail, Burk promised to voluntarily depart the United States. Adams agreed. 
While Burk led Pickering to believe he would honor their agreement, he 
subsequently went into hiding in Virginia and waited until the Alien Friends 
Act expired.56

The Federalists were adamant in their desire to suppress Benjamin Franklin 
Bache and his Democratic-Republican newspaper Aurora, and they could not 
wait for Congress. Three weeks before Adams signed the Sedition Act into 
law, the Federalist-dominated government arrested Bache and charged him 
with violating common law seditious libel.57 Before he could be brought to 
trial, Bache died of yellow fever.

The Federalists then shifted their efforts to silence Bache’s successor, Wil-
liam Duane. Pickering directed William Rawle, a federal district attorney, to 
bring a sedition prosecution against Duane. He also urged Adams to deport 
Duane under the Alien Friends Act. Pickering argued that while Duane “pre-
tends to be an American citizen, saying that he was born in Vermont,” he was 
born in America “before our revolution” and remained a British subject when 
he was raised in Ireland as a child. “He is doubtless a United Irishman, and 
the company is probably formed, to oppose the authority of the Govern-
ment; and in case of war and invasion by the French, to join them.”58 Adams 
agreed to authorize Duane’s deportation. Pickering proceeded with the 
Sedition Act prosecution, and intended to subsequently deport Duane. 
The prosecution was unsuccessful and eventually dismissed, and Duane 
was never deported.59

While Adams intended to deport under the Alien Friends Act, he would 
not act as a rubberstamp, and he used his absolute authority and ultimate dis-
cretion to refuse to deport a former friend and supporter. Dr.  Joseph 
Priestley was an eminent scientist and theologian whom Adams had met in 
England. Priestley settled in Pennsylvania in 1796 and published a series of 
his sermons, which he dedicated to Adams. When Adams became president, 
Priestley wrote to him, recommending Thomas Cooper for a political ap-
pointment. Adams did not answer him—it was his practice never to reply to 
solicitations.60 Priestley then began to circulate articles Cooper had written 
that were critical of Adams and published in Democratic-Republican news-
papers. When Cooper would later face prosecution under the Sedition Act, 
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Pickering recommended Priestley’s deportation under the Alien Friends Act.61 
Perhaps seeking to justify his decision to let Priestley remain in the country 
despite his views and criticisms, Adams described Priestley as “weak as water, 
as unstable as Reuben or the wind. His influence is not an atom in the world.”62

Separation of Powers

The Democratic-Republicans immediately and vehemently denounced the 
Alien Friends Act and Sedition Act. They condemned the acts in the press and 
organized drives to send petitions demanding that Congress repeal them.63 
The Virginia and Kentucky Resolutions, drafted by Madison and Jefferson, 
respectively, attacked the Alien Friends Act and Sedition Act as unconstitu-
tional, exceeding the delegated power to the federal government.

In the Virginia Resolution, Madison declared that both acts would “trans-
form the present republican system of the United States, into an absolute, or 
at best a mixed monarchy.”64 Madison argued that the Alien Friends Act “sub-
verts the general principles of free government.” Adams’s unchecked, unlim-
ited power and discretion to deport anyone he deemed “dangerous to the 
peace and safety of the United States” violated the constitutional principle 
of separation of powers “by uniting legislative and judicial powers to those 
of executive.”65

Pennsylvania Congressman Albert Gallatin, a Democratic-Republican 
who was an emigrant from Switzerland, helped to lead the charge against pas-
sage of the Alien Friends Act. During the debates in the House of Represen-
tatives, Gallatin argued that the Alien Friends Act’s authorization of deporta-
tion of foreigners violated the Fifth Amendment, which specified no “person” 
should be deprived of due process protections and thus applied to foreign 
noncitizens, as well as American citizens within the United States.66 In 1799, 
Gallatin denounced the Alien Friends Act and called for its repeal. He con-
tended the act was not a necessary measure to protect the United States, but 
rather one used to try to suppress political opinion and dissent. The act ex-
ploited the vulnerability of noncitizens to potential deportation and coerced 
their silence through fear. Gallatin described the justification of the Alien 
Friends Act as part of a fear of “subversion of religion, morality, law and gov-
ernment.” Gallatin called these fears “pretended dangers” in America, “the vi-
sionary phantoms of a disordered imagination,” used to establish Congress’s 
power and its “substantial despotism on the ruins of our Constitution.”67

Addressing the effect and dangers of the Alien Friends Act, Gallatin de-
cried the absolute power it gave President Adams to deport foreigners, 
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“holding the rod of terror over their heads, and leaving their fate at his sole 
disposal.” He argued such power “renders them complete slaves of the Presi-
dent, and makes them proper instruments for the execution of every project 
which ambition may suggest, which faction may dictate.” He asked, “Is that 
a government of laws which leaves us no security but in the confidence we 
have in the moderation and patriotism of one man?” Foreshadowing the dan-
gers of laws placing unlimited power in the president, Gallatin urged his col-
leagues to think about that power left in the wrong hands. Congress might 
think such power was safe with the president when it passed the law, but one 
day that power could be left with another president in “whom they do not 
place the same confidence.”68

The Democratic-Republican petitions and the Virginia and Kentucky Res-
olutions were unsuccessful in persuading members of Congress to repeal 
the Alien Friends Act and Sedition Act. Federalists arrested twenty-five 
Democratic-Republicans under the Sedition Act, with ten indicted, tried, and 
convicted, including leading critics of Adams and his administration: Mat-
thew Lyon, Thomas Cooper, and James Callender.69

Yet, if the intention of these prosecutions was to suppress dissent, it back-
fired. Since passage of the Alien Friends Act and Sedition Act, the number of 
Democratic-Republican newspapers had tripled, and they continued to pub-
lish denunciations of both acts and of Adams.70 A year after passage of the 
acts, tensions between France and the United States eased, Adams opened 
peace negotiations, and the quasi-war ended in 1799. Peace could not 
save Adams’s presidency, however. The unpopularity of the Alien Friends 
Act and Sedition Act led to his losing reelection to Jefferson. As president, 
Jefferson did not repeal the Alien Friends Act and Sedition Act, but rather 
allowed them to expire. He did sign the Naturalization Act of 1802, which 
repealed the fourteen-year residency requirement in the 1798 Act. Even 
though the United States never went to war with France, the Alien Enemies 
Act remained in place and was later used in the War of 1812 and during 
World War I.

Since their expiration, the Alien Friends Act and Sedition Act of 1798 have 
been recalled in popular memory only as repressive laws, which undermined 
the Constitution and America’s democratic values and protection of free press 
and speech. The Sedition Act, and the prosecutions under it, sought to sup-
press Democratic-Republicans’ criticisms. Although there were no depor-
tations under the Alien Friends Act, it was a politically motivated tool to 
suppress dissent and internal subversion. While the Alien Friends Act ex-
pired, the threat of deportation and use of fear and intimidation to force 
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foreigners to choose removal or voluntary departure would persist, as 
would arguments about due process protections, the dangers of consoli-
dated absolute power, and the Federalists’ legal arguments supporting the 
Alien Friends Act’s passage.

Developing the Plenary Power Doctrine

During the nineteenth century, the United States experienced various waves 
of immigration, which helped to forge its identity as a “nation of immi-
grants.” Yet, immigration during this period was not open and unrestricted.71 
States continued to control their borders, and state legislatures passed re-
strictions under their “police power,” an inherent power held by each sov-
ereign state to regulate, protect, and promote the health, safety, morals, and 
general welfare.72

States expressed their sovereignty through restrictions, which reflected 
their focus on self-preservation and their fears of subversion through pov-
erty, labor competition, race, and revolution. Tensions developed over the ex-
tent of state and federal power under the Constitution to restrict people 
from entering and moving within the United States. The Supreme Court 
began to strike down state laws as violating Congress’s power to regulate com-
merce with foreign nations under the Constitution. Its decisions helped 
open the door to federal immigration restrictions in the late nineteenth 
century. The court upheld the constitutionality of these restrictions as a part 
of Congress’s power to protect national security. It located this plenary (ab-
solute) power to restrict immigration in a nation’s sovereignty and its inherent 
right to self-preservation.

The nineteenth century saw an influx of Irish immigrants. Between 1820 
and 1840, 700,000 Irish immigrants arrived in United States.73 Between 1846 
and 1855, as more left Ireland due to the potato blight and famine, 1.8 million 
immigrated to North America.74 Pauperism among immigrants led to hos-
tility toward newcomers and concern that they would become a burden on 
the state and its resources. States turned to the English poor laws for guid-
ance. Under these laws, the poor were the responsibility of the local com-
munity where they were legally “settled.” States such as Massachusetts passed 
legislation to prevent the poor or those likely to become a public charge from 
entering and becoming legally settled.75 In response to an increase in immi-
gration, New York began to create workhouses and almshouses in 1824, not 
for charitable purposes, but rather as a way to control the poor and save the 
state money.76
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Massachusetts and New York both required bonds and / or a passenger or 
“head” tax to compensate the state for those likely to become a public charge. 
In 1820, Massachusetts began to demand security from vessels in the form 
of a bond to indemnify it for three years with respect to any passenger likely 
to become a public charge. In 1831, the state offered a choice to post secu-
rity for each foreign passenger deemed likely to become a pauper or pay $5 
per passenger to compensate the state. As more arrived, Massachusetts 
changed the requirements in anticipation of paupers settling within the state. 
In 1837, it required vessels to post bond for “high risk” foreign passengers 
likely to become a public charge and pay $2 per foreign passenger who was 
not a risk.77 The New York Commissioners of Emigration helped enforce New 
York’s exclusion laws, as well as facilitating the voluntary departure of for-
eign paupers back to Europe.78

With the discovery of gold in California in 1848, immigrants and native-
born Americans all rushed to the West Coast to seek their fortune. Chinese, 
mostly men and traveling alone, arrived in California and worked alongside 
Irish immigrants in the mines and later on the railroads.79 Many of the Chi-
nese immigrants could not afford passage to the United States, and so they 
entered a contract labor system, similar to indentured servitude. Companies 
would arrange to bring Chinese immigrants to California, where the Chi-
nese would work in the mines to pay off their debt. As competition grew, 
so did resentment and racial discrimination against the Chinese. Other 
miners argued they simply could not compete against contract laborers, 
who worked for small wages or none at all and lived cheaply without fami-
lies to support.80 They likened contract labor to slave labor and Chinese 
miners to African American slaves, while characterizing the Chinese as 
inferior, immoral heathens, who would never be able to assimilate into 
American society.81 California legislators began to pass racially discrimi-
natory laws, including a head tax, aimed at restricting the Chinese, and a 
“Foreign Miners’ Tax.”82

While state self-preservation focused on economics, race and nationality, 
and labor competition, it also included rebellion and the subversion of slavery 
within the United States and from those abroad. As slavery split the nation, 
it also led to both Northern and Southern states passing restrictions on the 
residence and migration of free African Americans. In the North, many of 
those who opposed slavery also opposed a racially integrated society. Some 
pushed for the exclusion of free African Americans from their states, fearing 
that their calls for abolition would lead to an influx.83 The American Colo-
nization Society (1816) advocated for gradual abolition and the deportation 
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of freed African Americans out of the United States. The society worked 
with states that wanted to arrange to send African Americans out of the 
United States, and it sponsored colonies to establish settlements in Liberia 
in 1821 for this purpose.84

In the South, slave-holding states feared that free black individuals residing 
in their states would present a grave threat to slavery and would inspire and 
encourage slave escapes, conspiracies, and revolts. States began by excluding 
Haitians in fear that those who fled on their own, or were expelled, would in-
fect American slaves with the dangerous idea of revolt.85 With a growing 
abolitionist movement, slave-holding states barred entry of free black people 
who were not already residents, and imposed penalties on those bringing in 
free black people from other states. Some states required individuals to leave 
the state upon emancipation. Those permitted to remain within these states 
faced restrictions, including registration requirements and proof of their free 
status, without which they could face expulsion.86

In the wake of Denmark Vesey’s slave revolt conspiracy in 1822, South 
Carolina passed a “Negro Seamen Act” to prevent the “moral contagion” of 
freedom from spreading and infecting its slaves. The act required “free ne-
groes or persons of color” to remain on their vessels docked at local ports, 
and they were barred from entry. Other states including Florida, Alabama, 
Georgia, North Carolina, Louisiana, Texas, and Mississippi would pass similar 
acts to prevent this moral contagion of freedom from threatening slavery 
within their states.87

While states passed restrictions to control their borders and alleviate con-
cerns and economic burdens presented by increased migration and immi-
gration, this use of their police power also faced legal challenges under the 
Constitution. Federal courts struck down state restrictions under Article VI 
of the Constitution. Referred to as the “Supremacy Clause,” this section of the 
Constitution prevents the states from exercising or interfering with a power 
held by Congress.88 The federal courts that struck down these laws focused 
on conflicts with Congress’s power to regulate commerce with foreign na-
tions. This was one of the justifications the Federalists articulated to support 
passage of the Alien Friends Act and its constitutionality.

In Elkison v. Deliesseline (1823), a Jamaican sailor challenged his deten-
tion under South Carolina’s Negro Seaman Act. The circuit court held the 
law was an unconstitutional restriction of commerce with foreign nations 
and treaties with foreign nations, which was a specific power delegated to 
Congress under the Constitution. The foreign vessels coming into the port 
and navigating the seas were part of foreign commerce, and the exclusion 
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and detention of individuals on those vessels interfered with commerce and 
international relations.89

In Gibbons v. Ogden (1824), the Supreme Court issued a landmark decision 
striking down a New York law granting Robert R. Livingston and Robert 
Fulton exclusive rights to navigating New York waterways with steamboats. 
The court held that Congress’s power to regulate interstate and foreign com-
merce under the Constitution extends to “navigation” and commercial inter-
course through connected waterways. It described Congress’s power over 
interstate and foreign commerce as “plenary” within its sovereignty as “a 
single government.”90

In 1849, the Supreme Court struck down a head tax imposed in New York 
and Boston ports as an unconstitutional regulation of interstate and foreign 
commerce. In what were referred to as the Passenger Cases, the court held 
the requirement of vessels to pay the state per passenger interfered with the 
exercise of “commercial power,” which was “vital” to the Union. Congress, 
and not the states, had exclusive jurisdiction to regulate it. The state’s police 
power, including “safety, health, and morals of its citizens,” was restricted by 
the Constitution. “The police power of the state cannot draw within its juris-
diction objects which lie beyond it. It meets the commercial power of the 
Union in dealing with subjects under the protection of that power, yet it can 
only be exerted under peculiar emergencies and to a limited extent.” States 
circumvented this prohibition on head taxes, by requiring a bond for all pas-
sengers or voluntary payment.91

While the federal courts maintained that states still retained control over 
who resided within their borders under their police powers and state sover-
eignty, these decisions revealed a growing conflict between state regulation 
of immigration and powers held by Congress. They also foreshadowed the 
Supreme Court upholding federal regulation of immigration two decades 
later.

After the Civil War, the United States shifted from a union of states to one 
nation, and sought to reconstruct its national identity as it worked to incor-
porate newly freed slaves, and to provide citizenship and civil and political 
rights protections for African Americans.92 During this period, Congress also 
began to pass laws to regulate immigration.

In 1868, the United States, seeking to improve relations and to increase 
trade and commerce with China, signed the Burlingame Treaty.93 This agree-
ment established an open immigration policy and permitted “free and vol-
untary” migration of Chinese to the United States and of Americans to 
China.94 Both nations recognized “the inherent and inalienable right of man 
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to change his home and allegiance, and also the mutual advantage of the free 
migration and emigration of their citizens and subjects respectively from the 
one country to the other for purposes of curiosity, of trade, or as permanent 
residents.”95 While the Burlingame Treaty stated that American and Chinese 
visitors or residents were entitled to the same privileges, immunities, and ex-
emptions as its nation’s citizens, the treaty also specified that this entitle-
ment did not include citizenship.96

In 1870, Congress revised naturalization requirements intentionally 
seeking to prevent Chinese immigrants from becoming citizens.97 Congress 
expanded naturalization to “aliens of African nativity and to persons of Af-
rican descent,” in addition to “free white persons” and those of “good moral 
character.”98 It implicitly excluded the Chinese, who were not considered 
“white.”99

During the 1870s, the United States suffered an economic depression, 
which led not only to unemployment, but also to domestic concerns re-
garding increased poverty, prostitution, disease, and criminality. Foreigners 
became the scapegoats for these concerns, and their exclusion became the 
solution to the nation’s problems. The main scapegoats were the Chinese, who 
were described as racially inferior and biologically incapable of assimilation. 
Some even likened the Chinese to an infectious disease that could contami-
nate American society and culture.100 When labor unions, anti-Chinese ad-
vocates, and California legislators demanded protection and federal assistance 
against what they referred to as the “Yellow Peril,” Congress took action.101

In 1875, Congress passed the Page Act.102 It excluded foreign women “im-
ported for the purposes of prostitution” (which was used to target Chinese 
women) and foreigners who were convicted of a felony (except for political 
crimes) or who agreed to emigrate instead of serving their sentence in their 
country.103 The act’s provisions also directly addressed the perceived threat 
of contract labor and, specifically, of Asian contract laborers. It punished any 
person involved in the contract labor system, including contractors and those 
transporting foreign contract laborers to the United States, as well as the 
transport of “any subject of China, Japan, or any Oriental country, without 
their free and voluntary consent, for the purpose of holding them to a term 
of service.”104

A few months after Congress passed the Page Act, the Supreme Court de-
clared state laws requiring bonds for immigrants in California, New York, 
and Louisiana unconstitutional because these restrictions interfered with 
Congress’s power to regulate foreign commerce and relations.105 In Henderson 
et  al. v. Mayor of City of New York (1875), the Supreme Court held that the 
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“passage of laws which concern the admission of citizens and subjects of 
foreign nations to our shores belongs to Congress, and not to the states. It 
has the power to regulate commerce with foreign nations; the responsibility 
for the character of those regulations and for the manner of their execution 
belongs solely to the national government.” The court identified immigrants 
as part of commerce. “In addition to the wealth which some of them bring, 
they bring still more largely the labor which we need to till our soil, build our 
railroads, and develop the latent resources of the country in its minerals, its 
manufactures, and its agriculture.”106

The court acknowledged that states held the police power to pass laws to 
protect their residents against “paupers and convicted criminals from abroad,” 
but it was careful to note that such laws would be in the “absence of legisla-
tion by Congress.” It also stated that these state laws should be “the subject 
of a uniform system or plan. The laws which govern the right to land pas-
sengers in the United States from other countries ought to be the same in New 
York, Boston, New Orleans, and San Francisco.”107 The court thus not only 
asserted the federal government’s constitutional authority to regulate immi-
gration, but also opened the door to Congress seizing that authority and 
passing more immigration restrictions.

By the late 1870s, Californian legislators continued to pressure Congress 
to exclude Chinese immigrants from the United States.108 In 1880, Congress 
amended the Burlingame Treaty to allow the United States to “regulate, limit 
or suspend” the immigration of additional Chinese laborers, but permitted 
those who were already in the United States to “go and come of their own 
free will.”109 The amendment also authorized the United States to restrict 
entry or residence when it “affects or threatens to affect the interests of that 
country, or to endanger the good order of the United States or of any locality 
within the territory thereof.” Under the treaty, however, the United States 
could not entirely prohibit immigration, and the power to suspend was 
limited to Chinese laborers.110 These revisions to the Burlingame Treaty did 
not satisfy Chinese exclusion advocates, who pressed Congress for stricter 
restrictions.111

In 1882, Congress answered their calls with what was referred to as the 
“Chinese Exclusion Act.” This act suspended immigration of Chinese “skilled 
and unskilled laborers and Chinese employed in mining” for ten years, and 
explicitly barred all Chinese from becoming United States citizens.112 Two 
years later, Congress revised the Chinese Exclusion Act to require all Chi-
nese in the United States to have a certificate stating their name, age, and 
occupation in order to remain, leave, and reenter the United States.113 Anti-
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Chinese advocates and anti-Chinese violence on the West Coast pushed 
Congress to amend the Chinese Exclusion Act in 1888.114 This amendment 
prohibited all Chinese miners and skilled and unskilled laborers from en-
tering the United States, and it invalidated the certificates, such that all Chi-
nese who left the United States carrying certificates, were now excluded 
and denied reentry.115

Chinese residents ensnared by these restrictions and amendments, as well 
as those excluded from the United States, brought legal challenges against 
these federal immigration laws. Chae Chan Ping, a Chinese laborer who had 
left the United States with a certificate and was excluded under the 1888 
amendment to the Chinese Exclusion Act, challenged the constitutionality 
of his exclusion and the act itself for violating the Burlingame Treaty.116

In Chae Chan Ping v. United States (1889), referred to as the “Chinese Exclu-
sion Case,” the Supreme Court unanimously upheld the constitutionality of 
the Chinese Exclusion Act and Ping’s exclusion under it. The court held that 
Congress had the ability to pass legislation to amend, revise, or even revoke 
a treaty. Thus, it was the Chinese Exclusion Act, amended in 1888, and not 
the Burlingame Treaty, that applied to Ping and authorized his exclusion.117 
The court also held that Congress possessed the power to regulate immigra-
tion and exclude foreigners, and the judiciary should defer to Congress and 
not question this power or the motivations behind such regulation.118

Justice Stephen J. Field wrote the court’s opinion. He was a former chief 
justice of California’s supreme court and the justice who sat on the Ninth 
Circuit.119 Field began his analysis by delivering a brief history of Chinese 
immigration to the United States and of the state and federal legislation 
restricting and excluding these newcomers. He described Chinese immi-
grants as “strangers in the land, residing apart by themselves, and adhering 
to the customs and usages of their own country.”120 He recounted California 
legislators’ fears of being overrun by Chinese “in numbers approaching the 
character of Oriental invasion” and their concerns that Chinese laborers 
“had a baneful effect upon the material interests of the state and upon public 
morals” and were a “menace to our civilization.”121

Defending Congress’s passage of Chinese Exclusion in light of this per-
ceived foreign threat to the United States and national security, Field wrote, 
“If, therefore, the government of the United States, through its legislative de-
partment, considers the presence of foreigners of a different race in this 
country, who will not assimilate with us, to be dangerous to its peace and se-
curity, their exclusion is not to be stayed because at the time there are no 
actual hostilities with the nation of which the foreigners are subjects.”122
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Field emphasized the importance of the United States as acting as “one 
people, one nation, one power” in foreign relations and regulating commerce 
with foreign nations.123 Yet, he did not base Congress’s constitutional au-
thority to exclude immigrants on foreign commerce.124 Instead, he rearticu-
lated another one of the Federalists’ justifications for the constitutionality of 
the Alien Friends Act of 1798 by locating the power held by Congress to 
regulate immigration within a nation’s sovereignty, right to self-preservation, 
and “security against foreign aggression and encroachment.”125 Field ex-
plained that if an independent nation could not exclude foreigners from its 
shores, it would be subject to the control of another foreign power, and thus, 
an independent nation would cease to remain independent.126

A few months after passing the Chinese Exclusion Act, Congress began 
incorporating restrictions used by individual states into federal legislation. 
The Immigration Act of 1882 excluded “any convict, lunatic, idiot, or any 
person unable to take care of himself or herself without becoming a public 
charge.”127 This Act also levied a fifty-cent tax on every foreigner landing in 
the United States, collected by the United States Treasury Department and 
deposited into “an immigrant fund,” which would be used to defray immi-
gration regulation expenses, take care of immigrants, and enforce the Immi-
gration Act.128 The act left the inspection of foreigners and of enforcement 
of their exclusion to the state immigration commissions, boards, and officers, 
as well as state immigration charities, without compensation from the fed-
eral government.129

In 1891, Congress passed a comprehensive Immigration Act that excluded 
idiots, insane persons, paupers or persons likely to become a public charge; 
persons suffering from loathsome or a dangerous contagious disease; persons 
who have been convicted of a felony (except for political crimes) or other in-
famous crime or misdemeanor involving moral turpitude; polygamists; and 
contract laborers, or those whose passage was paid for by another.130 It also 
established a Bureau of Immigration and a superintendent of immigration 
under the Treasury Department. Federal immigration officers appointed by 
the Treasury Department were responsible for enforcing immigration laws.131

This act marked the end of state-controlled immigration restrictions. 
In 1892, Ellis Island in New York harbor opened as a federal immigration 
depot, designed to enforce immigration laws and to sort, inspect, and de-
tain immigrants pending entry to the United States or deportation to their 
country of origin. Ellis Island also featured a hospital where immigrants 
could receive medical treatment for curable diseases before their entry to 
the United States.
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In 1892, a Japanese woman named Nishimura Ekiu challenged her exclu-
sion under a provision in the Immigration Act of 1891, which barred those 
likely to become a public charge. In Nishimura Ekiu v. United States, the Supreme 
Court upheld Ekiu’s exclusion under the 1891 act’s provisions, reaffirmed the 
Chinese Exclusion Case, and articulated the plenary power doctrine,132 estab-
lishing Congress’s constitutional power to exclude foreigners:

It is an accepted maxim of international law that every sovereign na-
tion has the power, as inherent in sovereignty, and essential to self-
preservation, to forbid entrance of foreigners within its dominions, 
or to admit them only in such cases and upon such conditions as it may 
see fit to prescribe.133

The court also upheld the constitutionality of the act’s delegation of its en-
forcement to the Treasury Department and federal immigration officers.134 
These immigration officers were the sole judges of the facts leading to exclu-
sion, and no other tribunal, unless expressly authorized by law, could ques-
tion the decision or the sufficiency of the evidence on which these officials 
acted. The judiciary should defer to the decisions of Congress and of the im-
migration officers.135

In Fong Yue Ting v. United States (1893), a 6–3 decision, the Supreme Court 
reaffirmed the plenary power doctrine. Writing for the majority, Justice 
Horace Gray cited international law to support the doctrine, such as Swiss 
Political Philosopher Emmerich de Vattel’s Law of Nations, which included the 
right to deport, as well as the right to exclude, those who could corrupt or 
disrupt, as what a sovereign nation “owes to itself, the care of its own safety.” 
Gray then extended the plenary power doctrine to include Congress’s power 
to deport foreigners residing in the United States, as well as to exclude. He 
eliminated any distinction between deportation and exclusion for due pro
cess purposes, and he dismissed the idea that deportation triggered more sub-
stantial procedural safeguards associated with punishment, including a fair 
hearing, access to counsel, and constitutional protections.136

Justice Field wrote a dissenting opinion. He described deportation as “ban-
ishment” and a “cruel and unusual” punishment without due process. Field 
argued that deportation should receive greater legal protection than exclu-
sion, because, while constitutional protections did not apply to foreigners 
outside of the United States, such protections should apply to those residing 
within the nation’s borders.137 Field also distinguished this case from his 
holding in the Chinese Exclusion Case by emphasizing that the right to ex-
clude was inherent in a nation’s sovereignty, but the right to deport was not. 
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Field declared the people were sovereign.138 Like Albert Gallatin, Field insisted 
that foreigners, as well as citizens, were entitled to due process protection 
under the Constitution. Field then likened the law to the Alien Friends Act, 
citing James Madison’s condemnation of President Adams’s ultimate power 
to deport foreigners he deemed dangerous and Madison’s characterization 
of such deportation as “banishment” and a form of “punishment.”139

In his farewell address, George Washington cautioned the American people 
against foreign influence, partiality for one nation and excessive dislike for 
another, and the ability of cunning, ambitious, and unprincipled men to 
subvert the power of the people and the values of the nation and to usurp 
the reins of government. He warned them of the despotism caused by men 
seeking revenge and security through absolute power and the danger of 
one branch of government holding too much power without a check by 
the others.

Examples of many of these dangers would appear at different points over 
the course of the next two centuries, beginning two years later in 1798, with 
passage of the Alien Friends Act and Sedition Act. Legislators and the 
American public would be haunted by this legislation that encapsulated 
Washington’s warnings. Those who challenged subsequent immigration 
and speech restrictions looked to the Alien Friends Act and Sedition Act 
for a point of comparison.

The Alien Friends Act was the first implicit ideological restriction passed 
by Congress, and its passage and enforcement reveal the underlying condi-
tions, suppression tactics, tensions, and contested interpretations that run 
through the history of ideological exclusion and deportation in the United 
States. Such explicit and implicit ideological restrictions place absolute power 
and ultimate discretion in the executive branch to admit, exclude, or deport, 
use restrictions of foreigners, including naturalization, as tools to suppress 
dissent, reflect a conflation of foreigners and radicals, and reveal a fear of for-
eigners as a source of subversion.

By the end of the nineteenth century, some of the Federalists’ legal argu-
ments to support passage of the Alien Friends Act would be used to strike 
down state laws regulating immigration, as well as to create the plenary power 
doctrine. National sovereignty and the authority to exclude and deport as 
being essential to self-preservation and national security had become the pri-
mary legal justifications for the federal power over foreigners and their entry 
to and residence in the United States. The Supreme Court had sanctioned this 
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authority and insulated it from substantive judicial review. The Democratic-
Republicans’ insistence that deportation was subject to due process and con-
stitutional protections would resurface in subsequent legal challenges.

In 1893, Congress established Boards of Special Inquiry, panels of three 
immigration inspectors who reviewed and decided exclusion and deporta-
tion cases, including those in which they had participated in collecting 
evidence to support exclusion or deportation. The hearings were closed to 
the public, and while detainees could have counsel at hearings, they were 
not provided with counsel during examination by the Board of Special In-
quiry.140 If the panel determined that a foreigner should be deported from 
the United States, it requested a warrant of deportation from the Secretary 
of the Treasury.

If ordered deported by the Secretary of the Treasury, foreigners, or their 
counsel, could file a writ of habeas corpus (a written demand “that you shall 
have the body” derived from the English common law) in a federal district 
court. It is a form of legal recourse for individuals who believe they are being 
unlawfully detained or imprisoned. They must be presented to a court to 
determine if their detention is lawful. Under the plenary power doctrine, 
the judicial branch defers to the legislative and executive branches to de-
termine who should be excluded or deported, so substantive judicial re-
view is limited in immigration cases. The federal district court judge could 
dismiss an exclusion or deportation only for a procedural error or a con-
stitutional violation. An appeal of the federal district court judge’s deci-
sion could eventually reach the Supreme Court.

In 1903, the Bureau of Immigration was transferred from the Treasury De-
partment to the Commerce and Labor Department. In Yamataya v. Fisher 
(1903), referred to as the “Japanese Immigrant Case,” the Supreme Court re-
affirmed the plenary power doctrine. Decisions by immigration officers to 
exclude were final and conclusive; they were not reviewable by the judiciary, 
which should defer to their decisions. The court held that in deportation cases, 
notice and a hearing were sufficient due process. Deportation was not “pun-
ishment,” and deportees were not constitutionally entitled to the same due 
process protections under the Fifth Amendment as those facing criminal 
prosecution.141

With the legal precedent establishing the plenary power doctrine, the stage 
was set for Congress to shift from explicit restrictions based on nationality, 
economic status, employment, and health to those based on belief, associa-
tion, and expression. This shift began after “the shot that shocked the world”: 
the assassination of the president of the United States in 1901.142
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ON SEPTEMBER  6, 1901, President William McKinley greeted visitors at the 
Temple of Music at the Pan American Exposition in Buffalo, New York. A large 
crowd of people waited for hours to meet the president and to have a chance 
to shake his hand and exchange pleasantries.1 Shortly after four o’clock in the 
afternoon, the last to meet McKinley was a twenty-eight-year-old man named 
Leon Czolgosz. Extending his hand, wrapped in a handkerchief, Czolgosz 
reached out to McKinley’s. The handkerchief concealed a revolver, and just 
before the men’s hands touched, Czolgosz fired twice into the president.2 Se-
cret Service agents immediately apprehended him. McKinley did not sur-
vive. He eventually succumbed to a gangrene infection from the bullet wounds 
and died a week later.3

The son of Polish immigrants, Czolgosz was born in Detroit, Michigan in 
1873.4 After losing his job as a steel wireworker in Cleveland in the Panic of 
1893, he regained it under another name and identity, but had become de-
pressed and disillusioned.5 Czolgosz had turned to anarchism through friends 
who were anarchists. When asked what had motivated him to shoot McKinley, 
Czolgosz stated, “I never had much luck at anything and this preyed upon me. 
It made me morose and envious, but what started the craze to kill was a lec-
ture I heard some time ago by Emma Goldman.”6 According to Czolgosz, 
Goldman’s description of anarchist doctrine that “all rulers should be exter-
minated” had “set me on fire.”7 After the lecture, “I had made up my mind 
that I would have to do something heroic for the cause I loved.”8 Czolgosz 
was convicted of first-degree murder and sentenced to death, two months 
after the assassination. He made a final declaration prior to his electrocution: 
“I killed the President because he was the enemy of the good people—the 
good working people. I am not sorry for my crime.”9

2

War on Anarchy
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In the immediate aftermath of McKinley’s assassination, an anti-anarchist 
fervor swept the nation. A day after Czolgosz shot McKinley, “a young man, 
well dressed, and apparently a student or professional man, created a sensa-
tion . . . ​making a series of speeches in which he urged volunteers to follow 
him over to Paterson [New Jersey] and exterminate the anarchists quartered 
there.”10 One observer wrote, “ ‘I never in my life saw such an angry mob. 
There were men as well as boys in it and they seemed to have lost all control 
of themselves. If they had caught those anarchists . . . ​I believe they would 
have torn them to pieces.’ ”11 After a few weeks, such incidents and calls for 
violence ceased and the fervor appeared to have subsided, but a fear of 
anarchist subversion and danger inside the United States remained.12 
Members of the public called on their government to protect them from 
this threat.13

In the years following McKinley’s assassination, Congress, state legisla-
tures, and law enforcement attempted to suppress anarchism in the United 
States by using current laws and passing new ones, including New York’s 
Criminal Anarchy Law and the Alien Immigration Act of 1903, the first ex-
plicit ideological exclusion and deportation law in the twentieth century. Like 
the Alien Friends Act of 1798, these laws were passed in the name of national 
security and were used as tools of political repression. The response by leg-
islators, the press, members of the public, and anarchists to this “War on An-
archy”14 focused on free expression and articulating the importance of pro-
tecting this freedom against suppression. They also challenged the breadth 
of the test used to evaluate the legality of free speech restrictions, including 
restrictions on anarchist speech. While no one was deported under the Alien 
Friends Act of 1798, the federal government would use the Alien Immigra-
tion Act to exclude and deport. For the first time the Supreme Court would 
confront this intersection of First Amendment and immigration law and 
would have to decide how to interpret ideological restrictions and to evaluate 
their constitutionality.

Anarchists in America and Abroad

In 1798, the Federalists had attempted to demonize the Democratic-
Republicans by characterizing them as “frenchified.” In the wake of McKinley’s 
assassination, some Americans dismissed anarchism as a “foreign” ideology, 
imported by immigrants. They rejected the idea that a “real” American could 
also be an anarchist and advocate for the abolition of all organized gov-
ernment.15 In the nineteenth century, there were two strands of anarchism 
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within the United States, individualist and communist, and both strands con-
tained American homegrown roots as well as European origins. While 
some turned to anarchism after exposure to American and European writers 
and theorists, others became radicalized in response to governmental repres-
sion against anarchists and a growing labor movement in the United States.

Anarchism in the United States emerged partly from an antistatist under-
current in its political history. Anarchists cited the American Revolution, a 
just rebellion against an oppressive government, as an example of their princi
ples. They admired Thomas Jefferson’s championing of individual rights 
and liberty and reprinted passages of the Declaration of Independence.16 An-
archists also cited transcendentalist Henry David Thoreau and his argument 
for resistance to government and unjust, immoral laws: “government is best 
which governs not at all.”17

Considered the father of American individualist anarchism, Josiah Warren, 
born in Massachusetts in 1798, believed in individual liberty and living in har-
mony without organized government and operating under a system of “mu-
tualism,” where private property existed but the price and the exchange of 
goods was based on the worth of the effort expended to produce it.18 He 
founded an individualist utopian colony named “Modern Times” in New York 
in the 1850s. One of Warren’s followers was an American named Benjamin 
Tucker, who identified as an individualist anarchist and “Jeffersonian.” In the 
1870s, Tucker traveled to France, where he met French philosopher Pierre-
Joseph Proudhon, the father of individualist anarchism in Europe.

When Tucker returned to the United States, he translated and published 
Proudhon’s 1840 text on anarchism, What Is Property?. In 1881, Tucker founded 
an American individualist anarchist newspaper, Liberty: Not the Daughter but 
the Mother of Order.19 Tucker also continued to seek opportunities to introduce 
European anarchists to an American audience, translating and publishing 
works by Russian philosopher Prince Peter Kropotkin, the father of com-
munist anarchism, and by Russian revolutionary Mikhail Bakunin. Influ-
enced by Karl Marx, Kropotkin believed in publicly owned property, and he 
combined both communist and anarchist approaches to property and gov-
ernment to create communist anarchism.20 Bakunin was an exponent of 
“propaganda by deed.” Rather than focusing on writing and lectures as a 
method to influence the masses, propaganda by deed included resistance to 
and violence against the government as a demonstration of anarchist princi
ples or solidarity.21

A young Bavarian socialist named Johann Most turned to Bakunin’s an-
archism. Most had been incarcerated for his radical activities and publications 
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in Austria, Germany, and England, where he published a German anarchist 
newspaper called Freiheit (Freedom). Impressed with the labor organizing in 
the United States in the 1870s and eager to escape Europe, Most immigrated 
in 1882. In New York City, he led the International Working People’s Asso-
ciation (IWPA) and resumed publication of Freiheit. A prolific publisher and 
charismatic orator, who delivered provocative speeches on anarchism, Most 
had become the leader of communist anarchism in the United States by the 
late 1880s.22

On May 4, 1886, the IWPA held a meeting of workers in Chicago’s Hay-
market Square to show solidarity with the McCormick Harvester factory 
strike and to protest police violence against the strikers.23 Late in the evening, 
just as the protesters were beginning to leave, 180 policemen appeared and 
tried to disperse them. Someone threw a bomb at the police, and the police 
fired back into the crowd. Approximately seventy people were wounded by 
the bomb and gunfire, and seven policemen were killed. With the anarchist-
led Chicago IWPA blamed for the attack, public outcries for cities to sup-
press anarchism swept the country.24 Without any direct evidence, Chicago 
police arrested 150 people, and eventually eight anarchists in the IWPA were 
charged with conspiracy to commit murder. Of these eight, five were German 
immigrants.

Referred to as the “Haymarket Affair,” the bombing, trial, conviction, and 
execution of several anarchists captured the public’s attention abroad as well 
as in the United States. Anarchists followed the proceedings closely and held 
meetings to discuss and denounce them. The trial proved to be rife with 
judicial and prosecutorial misconduct and bias. Lacking any proof that 
these specific anarchist leaders had committed the crime, the prosecution 
played on the jury members’ fears of violence and desire for revenge.25 Ad-
dressing the jury, the prosecutor conflated anarchism and violence, directly 
linking the bombing to belief and ideology and treating the trial and con-
viction as a form of suppression of anarchism rather than prosecuting and 
punishing the actual bomb-thrower. “Law is on trial, anarchy is on trial. 
These men have been selected, picked out by the grand jury and indicted 
because they were leaders,” he said. “Gentlemen of the jury; convict these 
men, make examples of them; hang them and you save our institutions, our 
society.”26 The jury convicted the anarchists, sentencing all but one to 
death. Four were hanged, one committed suicide, and two others had their 
death sentences commuted. In 1893, Illinois Governor John Peter Altgeld 
pardoned the remaining three anarchists, citing the trial’s unfairness and 
prejudice against them.27
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To some in the United States and abroad, the Haymarket Affair repre-
sented the connection between anarchism and violence and helped to in-
spire fear of the anarchist movement. To others, it provoked an interest in 
anarchism. It was not ideology, but rather the unjust trial and conviction 
of the “Haymarket martyrs” that pushed many toward anarchism. One 
person radicalized by the Haymarket Affair was a young woman named 
Emma Goldman.28

Goldman was born in 1869 to a Jewish family in Kovno, Lithuania, which 
was part of the Russian empire. She immigrated to the United States and 
settled with her family in Rochester, New York in 1885. She worked in a factory, 
and when she was eighteen, Goldman met and married an immigrant from 
Russia named Jacob Kersner. It was an unhappy marriage, and she divorced 
Kersner, only to remarry him when he threatened to commit suicide if they 
did not reunite.29 Goldman was enthralled by the Haymarket Affair and 
marked the moment of her “social awakening” after listening to a speech 
about the Haymarket martyrs. Goldman became a devoted reader of Johann 
Most’s Freiheit. In 1889, she left Rochester and Kersner, determined to move 
to New York City and to meet Most.30

When Goldman arrived in New York City, she joined anarchist circles and 
met Alexander Berkman, a Lithuanian-born Russian immigrant who had ex-
perienced his own social awakening in the United States; he had become an 
anarchist after the Haymarket Affair and observing America’s poor treat-
ment of immigrants and workers.31 Berkman worked for Freiheit and intro-
duced Goldman to Most.32 Most encouraged Goldman’s interest in anar-
chism, and she became his protégé. Over the next few years, Most taught 
Goldman how to deliver powerful, eloquent lectures to a public audience. 
Goldman would later replace him and become the leader of communist an-
archism in America.

Beginning with the Haymarket Affair and through the 1890s, popular con-
ceptions of anarchism identified it as not only a foreign ideology, but also a 
dangerous one. While the individualist and communist strands of anarchism 
remained, a much more prominent distinction had emerged, which divided 
anarchists into two categories: philosophical and violent. Philosophical an-
archists advocated for the abolition of all organized government, attended 
meetings, read anarchist newspapers, and listened to anarchist lectures. Vio-
lent anarchists, however, not only advocated for an overthrow of govern-
ment, but also took action to effect it.33

During the 1890s, some anarchists turned to Bakunin’s propaganda by 
deed and committed acts of violence, including bombings and assassinations, 
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referred to as attentats (a French term meaning “attacks” or “assassination 
attempts”).34 At this time, most anarchists in the United States were philo-
sophical anarchists. While many of them might have celebrated the attentats 
in Europe, some considered them nothing more than murder, and others 
viewed such violence as damaging to the anarchist movement and inviting 
suppression.35

In 1892, Berkman attempted an attentat. During a steel strike in Home-
stead, Pennsylvania, Henry Clay Frick, chairman of the Carnegie Steel Com
pany, had called in the Pinkerton detective agency to break up the strike. The 
Pinkertons were known for their rough methods; violence ensued, leaving 
seven workers and three Pinkertons dead. In the wake of the strike, Berkman 
sought revenge.36 He shot and stabbed Frick, but did not succeed in killing 
him. Caught, convicted, and sentenced to twenty-two years in prison, 
Berkman later wrote that his attempt to kill Frick was “to express, by my deed, 
my sentiment toward the existing system of legal oppression and industrial 
despotism; to attack the institution of wage-slavery in the person of one of 
its most prominent representatives; to give it a blow—rather morally than 
physically—this was the real purpose and signification of my act.”37 Once a 
proponent of propaganda by deed, Most now condemned Berkman, insisting 
that such violence had no place in America. Most’s repudiation caused a split 
among his followers. Outraged and heartbroken by his response, Goldman 
severed her relationship with Most.38

While Berkman’s failed attentat captured the attention of the American 
public, the successful assassinations committed by foreign anarchists in Eu
rope inspired more fear. Anarchists killed French President Marie François 
Sadi Carnot in 1894, Spain’s Prime Minister Antonio Cánovas del Castillo in 
1897, Austrian Empress Elisabeth in 1898, and King Umberto I of Italy in 
1900. Most of the assassins were Italian anarchists, and like Berkman, they 
described their attentats as acts of revenge and retaliation in response to au-
tocracy and repression.39

After each assassination, Germany, Russia, France, Italy, Spain, and Swit-
zerland arrested anarchists and called for the suppression of anarchist news-
papers; France and Spain expelled anarchists from their borders.40 Raids and 
arrests of anarchists and expulsions ensued, as did reforms in laws to allow 
for extradition of anarchists and broad, sweeping provisions to deport anar-
chists at will.41 In 1901, France issued an extradition order for Emma Gold-
man’s deportation if she was found within its borders, declaring that her pres-
ence in the country would “compromise public security.”42 Such expulsions 
and extradition orders presented challenges and conflicts with other nations. 



THREAT OF DISSENT

42

Many countries refused to admit those expelled as undesirable, and often an-
archists sought refuge in England or the United States.43

American newspapers urged the United States to wage its own war against 
anarchists, warning that an influx of European immigrants would turn the 
nation into a “dumping-ground for all the vile brood of Anarchists and crim-
inals.”44 Yet, Congress and state legislatures did not pass any restrictions. 
Nor did the United States participate in the first international Anti-Anarchist 
Conference held in Rome in 1898. For several weeks, delegates from every Eu
ropean nation discussed methods to defeat the anarchist threat, including 
forming an international police bureau to conduct investigations and track 
anarchist activities.45 Each nation vowed to pass laws to suppress the anar-
chist press and prevent violence.46

After Czolgosz shot McKinley, nations were quick to offer support and 
sympathy and to disassociate themselves from the American-born assassin 
with a “foreign-sounding” name.47 Russia and Germany, in a demonstration 
of solidarity, announced that both countries would completely suppress all 
anarchist newspapers.48 Italian authorities renewed their anti-anarchist tac-
tics through arrests and by suppressing anarchist meetings. France vowed to 
ban all anarchist literature, and Swiss authorities intended to pass more strin-
gent anti-anarchist laws.49 In Germany, Imperial Chancellor Count Bernhard 
von Bülow announced that he would place anarchists under constant surveil-
lance, under the threat of arrest and deportation at any time.50

Anarchist violence abroad also helped to reinforce perceptions of anar-
chism as a violent, dangerous, foreign ideology. The New York Times reported 
that American law enforcement had considered anarchists a “foreign 
problem.”51 After McKinley’s assassination, however, the United States could 
no longer think of itself as an exceptional nation in the War on Anarchy. This 
foreign problem had become an American one that demanded action.

The Suppression of Expression

A few months before McKinley’s assassination, Emma Goldman had deliv-
ered a speech on “Modern Phases of Anarchy” in Cleveland, Ohio. Afterward, 
a young man approached her asking for suggestions on anarchist texts he 
should read. The man’s name was Fred Nieman. He later followed Goldman 
to Chicago and accompanied Goldman to the railway station, where he met 
Abraham Isaak and some staff from Isaak’s anarchist newspaper Free Society. 
Goldman recalled her encounter with Nieman as limited to a brief conver-
sation about his desire to “get in touch with anarchists” while he was in 
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Chicago before she boarded the train, and then they never saw each other 
again. But there was something about Nieman that concerned Isaak. He 
sent a warning to his readers. Nieman was an outsider, possibly a spy, who 
was not to be trusted.52 Little did Isaak know that Nieman was an alias. The 
young man’s real name was Leon Czolgosz.

After McKinley’s assassination, initial demands for the governmental re-
pression of anarchists focused on Goldman. Once Czolgosz explained how 
Goldman’s speeches had “set me on fire,” law enforcement raced to find and 
arrest her.53 Goldman was charged with conspiracy to commit murder,54 
but there was no proof that she had anything to do with Czolgosz’s plot to 
kill McKinley. After further questioning, Czolgosz insisted that Goldman 
knew nothing about his intentions.55 Without evidence to support the 
charge, Goldman was set free, much to the dismay of those within the United 
States who blamed her and all anarchists for McKinley’s assassination.56 If 
the law could not hold Goldman, then perhaps new laws had to be passed 
in order to curb her activities and prevent her followers from becoming 
future assassins.57

Emma Goldman’s mug shot taken in 1901. Bain News Service,  
George Grantham Bain Collection

Library of Congress, Prints & Photographs Division, LC-DIG-ggbain-00751.
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There were no membership cards in the anarchist movement, but there 
were pockets of anarchist communities and activities in cities throughout the 
United States, most prominently in New York, Chicago, Cleveland, Detroit, 
St. Louis, and Paterson, New Jersey. In 1896, anarchists established an experi-
mental community, the Mutual Home Colony Association, referred to as 
“Home Colony,” in Tacoma, Washington. Anarchists attended meetings and 
lectures and read anarchist newspapers in German, Italian, Yiddish, and En
glish. The newspapers were essential to create a network to communicate 
with each other and discuss anarchist ideas.58 Thus, it was on the suppres-
sion of anarchist newspapers that law enforcement first focused its attention.

There were no specific anti-anarchy laws in effect, so law enforcement had 
to use existing laws in initial efforts. The most broad and accommodating 
laws were “breach of the peace” or “unlawful assembly” statutes. Frequently 
wielded to suppress expressions of dissent and public protest, these statutes 
would serve as the legal basis to raid anarchist meetings, stop lectures, and 
shut down anarchist newspapers.

On September 22, 1901, over two weeks after Czolgosz shot McKinley, 
New York City police arrested Johann Most.59 The September 7 issue of Frei-
heit included excerpts from Mord contra Mord (Murder versus Murder), an 
essay written by German revolutionary Karl Heinzen in 1849. The pas-
sages included statements such as “despots are outlawed. . . . ​to spare them 
is a crime. . . . ​we say murder for murderers.”60 Most immediately pulled 
the issue when he heard about McKinley’s assassination, but a few early 
editions had already been released.61 Although there was no evidence 
linking any commission of a crime or violence to the Freiheit issue in New 
York, Most was convicted for “willfully and wrongfully” committing an act 
“which seriously endangers the public peace.” Most was sentenced to one 
year in prison.62

Remarking on the power of speech, Judge John Hinsdale stated, “If we are 
to believe the murderer of our late President . . . ​the assassin declares that he 
was instigated and stimulated to consummate his foul deed by the teachings 
of Emma Goldman. He is now awaiting execution for the crime, while she is 
still at large in fancied security.”63 If the law could not punish the assassin’s 
“teacher,” than it should at least be used to punish Goldman’s teacher. Hins-
dale also insisted that anarchists did not deserve constitutional protection. 
“In the celebrated Somerset slave case ‘No slave can breathe the free air of 
England.’ It would be well if the laws of this country were such that it could 
be said truthfully, that no anarchist can breathe the free air of America.”64
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At this time, jurisprudential understandings of free speech derived from 
the English common law conceptions of free speech described in Sir William 
Blackstone’s Commentaries on the Laws of England (1769). Blackstone considered 
the right of free speech as precluding prior restraints, but not restrictions on 
speech that had the tendency to harm the public welfare.65 American courts 
relied on the bad tendency test to determine protected and unprotected 
speech, focusing on potential provocation to harm, rather than the actual re-
sults or likelihood of imminent unlawful action. Speech that possessed a 
“natural and probable tendency” to produce violence or immorality was not 
protected by the First Amendment or any state constitution’s free speech pro-
tections. Judges evaluated the constitutionality of prosecution for violations 
of local laws under state constitutions, which provided free speech protec-
tions for those within the state.66

In 1902, the New York Court of Appeals upheld Most’s conviction under 
the Blackstonian “bad tendency” test. The court of appeals concluded that 
Most’s publication fell outside free speech protections within New York’s state 
constitution, because Freiheit might have the tendency to harm the public.67 
“The public peace is in danger when a breach thereof is likely to occur in the 
ordinary course of events. The publication of the defendant manifestly tended 
toward this result, for he held forth murder as a duty and exhorted his readers 
to practice it upon their rulers. What would be more apt to alarm the people 
and disturb the peace of society? If the words used by him would not, what 
words could?”68 This tendency was sufficiently amorphous to include expres-
sions of dissent and radical speech that judges, legislators, or members of 
the public deemed threatening, and it opened the door for the legal suppres-
sion of expression.

Shortly after Most’s arrest in New York City, the federal government at-
tempted to shut down the anarchist newspaper Discontent, published in Home 
Colony. On September 24, 1901, three writers were arrested and charged with 
depositing “obscene, lewd or lascivious” literature in the mail under the fed-
eral “Act for the Suppression of Trade in, and Circulation of, Obscene Litera
ture and Articles for Immoral Use” known as the “Comstock Act” of 1873. 
Because the act did not include a definition of “obscene literature,” the fed-
eral statute could be used to ban any perceived objectionable material (often 
targeting sexual material or pamphlets on contraception) and to prosecute 
“sex radicals,” men and women who wrote and published books and articles 
on birth control, sexual and social freedom, and reproductive health.69 
Deeming anarchism “obscene” as well as violent, law enforcement used the 
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Comstock Act and other postal regulations as another method to suppress 
anarchist publications when no anti-anarchy laws existed.70

While the Comstock Act and breach of the peace statutes would continue 
to be available to shut down anarchist newspapers and silence speakers, a few 
states began to pass anti-anarchy laws.71 The first was New York. “We have 
no room for anarchists in this country. . . . ​Our laws just now do not meet the 
requirements,” admitted Chairman George W. Dunn of the New York Repub-
lican State Committee. “But it will be no difficult matter to secure legislation 
which will induce the most rabid anarchists to believe that New York is not a 
very comfortable place.”72 On April 3, 1902, the New York legislature passed 
a Criminal Anarchy Law, which explicitly made anarchist expression illegal. 
Under this law, it was a felony to “advocate, advise, teach, print, publish, edit, 
circulate, sell, or publicly display” anything having to do with anarchism, 
which it defined as “the doctrine that organized government should be over-
thrown by force or violence, or by assassination of the executive head or of 
any of the executive officials of government, or by any unlawful means.” If 
convicted, one faced ten years in prison or a $5,000 fine.73

Owners of lecture halls in New York refused to rent to Goldman for fear 
of prosecution.74 When they did rent to Goldman, she found herself even 
more vulnerable to arrest than before. She began to arrive at her lectures 
carrying a book to read in case she was arrested and had to spend a night in 
jail.75 The Comstock Act and the Criminal Anarchy Law became a rallying 
cry to gain support for a new free speech organization created to defend those 
facing prosecution.76 Founded on May 1, 1902 by anarchists and sex radicals, 
the Free Speech League became the first organization that would fight to 
“maintain the right of free speech against all encroachments.”77

The Alien Immigration Act of 1903

On December 3, 1901, Theodore Roosevelt delivered his first address to Con-
gress as president of the United States. He declared, “Anarchy is a crime 
against the whole human race; and all mankind should band against the an-
archist.” Roosevelt urged Congress to take immediate action, including the 
exclusion and deportation of anarchists from the United States.78 If the lack 
of anti-anarchy laws at the time of McKinley’s assassination concerned fearful 
Americans, the absence of such laws was discomfiting to members of Con-
gress, who recalled previous bills that excluded foreign anarchists and had 
subsequently died in debate in the past decade.79
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After the Haymarket bombing, American newspapers called on Congress 
to pass protective legislation.80 Anarchism was a foreign ideology, imported 
by immigrants, and spread like a contagious disease.81 If the United States 
could constitutionally exclude paupers, convicts, and Chinese laborers, then 
it could constitutionally exclude anarchists.82 Newspapers urged Congress to 
take action and bar anarchists from the country in the name of national se-
curity and self-preservation.83

Congress answered their calls and introduced bills that would include an-
archists within the various categories of undesirable foreigners already ex-
cluded. Yet, these bills barring “anarchists,” “nihilists,” or anyone “who is per-
sonally hostile to the principles of the Constitution of the United States, or 
to the form of government of the United States” never made it out of com-
mittee.84 Legislators struggled with how to define and identify anarchists, bar 
foreign anarchists who could change their political views once exposed to 
American democracy, rely on foreign governments who sought to expel dan-
gerous anarchists from their borders by sending them to the United States, 
and effectively exclude anarchists during the inspection process at American 
ports.85 Despite public pressure, Congress passed the Immigration Act of 
1891 without including a provision to exclude or deport anarchists.

After an anarchist assassinated French President Carnot in 1894, mem-
bers of Congress feared that dangerous foreign anarchists would seek refuge 
in the United States, bringing their desire to commit their attentats with them. 
Within two months, Senator David B. Hill (R-NY) had sponsored a bill that 
would exclude foreign anarchists from entry and provide for the deportation 
of foreign noncitizen anarchists currently residing in the United States.86

Many members in the House of Representatives supported the “Hill Bill” 
and the Senate pressed for its swift passage. “We are advised that a large 
number of the most dangerous anarchists in the world are now on their way 
to the United States, and that at this time there is no law on the statute books 
which prohibits the landing of an anarchist in this country,” warned Con-
gressman Charles Boatner (D-LA).87 Over the course of these debates, how-
ever, some members of Congress were reluctant to pass anti-anarchist legis-
lation. The main problem was that the bill did not include the definition of 
an “anarchist.” Hill insisted that one was unnecessary, but others disagreed.88 
Some expressed concern about so much power and discretion left in the 
hands of individual immigration officials tasked with enforcing the provi-
sions of the Hill Bill. They worried that, without an explicit definition included 
in the statute, officials could exclude anyone they considered or labeled an 
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“anarchist,” including nonviolent socialists and philosophers, who posed no 
actual threat to Americans or to their government.89

Senator George F. Hoar (R-MA) questioned the legitimacy of excluding an-
archists, describing such exclusion as arbitrary and contrary to American 
values of freedom, including the right to travel and to emigrate. He declared, 
“It is one of the chief glories of the Republic itself . . . ​that a human being any-
where might lay down one nationality and take upon himself another. . . . ​
The pending bill says . . . ​not that a man has done anything, not even that he 
has said anything, but that he is a character defined by the vague, indetermi-
nate word ‘anarchist,’ ” and because of this “he shall be excluded and sent back 
to the country whence he came.”90

Yet, when an amendment to the Hill Bill added a definition of “anarchist,” 
it raised more questions and concerns. According to Congressman John De-
Witt Warner (D-NY), who refused to support the Hill Bill, the amendment’s 
language was overbroad, barring all anarchists and all persons who objected 
to any particular government. He, too, was apprehensive about too much 
power and discretion held by immigration officers to determine who was an 
anarchist. “No amount of panic can scare the ‘gentleman from New York’ into 
putting into the hands of an administrative officer the detection and punish-
ment of a crime which is not even defined in the measure which proposes to 
punish it by deportation.”91 Other members of Congress disagreed on whether 
there was a distinction between “violent” and “philosophical” anarchists, and 
if a distinction should be incorporated into the Hill Bill to exclude only vio-
lent anarchists.92

Some warned that if Congress passed the Hill Bill without a proper defi-
nition, it would have to deal with the consequences. Senator John M. Palmer 
(D-IL) cautioned his colleagues, “This measure is in the spirit of our fears 
rather than in the exercise of wise judgment. We are agreed to punish anar-
chists; but it must be remembered that in our eagerness to punish the guilty 
we ought not to subject the innocent to danger.”93 Hill argued that if Congress 
did not pass it, those consequences might include the anarchist violence in 
Europe on American soil.94 While the Hill Bill passed in the Senate, it expired 
without final vote in the House of Representatives.95

After McKinley’s assassination, one of the main criticisms of the United 
States government was that Congress had not passed protective legislation 
to prevent the spread of anarchism and anarchist violence until it was too 
late.96 Many, including Senator Julius C. Burrows (R-MI), specifically called for 
a revival of the Hill Bill.97 In 1903, Congress passed the Alien Immigration 
Act, which barred “anarchists, or persons who believe in or advocate the over-
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throw by force or violence of the Government of the United States or of all 
government or of all forms of law, or the assassination of public officials” from 
entry to the United States.98

There was little doubt of the successful passage of anarchist exclusions, 
but to ensure it, members of Congress insisted that the new immigration 
bill include a more specific definition of “anarchist” that the Hill Bill had 
lacked:

A person who disbelieves in or who is opposed to all organized gov-
ernment, or who is a member of or affiliated with any organization en-
tertaining and teaching such belief in or opposition to all organized 
government, or who advocates or teaches the duty, necessity, or pro-
priety of the unlawful assaulting or killing of any officer or officers, 
either of specific individuals or officers generally, of the Government 
of the United States or of any other organized government, because 
of his or their official character.99

Congress designed the act not only to exclude foreign anarchists from en-
tering the United States, but also to bar their naturalization and to allow de-
portation of foreigners found to have been anarchists upon their entry within 
three years of their landing.100

The Alien Immigration Act of 1903 and its ideological exclusion provi-
sions would join a litany of explicit immigration restrictions already in place. 
The legal precedent and plenary power doctrine established by the Supreme 
Court in the nineteenth century gave legislators confidence in passing new 
exclusion provisions, and paved the way for ideological restrictions.101

The Alien Immigration Act, however, did not satisfy all of those con-
cerned about the anarchist threat. The act’s language and definition of “anar-
chist” was broad, and it did not distinguish between philosophical and vio-
lent anarchists. Some did not think the explicit ideological exclusion and 
deportation provision went far enough and suggested that the United States 
should help organize all nations in an international effort to round up all 
anarchists and deport them to an island, where they could then live together 
without any type of organized government.102 Others believed such a law 
would be ineffectual and prove problematic. The Nation magazine consid-
ered it ridiculous to question anarchists and try to identify them on Ellis Is-
land. An anarchist could simply lie during interrogations and easily evade 
exclusion.103
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The Turner Case

John Turner, an English trades unionist and founder of the Shop Assistants’ 
Union in London, was the first foreign anarchist to be excluded under the 
Alien Immigration Act. Like Goldman, Turner had become an anarchist 
because of the Haymarket Affair.104 In 1896, Turner had traveled to the United 
States and delivered lectures on philosophical anarchism and trades unionism 
in San Francisco, New York, and Chicago.105 At the time, the Washington Post 
lamented that despite exclusions of criminals, lunatics, and paupers, there 
were no current immigration laws to bar Turner and his dangerous rhetoric 
from the United States.106

In 1903, Isaak and Goldman invited Turner for another lecture tour and 
began raising money to pay his passage.107 It is unclear if they invited Turner 
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in order to test the Alien Immigration Act.108 Using the new act to exclude 
Turner appears to be exactly what immigration officials had in mind, and they 
were paying close attention. After learning of Turner’s upcoming visit, 
William Williams, commissioner of immigration for the Port of New York, 
stopped John Turner and detained him on Ellis Island for questioning.109 But 
it was the wrong Turner; this one was just a visiting Englishman who shared 
the same name.110 Upon his release, Williams devised a plan that when the 
actual anarchist Turner arrived, he would be allowed to enter the United States 
in order for officials to gather evidence to use to demonstrate his inadmissi-
bility and justify his subsequent deportation back to England under the Alien 
Immigration Act.111

Turner arrived in October 1903 and had already commenced his lecture 
tour in New York City when Secretary of Commerce and Labor George B. 
Cortelyou issued a warrant for his arrest.112 On the evening of October 23, 
immigration inspectors, warrant in hand, arrested Turner after he delivered 
a speech entitled “Trades Unionism of the General-Strike” at the Murray Hill 
Lyceum.113 They took Turner to Ellis Island, where he was detained as a for-
eigner who was illegally in the United States and barred from entry under the 
Alien Immigration Act.114

Commissioner Williams chaired the Board of Special Inquiry hearing, 
where the immigration inspectors who arrested Turner presented evidence 
that he was an anarchist. Inspector John McKee testified that during his 
speech, Turner had identified himself as an anarchist.115 Inspector Joseph 
Weldon testified that he had executed the warrant and arrested Turner, 
whereby he confiscated a copy of Free Society, which Turner had in his pocket.116 
Williams then questioned Turner, who explained that he was a visitor to the 
United States and intended to stay for only a few months. He also identified 
himself as an anarchist.117 Weldon, a member of the board, moved to have 
Turner excluded as an anarchist; the entire board agreed. Williams then in-
formed Turner, that as an anarchist, he was barred from the United States. 
Turner would be held on Ellis Island pending his deportation back to 
England.118

The Free Speech League rushed to Turner’s aid and filed a writ of habeas 
corpus on his behalf to challenge his detention and the deportation order in 
federal court and called for Turner’s release.119 While Turner was free to vol-
untarily leave and return to England, Goldman asked if he would remain in 
detention on Ellis Island in order to challenge the constitutionality of his ide-
ological exclusion under the Alien Immigration Act.120 Turner agreed. He 
strongly believed he would lose the case, but stated, “I would gladly stay here 
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till I rot . . . ​if by so doing I can assist my American friends in their fight for 
the vital principle of liberty involved.”121

The Free Speech League worked to raise money for Turner’s legal defense, 
establishing a defense fund, holding rallies, and delivering speeches on how 
Turner’s exclusion threatened freedom of speech.122 The League then asked 
Clarence Darrow to represent Turner in his appeal.

By 1903, Darrow had gained a reputation not only as one of the leading 
labor attorneys in America, but also as one willing to represent radicals and 
anarchists.123 Based in Chicago, Darrow was a progressive liberal who began 
his career as a lawyer working for the government and then for the railroads, 
but in 1894, Darrow switched sides, defending Socialist Eugene V. Debs, who 
faced federal prosecution for leading the Pullman Strike.124 Darrow was not 
an anarchist, but he was sympathetic to philosophical anarchism. He was dis-
turbed by what he considered a prejudiced trial and unjust conviction in the 
Haymarket Affair and had encouraged Governor John Peter Altgeld to pardon 
the anarchists in 1893.125

While Darrow and his law partner, an attorney and poet named Edgar Lee 
Masters, appealed Turner’s case to the Supreme Court, Darrow attempted to 
get Turner released on bail.126 Darrow collected numerous affidavits attesting 
to Turner’s good character and to his identity as a nonviolent, philosophical 
anarchist, who posed no threat to the United States. The affidavits included 
statements from those who had met Turner during his 1896 visit.

Samuel Gompers, president of the American Federation of Labor, attested 
that Turner had never called for the use of force, violence, lawlessness, or 
revolution.127 Louis  F. Post, a lawyer and editor of the liberal, progressive 
Chicago newspaper the Public, described Turner as a man “of very high char-
acter,” who expressed “the most peaceable theories and principles con-
cerning labor conditions.”128 Former New York Congressman John DeWitt 
Warner, who had strongly objected to the Hill Bill, admitted that he had 
never met Turner, but now wished to intervene “solely because of the im-
portance to the rights of every citizen of the questions of law involved 
therein.”129 Warner denounced the exclusion procedure under the Alien Im-
migration Act as being more arbitrary than Russia’s “administrative process” 
and founded on the “irresponsible” and reviled French monarchy’s practice 
of arbitrary and absolute power exhibited in its lettres de cachet.130 He declared 
that not since the Alien Friends Act and Sedition Act of 1798 had the federal 
government attempted to interfere with political opinions as it now had by 
excluding Turner.131
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On February 29, 1904, the Supreme Court accepted Turner’s bail appli-
cation and ordered his release on a $5,000 bond, pending hearing his case a 
month later.132 There were no restrictions on Turner’s release, so he resumed 
his lecture tour. Turner attracted even larger crowds and raised money for his 
defense and bond by recounting his arrest, his detention on Ellis Island, and 
his constitutional challenge to his exclusion.133 In his first public speech, 
Turner declared that in its efforts to exclude a foreigner based on his belief, 
“America has made itself ridiculous.”134

On April 6, 1904, the Supreme Court heard arguments in United States ex 
rel. Turner v. Williams. In his 187-page brief submitted to the court, Darrow 
made a number of arguments but focused primarily on the unchecked and 
absolute power of immigration officials and on the First Amendment viola-
tion of free expression and belief applied to Turner, a philosophical anarchist. 
Darrow claimed that the Alien Immigration Act violated the First Amend-
ment and had turned federal officials into censors, thereby posing a threat 
not only to anarchists but to all Americans’ freedom of speech and belief.135 
Darrow did not defend anarchism as an ideology, but instead argued that the 
suppression of any belief or ideology was a threat to every thought or belief. 
To exclude Turner for his mere belief in anarchism, absent advocacy of vio
lence, undermined America’s purported identity as a nation tolerant of free 
thought and expression. Comparing the Alien Immigration Act to the Alien 
Friends Act of 1798, Darrow declared that both acts ultimately sought to elim-
inate dissent by authorizing the expulsion of foreigners.136

James Clark McReynolds, a future Supreme Court justice, was the govern-
ment attorney who represented Commissioner Williams and defended the 
constitutionality of the Alien Immigration Act. McReynolds dismissed Dar-
row’s First Amendment argument stating that, as a foreigner, Turner had no 
First Amendment rights. Turner lacked “standing” (the legal ability to chal-
lenge the act’s constitutionality), because he could not claim a violation of a 
constitutional right he did not possess.137 McReynolds insisted that Turner’s 
exclusion was strictly an immigration issue, and thus, only immigration law 
applied. Citing the legal precedent establishing the plenary power doctrine, 
McReynolds declared Turner’s exclusion a constitutional exercise of Ameri
ca’s inherent right as a sovereign nation to self-preservation.138

While the Turner case would gain public attention and galvanize anar-
chists to work to preserve and protect free expression, Turner’s prediction 
was correct: he lost. On May 16, 1904, two weeks after Turner left the United 
States to return to England, the Supreme Court, in a unanimous decision, 
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upheld Turner’s exclusion and the constitutionality of the Alien Immigra-
tion Act. Writing for the court, Chief Justice Melville Fuller deferred to 
Congress’s plenary power to exclude any foreigners it wished, including 
anarchists:

We are not to be understood as depreciating the vital importance of 
freedom of speech and of the press, or as suggesting limitations on the 
spirit of liberty, in itself unconquerable, but this case does not involve 
those considerations. The flaming brand which guards the realm where 
no human government is needed still bars the entrance; and as long 
as human governments endure they cannot be denied the power of 
self-preservation, as that question is presented here.139

Agreeing with McReynolds, Fuller insisted that foreigners wishing to enter 
the United States had no claim to rights under the Constitution, including the 
First Amendment right to free speech.140 Thus, as a foreign visitor, Turner 
could not claim that the Alien Immigration Act violated his First Amendment 
rights, because “those who are excluded cannot assert the rights in general 
obtaining in a land to which they do not belong as citizens or otherwise.”141

Fuller could have just dismissed Turner’s challenge on standing, judicial 
deference to the plenary power, and the right to exclude, but in a significant 
turn within his opinion, he also dismissed any distinction between philo-
sophical and violent anarchists. Fuller noted Congress’s determination that 
anarchism advocated in any form presented a bad tendency that was “so dan-
gerous to the public weal that aliens who hold and advocate them would be 
undesirable additions to our population, whether permanently or tempo-
rarily, whether many or few.”142

While Fuller had applied immigration law to decide the Turner case, his 
reference to bad tendency implied that the First Amendment’s protection of 
free speech was in some way implicated in Congress’s decision to ideologi-
cally exclude or deport foreigners and in its constitutionality. Fuller would 
defer to Congress’s determination, but such a determination was constitutional 
as long as courts held that anarchist expression was unprotected speech 
under the bad tendency test.

Despite the Supreme Court’s application of immigration law and interpre-
tation of Turner’s exclusion as a constitutional exercise of the plenary power, 
members of the Free Speech League believed it was a violation of free speech 
under the First Amendment. “The decision of the Supreme Court against John 
Turner destroys even the faintest hope for free speech in this country, until a 
radical change in public sentiment is brought about,” James F. Morton Jr. 
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wrote. “This now becomes the paramount issue, and the only possible hope 
for our civilization. Without free speech a country is not fit to live in; and all 
hope of progress is destroyed.”143 He concluded, “This does not concern only 
Anarchists, but all decent Americans. Now is the time to get to work. Join the 
Free Speech League at once; and help it all you can.”144

Free Speech Defenders

Despite his loss in the Supreme Court, Turner had helped to garner sym-
pathy for anarchists, and his exclusion raised new criticisms of America’s 
War on Anarchy as counterproductive. The ideological exclusion of a philo-
sophical anarchist helped to shift the perspective of the War on Anarchy 
from preventing violence to suppressing dissent and free expression. Louis F. 
Post wrote that governmental repression “[had] done more to advertise and 
propagate anarchist doctrines than ten thousand undisturbed lectures could 
have done; for these attempts to deport a thinker and to suppress a meeting 
have aroused to some extent the traditional believers in free speech in 
America.”145

In the five years following the Turner case, anarchists continued to hold 
meetings, attend lectures, and read anarchist newspapers. Law enforcement, 
however, also continued to infiltrate meetings, prevent lectures, and shut 
down newspapers.146 Yet, these efforts to repress anarchism largely backfired. 
Instead, they drew attention to the importance of protecting free speech and 
transformed anarchists’ identities as dangerous, foreign criminals into free 
speech defenders.

Goldman recognized the propagandistic power of the political repres-
sion of anarchists and started to use it to draw attention to anarchism and 
crowds to her lectures. Beginning with the Turner case, Goldman began to 
work with the Free Speech League, challenging suppression of her speeches 
within the law, rather than solely promoting anarchism and the abolition of 
law. Writing to Goldman shortly after Turner’s arrest, Prince Peter Kropotkin 
questioned her efforts. He wrote to her explaining that he did not consider 
working within the system as consistent with being an anarchist. “As to re-
pealing these laws, it is not our business to ask it. Let those who believe in 
legislation & ‘honest laws’ do it.”147

As Goldman assumed a position as a free speech defender and the sup-
pression of anarchist speech continued, members of the public and the press 
questioned the use of the bad tendency test to determine if anarchism lacked 
protection under state constitutions and the First Amendment. In 1904, Ernst 
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Freund, a professor at the University of Chicago Law School, published a 
lengthy treatise on government restrictions on liberty and property entitled 
The Police Power: Public Policy and Constitutional Rights. Freund argued that es-
pousing anarchism was not in itself a crime and dismissed the bad tendency 
test. State laws, such as New York’s Criminal Anarchy Law, were “inconsis-
tent with the freedom of speech and press, unless carefully confined to cases 
of solicitation of crime”; moreover, expression that “may have a tendency to 
arouse the public conscience should not in itself be held to constitute a crime.” 
Only expression “to incite directly to the commission of violence and crime” 
was unprotected and could be prohibited. Freund admitted that anarchist ex-
pression often made it difficult to “draw the line” between “discussion or 
agitation” and incitement, but that line must be drawn.

Freund severed the association of anarchism with violence. He argued that 
anarchist expression did not necessarily lead to anarchist violence, and that 
not every listener would become an assassin. While not explicitly mentioning 
Czolgosz or his assassination of McKinley, Freund wrote, “Not even the fact 
that an adherent of the doctrine commits a crime is conclusive that the 
teaching of that doctrine amounts to incitement; for the crime may as well 
have been induced by a morbid brooding over conditions which are the cause 
of social discontent, and some of the most notable of recent anarchist crimes 
must probably be accounted for on the latter theory.” Freund concluded that 
the Alien Immigration Act was constitutional under the plenary power doc-
trine and that foreigners did not hold constitutional rights, but he also argued 
that “it is impossible to strike at anarchism as a doctrine without jeopardizing 
valuable constitutional rights.”

In his section on anarchist speech, Freund articulated the value of free ex-
pression as the “essence of political liberty,” regardless of whether the “tol-
eration” of free expression “may create disaffection or other inconvenience 
to the existing government.” Such toleration was not “generosity,” but rather 
operated under a principle that “ideas are not suppressed by suppressing their 
free and public discussion.” Freund believed that free discussion, and not sup-
pression, was the way to disarm radical speech and prevent acts of violence 
or illegality encouraged by suppression.148

Freund was not alone in questioning the bad tendency test and constitu-
tionality of the suppression of anarchists under it. Members of the press and 
the public began to question it, too. In 1906, Charles J. Bonaparte, secretary 
of the Navy in the Roosevelt administration and great-nephew of Napoleon 
Bonaparte, called for the government to automatically impose the death 
penalty for any anarchist who directly or indirectly sought to take a life, in-
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cluding for any calls for the death of a president or a monarch. He suggested 
imprisonment and flogging as a deterrent and as a punishment for becoming 
an anarchist.149

While such suggestions might have been entertained in those days of anti-
anarchist fervor after McKinley’s assassination, by 1906, Bonaparte’s views 
were swiftly dismissed. The New York Times challenged the constitutionality 
of convicting philosophical anarchists for their beliefs or for the bad tendency 
of their expressions. “Unless we take away the presumption [of innocence] 
we shall find it very difficult to convict an anarchist unless there has been 
some actual overt act in the way of an attempt at murder, or at least a direct 
incitement and instigation to a particular murder. One can hardly imagine 
the conviction of an anarchist simply for being an anarchist under laws, which 
would not abridge freedom of speech and of the press.”150

Perhaps it was this public questioning of the bad tendency test and of the 
targeted suppression of anarchism that failed to distinguish philosophy and 
expression from action and violence that led to unsuccessful prosecutions of 
anarchists. The cases against anarchists arrested under New York’s Criminal 
Anarchy Law often never continued past indictment. If the grand jury did in-
dict, the courts frequently held the case for “further examination” or dis-
missed it for lack of evidence. None of the cases of anarchists arrested pro-
ceeded to trial.151 According to Goldman, judges did not want to risk the 
embarrassment of a jury acquitting an anarchist.152

On April 26, 1908, Goldman delivered a lecture in San Francisco, which 
she began by asking, “What is patriotism?” She proceeded to denounce mili-
tarism in the United States and described the Army and the Navy as repre-
senting “the people’s toys.”153 Army Private William Buwalda attended (in 
uniform), and afterward, he thanked Goldman for her speech and shook her 
hand. Audience members cheered.154 Buwalda, however, was placed under 
military arrest and tried in a court-martial for a violation of the Sixty-Second 
Article of War for his applause and implied approval of Goldman’s “attack 
and criticism on government.”155 Buwalda was convicted and sentenced to 
five years in Alcatraz, later commuted to three years. Describing the Bu-
walda case, the Nation magazine wrote to its readers that “unless the court 
wishes to make an anarchist out of him . . . ​the case stands as another ex-
ample of our national hysteria over what is a state of mind, and not in itself 
a crime.”156

William Dudley Foulke, a progressive reformer and commissioner of the 
Civil Service, wrote to Bonaparte, now the attorney general. Foulke argued 
that people “have as good a right to be anarchists as you and I have to be 
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Republicans.”157 He also warned that “legislation against any class of opin-
ions, short of incitement to crime, may be made the entering wedge for the 
gradual extension of the suppression of free speech on other subjects.”158 
In June, Commanding Army Brigadier General Frederick Funston, who 
had reduced Buwalda’s sentence to three years, convinced President Roo
sevelt to grant Buwalda clemency. Funston insisted that Buwalda was “too 
good a man to have his life ruined” and made assurances that “it is safe to 
say that it will be many a year before he or any other soldier participates in 
an anarchist meeting or applauds abuse of the government to which he 
had sworn allegiance.”159

In January 1909, a few days after his release and discharge, Buwalda wrote 
to the War Department returning the medal he had received for service in the 
Philippines. Upon hearing of his release, Goldman sought to raise $1,000 to 
assist Buwalda if he could not find work because of his dishonorable discharge 
from the Army.160 He told the press that he had never been an anarchist, but 
his conviction had “set me thinking.”161 Buwalda met with Goldman and ex-
plained that his experience had only raised his consciousness of the impor-
tance of free speech and reinforced her criticisms of militarism.162 Agreeing 
to join Goldman on the platform during one of her speeches, Buwalda was 
arrested with Goldman as they walked to the lecture hall.163 Goldman wrote 
that the whole Buwalda affair had been quite beneficial to the anarchist cause. 
“Nothing helps a movement like suppression.”164

Denaturalizing Emma Goldman

With the suppression of anarchists drawing more attention to the fight for 
free speech, the federal government intensified its quest to muzzle Goldman 
and sought to rid the United States of her, permanently. Since McKinley’s as-
sassination, Goldman had been under constant surveillance by local or fed-
eral officials.165 In 1907, Goldman left for a lecture tour and to attend the In-
ternational Anarchist Congress in Europe. Immigration officials took note 
of her departure and plotted to prevent her reentry to the United States under 
the Alien Immigration Act.166

However, the watched were watching the watchers. When Goldman ar-
rived in London, where she would lecture alongside John Turner, she received 
information that the federal government was seeking to keep her out of the 
country. “The first thing to greet us on our arrival were press dispatches from 
America reporting that the Federal authorities were planning to keep me out 
of the country under the provisions of the Anti-Anarchist Law.”167 Dismissing 
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the reports as a “newspaper fabrication,” Goldman soon learned from friends 
that the reports were true. “They informed me that Washington was deter-
mined to refuse me readmission, and they urged me to sail back as quickly 
and quietly as possible.”168

Goldman decided to take her friends’ advice to cut her trip short and re-
turn to the United States. Attempting to avoid immigration inspectors, 
Goldman entered through Canada. She encountered no trouble on her train 
journey from Montreal to the New York state border, which she helped se-
cure with a generous tip to the Pullman porter when he collected her ticket.169

Goldman’s entry into the United States, however, proved a bit more 
eventful. Immigration Commissioner-General Frank P. Sargent had ordered 
officials to stop and question Goldman in order to exclude her under the 
Alien Immigration Act.170 At the border, an immigration inspector or-
dered Goldman off the train and questioned her regarding her right to 
enter the United States.171 She was prepared. Goldman declared that she 
could not be excluded because she was an American citizen by marriage. 
Unable to refute her, the inspector reluctantly allowed Goldman to enter.172 
As long as Goldman was a citizen, the United States could not exclude or 
deport her. Undeterred, immigration officials sought to strip her of her 
citizenship.173

Goldman had obtained her citizenship automatically through her mar-
riage to Jacob Kersner, a naturalized citizen.174 This form of naturalization 
was “derivative” citizenship, based on a foreigner’s relationship to a citizen. 
Under the Naturalization Act of 1855, “Any woman who is now or may here-
after be married to a citizen of the United States, and who might herself be 
lawfully naturalized shall be deemed a citizen.”175 Kersner’s citizenship was 
itself derivative, also obtained under the Naturalization Act, but under a pro-
vision that automatically granted citizenship to minor children if their 
fathers were citizens.176

While Congress had regulated naturalization since 1790, it had never ad-
dressed the revocation of citizenship. In 1906, Congress passed a law that for 
the first time provided for denaturalization. The act authorized the revoca-
tion of citizenship, declaring it null and void if obtained through fraud, 
misrepresentation, or deception.177 Goldman’s marriage was legal, and thus, 
so was her derivative citizenship. Immigration officials agreed that the key 
would be to examine Kersner’s citizenship. If they could prove that his citi-
zenship was obtained through fraud or misrepresentation, they could denat-
uralize Kersner, and therefore, extinguish Goldman’s citizenship; one could 
not derive citizenship from a noncitizen.178
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Inspectors began to investigate Kersner. Upon learning of their investiga-
tion, Kersner fled, leaving inspectors to question his family in order to gather 
evidence of fraud or misrepresentation in his naturalization. Goldman grew 
increasingly concerned and careful. She remained in the United States, re-
stricting her travels and not risking exclusion again.179

In 1909, immigration officials determined that Kersner had lied about his 
age during the naturalization process. He was not a minor when he claimed 
derivative citizenship through his father.180 Therefore, under the Naturaliza-
tion Act, Kersner’s citizenship was obtained fraudulently, and therefore, he 
had never become an actual citizen.181 Immigration officials issued a denat-
uralization order for Kersner.182 They intentionally did not include Goldman 
in the order, attempting to prevent her knowledge of the denaturalization.183 
Denaturalizing Kersner was sufficient to eliminate Goldman’s citizenship; no-
tifying her was irrelevant.184

Of course, even without formal notification, Goldman had heard about 
Kersner’s denaturalization, and thus, she knew that she could no longer claim 
American citizenship. Under the Alien Immigration Act of 1903, Goldman 
was ineligible to become a naturalized citizen because she was an anarchist, 
but immigration officials could not deport her because she reentered as a cit-
izen and had been living and “permanently domiciled in the United States 
for 32 years.”185 After stripping Goldman of her citizenship, the federal gov-
ernment would now have to find a way to deport her.

In the aftermath of the murder of the president of the United States by a 
self-proclaimed anarchist and lone-wolf assassin, fearful Americans called 
on their government and turned to the law to protect them. As the United 
States entered the War on Anarchy, it adopted some European anti-anarchist 
tactics including exclusion and the suppression of anarchist speech. Yet, 
these tactics to silence and repress anarchists backfired. Instead, they served 
to unite and galvanize anarchists and others in a common recognition that 
such suppression and ideological exclusion threatened free speech, and 
that this was a freedom worth fighting to protect. This suppression led 
to the creation of the Free Speech League and helped transform the iden-
tities and public perception of anarchists such as Emma Goldman from 
dangerous, foreign criminals into free speech defenders. Repression also 
led to sympathy for anarchists and interest in anarchism, as well as public 
questioning of the bad tendency test and the suppression of expression 
under it.
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Between the years 1904 and 1916, a total of twenty anarchists were 
barred under the Alien Immigration Act.186 This low number might be due 
to the bilateral and multilateral international police efforts to combat anar-
chism in Europe, which resulted in anarchists being prevented from trav-
eling to the United States. After the Anti-Anarchist Conference in Rome in 
1898 and the St. Petersburg Protocol of 1904, European nations agreed to 
share and exchange information, as well as to coordinate with each other 
regarding deportation and extradition of anarchists and national suppres-
sion tactics.187

Perhaps this number also reflects the inability of US immigration offi-
cials to exclude or deport anarchists under the Alien Immigration Act at 
the time of entry or three years later. Tracking anarchists and determining 
who was an anarchist upon entry was difficult and required national and 
international communication and coordination of law enforcement. The 
United States had not participated in the conference or the protocol, 
having been reluctant to enter into any treaties with other nations and 
because it lacked a national police force.188 Local law enforcement in po-
lice departments, detective agencies, and the US Postal Service suppressed 
anarchist meetings, communication, and publications. The Secret Service 
protected the president and government officials and enforced counter-
feiting laws.189

This changed in 1908, when President Roosevelt directed Attorney Gen-
eral Bonaparte to create an investigative service within the Justice Depart-
ment. On July  26, 1908, after Congress rebuffed his requests for funding, 
Bonaparte used Justice Department funds to establish a new investigative di-
vision with thirty-four special agents. In 1909, the division was named the 
Bureau of Investigation and received funding from Congress, designated “for 
the detection and prosecution of crimes against the United States.” In 1910, 
Congress expanded the bureau’s designation to include “for other investiga-
tions regarding official matters under the control of the Department of Jus-
tice as may be directed by the Attorney General.”190

Despite their dubious efficacy, New York’s Criminal Anarchy Law and the 
Alien Immigration Act remained on the books. Questions raised regarding 
the suppression of dissent under the breadth of the bad tendency test and the 
value of free speech to a democracy, as well as the interpretation of the lan-
guage of the explicit ideological exclusion and deportation provisions in the 
Alien Immigration Act, would remain relevant over the course of the next de
cade. Immigration officials had succeeded in stripping Goldman of her citi-
zenship, and with the Bureau of Investigation, the bad tendency test, and the 
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constitutionality of ideological restrictions under federal immigration law es-
tablished by the Supreme Court in United States ex rel. Turner v. Williams (1904), 
the seeds were sown for the repression of dissenters, radicals, and labor agi-
tators during and after World War I.

In an essay entitled, “A Woman Without a Country,” Goldman taunted the 
United States. “Were she an American citizen, we might some day hang or 
electrocute her,” she wrote. “But an alien—what’s left for us to do but to 
deport her. The trouble is, where, oh where can we send her?”191 A decade 
later, she would find out. In 1919, in the wake of World War I, the Russian 
Revolution, and the Red Scare, the United States would successfully deport 
249 foreign radicals to a new Communist country. Goldman would be 
among them.
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I N T HE YE ARS T HAT followed the anti-anarchist aftermath of President Wil-
liam McKinley’s assassination, a new labor organization grabbed the nation’s 
attention and became the next target of suppression and ideological restric-
tions. The Industrial Workers of the World (IWW) was founded by William 
“Big Bill” Haywood in 1905 as an international, radical labor union that was 
inclusive of all industrial labor (skilled and unskilled) and used new tactics to 
put pressure on employers and to achieve better conditions and protections 
for workers.

The IWW participated in direct action, strikes, sit-down and slow-down 
strikes, and sabotage by damaging equipment or property. Law enforcement 
arrested IWW speakers under local “disturbing the peace” statutes, which 
spurred IWW members (“Wobblies”) to participate in free speech fights. Wob-
blies engaged in civil disobedience, increasing the number of those who de-
livered provocative speeches with the intention of getting arrested, clogging 
the jails, and slowing down the judicial system.1 Free Speech League lawyers 
came to their aid, as well as Emma Goldman, who had participated in her own 
free speech fights in various cities throughout 1909.2 Beginning with Idaho 
in 1917, many states began to pass “criminal syndicalism” laws in an effort 
to suppress the IWW. These laws prohibited the advocacy of the overthrow 
of the government, destruction of property, sabotage, or violence to bring po
litical or industrial reform.

To many in the United States, the IWW represented the biggest threat to 
the nation’s institutions and industries.3 President Woodrow Wilson placed 
the blame for labor agitation on foreigners within the United States, and es-
pecially those who had become naturalized citizens. He believed they were 
primarily responsible for radicalism and the IWW strikes and labor agitation 
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in America, and that they posed the “gravest threat against our national peace 
and safety.”4

In his third annual message to Congress in 1915, Wilson remarked, “There 
are citizens of the United States, I blush to admit, born under other flags but 
welcomed under our generous naturalization laws to the full freedom and op-
portunity of America, who have poured the poison of disloyalty into the 
very arteries of our national life; who have sought to bring the authority and 
good name of our Government into contempt, to destroy our industries 
wherever they thought it effective for their vindictive purposes to strike at 
them, and to debase our politics to the uses of foreign intrigue.” Wilson called 
for action by Congress to “enact such laws at the earliest possible moment 
and feel that in doing so I am urging you to do nothing less than save the honor 
and self-respect of the nation. Such creatures of passion, disloyalty, and an-
archy must be crushed out.”5

During World War I, the Russian Revolution, and the Red Scare that fol-
lowed, denaturalization and ideological deportation served to suppress the 
threat of dissent within the United States, including labor agitation, violence, 
radicalism, and opposition to the war and US foreign policies. The United 
States continued to view foreigners as a source of subversion, which led many 
Americans, including politicians and public officials, to treat foreigners as 
scapegoats and targets for suppression. These officials turned to New York’s 
Criminal Anarchy Law, the Naturalization Act of 1906, and the Alien Immi-
gration Act of 1903 as their tools of repression. Congress also passed new 
laws, which revised explicit ideological restrictions in order to denaturalize, 
detain, and deport more foreign-born residents. Free speech advocates, 
judges, legal scholars, deportees, and public officials challenged efforts to de-
port and denaturalize foreigners. They pushed for more speech-protective 
legal standards and raised concerns about lack of due process protection and 
the damage done to America’s free speech values and democracy.

World War I and the Russian Revolution

After running for reelection on the campaign slogan “He Kept Us Out of War,” 
President Wilson would lead the United States into World War I in 1917. He 
argued that America’s entrance into the war would help make “the world safe 
for democracy.” Many followed him, giving their support to the war effort. 
The government created a special independent agency, the Committee on 
Public Information, in order to influence public opinion on the war and gen-
erate pro-war propaganda. This propaganda and promotion of patriotism 



Making Democracy Safe in America

65

included vilifying Germany: anti-German sentiment was high and states 
banned German language books and teaching German in schools. Opposi-
tion to the war was significant, and ranged from radicals, who opposed the 
war’s motivations, to pacifists and antimilitarists, who opposed all war. 
Among the dissenters were socialists and anarchists, who argued that the war 
was about imperialism and capitalist interests. They created and joined organ
izations to express their opposition to the war and urge its end.6

As the United States entered World War I, Russia was in the midst of a 
revolution. In May 1917, the Bolsheviks, led by Vladimir Lenin and Leon 
Trotsky, stormed the Imperial Palace and took control. In October, they faced 
resistance and ousted the opposition, plunging Russia into a civil war, pit-
ting the Bolshevik Red Army against the White Army of anticommunist 
counter-revolutionaries. In 1918, Russia had taken itself out of World War I, 
and the United States had intervened in its civil strife, sending troops to 
Siberia and supporting the White Army and anti-Bolshevik Czechs. Radicals 
in the United States saw hope in this revolution and threw their support 
behind the Bolsheviks. In addition to protesting the United States’ involve-
ment in World War I, many also championed the Bolsheviks and opposed the 
United States’ military intervention to stop their revolution.7

Entry into World War I brought federal legislation that sought to elimi-
nate internal subversion and to deport foreign radicals. Once Congress de-
clared war with Germany, Wilson issued Proclamation 1364, which revived 
the dormant Alien Enemies Act of 1798.8 Wilson declared German residents 
alien enemies and required their registration with the government.9 The Jus-
tice Department kept records and created a list of enemy aliens. Citing con-
cerns of espionage and internal subversion from Germans who gave their loy-
alty to Germany and not to their new homeland, the United States used the 
Alien Enemies Act to arrest 6,300 foreigners and intern 2,300.10

Congress also passed a wartime measure in 1918 referred to as the “Travel 
Control Act,” which delegated power to the president to regulate entry to or 
departure from the United States.11 Wilson issued a proclamation requiring 
documentation for anyone leaving or entering the United States. To receive 
a passport, US citizens had to have “adequate reasons” for departure or entry 
and such departure or entry could not be “prejudicial to the interests of the 
United States.”12 In 1926, Congress passed the Passport Act, delegating 
authority to issue and validate passports to the secretary of state under the 
direction of the president.13

In May 1917, Congress passed the Selective Draft Law, establishing the 
draft and punishment for those who sought to obstruct it.14 And in June, 
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Congress passed the Espionage Act.15 The Espionage Act made it a federal 
crime during wartime for anyone who “shall willfully cause or attempt to 
cause insubordination, disloyalty, mutiny, or refusal of duty, in the military 
or naval forces of the United States, or shall willfully obstruct the recruiting 
or enlistment service of the United States, to the injury of the service or of 
the United States.”16 During public hearings before the House Judiciary Com-
mittee, Free Speech League attorneys Gilbert Roe and Harry Weinberger had 
voiced their concerns about Congress passing the Espionage Act.17

Roe described protecting dissent as the essence of free speech. “One thing 
that we in the Free Speech League stand for is the right of our opponents to 
express their views just as freely as we claim the right to express our own, and 
that is really the test of whether you believe in free speech or not.”18 Wein-
berger cautioned against the Espionage Act’s suppression of free speech. He 
did not believe the United States government had to sacrifice the rights of its 
citizens and undermine its democracy to make the world safe for it. Wein-
berger stated “I am pro-American and against all autocracy. But must the 
United States give up all the rights of democracy to overthrow autocracy?”19

Congress was unpersuaded, and after passing the Espionage Act, it added 
an amendment in 1918, the Sedition Act, that punished anyone who “shall 
willfully utter, print, write, or publish any disloyal, profane, scurrilous, or abu-
sive language” about the United States and its institutions, government, or 
military.20 Throughout the war, the Justice Department and federal law en-
forcement used these new laws to suppress radicalism, as well as antiwar sen-
timent and protests in public speeches and in the press.

IWW strikes and suppression efforts continued during World War I. In 
the wake of an IWW strike against the copper mining companies of Bisbee, 
Arizona, the sheriff, Harry Wheeler, deputized 2,000 men, creating an anti-
union organization called the Citizen’s Protective League. On July 12, 1917, 
the sheriff ordered the league to round up over 1,000 men. They put them 
on a train to New Mexico, left them in the desert, and then barred them from 
Bisbee.21 After a public outcry, a Presidential Mediation Commission was es-
tablished to investigate the “Bisbee Deportation.” On November 6, 1917, the 
commission issued its report and found “the deportation was wholly illegal 
and without authority in law, either State or Federal.”22

Wartime legislation, including the Espionage Act, provided the federal au-
thority to suppress the IWW through arrests, imprisonment, and censor-
ship through post office restrictions on IWW mail and materials. Wobblies 
continued to hold demonstrations and strikes during World War I, and the 
Justice Department continued to use the Espionage Act to suppress them.23
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Free Speech League lawyers defended World War I dissenters against their 
prosecution under this new legislation. Socialist presidential candidate Eu-
gene V. Debs spoke out against the war in 1918, and he was arrested and con-
victed under the Espionage Act.24 Roe submitted an amicus curiae brief in 
his defense, and Debs continued to protest the war and run for president 
while in prison.25 Roe also represented socialist Max Eastman, editor of The 
Masses, a popular radical journal that published pieces by Emma Goldman, 
Alexander Berkman, and John Reed. Eastman had been enjoined from circu-
lating The Masses through the mail under the Espionage Act, because he 
published subversive cartoons, critical of conscription and World War I, and 
a poetic tribute to Goldman and Berkman.26 Federal law enforcement also 
used the Espionage Act against Bolshevik supporters. Weinberger repre-
sented anarchists including Jacob Abrams and Mollie Steimer, who were 
convicted under the Espionage Act for throwing pro-Bolshevik leaflets that 
were critical of the United States off the roof of a New York building.27

Goldman was of course an outspoken critic of the war and conscription. 
She had openly condemned militarism since she delivered a speech in front 
of Private William Buwalda in 1908. In 1917, Goldman and Berkman founded 
the “No-Conscription League,” and they gave lectures and organized events 
against the war and in opposition to the draft.28 The police arrested them for 
conspiracy to obstruct the draft in violation of the Selective Draft Law. 
Goldman and Berkman were convicted and sentenced to two years in prison.

During the trial, Goldman addressed the jury and described the hypoc
risy of her prosecution. “We say that if America has entered the war to 
make the world safe for democracy, she must first make democracy safe in 
America.”29 Weinberger represented Goldman and Berkman and appealed 
their conviction. He believed the jury was under the influence of “war hys-
teria” and had convicted them solely for their views and opposition to the 
war.30 Goldman and Berkman lost their appeal and prepared for prison.31 
Both bid friends and supporters farewell and urged them to keep up the 
fight against the war.32

While federal law enforcement arrested radicals and dissenters, Congress 
passed legislation to further restrict foreigners from entering and residing in 
the United States. In the Immigration Act of 1917, Congress barred entry from 
the Asiatic Barred Zone, encompassing most Asian countries, and all other 
foreigners had to pass a literacy test to enter.33 While the anarchist exclusion 
provision remained in place since its passage in 1903, the 1917 act now barred 
foreigners who were “anarchists, or persons who believe in or advocate the 
overthrow by force or violence of the Government of the United States, or of 
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all forms of law, or who disbelieve in or are opposed to organized govern-
ment” any time after entry to the United States.34 It also included those “who 
advocate or teach the unlawful destruction of property,” in order to incor-
porate anti-syndicalist efforts aimed at Wobblies.35 The act extended the 
time limit for post-entry deportation of foreigners who fell under these ex-
plicit provisions from three years of entry to five years.36

In addition to prosecutions under the Espionage Act, the Justice Depart-
ment worked with the Labor Department to use denaturalization and depor-
tation as tools to suppress radicals and dissenters. In 1918, a US district 
court in Oregon ordered the denaturalization of a Wobbly from Germany 
named Carl Swelgin. Swelgin had joined the IWW in 1911, and in 1913, 
he had applied for and was granted American citizenship.37 Under the 
Naturalization Act of 1906, in addition to listing misrepresentation, fraud, 
or deception as reasons to strip someone of his or her citizenship, the gov-
ernment could also revoke citizenship if it could demonstrate the individu-
al’s lack of attachment to the principles of the Constitution at the time of 
naturalization. The district court held that Swelgin’s membership in the 
IWW, which it characterized as “antipatriotic” and “anarchistic,” indicated 
that Swelgin lacked an attachment to the principles of the Constitution.38 
The district court concluded that Swelgin had fraudulently misrepresented 
his attachment when he took the naturalization oath, and then it voided his 
naturalization.39

The July 1918 issue of the U.S. Immigration Service Bulletin, a Labor Depart-
ment publication under the direction of the commissioner of immigration, 
included the full district court decision in the Swelgin case. The Bulletin also 
instructed immigration officials to take note of the decision to denaturalize, 
as well as its importance to the enforcement of the new ideological deporta-
tion provision in the Immigration Act of 1917 and to the removal of foreign 
anarchists and Wobblies.40 Immigration officials within the Labor Depart-
ment did indeed use the expanded deportation provision in this manner, 
and ideological deportees brought legal challenges to their ejection from the 
United States.

In 1918, Frank Lopez, an anarchist from Spain, challenged his deporta-
tion under the Immigration Act of 1917. Like John Turner, he claimed he was 
a philosophical anarchist. When asked if was an anarchist, Lopez replied, 
“I believe in anarchy but not in the way you explain it, or the way newspapers 
say it is.” He declared he was “against killing and against destruction,” and de-
scribed himself as “free thinking” and believing in “teaching, education, and 
telling the people to better their conditions.” Lopez argued that he did not fall 
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under the definition of an anarchist in the Immigration Act’s exclusion pro-
vision, and he should not be deported.41

A US district court in New York and the Second Circuit Court of Appeals 
upheld Lopez’s deportation order, dismissing any distinction between phil-
osophical and violent anarchists.42 “The fact that he is only a philosophical 
anarchist, and not an advocate of a resort to force and revolution, makes him, 
in the opinion of Congress, none the less a dangerous presence,” wrote Cir
cuit Court Judge Henry Wade Rogers. “His theories, if they could be put in 
practice, would end the government of the United States, and to that govern-
ment he recognizes no allegiance, never having become a citizen of the 
United States.” Rogers then reaffirmed Congress’s right to ideologically de-
port under its plenary power. “If the government considers his presence un-
desirable, because of his advocacy of a doctrine which it regards as inimical 
to civilization, it must have the power to send him out of the country, and 
back to the country whence he came.”43

In 1918, Congress passed the most restrictive ideological law since the 
Alien Immigration Act of 1903. The Anarchist Exclusion Act included revi-
sions to the explicit ideological exclusion and deportation provisions, which 
the secretary of labor and the Justice Department devised to close perceived 
loopholes in the statute and to enable the Anarchist Exclusion Act to serve 
as a stronger tool to ideologically exclude and deport more foreigners.44

The comma after “anarchists” in the Immigration Act of 1917 could be 
interpreted to imply that the clause that followed the comma was the defini-
tion of an anarchist.45 Thus, a person could argue that he or she did not fall 
under that definition and should not be excluded or deported from the United 
States. Clarifying the punctuation would eliminate any potential argument 
from philosophical anarchists such as Lopez, challenging their deportation 
through this ambiguity in the provision. The revision in the Anarchist Exclu-
sion Act replaced the comma with a semicolon.46 If a foreigner self-identified 
as an anarchist or immigration officials determined that the foreigner was an 
anarchist, he or she fell under this provision. Even if the US district courts 
were not willing to entertain the argument, this change in punctuation re-
moved the ambiguity and relevancy of the philosophical versus violent an-
archist distinction and thus eased the exclusion and deportation process.47 

The Anarchist Exclusion Act’s provisions also would target Wobblies, 
barring those who advocated the “unlawful destruction of property” and 
“sabotage,” and used guilt by association, excluding or deporting anyone 
who was “a member of or affiliated with an organization” that advocated the 
overthrow of government by force or violence.48
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Yet, the most significant change was that the Anarchist Exclusion Act com-
pletely eliminated the deportation time limit, permitting the deportation of 
those deemed excludable at any time after entry.49 Even if foreigners were not 
anarchists when they entered, they were still subject to deportation if they 
became anarchists after entry, no matter how many years they had resided 
in the United States.

A month after Congress passed the Anarchist Exclusion Act, World War 
I was over, but the war against foreign radicals had only just begun. These 
more restrictive provisions in the act provided the new attorney general, 
A. Mitchell Palmer, and a young up-and-comer in the Justice Department 
named J. Edgar Hoover with the legal basis to conduct mass arrests of 
Wobblies, Communists, and anarchists, and to deport foreigners, including 
Goldman and Berkman.

The Red Scare

In September 1918, just before the end of World War I, Congress launched 
its first investigative committee into subversive activities within the United 
States. Chaired by Senator Lee Slater Overman (D-NC), a special subcom-
mittee within the Senate Judiciary Committee held a series of hearings to 
investigate German propaganda and activities within the United States. In 
early 1919, the Overman Committee shifted its focus from German subver-
sion to Bolshevism. From February to March, the committee held hearings 
on the potential threat of Bolshevism and its links to labor agitation and radi-
calism within the United States. In June, the Overman Committee issued its 
final report on “un-American” activities in the United States. It recommended 
efforts to assimilate and Americanize, including suppressing foreign news-
papers, patriotic anti-radical campaigns, strict enforcement of deportation 
laws, and passage of a peacetime sedition law.50

While prosecutions under criminal syndicalism laws, the Espionage 
Act, and deportations had damaged the IWW, Wobblies continued to orga
nize labor strikes. In February 1919, the Seattle General Strike, calling for 
better wages and hours for shipyard workers, increased law enforcement’s 
concern over radicalism and the IWW.51 The press and local officials 
blamed Bolshevism for this “revolution” and contributing to labor militancy 
in the United States.52

In March, the New York legislature formed a committee, chaired by state 
Senator Clayton R. Lusk, to investigate “seditious activities.” The Lusk Com-
mittee focused its attention on radical organizations and the influence of 
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Bolshevism, and it used New York’s Criminal Anarchy Law as the legal basis 
for law enforcement to conduct a series of raids on IWW headquarters, the 
Russian Soviet Bureau, and the socialist Rand School of Social Science.53

In April and June, bombs were mailed to the offices or homes of industri-
alists, legislators, and state and federal officials, including Seattle Mayor Ole 
Hanson, Secretary of Labor William B. Wilson, Postmaster General Albert 
Burleson, and Commissioner General of Immigration Anthony Caminetti. 
Many of those targeted had been involved in passing or enforcing immigra-
tion or antiradical laws, used to suppress anarchists and Wobblies.

On June 2, 1919, a bomb exploded at Attorney General Palmer’s home; 
his family was present, but they were unharmed in the explosion.54 In the 
wake of the bomb explosion, Palmer launched his war on radicals. Palmer 
called on Congress to appropriate $500,000 to go after anarchists,55 but 
Palmer was not waiting for Congress to deal with the “Red Scare.” Two days 
after the bombing, Palmer appointed William J. Flynn, considered at the time 
to be the “foremost authority in the country on anarchists and their activi-
ties,” to head the Justice Department’s Bureau of Investigation.56 Flynn led the 
bureau in hunting the anarchists responsible for the bombings, while con-
ducting raids, arresting radicals, and arranging to deport them.57

Flynn’s investigation eventually traced the bombings to Italian anarchist 
Luigi Galleani and his followers. Galleani had been an active anarchist in the 
United States and a leader in the Italian anarchist community. In 1903, he 
founded Cronaca Sovversiva (Subversive Chronicle), one of the leading Italian-
language anarchist newspapers in the United States.58 The Justice Department 
used the Espionage Act to shut down Cronaca Sovversiva in 1918.59 While Gal-
leani was not a citizen, he had lived in the United States for fifteen years. Under 
the old immigration restrictions, the United States could not deport him 
because of his long-term residency and the post-entry deportation limits 
under the Immigration Act of 1917 and Alien Immigration Act of 1903. The 
new Anarchist Exclusion Act had eliminated those limits and provided the 
legal basis to enable the United States to deport Galleani and his followers.60

In August, Palmer created the General Intelligence Division of the Bureau 
of Investigation, known as the “Radical Division,” which was devoted to the 
surveillance and investigation of radicals.61 Palmer appointed J. Edgar Hoover 
in charge of this division. During World War I, Hoover had been the head of 
the Bureau’s Enemy Alien Division, supervising the detention of foreigners 
under the Alien Enemies Act and generating long lists of suspected subver-
sives in addition to Germans.62 He had brought the classification and cata
loging skills he had acquired as a former clerk at the Library of Congress to 
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his job at the Enemy Alien Division, and now he brought his experience with 
investigating, arresting and detaining foreigners, along with his lists, to the 
Radical Division.63 Over the next six months, Hoover focused on conducting 
raids of radical organizations, mass arrests, and deportations of foreigners. 
He targeted not only anarchists and Wobblies, but also members of the 
new Communist organizations that had formed in 1919. Yet, Hoover’s 
number one target was Emma Goldman. He sought to expel her from the 
United States.64

Goldman and Berkman had just finished serving their prison sentences 
when they were arrested under a warrant for deportation and brought before 
a Board of Special Inquiry, which found them deportable under the Anarchist 

The dual threat of anarchy and Bolshevism under “Reds” are presented as a  
foreign threat that requires stricter enforcement of ideological deportation  

and exclusion laws in “put them out and keep them out” by Fred Morgan, 
published in Literary Digest vol. 63, no. 4, October 25, 1919

Columbia University Libraries.
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Exclusion Act. Hoover had arranged for their arrest, and questioned both.65 
Berkman had never become a citizen, and, after the Alien Immigration Act 
of 1903, as an anarchist, he could never be naturalized. In 1909, Goldman had 
been denaturalized upon losing the derivative citizenship through her hus-
band Jacob Kersner when his citizenship was revoked.66 Harry Weinberger 
represented Berkman and Goldman in their deportation hearings, but he 
was unsuccessful in preventing their deportation.67 They were not citizens, 
and they were anarchists, and no matter how long they had lived in the 
United States, under the Anarchist Exclusion Act, they could now be de-
ported at any time.

At their hearing on October 27, 1919, Goldman made an impassioned plea 
to stay, arguing that the suppression of dissent was the prime objective of 
the Anarchist Exclusion Act and the deportations under it, and that these 
deportations violated freedom of speech and undermined America’s foun-
dational values and principles as a democracy. “Ever since I have been in this 
country—and I have lived here practically all my life—it has been dinned 
into my ears that under the institutions of this alleged Democracy one is 
entirely free to think and feel as he pleases.” Goldman then asked, “What be-
comes of this sacred guarantee of freedom of thought and conscience when 
persons are being persecuted and driven out for the very motives and pur-
poses for which the pioneers who built up this country laid down their lives?”68

On the morning of December 21, 1919, Berkman and Goldman joined 247 
other foreign-born radicals being deported, bound for Soviet Russia on the 
SS Buford, referred to as the “Soviet Ark.” Hoover arrived at the harbor in New 
York City just after midnight to see them off.69 In her autobiography, Living 
My Life, Goldman recalled her departure from the United States as the ship 
left the harbor. “Through the port-hole I could see the great city receding 
into the distance, its skyline of buildings traceable by their rearing heads. 
It was my beloved city, the metropolis of the New World. It was America, 
indeed, America repeating the terrible scenes of tsarist Russia! I glanced 
up—the Statue of Liberty!”70

Over a month before Goldman and Berkman were deported, Hoover had 
assisted Palmer in conducting the first of what would be referred to as the 
“Palmer Raids.” On November 7, 1919, Hoover orchestrated a massive raid 
to coincide with the second anniversary of the Bolshevik Revolution. He 
helped local law enforcement and federal officials raid offices of the Union 
of Russian Workers in twelve cities. There were over 600 arrests after war-
rantless searches and destruction or seizure of material.71 More raids and ar-
rests of Wobblies would take place in the next few days.
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On January 2, 1920, Palmer and Hoover directed federal agents to raid 
“radical hangouts,” including meeting halls, pool halls, cafes, and bowling al-
leys in over thirty cities. Over 6,000 arrest warrants were issued, and agents 
arrested about 4,000 radicals, including leaders and members of the Commu-
nist Labor Party and Communist Party of America.72 The Palmer Raids rep-
resented a great show of force by the Justice Department and revealed its focus 
on foreigners and the use of the Anarchist Exclusion Act to deport them. Ap-
proximately, 10,000 radicals (citizens and noncitizens) were detained or ar-
rested in the Palmer Raids; 3,000 radicals were held in detention on Ellis Is-
land pending deportation, but only 556 of them were eventually deported 
under the Anarchist Exclusion Act.73

The standard deportation procedure for foreign noncitizens involved im-
migration officials gathering and evaluating evidence to support deporta-
tion and obtaining a warrant for arrest from the commissioner general of im-
migration. Those arrested would have a deportation hearing before the 
Board of Special Inquiry, which would decide if the foreigners were deport-
able, and, if so, issue a deportation order, which deportees could appeal to 
the commissioner. The Immigration Bureau fell under the Labor Department, 
and so it was the secretary of labor who reviewed the case and made the final 
decision to approve or cancel the deportation order. Deportation hearings 
were still not open to the public, and while deportees were allowed to have 
legal counsel at the hearings, they were not provided with legal counsel and 
there was no constitutional right to counsel as these were considered admin-
istrative hearings.

Hoover worked closely with Anthony Caminetti, the commissioner gen-
eral of immigration, to expedite deportation proceedings against foreign radi-
cals, including obtaining a revision to Rule 22  in the Immigration Laws and 
Rules, which informed those arrested for deportation that they could have ac-
cess to legal counsel. Under this revision to Rule 22, immigration officials 
were not required to present the deportee with the warrant of arrest and evi-
dence used to support deportation or to provide the deportee with informa-
tion about access to counsel before or during the deportation hearing.74

Nevertheless, Palmer, Hoover, and Caminetti did not hold the ultimate au-
thority to deport; only the secretary of labor could authorize deportation. 
One man would present the main obstacle in their way: Louis F. Post. Post 
was the progressive, liberal lawyer and journalist who had submitted an af-
fidavit in support of John Turner’s admission and had condemned his exclu-
sion in 1904. In 1913, the same the year the Immigration Bureau moved to 
the Labor Department, Post joined the Wilson administration and became 
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assistant secretary of labor. Goldman later wrote in her autobiography that 
she was shocked and felt deeply betrayed when she learned that it was Post 
in the Labor Department who had signed her deportation order.75 Yet, after 
the Palmer Raids, it was Post who used his position and his limited discre-
tion to prevent as many deportations as he could under his interpretation of 
the Anarchist Exclusion Act.

“Deportations Delirium”

Secretary of Labor William B. Wilson was away from the Labor Department 
on a personal leave of absence after the Palmer Raids in January 1920, as was 
John W. Abercrombie, the solicitor for the Labor Department. During the fol-
lowing two months until their return, Post was left as the head of the Labor 
Department.76 In his memoir, The Deportations Delirium of Nineteen-Twenty: A 
Personal Narrative of an Historic Official Experience, Post discussed the antiradical 
and antiforeigner fervor that had swept through the United States during the 
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Red Scare. Post described the vast numbers of American and foreign-born 
radicals arrested in the Palmer Raids, and the tremendous pressure that Palmer 
and Hoover put on the Labor Department to authorize deportations.77 De-
spite this pressure, Post had refused to act as a rubberstamp. He insisted on 
examining every deportation case individually, evaluating the evidence to de-
termine deportability, and carefully deciding whether to authorize the de-
portation order or dismiss it.78

According to Post, he had ultimate discretion to deport and could dismiss 
the order only if there was insufficient evidence to support the foreigner’s de-
portation under the law.79 Post explained that he did not have discretion to 
dismiss the order if there was sufficient evidence.80 He cited Goldman’s de-
portation as a case where he had to deport under the Anarchist Exclusion Act. 
There was no question that Goldman was an anarchist, and, as such, she was 
deportable under the law. Post argued that he could not prevent it once Hoover 
had orchestrated her deportation.81 Post canceled deportations by using his 
interpretive discretion—his authority to interpret the law—which he did so 
narrowly. For instance, Secretary Wilson had decided that membership in the 
Communist Party of America fell under the Anarchist Exclusion Act, but Post 
required sufficient proof of membership, and deemed that such membership 
must be intentional and in the interest of furthering the party’s goals, not just 
to participate in a social club. He also canceled orders for those deportees who 
had resigned and were no longer members. Post estimated he canceled 2,700 
of the arrest warrants out of 3,700 to 4,000 “red” cases.82

Because of his careful interpretation of the statute and evidence, Post 
canceled nearly 3,000 arrests for deportation in the months following the 
Palmer Raids, a number that prompted Palmer to urge President Wilson to 
fire Post and Congress to initiate impeachment proceedings against him. Con-
gressman Albert Johnson (R-WA), chairman of the Committee on Immigra-
tion and Naturalization, charged Post with the “flagrant and unwarranted 
abuse of power,” saying that he had “hindered, delayed and prevented” the de-
portation of foreigners who sought to overthrow the government.83 In April 
and May 1920, Post testified before the House Rules Committee.84 Post calmly 
withstood Palmer’s testimony that he had thwarted the Justice Department’s 
efforts to rid the United States of radicals, as well as Palmer’s accusation that 
Post had a “perverted sympathy for criminal anarchists in the country.”85 De-
scribing his evaluations and determinations in deportation cases, Post suc-
cessfully defended his actions under the rule of law.86 In the end, the House 
Rules Committee dismissed the charges and did not impeach Post.87
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Outside of the committee hearings, Palmer also faced harsh criticism in 
response to his raids. In May 1920, the National Popular Government League, 
an organization seeking to improve government administration, issued a re-
port entitled “To the American People: a Report upon the Illegal Practices of 
the United States Justice Department.” Written by lawyers and legal scholars, 
including Ernst Freund, Roscoe Pound, and a future Supreme Court justice, 
Felix Frankfurter, the report praised Post’s “courageous re-establishment of 
American constitutional law in deportation proceedings,” and condemned 
the Palmer Raids as “brutal” as well as unconstitutional.88 The report described 
a series of civil liberties violations and misconduct by the Justice Department 
and its agents, including physical beatings and threats of violence, warrant-
less arrests and detentions, lack of access to counsel, and the gathering and 
use of evidence from illegal searches and seizures against those arrested.89

Critics of the Justice Department also included First Circuit Court of Ap-
peals Judge George Weston Anderson. In Colyer v. Skeffington, Anderson dis-
missed the arrest of twenty foreign radicals and their deportation orders for 
being members of the Communist Party of America or Communist Labor 
Party, prior to Post’s review.90 Anderson granted their applications for a writ 
of habeas corpus and released them.91 Post and Wilson had determined the 
Communist Labor Party fell outside the Anarchist Exclusion Act’s provisions, 
because it did not include advocacy for revolution by force or violence in their 
organizational principles, and so Post dismissed the orders for deportation 
for Communist Labor Party members. Judge Anderson found that there was 
insufficient evidence that either of these Communist organizations fell within 
his interpretation of the explicit provisions of the Anarchist Exclusion Act, 
and thus, the United States could not deport based on the foreigners’ mere 
membership alone.92

Anderson’s ruling was later overturned, but his criticisms remained sa-
lient. He had rebuked the Justice Department, characterizing the Palmer Raids 
as conducted under “terrorizing conditions” and describing the attempts to 
prevent foreigners from having access to legal counsel during their deporta-
tion hearings under the Rule 22 revision.93 While Anderson had upheld Con-
gress’s right to exclude and deport under the plenary power doctrine, he in-
sisted that foreigners facing deportation were entitled to equal protection 
under the law against the civil liberties and constitutional violations exhib-
ited by the Justice Department. He also voiced concern over the power of the 
Justice and Labor Departments in effecting deportations without judicial re-
view and oversight absent a writ of habeas corpus in a US district court.94
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By June 1920, Palmer no longer garnered the same support to suppress 
radicals that he had the year before in the wake of the 1919 Red Scare. Palmer 
had predicted violent, radical May Day strikes, assassinations, and riots, which 
then failed to materialize.95 A few days later, Congress refused to grant Palm-
er’s request for $500,000 to continue his campaign against radicalism in the 
United States.96 It also became increasingly difficult to deport radicals.

Deportation is a bilateral process. In order to deport, the receiving country 
must open its borders to accept the deportee. Geopolitics and international 
tensions and agreements among and between nations complicated this pro
cess. In 1919, the United States could deport individuals to Soviet Russia only 
with the permission of its new government, the Russian Soviet Federative So-
cialist Republic (RSFSR), which it refused to recognize. State Department 
officials engaged in a series of diplomatic negotiations with neighboring 
Latvia and then with Finland to help transport the “Soviet Ark” deportees 
to Soviet Russia, after negotiations between the Soviets and Finland were 
conducted through the assistance of Estonian officials. The United States 
continued to work with third-party nations to effect deportations after the 
Palmer Raids until Soviet Russia closed its borders in 1921.97 Lacking sup-
port from Congress and the public, and now with the inability to deport 
foreign radicals to what would become the Soviet Union, the deportations 
delirium ended.

In 1920, Palmer ran for president, but he lost the Democratic Party nomi-
nation. In 1921, he resigned his position as attorney general and left the Jus-
tice Department. Hoover remained, and, in 1924, he became head of the Bu-
reau of Investigation. He continued his surveillance and investigations of 
suspected internal subversives, compiling information and lists of individuals 
to potentially arrest or deport; his focus on foreigners as the source of sub-
version never waned.

The Palmer Raids and continuous arrests had significantly damaged the 
IWW.98 Released on bail in his Espionage Act case, Big Bill Haywood had 
smuggled himself out of the country, after being invited to become an advisor 
to the Soviets.99 By the mid-1920s, without a strong leader, the IWW had 
fractured, and Communist organizations had taken its place. In 1921, the 
Soviet Comintern officially recognized the Communist Party of the USA as 
the Communist Party in the United States. Members of various Communist 
organizations associated or affiliated with this Communist Party would 
also become the main focus of governmental suppression and ideological 
restrictions.
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As for Goldman and Berkman, they were devastated by their deportation, 
but the Russian Revolution gave them hope.100 Unfortunately, they were 
soon disappointed. Goldman and Berkman became disillusioned and con-
cerned that the repression they had experienced in the United States was 
now emerging in the new Soviet Union, particularly, the suppression of dis-
senters and of anarchists.101 Goldman and Berkman would leave, and in 
1925, Goldman entered a marriage of convenience with Scottish anarchist 
James Colton in order to gain British citizenship to travel through Europe 
freely.102

In the 1930s, Goldman was involved in anti-Fascist activities and served 
as the director of the English-speaking propaganda campaign for the Iberian 
Anarchist Federation during the Spanish Civil War.103 In 1934, the Labor De-
partment allowed Goldman to enter the United States for a three-month 
visit to promote her autobiography.104 She later wrote that being forced to 
leave after such a short stay was worse than her deportation in 1919; she 
missed the United States too much.105 Two years later, Goldman would also 
experience the pain of losing her long-time comrade, when Berkman com-
mitted suicide in 1936.106

Once considered the most dangerous woman in America, Goldman died 
in Toronto, Canada in 1940. After her death, she was granted her wish to re-
turn to the United States and was interned in Chicago’s Waldheim Cemetery, 
in a grave near to where the Haymarket martyrs were buried, so she could be 
close to those whose death had led her to become an anarchist.107

“Clear and Present Danger”

In the aftermath of World War I and the Palmer Raids, the Supreme Court 
evaluated the constitutionality of federal and state restrictions used to sup-
press radicals and dissenters, while the American Civil Liberties Union and 
a professor at Harvard Law School articulated new understandings of free ex-
pression and its value, and applied them to ideological deportation.

During World War I, while the Free Speech League handled many cases 
of those prosecuted under the Espionage Act, it was soon joined by another 
legal organization, the National Civil Liberties Bureau (NCLB). The NCLB 
grew out of an organization called the American Union Against Militarism 
(AUAM) founded in 1914. Roger Baldwin, who was a social worker in St. Louis 
specializing in the juvenile court system, had come to New York and joined 
the AUAM.108 In 1917, Baldwin and the AUAM’s executive secretary, Crystal 
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Eastman, a labor lawyer and the sister of Max Eastman, became concerned 
about the Espionage Act and Selective Draft Law and the prosecution of dis-
senters and radicals under them.109 Eastman and Baldwin established the 
NCLB as a legal organization separate from the AUAM in order to challenge 
these laws and to provide legal support for and advocate on behalf of those 
prosecuted under them, including IWW members, antiwar protesters, and 
conscientious objectors.110

After World War I, the NCLB debated disbanding, but the Palmer Raids 
helped to push it to become a permanent civil liberties organization.111 On 
January  12, 1920, Baldwin founded the American Civil Liberties Union 
(ACLU), which had joined the National Popular Government League in con-
demning the Palmer Raids and publishing the report denouncing the Justice 
Department’s “utterly illegal acts, which have been committed by those 
charged with the highest duty of enforcing the laws.”112 By the 1920s, the 
ACLU had replaced the Free Speech League as the leading free speech organ
ization in the United States.

While Baldwin described Emma Goldman and the Free Speech League as 
the most significant influences in the formation of the ACLU, the ACLU dif-
fered from the Free Speech League in a few ways. Whereas the Free Speech 
League addressed only free speech issues, the ACLU’s mission was broader 
and more inclusive. In addition to freedom of speech, press, and assembly, 
the ACLU’s platform included issues concerning fair trials, search and seizure 
protections, liberty in education, the right to strike, racial equality, and im-
migration and deportation.113 Yet, even as its focus was wider than that of the 
Free Speech League, the ACLU’s approach toward free speech protection was 
a bit narrower and more conservative.114

Some members of the Free Speech League, such as Theodore Schroeder, 
asserted that free speech was derived from individual liberty and that every 
person had the right to express whatever he or she wished as a free individual, 
without government infringing upon that right.115 The ACLU focused on 
political and economic speech. It viewed free speech not just as part of indi-
vidual liberty, but as essential to democratic self-government. For the ACLU, 
the value of free speech was not just the expression of the individual, but its 
contribution to public discourse and to political and economic thought.116 
The ACLU’s approach reflected a new interpretation of free speech and its 
value articulated in legal scholarship and emerging in Supreme Court opin-
ions in response to the prosecutions under the Espionage Act and to the 
suppression after the Red Scare.



Making Democracy Safe in America

81

By 1917, the federal courts began hearing challenges to prosecutions 
under the Espionage Act and other federal wartime legislation, and in 1919, 
these challenges had made their way to the Supreme Court. While the court 
upheld the constitutionality of the Espionage Act and the prosecutions under 
it, some jurists struggled with the lack of free speech protection under the bad 
tendency test and began to shift away from applying it to these cases. Echoing 
the criticisms of the bad tendency test and its breadth when it was used to 
suppress anarchists a decade earlier, a new free speech test emerged from this 
struggle: the “clear and present danger” test. Articulated with this new test 
was the value and purpose of free speech—contributing to the marketplace 
of ideas and truth-seeking.

In Masses Publishing Co. v. Patten (1917), New York US District Court Judge 
Learned Hand granted a request for an injunction against the postmaster’s 
refusal to permit Max Eastman’s The Masses to be distributed through the mail 
under the Espionage Act.117 Hand dismissed the use of the bad tendency test, 
replacing the “tendency to produce natural and probable” danger with a new, 
more speech-protective test, “direct incitement” to violent resistance.118 The 
Second Circuit Court of Appeals reversed Hand’s decision, sticking with the 
bad tendency test and upholding the postmaster’s refusal to mail The Masses.119 
Yet, Hand’s “direct incitement” test did not go unnoticed by his colleagues or 
by legal scholars.

In Schenck v. United States (1919), the Supreme Court unanimously upheld 
Charles Schenck’s conviction under the Espionage Act for mailing over 15,000 
anti-conscription leaflets to men drafted to fight in World War I.120 Writing 
for the court, Justice Oliver Wendell Holmes Jr. upheld Schenck’s conviction, 
but not under the bad tendency test. Instead, Holmes introduced a new speech 
test. “The question in every case is whether the words used are used in such 
circumstances and are of such a nature as to create a clear and present danger 
that they will bring about the substantive evils that Congress has a right to 
prevent.”121 Describing the application of the “clear and present danger” test 
as “a question of proximity and degree,” Holmes insisted that one must take 
into account the circumstances and context of the speech at the time it is ex-
pressed in order to determine its constitutional protection.122 “The most 
stringent protection of free speech would not protect a man falsely shouting 
fire in a theatre and causing a panic,” Holmes wrote.123 He concluded that 
while Schenck’s leaflets might be constitutionally protected free speech 
during peacetime, the anti-conscription leaflets constituted a “clear and pre
sent danger” to the government in wartime.124
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A week after issuing its decision in Schenck v. United States, the Supreme 
Court unanimously upheld Eugene V. Debs’s conviction under the Espionage 
Act. In Debs v. United States (1919), Justice Holmes, once again, wrote the court’s 
opinion. This time he did not apply his new clear and present danger test. 
Instead, Holmes returned to the bad tendency test and upheld Debs’s con-
viction because his speech was “so expressed that its natural and intended 
effect would be to obstruct recruiting.”125 Holmes then endorsed the use of 
the bad tendency test, declaring that the jury members were properly in-
structed to convict Debs if “the words used had as their natural tendency 
and reasonably probable effect to obstruct the recruiting service.”126

Three months later, in June 1919, Zechariah Chafee Jr., a legal scholar and 
civil liberties advocate who was a professor at Harvard Law School, wrote an 
article, “Free Speech in Wartime,” published in the Harvard Law Review. In this 
article, Chafee reviewed the Supreme Court’s decisions in the Espionage Act 
cases, comparing the Espionage Act to the Sedition Act of 1798.127 Calling 
for the end to the bad tendency test as a threat to freedom of speech, Chafee 
praised Judge Hand’s “direct incitement” test and Justice Holmes’s “clear and 
present danger” test as being more speech-protective and suitable replace-
ments for bad tendency.128 He then rebuked Holmes for his return to the bad 
tendency test in his opinion in Debs v. United States.129 Chafee described the 
value of free speech as essential to its most important purpose for society—
namely, “the discovery and spread of truth on subjects of general concern.”130 
This search for truth in a sea of falsehoods, opinions, and arguments could 
take place only in a society that protected free and open discussion.

Chafee also argued that the First Amendment protects two interests in free 
speech: individual and social. The social interest concerned the “attainment 
of truth, so the country may not only adopt the wisest course of action but 
carry it out in the wisest way. This social interest is especially important in 
wartime.”131 Chafee described Holmes’s neglect of the social interest in free 
speech as “regrettable.”132 According to Chafee, the problem with Holmes’s 
approach to the Espionage Act cases was that he focused on the individual 
interest, “which must readily give way like other personal desires the moment 
it interferes with the social interest in national safety.”133 Chafee concluded 
that in evaluating the constitutionality of restrictions such as those included 
in the Espionage Act, the Supreme Court should weigh the public safety con-
cerns against only the social interest in free speech.134

After reading critiques of his opinions, including Chafee’s law review ar-
ticle, Holmes changed his approach to the Espionage Act and embraced his 
new clear and present danger test and Chafee’s social interest value of free 
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speech.135 In Abrams v. United States (1919), a 7–2 decision, the Supreme Court 
upheld the conviction of Jacob Abrams, Mollie Steimer, and three others 
under the Espionage Act for throwing critical, pro-Bolshevik leaflets off a 
rooftop.136 The court relied on the bad tendency test to uphold their convic-
tion, but this time Holmes did not write the court’s opinion.137 Instead, 
Holmes wrote a dissenting opinion, joined by Justice Louis D. Brandeis, in 
which he rededicated himself to the clear and present danger test, and dis-
missed Abrams and Steimer as “puny anonymities,” who posed no actual 
clear and present danger threat.138 He also incorporated Chafee’s view of the 
value of free speech as the search for truth. “When men have realized that 
time has upset many fighting faiths,” Holmes wrote, “they may come to be-
lieve even more than they believe the very foundations of their own conduct 
that the ultimate good desired is better reached by free trade in ideas—that 
the best test of truth is the power of the thought to get itself accepted in the 
competition of the market, and that truth is the only ground upon which their 
wishes safely can be carried out.”139

By the mid-1920s, the Supreme Court began to hear legal challenges 
from radicals arrested during the Palmer Raids and convicted under New 
York’s Criminal Anarchy Law and California’s Criminal Syndicalism Act. 
These cases upheld the use of these state laws to suppress radicalism in the 
United States and represented the shift from using these laws to suppress 
the IWW and anarchists to Communists and members of the Communist 
Labor Party.

In Gitlow v. New York (1925), a 7–2 decision, the Supreme Court upheld the 
conviction of Benjamin Gitlow, a founding member of the Communist Labor 
Party, under New York’s Criminal Anarchy Law for distributing the “Left Wing 
Manifesto,” printed in copies of the Revolutionary Age, a radical periodical.140 
New York law enforcement, under the direction of the Lusk Committee and 
in coordination with the Justice Department, had arrested Gitlow during the 
Palmer Raids in November 1919. Clarence Darrow joined ACLU attorneys in 
challenging the constitutionality of Gitlow’s arrest and conviction. Writing 
for the majority, Justice Edward Sanford applied the bad tendency test, in-
sisting that the “Left Wing Manifesto” was an incitement that presented a 
“sufficient danger of substantive evil.” The New York legislature was within 
its constitutional rights to prevent its circulation as part of its police power 
to keep the state safe.141 Sanford dismissed the application of the clear and 
present danger test as too burdensome and risky. “A single revolutionary 
spark may kindle a fire that, smoldering for a time, may burst into a sweeping 
and destructive conflagration,” he wrote.142
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While Sanford refused to apply the clear and present danger test and 
maintained the majority of the court’s adherence to bad tendency, his opinion 
in Gitlow v. New York represented a seminal moment in First Amendment 
law and history. He upheld Gitlow’s conviction under New York’s Criminal 
Anarchy Law and declared that law to be a constitutional exercise in New 
York’s police power. Sanford then incorporated the First Amendment 
into the Fourteenth Amendment’s protections to apply to the states. He 
used the Fourteenth Amendment’s due process clause prohibiting depriva-
tion of “liberty,” which included the fundamental rights included in the First 
Amendment, and guarantee of equal protection under the law.143 The First 
Amendment was a prohibition on Congress and applied to federal laws, but 
through the Fourteenth Amendment, that prohibition applied to state legis-
lation, as well. Now, a state law, and an individual’s conviction under it, 
could face a legal challenge under the First Amendment and judicial review 
in a federal court under Supreme Court legal precedent, including the “clear 
and present danger” test.

Two years later, in Whitney v. California (1927), the Supreme Court unani-
mously affirmed guilt by association, when it confronted the constitution-
ality of Charlotte Anita Whitney’s arrest in 1919 and conviction under Cali-
fornia’s Criminal Syndicalism Act for assisting in organizing a California 
chapter of the Communist Labor Party and for being a member of that organ
ization.144 Writing for the court, Justice Sanford cited his opinion in Gitlow v. 
New York and upheld the constitutionality of California’s Criminal Syndicalism 
Act as a legal exercise of the state’s police power and Whitney’s conviction 
for membership and organization under it.145

Justice Brandeis wrote a concurring opinion in the court’s decision, joined 
by Justice Holmes. Both had dissented in Gitlow v. New York, but Brandeis dis-
tinguished this case. While Gitlow had been convicted of distributing a news-
paper, Whitney had been convicted of helping to organize and being a 
member of the Communist Labor Party. According to Brandeis, mere mem-
bership in the Communist Labor Party was insufficient to prosecute Whitney, 
but there was evidence of a conspiracy by members the IWW to commit 
crimes; where the conspiracy would be “furthered” by the activity of Whit-
ney’s organization, it was this furtherance in a conspiracy that pushed 
Brandeis to uphold Whitney’s conviction as constitutional.146

Despite upholding Whitney’s conviction, Brandeis spent the majority of 
his concurrence warning against fear driving the suppression of free speech 
and insisting that the clear and present danger test must be applied to speech 
restrictions and prosecutions. “Fear of serious injury cannot alone justify 
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suppression of free speech and assembly. Men feared witches and burnt 
women. It is the function of speech to free men from the bondage of irra-
tional fears,” he wrote.147 Brandeis concluded with a discussion of the social 
interest of free speech and value in exposing truth with more expression. “If 
there be time to expose through discussion the falsehood and fallacies, to 
avert the evil by the processes of education, the remedy to be applied is more 
speech, not enforced silence. Only an emergency can justify repression.”148

Ideological Deportation

In 1920, Chafee expanded his law review article into a book entitled Freedom 
of Speech.149 He included extensive analysis and discussion of the Espionage 
Act, specific cases such as Abrams v. United States, and the use of New York’s 
Criminal Anarchy Law and state criminal syndicalism laws. He also reiterated 
his approach toward free speech and its value, dismissing the individual in-
terest in free speech and emphasizing the social interest and its contribution 
to self-government and democracy.

Most notably, Chafee devoted an entire chapter to deportation during the 
Palmer Raids. In Colyer v. Skeffington, Chafee and Felix Frankfurter had assisted 
the court as counsel for the deportees, representing William T. Colyer and 
Amy Colyer, and Chafee had joined Frankfurter as one of the authors of the 
National Popular Government League’s report. Chafee did not consider these 
ideological deportations of foreign radicals as solely an immigration issue, 
but rather as a free speech issue. He identified these deportations as tactics 
used to suppress dissent and radical speech in the absence of a sedition law, 
and, under the plenary power doctrine, without the constitutional restraints 
and judicial review.150

Comparing the Anarchist Exclusion Act to the Alien Friends Act of 1798, 
Chafee declared the Anarchist Exclusion Act to be worse because it was per-
manent.151 He dismissed the insulation of ideological restrictions from due 
process and free speech protections as “unsound.”152 Neither the Fifth nor the 
First Amendment excluded foreigners. The Fifth Amendment applied to any 
“person,” and the First Amendment stated that “Congress shall make no law” 
infringing on freedom of speech—it did not specify that “no law” only ap-
plied to citizens.153

Chafee argued that ideological deportation fell under the First Amend-
ment, and therefore, First Amendment legal standards such as the new clear 
and present danger test should apply. He also contended that the presence of 
foreigners within the United States contributed to the social interest and 
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search for truth. “Persons already here are seriously affected if they are de-
nied the privilege of listening to, and associating with a foreign thinker,” he 
wrote. “Furthermore, the progress of the country as a whole may be gravely 
retarded. Truth is truth, whether it comes from a citizen or an alien, and the 
refusal to admit a wise foreigner, especially if there is a postal censorship on 
books, may simply result in our remaining ignorant.”154

Warning that ideological deportation would damage the United States’ 
reputation abroad, Chafee also insisted that deportations made the United 
States appear hypocritical. He argued, “After priding ourselves for a century 
on being an asylum for the oppressed of all nations, we ought not suddenly 
to jump to the position that we are only an asylum for men who are no more 
radical than ourselves.” Citing a few examples including England, which per-
mitted anarchist Prince Peter Kropotkin to live there, Chafee contended that 
America’s deportation policy would undermine its identity as a refuge and a 
democracy and would prove to be an international embarrassment. “We shall 
soon be in the shameful position of seeing political offenders from this 
country demanding asylum in the very lands from which men once fled to 
be free to think and talk on our shores.”155

Chafee also denounced the Palmer Raids and subsequent deportations as 
serving only to increase interest in anarchism and Communism and as the 
primary cause behind foreigners’ contempt for the United States and its gov-
ernment. “The raids have become a text for more agitators, who speak to men 
and women who now have a real reason for wanting to get rid of the existing 
form of government. It is not the soap-box orators, but Mr. Palmer with his 
horde of spies and midnight housebreakers, that have brought government 
into hatred and contempt.”156

As Ernst Freund had argued in 1904 in his discussion of free speech and 
the suppression of anarchism, so Chafee also posited that tolerance was the 
best way to deal with radicalism in the United States. “Men cannot be forced 
to love this country. They will love it rather because it does not employ force 
except against obviously wrongful overt acts. They will love it as the home 
of wise tolerance, of confidence in its own strength and freedom.”157

Chafee concluded his chapter on deportation with a discussion of Amer-
ican nativism emerging in times of crisis and with recommendations for de-
portation policy in the future. Chafee sought to answer the question of 
why these ideological deportations after World War I occurred and why 
many Americans supported these deportations. He described the national 
insecurity during the Red Scare and how xenophobia and nativism tend to 
emerge during such anxious times. He wrote, “Most of us have a hidden 
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emotion which comes to the surface in a time of excitement, the wish that 
we did not have in our midst these foreigners who are so different from our-
selves. The basis of dislike is normally unlikeness.”158 He claimed that “this 
instinct is normally controlled by a recognition of what immigration has 
done for the United States,” but that those controls are loosened or broken 
in times of crisis.159

Chafee then asked, does American citizenship “give us the moral right 
after a man is admitted to prescribe what he shall think, under penalty of ban-
ishment from his new home, and perhaps forcible return to the secret police 
from whom he fled?”160 Chafee answered, no. He suggested the only way to 
prevent such banishment was to make deportation subject to a judicial pro-
ceeding instead of an administrative one. Chafee also recommended that the 
secretary of labor should hold prosecutorial discretion to decide whether to 
expel a foreigner who is within a deportable class under the law or not, to pre-
vent abuse during times of national insecurity.161

During and after World War I, Congress passed new ideological restrictions, 
revised old restrictions to incorporate new groups, and eliminated ambigui-
ties in these restrictions in order to deport more foreign radicals. Public of-
ficials and judges also interpreted the text of the explicit ideological exclusion 
and deportation categories and evaluated evidence to prevent deportations.

The Justice Department relied on existing laws to suppress dissent and 
urged the passage of new ones, as it shifted its focus from anarchists and the 
IWW to supporters of Bolshevism and members of Communist organ
izations. However, it was the secretary of labor, and not the attorney general, 
who held the authority to deport under these laws. Ideological deporta-
tions rose and fell depending on who was the secretary of labor at the time 
and on his use of ultimate and interpretive discretion. The deportations de-
lirium and Louis F. Post’s account revealed how the political dynamic pro-
duced by this use of power and discretion led to tensions between the Labor 
Department, Justice Department, and Congress, specifically in ideological 
deportation cases.

The Free Speech League and its successor, the ACLU, challenged this gov-
ernmental suppression of radicals and fought to protect foreigners from ide-
ological deportation. Professor Chafee and Justice Holmes developed a 
speech-protective First Amendment legal standard, and they emphasized the 
contribution of free speech to democracy and its value in the search for truth 
in a marketplace of ideas. Chafee also interpreted ideological deportation as 
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a First Amendment issue and argued that such deportation should be sub-
ject to First Amendment legal standards and not be insulated from due pro
cess protections and substantive judicial review under the plenary power doc-
trine. This approach toward free speech and interpretation of ideological 
deportation paved the way for future legal challenges. Chafee’s concerns 
about the consequences of ideological restrictions and the damage to Amer
ica’s values and reputation abroad would also reappear in Supreme Court 
opinions and public criticisms throughout the twentieth century.

The 1920s saw anarchist violence and new immigration legislation. On 
September 16, 1920, a bomb blast killed thirty-eight people and seriously 
wounded 143 on Wall Street in New York City’s financial district. The Bureau 
of Investigation’s director, William J. Flynn, and J. Edgar Hoover investigated 
what became known as the “Wall Street Bombing,” but the perpetrators were 
never identified. Allegedly Galleanists were responsible for planting the bomb, 
specifically Italian anarchist Mario Buda, as an act of revenge in response 
to the indictment of two Italian anarchists, Nicola Sacco and Bartolomeo 
Vanzetti, for murder and armed robbery in Massachusetts.162

The Wall Street Bombing did not lead to another Red Scare, but it did ex-
pand the role of the Bureau of Investigation, as well as furthering J. Edgar 
Hoover’s career and deepening his desire to pursue and deport foreign radi-
cals.163 The Sacco and Vanzetti case became a cause célèbre. Like the Hay-
market Affair, this case inspired sympathy for anarchists, as well as drawing 
attention to governmental repression and the anti-anarchist prejudice and na-
tivism displayed during the jury trial. Sacco and Vanzetti’s conviction and 
death sentence resulted in mass protests in the United States and abroad after 
their execution in 1927.164

During these years, antiradical, religious, and racial nativism merged and 
resulted in new immigration restrictions based on national origin.165 Immi-
gration restrictionists cast southern Italians and eastern European Jews as the 
source of radicalism and criminality in the United States. Restrictionists also 
used scientific racism and eugenics to support their efforts to push Congress 
to restrict the flow of “inferior” and “degenerate” immigrants.166

In 1921, Congress passed the Emergency Quota Act, which established a 
national origins quota system and annual numerical restrictions, admitting 
3 percent of the number of residents living in the United States from the same 
country at the time of the 1910 census.167 This discriminatory scheme was 
designed to favor immigration from northern and western Europe and lower 
the numbers from southern and eastern Europe. In 1924, Congress passed 
the National Origins Act, referred to as the “Johnson-Reed Act,” which re-
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duced the annual number of immigrants to 2  percent and used the 1890 
census as the basis for the quota system.168

The Johnson-Reed Act also established the “consular control system,” 
which required foreigners to obtain a valid visa from an American consulate 
abroad prior to admission to the United States. The State Department and 
Bureau of Immigration would share control of immigration and entry to the 
United States. Thus American consular officials abroad would serve as the 
primary gatekeepers, instead of immigration inspectors on Ellis Island.

Judicial deference to immigration officials administering the law under the 
plenary power doctrine also applied to the decisions made by consular offi-
cials to grant or deny visas to enter the United States. This doctrine would 
become known as the doctrine of “consular non-reviewability.” Consular of-
ficials’ decisions were final and not subject to judicial review.

During the 1930s, fear of subversion through labor agitation and Com-
munist organizations in the United States would lead to a renewed focus on 
denaturalization and on ideological deportation of foreigners under the An-
archist Exclusion Act. Guilt by association and interpretation of the provi-
sions of the Anarchist Exclusion Act, including questions of what constituted 
membership in or affiliation with Communist organizations, and whether 
these organizations fell under the act’s provisions would also become the 
focus of discussion in Congress and the Supreme Court. Chafee’s recommen-
dation that the secretary of labor should have prosecutorial discretion, and 
that ideological deportation should not be insulated from due process and 
judicial review, became contentious issues that would lead to tensions be-
tween the Labor Department and Congress and another secretary of labor 
threatened with impeachment.
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T HE STOCK MARKET crash in 1929 plunged the United States into the Great 
Depression. During the early 1930s, with mass unemployment and labor 
strikes across the country, some members of Congress, as well as President 
Herbert Hoover and his administration, viewed deportation as part of the so-
lution to the nation’s economic woes and increased labor strikes and labor 
union organizing. The rise of Fascism in Europe brought new challenges to 
ideological deportation, including arguments to prevent deportation to coun-
tries where deportees faced persecution or death under Fascist regimes. In 
response, the American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU) would help create a new 
legal and advocacy organization to represent these deportees and challenge 
their deportations, denaturalizations, and detentions.

Throughout the 1930s, Congress continued its investigations of subver-
sion within the United States, which began after World War I. Fear of internal 
subversion from Communists within labor unions and New Deal programs, 
as well as fear of Communist-front organizations in the United States (cre-
ated, substantially dominated, or directed by the Communist Party), led to the 
use of guilt by association as a way to suppress dissent, which became an es-
sential tool used in denaturalization and ideological deportation efforts.

By 1933, immigration and naturalization matters fell under a new agency 
within the Labor Department, the Immigration and Naturalization Service 
(INS). Under the secretary of labor, INS officials would continue to deport and 
denaturalize under the Anarchist Exclusion Act and Naturalization Act of 
1906. The Board of Special Inquiry had become the Board of Review in the 
1920s, and it now also fell under the INS. The focus on Communists and Com-
munist organizations, which were not explicitly listed in these acts, would 
continue to present challenges. Judges and public officials deferred or dis-

4

Denaturalization, Detention, Deportation, 
and Discretion



Denaturalization, Detention, Deportation, and Discretion

91

missed deportations and denaturalizations through their use of interpretive 
discretion and authority to determine the meaning of explicit restrictions 
and their evaluations under their interpretations. In response, Congress 
sought to pass new, more restrictive laws to denaturalize, deport, and detain 
foreigners.

Doak and Perkins

In September 1930, President Hoover directed his administration to strictly 
enforce the likely to become a “public charge” (LPC) exclusion used by officials 
to restrict immigration based on economic resources since its introduction 
in the Immigration Act of 1882. In evaluating the admissibility of immi-
grants to the United States, US consuls were now instructed to determine 
whether immigrants would be likely to obtain employment in the United 
States based on current economic conditions; if not, they would be likely to 
become a public charge. In the first five months, President Hoover reported 
96,883 immigrants were denied visas under this change, and within a year, 
the number of visas issued had been reduced by 60 percent.1

In December, Hoover appointed William N. Doak as secretary of labor. 
As the nation sank further into the Great Depression, Doak’s answer to un-
employment was to engage in deportation drives to expel foreign nonciti-
zens in order to provide jobs for American citizens.2 In January 1931, Doak 
announced to Congress that he estimated that there were 400,000 “illegal” im-
migrants in the United States. Out of these 400,000, he believed 100,000 
could be deportable under current immigration laws.3 Doak asked Congress 
for an increased budget and for stricter immigration laws to deport even 
more.4

Doak was relentless in his drive to deport immigrants from the United 
States. Doak continued and increased Mexican Removal. Often referred to 
as “repatriation,” the practice of deporting Mexicans, or coercing them to 
“voluntarily” depart under the threat of deportation, had begun in the 1920s. 
There was no visa requirement to enter from Mexico, and thus, no documen-
tation of legal presence in the United States, which aided in depicting Mexi-
cans’ presence in the United States as “illegal.” Many Mexicans had children 
who were born in the United States and faced separation from their families 
if deported. Doak used scare tactics and deportation campaign public an-
nouncements to induce Mexicans to leave, and he arranged for the Southern 
Pacific railroad to transport them to Mexico City. Doak championed this 
use of force and fear as his method to alleviate unemployment.5 By early 
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1931, the Los Angeles Times reported that over 12,500 Mexicans had been de-
ported.6 Yet the numbers remain unclear because of so many voluntary de-
partures and so few formal deportations. It is estimated that 400,000 to 
one million Mexicans and Mexican Americans left the United States during 
the 1930s.7

Doak also authorized INS and Labor Department officials to raid homes, 
union halls, and workplaces, round up everyone, and then determine who 
were foreigners and whether they were in the United States in violation of the 
law. In February, INS officials raided the Seaman’s Church Institute in New 
York City, interrogating 4,000 people and arresting over 100 foreigners, who 
were then sent to Ellis Island for deportation hearings.8 A few days later, Labor 
Department officials raided a dance held at the Finnish Workers’ Education 
Association in New York City. They demanded that the 1,000 dancers pre
sent produce documentation or other evidence to prove they were residing 
in the United States legally.9 Eighteen dancers, unable to prove their legal 
status, were arrested and sent to Ellis Island for deportation hearings.10 Roger 
Baldwin condemned these raids, and the Finnish dance raid in particular, de-
scribing the raids, and not the people, as “illegal.”11

One deportation case that received press attention concerned a Chinese 
student attending New York University referred to as Li Tao Hsuan. Doak 
wanted to deport him because of his anti-imperialism and Communist “rad-
ical leanings.”12 Hsuan fought to stay in the United States or to be deported 
to the Soviet Union, claiming that if he was deported to China, he would face 
persecution because of his beliefs. Doak was unsympathetic and refused his 
voluntary departure, arguing that since the Soviet Union had closed its bor-
ders to foreign radicals whom the United States sought to deport, an excep-
tion should not be made for Hsuan until other radicals could join him.13 There 
were protests against Hsuan’s deportation, including from Columbia Univer-
sity Professor John Dewey, who urged Doak not to deport the student to 
China.14 After receiving telegrams from all over the United States protesting 
Hsuan’s deportation, Doak relented and allowed Hsuan to voluntarily depart 
to the Soviet Union, which had agreed to accept him.15

In May 1931, the Wickersham Commission, a national commission on 
“law observance and enforcement” appointed by President Hoover, released 
a “Report on the Enforcement of the Deportation Laws of the United States.”16 
The commission was disturbed by Doak’s response to the Li Tao Hsuan case, 
and others, and condemned his deportation drives, as well as the quasi-
judicial administrative immigration system as “unconstitutional, tyrannic, 
and oppressive.”17
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The report noted the effect deportation and this system had on foreign-
born noncitizens within the United States. It cited the permanent separation 
of deportees from their American families, “with results that violate the 
plainest dictates of humanity.” The commission was particularly concerned 
with the lack of independence in deportation hearings, in which inspectors 
served as prosecutors and judges, as well as the lack of the same due process 
protections afforded to citizens and the unchecked power held by the Labor 
Department and the executive branch, subject to judicial deference and 
limited review. The commission described the adverse effects of this system 
and how it “deepens the immigrant’s sense of insecurity and delays his mental 
and moral stabilization in the country which he is seeking to adopt.”18

The commission issued recommendations including the creation of an in
dependent “Board of Alien Appeals” consisting of men of “judicial caliber” 
appointed by the president to evaluate deportations and publish their find-
ings. All deportees should have access to counsel, no matter their economic 
status, and the board should cooperate with legal aid and philanthropic socie
ties and assist them in finding attorneys to represent the deportees. This 
board would also have the discretion to prevent deportation if expulsion 
would “result in unnecessary hardship” and allow deportees to voluntarily 
depart to a safe country that would accept them.19

Doak dismissed the report and depictions of his actions as secretary of 
labor.20 He also had been quick to dismiss criticism of ideological deporta-
tions. He called those who objected to his tactics “un-American,” and he con-
sidered the legal organizations seeking to prevent foreigners’ deportation 
“unpatriotic.”21 In his annual report to Congress, Doak further responded by 
declaring 20,000 foreigners would be deported in 1932 and urging Congress 
to pass stricter immigration and naturalization laws.22

In 1932, 35,576 people immigrated to the United States, and 103,295 were 
deported or left “voluntarily.”23 For the first time in American history, the 
number leaving exceeded the number entering the country. Although there 
was no evidence linking these statistics to employment and job growth, Doak 
declared success. He viewed this decrease in immigration and the increase 
in departures as a victory for the United States and the employment of the 
American worker.24

In 1933, Franklin Delano Roosevelt brought a New Deal to the American 
people. As president, he also brought hope to foreigners with a new secre-
tary of labor named Frances Perkins. Perkins was a progressive reformer and 
the first woman to serve in a presidential cabinet. She started her career as 
executive secretary of the New York City Consumers League, investigating 
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sweatshops and calling for increased protections for workers, minimum 
wage, and shorter work hours. In 1911, Perkins witnessed the Triangle Shirt-
waist Factory fire, and subsequently served as the executive secretary to a 
Committee on Safety, investigating the fire and making workplace safety rec-
ommendations. Before joining Roosevelt’s administration, she chaired the 
New York State Industrial Commission.25

As secretary of labor, Perkins took almost exactly the opposite approach 
to immigration and deportation from her predecessor. Instead of declaring 
how many deportations she intended to authorize, Perkins launched an in-
vestigation of conditions on Ellis Island and the findings of the Wickersham 
Commission.26 She did not consider deportation the solution to unemploy-
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ment in the United States and sought to “humanize” deportation law, focusing 
on preventing hardship and the separation of families.27 While Doak had 
pushed for stricter laws to allow him to deport more foreign noncitizens, in-
cluding radicals, Perkins pushed for more lenient deportation laws that 
would provide more protection for foreigners in the United States and would 
give the secretary of labor the authority and discretion to cancel deportation 
in spite of the law.28

The American Committee for Protection of Foreign Born

During the Doak deportations, the ACLU was overwhelmed by the number 
of deportations and the need for assistance to try to prevent them. In 1933, 
Baldwin, in collaboration with the International Labor Defense (ILD), a 
Communist-front legal organization founded in 1925 to defend civil rights 
and liberties and provide representation to workers and radicals in the United 
States, formed an organization called the American Committee for Protec-
tion of Foreign Born (ACPFB). The ACPFB worked exclusively on behalf of 
foreign-born citizens and noncitizens, challenging deportations and obsta-
cles to naturalization, as well as discriminatory legislation and employment 
practices. The ACPFB became the primary legal organization preventing and 
challenging denaturalizations, detentions, and deportations over the next 
three decades.29

The ACPFB was particularly concerned with the rise of Fascism in Europe 
and the vulnerability of anti-Fascist and Jewish foreign noncitizens deported 
to countries where they faced persecution or death. The ACPFB worked to 
prevent such deportations, arguing that deportees should be allowed to stay 
in the United States or be deported to other, safer countries.30

It was the ACPFB’s efforts on behalf of these deportees that inspired its 
future executive secretary, Abner Green, to join the organization. Working 
as a journalist in New York, Green wrote a magazine article about a man 
named Alfred Miller.31 Miller had immigrated to the United States from Ger-
many in 1929 and had become the executive secretary of the United Farmers’ 
Protective Association in Eastern Pennsylvania. In 1934, Miller was living in 
Montana when he was arrested for being a member of the Communist Party 
and ordered deported under the Anarchist Exclusion Act.32 When Green met 
Miller, he was detained on Ellis Island pending his deportation to Germany.33 
Miller told Green about other radicals who opposed the Nazis who were being 
detained and who also feared for their lives if deported to Hitler’s Germany, 
given their views or Communist Party membership. Green later wrote, “It was 
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the law [that put that man on Ellis Island] and I realized that I was a part of 
that law . . . ​sending him to his death so long as I kept quiet. I should be able 
to help and I wasn’t helping.” Green explained that this experience on Ellis 
Island had pushed him to take action and join the ACPFB.34

Green soon became the driving force behind the organization. He started 
as the head of publicity and education and eventually became the ACPFB’s 
executive secretary in 1941. Green was an active fundraiser and participant 
in legal cases and wrote articles about the ACPFB and its advocacy for its 
newsletter, the Lamp. From the moment he joined the ACPFB in 1934, Green 
dedicated the rest of his life to the organization and its fight to protect the 
foreign-born.

Green, however, was not an attorney, so he could not represent the ACPFB’s 
clients in court. The lead attorney for the ACPFB was Carol Weiss King. Born 
in New York in 1895 and raised in an upper-middle-class Jewish family, King 
was the daughter of a lawyer, Samuel Weiss. Her brothers were also lawyers, 
and Louis’s firm eventually became the international law firm Paul, Weiss, Rif-
kind, Wharton & Garrison. She married author Gordon King in 1917; he 
died of pneumonia in 1930, leaving Carol to care for their five-year-old son, 
Jonathan.35

While an undergraduate at Barnard College, King volunteered to work at 
the International Ladies Garment Workers Union, and after college, she 
worked at the American Association for Labor Legislation, focusing on 
workers’ health, safety, and compensation for workplace injuries. King grad-
uated from New York University Law School in 1920, and in 1921, began her 
legal career as an associate in the New York law firm of Hale, Nelles, Shorr, 
and Brodsky, which had represented those prosecuted under the Espionage 
Act during World War I and those arrested and ordered deported during the 
Palmer Raids. Both Walter Nelles and Isaac Shorr served as counsel to the 
ACLU, and Joseph Brodsky served as counsel to the ILD.36

King worked on a variety of cases with the law firm, including appeals in 
the Sacco and Vanzetti case and the Scottsboro Boys case. She edited the AC-
LU’s Law and Freedom Bulletin from 1924 to 1931, and in 1931, she founded 
the International Juridical Association, conceived as a “legal research group 
that would hold forums on current legal problems, draft new social legisla-
tion, write briefs in pending cases, and publish a monthly legal bulletin on 
labor and civil rights law.”37 In 1937, King was one of the founding members 
of the National Lawyers Guild, a legal association created as a progressive, 
liberal alternative to the more conservative and anti-New Deal American 
Bar Association. By 1941, King had not only become the ACPFB’s general 
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counsel, but also was considered the nation’s top expert on immigration 
law and deportation.38

As a young attorney at the law firm, King found her legal niche and a 
growing list of her own clients out on Ellis Island representing foreigners who 
were detained and ordered deported.39 She soon was a fixture on the island, 
familiar with all the INS officials and staff who worked there. King became 
the go-to attorney to represent clients and began to hone her skills as an im-
migration lawyer. Like most attorneys representing deportees within the ad-
ministrative immigration system, she was rarely victorious in her cases.40 
She decided that while she might not be able to save her clients from depor-
tation, she could get them released on bail and out of detention while their 
deportation cases were pending by filing a writ of habeas corpus in the US Dis-
trict Court in New York, where the court would review the detention.41 If 
she was unable to get her clients released on bail, King tried to improve their 
lives on Ellis Island, for instance by using her connections to get officials to 
call a doctor for an ill client.42 By the 1930s, King had become an expert in 
deportation, and with Doak’s deportation drives, she was in high demand. 
On behalf of the ILD, King had represented Li Tao Hsuan when he challenged 
his deportation.43

Another one of King’s cases that received quite a bit of public attention 
was the deportation of Otto Richter. An anti-Fascist and outspoken critic of 
Adolf Hitler, Richter had been beaten on the night of the Reichstag fire and 
fled Germany. He jumped ship in Canada and entered the United States ille-
gally.44 In 1934, Richter was arrested during the San Francisco General Strike, 
and, due to his illegal entry, the Labor Department ordered him to be deported 
to Germany.45 By 1936, the twenty-one-year-old Richter was married to an 
American citizen and was detained on Ellis Island pending his deportation. 
Richter asked “Why don’t they just shoot me instead of sending me back to 
Germany to be tortured to death?” The ACPFB sought to prevent Richter’s 
deportation by directly appealing to the Labor Department; it unsuccessfully 
petitioned for Richter to be able to reenter legally from Canada.46 It also sought 
to draw public attention to and support for his case and held a mass rally to 
protest his deportation.47 The ACPFB was able to get Richter released on bail 
and was successful in preventing Richter’s deportation to Germany. It ar-
ranged to have Richter voluntarily depart to Mexico, which granted him 
asylum, as it would do for Alfred Miller.48 Richter subsequently crossed the 
border and reentered the United States.49

In 1936, Green wrote a letter to the New York Times describing Richter’s 
plight and that of three other anti-Nazi men detained on Ellis Island pending 
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their deportation to Germany. He rebuked the Labor Department for ordering 
their deportation and placing the burden on them to arrange for voluntary 
departure, or face death or imprisonment if deported. He noted that because 
it was extremely difficult to obtain visas to come to the United States, some 
came illegally; the problem was compounded by the fact that it was also dif-
ficult to obtain passports from the German consulate to depart to another 
country. Some deportees had American-born spouses and children and faced 
separation from them either way.50

Green then rebuked the Labor Department for claiming that the depor-
tation of these men was mandatory and for its failure to use its discretion to 
interpret the law to prevent it. Green cited Assistant Secretary of Labor Louis F. 
Post as an example of someone who used his interpretation of the law to find 
a way to prevent the deportation of Mexican anarchist Enrique Flores Magon, 
who he knew faced death if deported to Mexico in 1920 and was the father 
of American-born children. Post knew that if Magon said he was an anarchist, 
he automatically fell under the Anarchist Exclusion Act and deportation was 
mandatory. So, Post examined Magon’s interview with an immigration in-
spector and found Magon did not fit his interpretation of an anarchist. Rather, 
he was a governmentalist, a believer in government, and not opposed to all 
government, which led Post to cancel Magon’s warrant of arrest. Post could 
have deported him during the “deportations delirium,” but had chosen not 
to do so.51

Green’s mention of Post, and his use of interpretive discretion, were both 
apt and prescient. Like Post, Perkins was using her interpretive discretion and 
understanding of the law in the midst of a crisis. Perkins worked with the 
commissioner of immigration, Colonel Daniel MacCormack, to find ways to 
use the law to admit German Jewish refugees into the United States. They 
pressured the State Department to issue tourist visas, as well as to relax LPC 
restrictions and visa requirements, including a new instruction to US con-
suls to evaluate applicants under the assumption that those with family mem-
bers in the United States would not be likely to become a public charge. Per-
kins also attempted to prevent LPC exclusions by using her discretion to 
accept public charge bonds for those admitted, thereby ensuring they would 
not become a public charge.52

Also like Post, Perkins faced tremendous pressure to deport and heavy 
criticism for being too soft on deportation and on antiradicalism. Many mem-
bers of the public and legislators agreed with Doak and believed that depor-
tation of illegal immigrants was the solution to unemployment and was nec-
essary in order to prevent internal subversion from Communists and their 
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activities within the United States.53 For instance, while Post had authorized 
Emma Goldman’s deportation in 1919, Perkins had authorized Goldman’s 
brief return to the United States in 1934, despite J. Edgar Hoover’s objec-
tions.54 The Labor Department held the authority to admit someone who 
had been deported. Perkins had decided to admit Goldman, but on a condi-
tional visa that limited her stay to three months to visit family and promote 
her autobiography, Living My Life. It also restricted Goldman to lecturing on 
nonpolitical subjects.55

Perkins drew praise by some and ire from others.56 Expressing his disap-
proval in a letter to Perkins, George Rosenberger, a resident of Queens, New 
York, wrote that Goldman “caused enough trouble before and should not be 
allowed to put her feet on our land.” He added, “I am for stricter immigration 
laws—we have about Three Million illicit immigrants in this Country—
Deport Them—it will help solve the unemployment. Then American born 
can get a job.”57

The late 1930s saw an anti-Communist delirium in Congress. Like Post, 
Perkins would face impeachment for her interpretation and use of the law to 
guide her decision not to deport.

1930s—Anti-Communism

By 1930, with increased labor union organizing and strikes, members of Con-
gress focused their fear of internal subversion on the Communist Party and 
its infiltration of organizations, especially of labor. They viewed Communist-
dominated organizations as being responsible for labor agitation, and they 
cast foreigners as the importers and conduits of Communism, bringing rev-
olution to America. This fear and the exploitation of fear led to investigations, 
ideological deportations and denaturalizations, and the passage of new laws 
and revisions of old ones.

Congress established a new House Judiciary subcommittee to investigate 
Communist propaganda and Communist infiltration of American industry. 
Chaired by Congressman Hamilton Fish, Jr. (R-NY), the Fish Committee also 
held hearings, investigating labor unions and legal organizations such as the 
ACLU.58 In 1931, the Fish Committee issued its final report, which recom-
mended the suppression of Communist organizations, including the depor-
tation of Communists.59

In 1932, after the Fish Committee’s final report, Congress established a 
special subcommittee of the House Committee on Immigration and Natu-
ralization to hold hearings on the “Exclusion and Expulsion of Communists.” 
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Congressman Martin Dies Jr. (D-TX) presided over the hearings, which fo-
cused on revisions to the Immigration Act of 1917 and to the Anarchist Ex-
clusion Act in order to exclude or deport Communists as well as anarchists 
from the United States.60 During the hearings, there was quite a bit of discus-
sion over the definition of “Communists” and whether to include Commu-
nists in any revision to the immigration restrictions.61

In his testimony, Assistant Commissioner of Immigration Edward  G. 
Shaughnessy encouraged the subcommittee members to include “Commu-
nists,” but without a definition. Shaughnessy’s argument recalled the precise 
reasoning behind the Anarchist Exclusion Act’s punctuation change from a 
comma to a semicolon to separate “anarchists” from its construed definition 
in the Immigration Act of 1917. He insisted that including a definition would 
only serve to provide a loophole for foreigners to slip through by arguing they 
did not fall under that definition.62 Shaughnessy also emphasized the impor-
tance of guilt by association as an effective tool to ideologically deport for-
eigners. He claimed that once INS officials had proof that a foreigner was a 
member of or affiliated with a proscribed organization under the Anarchist 
Exclusion Act, definitions did not matter; the foreigner could be deported.63 
Congress simply had to revise the act to include Communist organizations, 
and INS officials would be able to deport without having to make difficult de-
terminations under definitions.64

In 1935, Dies sponsored a new immigration measure referred to as the 
“Dies Bill.” The Dies Bill severely restricted newcomers to the United States 
by reducing immigration by 60 percent and requiring that all immigrants de-
clare their intention to become citizens within one year after entry and to 
become citizens after six years, or face deportation.65 It precluded the Labor 
Department from issuing work permits to foreigners unless the foreigner or 
employer could demonstrate that there was no American citizen “able or 
willing” to “accept or hold the job or position,” and it also denied issuance of 
work permits to foreigners who were engaged in “subversive political agita-
tion or conduct.”66 The Dies Bill incorporated the Anarchist Exclusion Act 
categories and addressed Communists by including language that provided 
for the admission of foreigners from countries “not under the control of Com-
munists” and the exclusion of foreigners from countries establishing a “ ‘pro-
letarian dictatorship’ or a system based upon common ownership of prop-
erty and abolition of private property.”67 The Dies Bill also eliminated the 
secretary of labor’s discretionary power to refuse to deport under the law.68

The Dies Bill had a rival. Crafted with the Wickersham Commission’s re-
port in mind, another bill with the opposite approach to immigration was 



Denaturalization, Detention, Deportation, and Discretion

101

sponsored by Congressman John H. Kerr (D-NC) and Senator Marcus A. Coo
lidge (D-MA). The Kerr-Coolidge Bill eased immigration restrictions, par-
ticularly in regard to ideological deportation and in light of family unifica-
tion and undue hardship.69 Unlike the Dies Bill, the Kerr-Coolidge Bill did not 
restrict employment of foreigners or explicitly include Communists in its pro-
visions, and it gave more discretionary power to the secretary of labor to re-
fuse to deport foreigners under the law.70

In a public radio address, Dies urged his listeners to embrace the slogan, 
“America for Americans,” and to support employment discrimination against 
foreigners and more restrictive immigration legislation. Dies blamed immi-
grants for mass unemployment during the Great Depression and insisted that 
deportation would provide more jobs for Americans.71 Dies also described 
Communism as a foreign ideology and immigration restriction as necessary 
to protect the United States from the Communist threat.72 Dies ardently de-
fended his bill, praising its lack of discretionary power to refuse to deport. In 
a veiled criticism of Perkins, he declared, “I am not willing that discretionary 
power shall be vested in some Secretary of Labor, who may or may not be 
sympathetic to restriction, to deport or not deport as he or she sees fit.”73

Neither the Dies Bill nor the Kerr-Coolidge Bill passed in the Senate, but 
those who supported one or the other bill had revealed their position on im-
migration. Perkins had been an outspoken supporter of the Kerr-Coolidge 
Bill, and Dies was an outspoken critic of Perkins’s approach toward deporta-
tion and use of authority and discretion. His criticism would also draw public 
attention to Perkins’s position and power as Secretary of Labor in one par
ticular case.

Harry Bridges

In 1938, Congress created the House Un-American Activities Committee 
(HUAC) to investigate “un-American” propaganda and external and internal 
subversion within the United States.74 Dies served as chairman of HUAC from 
1938 to 1944, and it became known as the “Dies Committee.” He turned the 
committee’s attention to internal subversion within the United States, which 
was referred to as the “fifth column.” He was particularly concerned with the 
spread of Communism and its “Trojan Horse” campaign to infiltrate Amer-
ican government and its institutions, as well as labor organizations in the 
United States.75 Dies launched an investigation of Roosevelt’s New Deal pro-
grams, including the Federal Theatre Project in the Works Progress Admin-
istration, which he claimed had been infiltrated by Communists.76 Dies then 



THREAT OF DISSENT

102

focused on Communists in labor unions, and specifically the West Coast labor 
leader Harry Bridges.

Harry Bridges was born in Australia in 1901 and had become a merchant 
seaman at the age of sixteen. He arrived in the United States in 1920 and joined 
the IWW in 1921. Bridges worked as a longshoreman and joined various 
unions. In 1934, he led the San Francisco General Strike, which was part of 
the West Coast longshoremen strike that lasted for almost three months. 
Bridges was elected president of the International Longshoreman’s Union, 
which included Communists. A popular and influential labor leader, Bridges 
was featured on the cover of Time magazine in 1937, and then became the 
West Coast director of the Congress of Industrial Organizations.77

To Dies, Bridges was a Communist labor agitator and troublemaker who 
posed a threat to American institutions, capitalist employers, and industry. 
He could not throw Bridges in jail, but as a foreign noncitizen, Bridges was 
vulnerable to deportation. Dies pressured the Roosevelt administration and 
Perkins to begin deportation proceedings against Bridges, but Perkins and 
Roosevelt did not want to deport Bridges without sufficient legal justifica-
tion.78 A Seattle immigration official presented Perkins with dubious, un-
substantiated evidence of Bridges’s membership in the Communist Party; 
Bridges denied the membership under oath. While the INS began deporta-
tion proceedings against Bridges in March 1938, Perkins deferred action in 
moving forward with his deportation.79 Dies was not pleased.

In early January 1939, the Dies Committee issued a report regarding its 
investigations of “un-American” activities in the United States and cited the 
Labor Department as an example for its laxity on deporting foreign radicals. 
“We believe that the failure of the Labor Department to carry out the laws 
with respect to deportation is a contributing factor to the widespread ac-
tivities and propaganda carried on by un-American elements in the United 
States.”80 The Dies Committee also rebuked Perkins for her failure to deport 
Bridges, and, within a month after issuing its report, members of the com-
mittee pushed Congress to impeach her.81

Congressman J. Parnell Thomas (R-NJ) introduced Resolution 67 in the 
House of Representatives to impeach Perkins for conspiring with federal of-
ficials to violate immigration laws.82 Thomas focused on Perkins’s refusal to 
deport Bridges.83 He charged Perkins with having “failed, neglected, and re-
fused to enforce” immigration restrictions and accused her of having “de-
frauded the United States by coddling and protecting from deportation cer-
tain aliens illegally within the United States in violation of the statutes in such 
cases made and provided.”84
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It had been nearly twenty years since Post had testified before a congres-
sional committee under a similar impeachment resolution, which had ac-
cused him of abusing his discretionary power by canceling deportation 
orders and having “hindered, delayed, and prevented” the deportation of for-
eign radicals under the law. Now, it was Perkins’s turn to testify before Con-
gress and to defend her decisions. In her testimony before the House Judiciary 
Committee, Perkins stated she was confident in her use of her authority in 
deportation cases and that an examination of her record as secretary of labor 
would reveal her exercise of discretion, not as arbitrary or lawless, but as pro-
moting fairness and democratic ideals.85 Perkins flatly denied any sympathy 
toward Communists or Communism, but she was clear that she did not be-
lieve the United States should simply round up Communists or members of 
Communist organizations and deport them.86

Echoing Zechariah Chafee Jr.’s view that First Amendment legal standards 
should apply to ideological deportation, Perkins testified that the United 
States should deport anyone who posed a “clear and present danger” to the 
nation, which was consistent with a “truly American viewpoint in regard to 
freedom of thought.”87 As for deporting Bridges, Perkins denied that she was 
unwilling to deport Bridges, and, like Post, she insisted that her decision to 
deport foreigners was guided by the law and the interpretation of the law.88 
Perkins argued that she had not refused to deport Bridges, but that she had 
postponed her decision pending the outcome of a deportation case under the 
Anarchist Exclusion Act currently before the Supreme Court, and this case 
directly pertained to the constitutionality of deporting Bridges.89 Perkins’s as-
surances that she intended to follow and adhere to the law successfully pre-
vented her impeachment.90

The Supreme Court decision that Perkins awaited was Kessler v. Strecker 
(1939). In addition to representing Bridges, Carol King also represented 
Austrian-born Joseph George Strecker.91 Strecker had arrived in the United 
States in 1912 and ran a restaurant in Hot Springs, Arkansas.92 In 1932, he 
had joined the Communist Party, but his membership lapsed when he stopped 
paying membership dues six months after joining.93 In 1933, Strecker applied 
for naturalization, and, during his examination, he admitted that he was a 
member of the Communist Party for six months the previous year.94 Immi-
gration officials then arrested Strecker and sought to deport him as a member 
of an organization seeking to overthrow the government by force or violence. 
Strecker was set for deportation in 1934, but King obtained a writ of habeas 
corpus to challenge the legality of his deportation under the Anarchist Exclu-
sion Act in federal court.95
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In June 1939, the Supreme Court issued its decision in the Strecker case. 
It was a watershed decision in the interpretation of the Anarchist Exclusion 
Act’s provisions, and King and Perkins knew that the Supreme Court’s deci-
sion would determine whether Bridges could be deported.96 In Kessler v. 
Strecker, a 7–2 decision, the Supreme Court held in favor of Strecker.

Writing for the majority, Justice Owen J. Roberts held that under the An-
archist Exclusion Act, a foreign noncitizen could be deported only if he or 
she was presently a member of or affiliated with an organization advocating 
the overthrow of the government by force or violence.97 Because Strecker was 
no longer a member of the Communist Party at the time he was arrested, he 
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did not fall under the act’s ideological deportation provision, and thus, he 
could not be deported. Roberts rejected the government’s argument that 
membership “at any time” after entry meant past membership, calling such 
an interpretation an “unnatural and strained” reading of the Anarchist Exclu-
sion Act provision.98 “If Congress meant that past membership, of no matter 
how short duration or how far in the past, was to be a cause of present de-
portation the purpose could have been clearly stated. This section does not 
bear this import,” he wrote.99

Ironically, the Anarchist Exclusion Act was crafted precisely to eliminate 
interpretation loopholes in the Immigration Act of 1917 that could prevent 
the deportation of radicals, and now the Supreme Court’s interpretation of 
the act had revealed a very important and significant loophole. The Court’s 
decision was a narrow one, though. It did not address whether the Commu-
nist Party did in fact constitute an organization advocating the overthrow of 
the government by force or violence under the Anarchist Exclusion Act. Nev-
ertheless, the Supreme Court’s decision was a huge victory for Strecker and 
King, and subsequently for Bridges.

Immediately after the decision, Perkins initiated a deportation hearing 
for Bridges.100 She appointed John Landis, dean of Harvard Law School 
and former chairman of the Securities and Exchange Commission, as an 
independent special officer to conduct the deportation hearing, held on 
Angel Island in San Francisco Bay, to determine whether Bridges was pres-
ently a member of or affiliated with an organization seeking to overthrow 
the government by force or violence.101 King was pleased with the deci-
sion to choose Landis; he had knowledge of the law and respected due pro
cess. His understanding of corporate power, corruption, and greed might 
also make Landis sympathetic to Bridges’s efforts to help dockworkers 
form unions.102

Landis heard eleven weeks of testimony concerning Bridges’s activities 
and affiliations. Bridges emphatically denied ever being a member of the 
Communist Party.103 Eventually, in the fall of 1939, Landis determined that 
Bridges was “energetically radical,” that he had friends and associates who 
were Communists, and that he had refused to discriminate against Commu-
nists in his longshoreman union.104 Yet, despite these associations, Bridges 
was not a member of or affiliated with the Communist Party.105 Like the Su-
preme Court, Landis kept his decision narrow, explicitly stating that he would 
not address whether the Communist Party was an organization that advo-
cated the overthrow of the government by force or violence.106 This did not 
matter to Perkins. In light of Landis’s decision and the court’s interpretation 
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of the Anarchist Exclusion Act in Kessler v. Strecker, Perkins canceled Bridges’s 
deportation warrant.107

If Martin Dies was upset by the Landis decision, J. Edgar Hoover was in-
furiated. In 1935, Hoover had become the first director of the Federal Bureau 
of Investigation (FBI). Hoover continued to focus his investigations on radi-
cals and foreigners since the Palmer Raids in 1920, and in the 1930s, he had 
launched investigations into subversion in the United States including Fas-
cism and Communism. One of those investigations was the Communist con-
trol and infiltration of labor unions, including Harry Bridges’s International 
Longshoreman’s Union. Hoover created a special squad operating out of San 
Francisco devoted to uncovering Communists in this union and, in particular, 
finding evidence to prove Bridges was a Communist in order to deport him.108 
The FBI’s report on Bridges was 2,500 pages. Hoover also investigated Carol 
King in order to prove she was a Communist to discredit her and Bridges.109

Hoover continued to amass long lists and files on subversives and to clas-
sify them. He began to develop a “custodial detention” list beginning in 1939, 

Harry Bridges accompanied by his daughter, Jacqueline Betty Bridges (left),  
and his counsel, Carol King (right), en route to his deportation  

hearing held on Angel Island, July 10, 1939
San Francisco History Center, San Francisco Public Library.
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which included organizations and individuals classified in different catego-
ries based on their threat of subversion and danger to the United States, and 
the names of those who would be detained during a national emergency. The 
information in the files contained evidence obtained through surveillance, 
wiretaps, informants, and mail interception, as well as secret searches without 
a warrant. In 1943, when Attorney General Francis Biddle learned of the list, 
he called it “impractical, unwise, dangerous, illegal, and inherently unreliable” 
and ordered Hoover to destroy it. Hoover simply changed its name to the “Se-
curity Index” and concealed it from the Justice Department.110

Hoover would continue to investigate subversion and Communism 
within the United States and work with members of Congress, attorney 
generals, commissioners of immigration, and INS officials to use his inves-
tigations to suppress dissent and to deport and exclude over the next thirty 
years. Soon, he would get a second chance to help deport Bridges from the 
United States.

Landis’s decision in the Bridges case had thwarted Dies’s and Hoover’s ef-
forts to deport Bridges; Kessler v. Strecker provided protection for foreign radi-
cals and presented a major legal obstacle to ideological deportation. A day 
after Landis issued his decision there was speculation that Congress would 
take action.111 The House of Representatives passed a bill 330 to 42 to autho-
rize the deportation of Harry Bridges to Australia, but it was unconstitu-
tional as he was found not to fall under the Anarchist Exclusion Act and thus 
was not deportable. The Senate did not pass the bill. Instead, Congress passed 
legislation so that he could be deported under the law.

The Smith Act

In May 1940, the State Department, and specifically Under Secretary of State 
Sumner Welles, who was the president’s foreign policy advisor, pressured 
Roosevelt to transfer the INS to the Justice Department and away from Per-
kins. Tensions had arisen between the State and Labor Departments. State De-
partment officials had been reluctant to issue visas to the German Jewish 
refugees Perkins had pushed to admit, and Perkins had opposed measures 
such as fingerprinting foreigners as a security measure.112 Roosevelt also had 
become increasingly fearful of potential fifth column infiltration of govern-
ment agencies and internal subversion by German refugees.113 Hoover had 
opposed efforts to admit Jewish refugees and sent memoranda to Roosevelt 
claiming that Nazi Germany and the Soviet Union had planted spies and 
agents among the refugees.114
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In June, Congress approved Roosevelt’s Reorganization Plan V, which 
moved the INS under the Justice Department.115 After this transfer, the attorney 
general reconstituted the Board of Review and created the Board of Immi-
gration Appeals (BIA). The BIA would serve as an independent body within 
the Justice Department with the authority to review and decide immigration 
case appeals.116 The attorney general and the BIA, and not the secretary of 
labor, would now have control over ideological deportation.

The transfer of the INS from the Labor Department to the Justice Depart-
ment also reflected an official shift in perception of foreigners in the United 
States. Under the Labor Department, foreigners were both a source and con-
cern of employment and labor. Under the Justice Department, foreigners were 
a criminal concern or those who posed a security threat.

In his message to Congress, Roosevelt did not mention this tension be-
tween Welles and Perkins when he discussed the transfer of the INS to the 
Justice Department, but instead focused on World War II in Europe and the 
Nazi-Soviet Pact in 1939. Recent events had “necessitated a review of the mea
sures required for the Nation’s safety” and the “pressing need” to make the 
transfer.117 Roosevelt argued that while leaving the INS in the hands of the 
Labor Department in “normal times” was sufficient, under “existing condi-
tions,” it was best for the nation if the INS was “closely integrated with the 
activities of the Department of Justice.”118 He clarified that while the transfer 
was “designed to afford more effective control over aliens,” the transfer did 
not intend “to deprive them of their civil liberties or otherwise to impair their 
legal status.”119

In June, Congress passed the Alien Registration Act, referred to as the 
“Smith Act” after its conservative, anti-Communist sponsor Congressman 
Howard W. Smith (D-VA).120 The Smith Act addressed both Americans and 
foreigners. It was a permanent sedition act that included prohibitions against 
expression in New York’s Criminal Anarchy Law and California’s Criminal 
Syndicalism Act. Just like the Anarchist Exclusion Act, the Smith Act was 
purposefully designed to restrict and close any loopholes standing in the way 
of implementing ideological deportation, and specifically those standing in 
the way of deporting Harry Bridges.121

The Smith Act restricted advocacy and association in the United States by 
making it a federal crime to (1) “knowingly or willfully advocate, abet, advise, 
or teach the duty, necessity, desirability, or propriety of overthrowing or de-
stroying any government in the United States by force or violence”; (2) “print, 
publish, edit, issue, circulate, sell, distribute, or publicly display any written 
or printed matter advocating, advising, or teaching the duty, necessity, desir-
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ability, or propriety of overthrowing or destroying any government in the 
United States by force or violence”; or (3) “organize or help to organize any 
society, group, or assembly of persons who teach, advocate, or encourage the 
overthrow or destruction of any government in the United States by force or 
violence; or to be or become a member of, or affiliate with, any such society, 
group, or assembly of persons, knowing the purposes thereof.”122

The Smith Act did not explicitly include “Communists,” “Communist 
organizations” or advocacy of “Communism,” but the provisions were broad 
enough to be applied to Communism and Communist organizations, if so 
interpreted. The act also penalized “conspiracies” to overthrow or destroy the 
government by force or violence.123

In Kessler v. Strecker, the Supreme Court had interpreted the Anarchist Ex-
clusion Act as allowing deportation only if the foreigner was a present 
member of a radical organization. The Smith Act now amended the Anar-
chist Exclusion Act to include the deportation of any foreigner who “shall be 
or shall have been” a member of or affiliated with an organization advocating 
the overthrow of the government by force or violence, “at the time of entering 
the United States, or has been at any time thereafter.”124 This provision in-
cluded past and present membership or affiliation as grounds for deporta-
tion, no matter how brief the membership or affiliation.

The Smith Act also incorporated a registration requirement for foreigners, 
similar to the one first introduced in the Naturalization Act of 1798 but in-
cluding more information. It required all foreign noncitizens, fourteen years 
old or older, to be fingerprinted and register at a US post office. This registra-
tion would be under oath and required the foreigner to disclose his or her: 
(1) date and place of entry to the United States; (2) activities engaged in or in-
tended to be engaged in; (3) length of time expected to remain in the United 
States; (4) criminal record, if any; and (5) any additional information pre-
scribed by the INS, with the approval of the attorney general.125 This provi-
sion required foreigners to notify the government and confirm their residence 
every three months. Penalties for violation included fines up to $1,000 and 
six months in jail.126

While the government justified the Smith Act as necessary in order to pro-
tect the nation against internal subversion, it depicted registration as good 
for the foreign-born.127 It was a patriotic act for foreigners to register and 
would protect them from potential deportation.128 Of course, the Smith Act’s 
registration requirement enabled the government to keep track of not only 
foreigners, but also their political activities. The registration records would 
provide the Justice Department and FBI with information the government 
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could use to orchestrate another deportation drive or to subject foreigners to 
criminal prosecution under the Smith Act.

A few months after the Smith Act, in October 1940, Congress addressed 
citizenship and passed the Nationality Act of 1940. The act incorporated all 
of the categories in the Smith Act, including past and present membership 
in or affiliation with an organization advocating for the overthrow of the gov-
ernment by force or violence, as a bar to naturalization.129 Under the act, 
past membership or affiliation extended to ten years prior to a foreigner’s 
filing an application for naturalization.130

World War II

With its entry into World War II after the attack on Pearl Harbor in 1941, the 
United States once again declared enemy aliens within the nation and required 
their registration. Italians, Germans, and Japanese noncitizens were now the 
internal threat during wartime, presumed to be disloyal to the United States 
and a source of subversion within the nation. On February 19, 1942, Presi-
dent Roosevelt signed Executive Order 9066, authorizing the secretary of war 
to designate military zones to intern individuals in the name of national 
security.

Approximately, 120,000 Japanese and Japanese Americans on the West 
Coast were relocated to and incarcerated in internment camps. ACLU attor-
neys helped to challenge the constitutionality of internment in the case of 
Fred Korematsu, a Japanese American citizen, born in Oakland, California, 
who defied the relocation order. In Korematsu v. United States (1944), a 6–3 de-
cision, the Supreme Court, deferring to the executive branch and military 
leaders on national security matters, upheld Japanese internment despite a 
lack of evidence that Korematsu posed any threat to the United States beyond 
his race and ancestry.131 Justice William “Frank” Murphy had previously 
served as Attorney General in the Roosevelt administration and established 
the Civil Liberties unit in the Justice Department in 1939. In his dissenting 
opinion, Murphy argued that the court should not defer to military decisions 
when those decisions are based on racial discrimination and xenophobia. Dis-
loyalty cannot be inferred by race, ethnicity, or citizenship, and discrimina-
tion did not support the deprivation of civil liberties in the name of national 
security, even in wartime.132

During World War II, the ACPFB did not join ACLU attorneys in chal-
lenging the internment of Japanese Americans, but instead it focused its ef-
forts on jobs and discrimination, pushing the Roosevelt administration and 
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employers not to discriminate against foreigners for employment opportu-
nities.133 The ACPFB encouraged foreigners to support the war and display 
their patriotism and loyalty, while it promoted the image that foreigners were 
contributors to the war effort and not subversive.134 The anti-Communism 
of the late 1930s was put on hold when the Nazis invaded the Soviet Union 
and the Hitler-Stalin pact was broken. By late 1941, the Soviets and the Amer-
icans had become allies, coordinating their efforts to defeat the Nazis.

The ACPFB and Carol King celebrated two major legal victories in the Su-
preme Court during World War II and the United States’ temporary alliance 
with the Soviet Union. The first victory concerned denaturalization. In 1939, 
a Russian immigrant named William Schneiderman faced denaturalization 
based on his membership in the Workers Party of America (a predecessor to 
the Communist Party) when he became a citizen in 1927.135 The INS argued 
that Schneiderman had obtained his naturalization through fraud, because 
his membership in the Workers Party revealed his lack of attachment to the 
principles of the Constitution of the United States.136 A US district court 
agreed and revoked Schneiderman’s citizenship, and in 1941, the Ninth Cir
cuit Court of Appeals upheld his denaturalization.137

Schneiderman retained King to represent him in his Supreme Court ap-
peal. King successfully petitioned the court to hear his case, but she would 
not argue it. In fact, King had never argued before the Supreme Court. Con-
vinced she could not overcome the prevalent sexism in the courtroom and 
that it would place her clients in jeopardy, King consistently found male col-
leagues and the best attorneys she thought could argue her cases and win 
them.138 This time, she asked the 1940 Republican nominee for president, 
Wendell Willkie. It was a strategic decision. Willkie would bring prestige and 
attention to the case, and his corporate background and conservatism would 
provide a contrast and balance to Schneiderman’s radicalism. Also, Willkie 
had yet to argue a case before the Supreme Court, so he was likely to agree to 
do so now.139

Willkie said he took Schneiderman’s case because it was a “vital test case” 
concerning “the individual liberties of an American citizen, and not the Com-
munist Party.”140 He declared Schneiderman’s denaturalization struck at the 
heart of free speech and its value to discussion on political and economic 
rights.141 Willkie argued that the First Amendment protected expression and 
advocacy, including “Communistic doctrines,” and that by stripping Schnei-
derman of his citizenship for lack of attachment to the principles of the 
Constitution, the lower courts had undermined those principles and “the 
most fundamental rights guaranteed by the Constitution, to wit, the right to 
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criticize freely the Constitution and every principle therein and to advo-
cate a change thereof.”142 Willkie described his denaturalization as discrimi-
natory, as well as unconstitutional. “It would be an astounding doctrine to 
deny an alien admitted to our shores and about to become a citizen that 
freedom of speech which a native born citizen enjoys.”143

In Schneiderman v. United States (1943), a 5–3 decision, the Supreme Court 
agreed with Willkie. The Court rejected the government’s argument and dis-
missed Schneiderman’s denaturalization. Writing for the majority, Justice 
Murphy held that the government had not carried its burden of proof in the 
case, having been unable to demonstrate by “clear, unequivocal, and con-
vincing” evidence that Schneiderman’s membership in the Workers Party 
revealed a lack of attachment to the principles of the Constitution.144 He 
argued that while the evidence showed that in 1927 the Workers Party had 
advocated nationalization and “the dictatorship of the proletariat,” this evi-
dence did not prove that the party wanted change through the use of force 
or violence or that the party’s expressions showed any lack of attachment to 
the Constitution. Advocacy for political and societal change was not incom-
patible with “general political philosophy” of the Constitution.145

Describing the Constitution as amendable to free expression and advo-
cacy, Murphy wrote that “the constitutional fathers, fresh from a revolution, 
did not forge a political straitjacket for the generations to come.”146 He cited 
Abraham Lincoln’s Emancipation Proclamation and supporters of the Thir-
teenth Amendment as examples of those who were attached to the princi
ples of the Constitution while also advocating for fundamental societal 
change.147 According to Murphy, such advocacy should be perceived not as 
an impediment to naturalization, but rather as a reflection of American 
values. “In view of our tradition of freedom of thought, it is not to be pre-
sumed that Congress, in the Act of 1906 or its predecessors of 1795 and 
1802, intended to offer naturalization only to those whose political views co-
incide with those considered best by the founders in 1787, or by the ma-
jority in this country today.”148

Two years later, the ACPFB would celebrate a second victory in the Su-
preme Court. This case concerned another attempt to deport its client Harry 
Bridges. In 1940, with the Smith Act in place and the INS under the Justice 
Department, Attorney General Robert Jackson, under pressure from Con-
gress, had initiated deportation proceedings against Bridges. In this new 
case, the question before the Supreme Court would not focus on whether 
Bridges was currently a member or affiliated with the Communist Party; in-
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stead, the question would be whether Bridges had ever been a member of or 
affiliated with the Communist Party.

New York Court of Appeals Judge Charles B. Sears conducted the second 
set of deportation hearings regarding Bridges’s affiliations. Sears held that the 
Communist Party was an organization that fell under the Anarchist Exclu-
sion Act, amended by the Smith Act, and that Bridges was affiliated with and 
a member of the Communist Party.149 Sears recommended deportation. The 
BIA heard Bridges’s deportation case and found that Bridges had not been a 
member of or affiliated with the Communist Party since he entered the United 
States, and thus, should not be deported.150 In 1942, Jackson was now a Su-
preme Court justice, and his successor, Attorney General Francis Biddle, re-
viewed the decision, concurred with Sears, and ordered Bridges deported.151 
King was livid. She immediately petitioned Biddle for a hearing and recon-
sideration of his decision.152 Biddle refused and sought to deport Bridges as 
soon as possible.153 King was able to file a writ of habeas corpus just in time 
and was able to obtain a stay of Bridges’s deportation while a US district court 
in California reviewed his case.154 The district court denied King’s petition and 
allowed Bridges’s deportation order to stand; the Ninth Circuit Court of Ap-
peals affirmed.155 Only the Supreme Court could save Bridges from deporta-
tion. King filed a writ of certiorari, which the Supreme Court granted.156

In Bridges v. Wixon (1945), the Supreme Court, in a 5–3 decision, held that 
Bridges had never been a member of or affiliated with the Communist Party, 
and thus, he could not be deported under the Smith Act.157 Writing for the 
majority, Justice William O. Douglas evaluated the evidence presented in both 
of Bridges’s hearings, the reports issued by Dean Landis and Judge Sears, and 
Biddle’s deportation order. Addressing membership, Douglas dismissed the 
unsworn and the “highly speculative” testimony Biddle used to support his 
finding that Bridges was a member of the Communist Party as so “untrust-
worthy, contradictory, or unreliable” that Biddle should have rejected it.158 
Douglas agreed with the BIA, which described the evidence as “too flimsy” 
to support a finding of Bridges’s membership in the Communist Party.159

Turning to Bridges’s affiliation with the Communist Party, Douglas held 
that “affiliation” was broader than membership and narrower than mere sym-
pathy with a proscribed organization.160 Douglas concluded that Sears’s and 
Biddle’s findings to support Bridges’s deportation were based on “too loose” 
an interpretation of affiliation.161 According to Douglas, “affiliation” under 
the Smith Act “indicates an adherence to or a furtherance of the purposes 
or objectives” of an organization, not “mere cooperation with it in lawful 
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activities,” and that one’s actions should demonstrate “a working alliance to 
bring the program to fruition.”162 The evidence in both of Bridges’s hearings 
did not prove he had such an affiliation with the Communist Party. Douglas 
also emphasized that “cooperation” was not affiliation, providing the United 
States during the war as an example. “Individuals, like nations, may coop-
erate in a common cause over a period of months or years though their ulti-
mate aims do not coincide,” he wrote. “Certainly those who joined forces 
with Russia to defeat the Nazis may not be said to have made an alliance to 
spread the cause of Communism.”163

Chief Justice Harlan Stone wrote a dissenting opinion, joined by Justice 
Owen Roberts and Justice Felix Frankfurter. Stone asserted that Biddle’s de-
portation order for Bridges should have been sustained.164 Describing the 
court’s role as a “very limited one,” Stone argued that under the plenary power 
doctrine, the judiciary should defer to Congress and administrative officers 
in deportation cases.165 Congress passed laws regarding whom to exclude and 
deport, and it delegated the power to determine which foreigners fell under 
these laws to the attorney general in the Justice Department. According to 
Stone, “only in the exercise of their authority to issue writs of habeas corpus 
may courts inquire whether the Attorney General has exceeded his statutory 
authority or acted contrary to law or the Constitution.”166 The court is 
“without authority to disturb his finding if it has the support of evidence of 
any probative value.”167 In this case, the evidence against Bridges was suffi-
cient and the court should defer to Biddle.168

Douglas did not address the plenary power doctrine, but Justice Murphy 
did. In his concurring opinion, Murphy not only agreed with Douglas’s as-
sessment of the evidence and interpretation of “affiliation,” but also took the 
opportunity to directly attack the plenary power doctrine and call for sub-
stantive judicial review and the application of First Amendment constitu-
tional standards to ideological deportation cases.

Addressing the effort to deport Bridges, Murphy wrote, “The record in this 
case will stand forever as a monument to man’s intolerance of man. Seldom 
if ever in the history of this nation has there been such a concentrated and 
relentless crusade to deport an individual because he dared to exercise the 
freedom that belongs to him as a human being and that is guaranteed to him 
by the Constitution.”169 Like Zechariah Chafee Jr. articulated twenty-five years 
earlier, Murphy rejected the assumption that Congress’s plenary power to de-
port was not subject to the Bill of Rights and the constitutional protections 
of freedom of speech and due process under the First and Fifth Amendments. 
He wrote that the Bill of Rights did not make any distinction between for-
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eigners and citizens, and if those protections did not apply to foreigners 
then “an alien who merely writes or utters a statement critical of the Govern-
ment, or who subscribes to an unpopular political or social philosophy, or 
who affiliates with a labor union, or who distributes religious handbills on 
the street corner, may be subjected to the legislative whim of deportation.”170

It was inherently contradictory to deny substantive judicial review and due 
process protections to foreigners in deportation proceedings. “The alien 
would be fully clothed with his constitutional rights when defending himself 
in a court of law, but he would be stripped of those rights when deportation 
officials encircle him,” Murphy wrote. “I cannot agree that the framers of the 
Constitution meant to make such an empty mockery of human freedom.”171

Ideological deportation struck at the heart of freedom of speech in the 
United States. Murphy insisted that the Smith Act and ideological deporta-
tions under it should be subject to First Amendment constitutional standards 
and protections, which to him included judicial review under the clear and 
present danger test.172 He warned that such deportations were tools to sup-
press dissent and would damage the nation and undermine its values as a de-
mocracy. This damage posed more of a threat to the United States than the 
presence of foreign radicals who expressed their beliefs or joined the Com-
munist Party. “Congress has ample power to protect the United States from 
internal revolution and anarchy without abandoning the ideals of freedom 
and tolerance,” he wrote. “We, as a nation, lose part of our greatness when-
ever we deport or punish those who merely exercise their freedoms in an 
unpopular though innocuous manner. The strength of this nation is weak-
ened more by those who suppress the freedom of others than by those who 
are allowed freely to think and act as their consciences dictate.”173

Murphy concluded his opinion by noting the significance of this case for 
foreigners in the United States, who, “like many of our forebears, were driven 
from their original homelands by bigoted authorities who denied the exis-
tence of freedom and tolerance. It would be a dismal prospect for them to dis-
cover that their freedom in the United States is dependent upon their con-
formity to the popular notions of the moment.”174 Ideological deportation 
was not the answer to establishing America’s freedom and security; that 
would be accomplished only “by zealously guarding the rights of the most 
humble, the most unorthodox, and the most despised among us.”175

Upon hearing the Supreme Court’s decision and his huge victory, Bridges 
immediately announced his intention to apply for naturalization. “Naturally 
I welcome the decision because American citizenship is a priceless posses-
sion,” he wrote.176 On September  17, 1945, Bridges became an American 
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citizen.177 Carol King sent him a telegram: “To Harry Bridges: You may be a 
good client, but your lawyers are no slouches. Congrats. Carol.”178

The Supreme Court’s decision in Bridges v. Wixon was also a huge victory 
for foreigners residing in the United States. While the decision did not strike 
down the use of guilt by association in ideological deportation cases, Justice 
Douglas’s definition of “affiliation” and scrutiny of evidence pertaining to 
membership provided foreigners with more protection against the use of 
their associations and political activities as a basis for deportation. Further-
more, the decision demonstrated the importance of the writ of habeas corpus 
and of substantive judicial review in a federal court as the most effective re-
course in challenging and preventing the ideological deportation of for-
eigners. Justice Murphy’s concurring opinion also revealed that at least one 
member of the Supreme Court believed that foreigners in the United States 
were protected under the First Amendment and supported judicial review and 
the application of First Amendment legal standards to ideological deporta-
tion cases, despite the plenary power doctrine.

The ACPFB celebrated its Supreme Court victory and produced a pam-
phlet for its members, reprinting Murphy’s concurring opinion with an in-
troduction written by King.179 After praising Murphy and the Supreme Court’s 
decision in favor of Bridges, King wrote, “While the Bridges case is won, the 
basic democratic issues are not settled.”180 The Smith Act was still the law, 
the ideological deportation provision remained in place, and both were ready 
to be used by the Justice Department and future attorney generals. “The 
ACPFB must rally all Americans to secure the repeal of this un-American pro-
vision in our deportation laws,” declared King.181

During the Great Depression, two secretaries of labor presented two dif
ferent perspectives on immigration and uses of their authority. William N. 
Doak viewed deportation as a solution to the unemployment crisis, and he 
used his discretion to deport as many as possible. His successor, Frances Per-
kins, did not view immigrants as a threat to the United States or its economy, 
and she tried to change the law and to use the law to increase refugee admis-
sions. Both faced public criticism, and members of Congress, such as Martin 
Dies, sought to eliminate the discretionary power held by the secretary of 
labor to decide how to interpret and enforce the law.

Overwhelmed by deportation and asylum cases, Roger Baldwin helped 
create the ACPFB. Led by Abner Green and Carol King, the ACPFB attempted 
to prevent denaturalizations and deportations and brought legal challenges 
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in federal court. While members of Congress focused on Communist influ-
ence and identifying Communists, King focused on the interpretation and ap-
plication of the Anarchist Exclusion Act to defend her clients and found 
ways to directly and indirectly bypass the plenary power doctrine’s insula-
tion of deportation from substantive judicial review. King was successful in 
the Supreme Court, where members of the court such as Justice Murphy 
viewed ideological restrictions, including denaturalization and deportation, 
as violations of the First Amendment. They sought to push through the bar-
riers to judicial review under the plenary power and argued for due process 
protections for deportation.

These successes, especially in preventing Harry Bridges’s deportation, re-
sulted in a legislative backlash from Congress. The Supreme Court could not 
deter the forces of anti-Communism within the federal government, and it 
could also not prevent Congress from passing new laws like the Smith Act 
to close loopholes and circumvent the court’s decisions. Congress would con-
tinue to investigate and hold hearings on Communism within the United 
States through HUAC, focusing on Communists in government, entertain-
ment, labor, education, and legal advocacy organizations.

The ACLU had been under investigation for being “closely affiliated with 
the Communist movement in the United States” since the Fish Committee in 
1930, and HUAC had continued investigations through the late 1930s. While 
Baldwin identified himself as a Democratic Socialist, he was sympathetic to 
Communism, championed Communist ideology and revolution, and visited 
the Soviet Union in 1927.182 When the ACLU was mentioned six different 
times during HUAC hearings on Communist and Communist-front organ
izations in 1938–1939, the ACLU’s image was damaged, and the organization 
became concerned.

Baldwin led the charge in responding to accusations and attempting to 
prevent the ACLU from being labeled as a Communist or Communist-front 
organization. By 1937, influenced by Stalin’s “show trials,” Baldwin began to 
turn away from Communism and sever his affiliations with Communist-front 
organizations.183 The ACLU had split into two camps: anti-Communist and 
Communist or Communist-sympathetic, and by 1939, the Nazi-Soviet Pact 
had “pushed Baldwin solidly into the anti-communist camp.”184 The leader-
ship was also split between anti-Communists Morris Ernst, Norman Thomas, 
and John Haynes Holmes, and Communist Elizabeth Gurley Flynn and “fellow 
travelers” Harry Ward and Corliss Lamont.

In a meeting arranged by J. Edgar Hoover, Ernst met informally with 
Dies, who, in late 1939, issued a public statement “clearing” the ACLU.185 
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In 1940, the ACLU expelled Flynn from its board and passed a resolution 
barring anyone from being an ACLU board or staff member “who is a 
member of any political organization which supports totalitarian dictator-
ship in any country, or who by his public declarations indicates his support 
of such a principle.” It included the Communist Party and organizations 
with “obvious anti-democratic objectives or practices.”186 Ward resigned as 
chairman of the board and left the ACLU.187 Some ACLU members de-
nounced the resolution, and Chicago, Massachusetts, and California affili-
ates pushed to have the resolution rescinded.188

Unlike the ACLU, the ACPFB did not purge its Communist members or 
staff and did not denounce Communism. Neither Green nor King was a Com-
munist, but they worked with Communists and Communist organizations 
and represented clients who were Communists.189

Before and throughout World War II, the ACPFB enjoyed public popu-
larity and increased membership. New York City Mayor Fiorello LaGuardia 
published a pamphlet with the ACPFB called “Non-Citizen Americans in the 
War Emergency,” which described the loyalty and patriotism of foreigners in 
the United States and explained how these foreigners could help the war ef-
fort.190 Both President Roosevelt and First Lady Eleanor Roosevelt publicly 
praised the ACPFB for its efforts on behalf of foreigners. In his greeting to the 
ACPFB’s annual conference in 1941, Roosevelt wrote that the ACPFB “has un-
dertaken the task of assuring fair play to the foreign born within the United 
States. Every American wishes it success.”191

Hollywood actor Edward G. Robinson, an emigrant from Romania who 
supported the ACPFB and assisted in its fundraising efforts, declared, “It seems 
to me that the American committee has made an incalculable contribution 
to our unity and national morale by promoting integration of the foreign born 
in our society. It has consistently encouraged greater participation by the for-
eign born in our social, economic, and political life. It has strengthened our 
democracy by its activity in encouraging and making possible the natural-
ization of non-citizens.”192

Yet, the respite from anti-Communism and the embrace of the ACPFB 
were short-lived. By the end of World War II, a new war had begun, the Cold 
War. In the late 1940s, HUAC and the anti-Communist fervor of the late 1930s 
would return with a vengeance. The Justice Department, armed with the 
Smith Act and with assistance from Hoover, would arrest and prosecute Com-
munist Party leaders and launch deportation and denaturalization drives 
against foreign Communists and labor organizers. In the 1950s, Congress 
would pass restrictive laws focusing on guilt by association, granting the 
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attorney general ultimate discretion to exclude or deport, and explicitly pro-
scribing Communist organizations to ease deportation efforts, as suggested 
by Assistant Commissioner of Immigration Edward G. Shaughnessy in 1932.

During the Cold War, King would continue to use the writ of habeas corpus 
to help foreigners swept up in these deportation drives, but these more re-
strictive laws and adherence to the plenary power doctrine would thwart 
her efforts and end her legal victories. Green and the ACPFB would work 
tirelessly to defend foreigners from deportation and governmental sup-
pression, but they soon discovered that they would also have to work to 
defend themselves.
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T WO YE ARS AF TER the end of World War II, the United States entered the 
Cold War with the Soviet Union. The United States focused on projecting an 
anti-Communist identity as a free, liberal democracy through its foreign pol-
icies and containment of Communism abroad. It also sought to address the 
threat of Communism and internal subversion through the suppression and 
elimination of Communism in the United States. During the late 1940s, these 
efforts focused on exposing Communists or alleged Communists in govern-
ment and on guilt by association with alleged Communists or Communist 
organizations. It also included loyalty oaths requiring employees to profess 
that they were not Communists, the creation of “blacklists” of those associ-
ated with or accused of being Communists, and the purging of Communists 
and suspected Communists from influential professions, including those 
working in Hollywood and academia.1

As anti-Communist repression spread, a public hysteria and fear of Com-
munist infiltration and corruption of the United States and its institutions 
led to persecution and accusation, the suppression of free speech and asso-
ciation, intimidation, fear, and self-censorship, as well as the barring and ex-
pulsion of foreigners from the United States. Political cartoonist and satirist 
Herb Block (“Herblock”) depicted this hysteria and fear, resulting in actions 
that threatened to extinguish America’s image and identity as a free and wel-
coming nation, in his cartoon “Fire!” published in the Washington Post on 
June 17, 1949.2

A year later, Block would coin the term “McCarthyism” in a cartoon in-
spired by the accusations of Communist infiltration in the State Department 
and subversives in the United States made by Senator Joseph McCarthy 
(R-WI).3 “McCarthyism” would soon become the ubiquitous term used to 
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describe the increasing paranoia and pervasive fear that the mere presence 
of Communists would destroy the United States. The term would also be 
used to describe the trampling of First Amendment freedoms in the name of 
national security.4

Yet, as popular as the term “McCarthyism” was and continues to be to de-
scribe this period of repression, McCarthyism was more than McCarthy and 
his efforts. The repression associated with McCarthy and his investigations 
in the early 1950s was a continuation, intensification, and extension of anti-
Communism in the late 1930s.5 Relying on existing laws, such as the Smith 
Act, and passing new ones, legislators, bureaucrats and public officials worked 
to suppress free speech through criminal prosecutions, registration require-
ments, investigations establishing guilt by association, and the detention, de-
naturalization, and deportation of foreign-born residents and visa denials to 
foreign visitors.

To many in the United States and abroad, the ideological exclusions and 
deportations the United States insisted were necessary during the Cold War 
to prevent subversion that was capable of destroying the nation’s institutions 
and corrupting its ideals, undermined those institutions and ideals by turning 

“fire!” by Herb Block, published June 17, 1949
A 1949 Herblock Cartoon, © The Herb Block Foundation.
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the attorney general and consular officials into censors. Those skeptical of Mc-
Carthy and his allies argued that the exclusion of foreign scientists, writers, 
and artists based on their beliefs or associations damaged an image of the 
United States as a confident, democratic, freedom-loving nation, in contrast 
to the Soviet Union, and revealed an insecure, repressive nation that was 
fearful of foreigners and freedom of speech.

The Return of Anti-Communism

The anti-Communist efforts to denaturalize, detain, and deport foreigners in 
the 1930s had returned by the late 1940s. In 1945, Congress made the House 
Un-American Activities Committee (HUAC) a permanent, standing House 
committee, which would investigate the infiltration of subversives and Com-
munists in American society and government. In 1946, Attorney General 
Tom C. Clark and the Justice Department launched its first deportation drive.

Clark, a lawyer from Dallas, Texas, who had joined the Justice Department 
in 1937, had quickly advanced in the Criminal Division to become assistant 
attorney general. During World War II, Attorney General Francis Biddle ap-
pointed Clark to be the civilian coordinator of the Alien Enemy Control Pro-
gram, which would implement and oversee the internment of Japanese and 
Japanese Americans. In 1945, President Harry Truman appointed Clark to 
succeed Biddle as attorney general. Clark was an ardent anti-Communist, who 
was eager to suppress Communism and zealous in his prosecutions of Com-
munists and alleged Communists. To Clark, Communists posed a serious 
threat to American institutions by dividing the nation, infiltrating labor 
unions, and creating civil unrest. He turned to existing law as a tool to sup-
press this threat.6

Like Secretary of Labor William N. Doak, who used existing law to im-
plement his deportation drive in 1931, Clark used his authority under the 
Smith Act to deport as many foreign-born Communists as he could, arresting 
any foreign noncitizen who “at the time of entering the United States . . . ​or 
at any time thereafter” was a member of an organization “advocating the vi-
olent overthrow of the government.”7 Initially, Clark’s Justice Department 
focused primarily on those who had been members of the Communist Party 
and labor organizers. Immigration officials were able to arrest forty-one for-
eigners for deportation under the Smith Act’s past and present membership 
provision.8 By 1949, that number would swell to 135 foreigners arrested for 
deportation.9 J. Edgar Hoover and the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) 
provided lists of names and information to Clark and immigration officials 
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to conduct the deportation drives.10 Clark also called on Congress for a 
stronger anti-Communist law that would enable him to arrest and deport the 
2,100 foreign Communists he claimed resided in the United States.11

The American Committee for Protection of Foreign Born (ACPFB) was the 
main organization representing those foreigners who were arrested and de-
tained during Clark’s deportation drives, and Carol King and Abner Green 
worked to get them released from detention and prevent their deportations. 
Peter Harisiades was one of their clients. Harisiades was an emigrant from 
Greece who had lived in the United States since he was thirteen years old. In 
1925, he was working in a textile mill in Massachusetts when he decided to 
join the Communist Party. During the 1930 textile strike, immigration offi-
cials issued a warrant for Harisiades’s arrest in order to deport him along with 
other foreign noncitizens in the Textile Workers Union, but he was not de-
ported at that time.12

In the 1930s, Harisiades led the Greek bureau of the Communist Party 
in New York, but in 1939, the party discontinued his membership. In 
October 1946, during its first deportation drive, the Justice Department ar-
rested Harisiades for deportation because of his past membership in the Com-
munist Party. In 1949, the Board of Immigration Appeals (BIA) upheld his 
deportation order under the Smith Act; the Justice Department sent Harisi-
ades to Ellis Island to deport him to Greece. Carol King immediately filed a 
writ of habeas corpus to prevent his deportation and bring his case before a fed-
eral court.13 Harisiades would serve as a “test case” for the ACPFB, which 
challenged the constitutionality of the Smith Act and his deportation for past 
membership.14

Throughout the 1940s, the Justice Department continued its efforts to ar-
rest, detain, and deport.15 In many cases, foreign noncitizens who were de-
tained pending deportation were released on bail. The average bail amount 
was $500, but the Justice Department would insist on increasing that amount 
to $10,000 or even $25,000.16 Those who could not make bail, or were not 
granted bail, were sent to Ellis Island and detained pending deportation. Such 
detention could be quite lengthy; some deportees were detained for over 
two years. In 1948, Charles Doyle, Gerhart Eisler, Irving Potash, Ferdinand 
Smith, and John Williamson protested their detention at Ellis Island without 
bail by staging a hunger strike. After thousands of telegrams, as well as 
protest demonstrations across the United States, the strikers were released 
after five days.17

King had used bail applications and writs of habeas corpus as her main 
weapons to prevent detention and deportation since she began representing 
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deportees held on Ellis Island in the 1930s. The Justice Department was now 
directly attacking one of her strategies, so King decided to attack the Justice 
Department. King turned to a new law passed in 1946 called the Adminis-
trative Procedure Act (APA), which sought to promote fairness and public 
transparency in governmental agencies and prevent decisions that were “ar-
bitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance 
with the law.”18

King argued that the APA and its provisions requiring “impartial” judges 
in administrative hearings applied to the Justice Department and deportation 
hearings.19 Not much had changed since the Wickersham Commission’s 
report in 1931 had criticized the lack of independence of adjudicators in 
deportation hearings. Immigration officials presiding over these hearings 
were also often the same officials who gathered evidence against foreigners 
arrested for deportation. Acting as both prosecutor and judge, these officials 
were in no way “impartial.”20

King believed that if she could persuade a federal court that the APA ap-
plied to deportation hearings, and that those hearings violated the APA, she 
could stop the Justice Department from continuing its deportation drives. 
King was overjoyed when in Wong Yang Sung v. McGrath (1950), the Supreme 
Court held that the hearings in deportation cases had to conform to the APA 
and its requirement for a separate, impartial adjudicator.21 The Immigration 
and Naturalization Service (INS) announced that all deportation hearings 
since June 3, 1947, were invalid (estimated at 14,000 hearings).22 In 1951, Con-
gress responded by passing the Supplemental Appropriations Act, which 
exempted the deportation hearings from the APA.23

While King focused on Clark’s deportation drives, he was focused on de-
naturalizing and deporting her client Harry Bridges. Three years after King 
had congratulated Bridges on becoming an American citizen, the Justice De-
partment persuaded a federal grand jury to indict Bridges for committing 
fraud and perjury during his naturalization process. In 1949, a California jury 
convicted Bridges, and his citizenship was revoked.24 The Justice Department 
attempted to deport Bridges, but in Bridges v. United States (1953), the Supreme 
Court reversed his conviction and denaturalization because his indictment 
fell outside the three-year statute of limitations.25 The Justice Department 
made one last attempt to denaturalize Bridges in civil court in 1955, but fi
nally gave up when the court ruled in Bridges’s favor.26

The Justice Department also used the Smith Act to prosecute leaders and 
members of the Communist Party within the United States, as well as to de-
port them. In 1948, the Justice Department charged eleven leaders in the 
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Communist Party for conspiracy and for membership in an organization that 
advocated the violent overthrow of government under the Smith Act. In 1949, 
they were convicted, and in Dennis v. United States (1951), the Supreme Court 
upheld the constitutionality of the Smith Act and their conviction under it. 
The court also replaced the bad tendency test, used to determine whether ex-
pression was protected under the Constitution, with another one: “whether 
the gravity of the ‘evil,’ discounted by its improbability, justifies such inva-
sion of free speech as is necessary to avoid the danger.”27 The court held that 
the gravity and threat of Communism to the United States justified restric-
tion of free speech and association.

By 1950, Clark was no longer attorney general. Truman had nominated 
Clark to the Supreme Court to replace Justice Frank Murphy, who had died 
in 1949, and he was confirmed by the Senate in a vote 73–8. Prior to his 
confirmation, King had testified before the Senate Judiciary Committee 
opposing Clark’s nomination and describing his deportation drives.28 
Clark’s successors, J. Howard McGrath, James P. McGranery, and Herbert 
Brownell Jr., continued his anti-Communist efforts. They also had new leg-
islation to assist them. In 1948 and 1949, members of HUAC introduced 
bills that included a requirement that all Communist organizations and all 
Communist-front organizations register as such with the attorney gen-
eral.29 A sponsor of one of these bills was Richard M. Nixon (R-CA), a ju
nior congressman who had been involved in the investigation of Alger 
Hiss. Both bills failed to pass in the Senate, but there was one man, the most 
powerful anti-Communist legislator in the United States, who would suc-
cessfully lead Congress in passing this type of legislation: Senator Patrick 
McCarran (D-NV).

McCarranism during McCarthyism

In 1950, the Justice Department used new laws to root out Communists and 
subversives by suppressing expression and punishing association, as well as 
by barring Communists from entering the United States and deporting for-
eign subversives from its shores. The politician largely responsible for the 
successful passage of these laws in Congress was not Senator McCarthy, but 
rather Senator McCarran. One of the most influential members of Con-
gress, McCarran sponsored two acts containing ideological restrictions 
that would last for decades. The term “McCarranism,” used to describe these 
laws and McCarran’s investigations of Communists, often appeared along-
side “McCarthyism” in newspapers and popular rhetoric.30
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Patrick McCarran was born in Reno, Nevada in 1876 to Irish Catholic im-
migrant parents. He arrived in Congress in 1933 at the beginning of the 
Roosevelt administration, but he was one of the Democrats who opposed the 
New Deal. McCarran was also a fervent anti-Communist. One of Congress’s 
conservative cold warriors, he was outspoken in his belief that Communists 
would subvert American ideals and institutions.31 By 1950, McCarran had be-
come chairman of both the Senate Judiciary Committee and the Senate Ap-
propriations Subcommittee. He reveled in the committees’ importance and 
in the power he wielded through them.32

McCarran held nativist views that helped shape his belief that Commu-
nism was a foreign ideology imported to the United States by immigrants and 
spread through foreign influence.33 In 1950, McCarran chaired a special sub-
committee of the Senate Judiciary Committee, which produced a 900-page 
comprehensive report on immigration regulation. The report characterized 
foreigners as posing a national security threat and declared, “The protection 
of the public safety requires the exclusion from the United States of those 
aliens who bring with them their alien ideologies which are subversive to the 
national security and contrary to our constitutional form of government.”34 
Describing Communism as an “alien force,” the report then turned its atten-
tion to the Communist threat. “It is inconceivable that the people of the United 
States would, of their own volition, organize or become part of a conspiracy 
to destroy the free institutions to which generations of Americans have de-
voted themselves.”35 The committee recommended broadening ideological 
restrictions and adding “Communists” to the list of exclusion and deporta-
tion categories included in the Smith Act.36

Shortly after the United States entered the Korean War, Congress passed 
the Internal Security Act of 1950 (“McCarran Act”).37 The act passed in the 
House 286–48 and in the Senate 57–10 and over Truman’s veto. With an up-
coming election, members of Congress feared red-baiting and felt pressure 
to pass it.38 The McCarran Act, like the Smith Act, devoted half of its provi-
sions to the suppression of subversives within the United States and restric-
tions on American citizens. In its own form of ideological “containment,” the 
McCarran Act denied the issuance of passports to any member of an organ
ization that Washington deemed a “Communist organization.”39 Also, all 
Communist and Communist-front organizations had to register with the at-
torney general and provide membership lists and documents relating to their 
activities and finances.40 The act established the Subversive Activities Con-
trol Board (SACB), which was charged with carrying out this registration 
process through investigations of those refusing to register.41 Such registra-
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tion left these organizations and their members vulnerable to governmental 
and public scrutiny, as well as blacklisting, prosecution, passport denial, de-
naturalization, and deportation.

The McCarran Act included all of the previous ideological exclusion and 
deportation categories created since the Alien Immigration Act of 1903 and 
added Communists, as well as members and those affiliated with organ
izations that teach, advocate, advise, publish, or distribute the “economic, 
international, and governmental doctrines of world communism”42 or of “to-
talitarianism.”43 It also placed no exceptions on membership in such organ
izations, even if membership had long been terminated or had been entered 
into under coercion, duress, or necessity.

The McCarran Act gave ultimate discretion to the attorney general to 
admit, exclude, or deport. Similar to the Alien Friends Act of 1798, which gave 
President John Adams discretion to deport, the McCarran Act included an im-
plicit restriction authorizing the attorney general to exclude any foreigner 
and to arrest, detain, and deport any noncitizen who he deemed would be 
“prejudicial to the public interest or would endanger the welfare or safety of 
the United States.”44 The attorney general could keep the reason and evidence 
confidential if he considered disclosure of them to be “prejudicial to the public 
interest, safety and security” of the United States.45

Tasked with implementing the McCarran Act’s provisions, immigration 
officials and the State Department’s consular officials were completely un-
prepared and overwhelmed. The lack of bureaucratic procedures in place to 
support these new exclusionary policies wreaked havoc on the immigration 
and visa system.46 Ellis Island had to shut down for almost a month, and the 
State Department temporarily stopped issuing visas to foreign visitors and 
immigrants, because it could not effectively conduct the pre-entry interviews 
and exclusions.47 Immigration officials detained 13,000 seaman on their ships 
pending a determination that they posed no security threat, and officials ex-
cluded 2,400 foreigners seeking admission as suspected subversives. Only 156 
of these seamen were eventually found to be legally excludable under the Mc-
Carran Act.48

Much of the national and international press coverage of the ideological 
exclusions under the McCarran Act concerned those excluded under the to-
talitarian organization provision, the category that included Fascists and 
Nazis. This provision disproportionately affected Italians and Germans 
seeking entry in 1950; almost all of them at one point had been members of 
Fascist or Nazi organizations, even if this membership was coerced or nec-
essary for survival.49
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Newspapers were filled with articles describing foreigners caught up in 
these exclusion provisions and detained on Ellis Island pending investigation, 
including world-renowned musicians and opera singers.50 Conductor Arturo 
Toscanini was briefly questioned on his way back from a European tour,51 and 
Joseph Szigeti, a fifty-eight-year-old Hungarian-born violin virtuoso was de-
tained for five days while being questioned about his affiliations.52 The Met-
ropolitan Opera lamented that its performances were being disrupted.53 
Friedrich Gulda, a twenty-year-old pianist from Austria, was detained on Ellis 
Island due to a mandatory membership in Hitler Youth when he was a child. 
Attorney General McGrath used his authority and discretion to permit Gul-
da’s brief release to perform at Carnegie Hall.54

Such exclusions and detentions also led to international tension. Italian 
ambassador Alberto Tarchiani contacted the State Department to protest the 
detention of Italian passengers and ship crews under the McCarran Act. He 
argued these exclusions and detentions were a direct violation of the US-
Italian treaty of friendship and commerce.55 The Christian Science Monitor re-
ported that Austrian and other European Communists had been using these 
exclusions and detentions, especially Gulda’s, as propaganda against the 
United States.56 The visa denials had angered Western Europeans, driving a 
wedge between them and America, which these Communists sought to 
exploit.57 The reporter concluded that the McCarran Act undermined 
America’s security efforts by “alienating foreigners instead of safeguarding 
the United States.”58

While much of the criticism and concern regarding the McCarran Act’s 
categories of exclusion focused on its lack of exceptions for former members 
of Fascist organizations, the Communist exclusions gained some public at-
tention. In 1952, British author Graham Greene encountered difficulty when 
the State Department delayed issuing him a visa because of Greene’s month-
long membership in the Communist Party in 1922 as a teenage “prank” 
when he was eighteen years old.59 McGrath authorized the State Department 
to issue Greene a conditional, restricted visa, which limited Greene’s stay in 
the United States to thirty days.60

While Greene characterized his visa delay and entry limitation as 
“comical,” he was not laughing when he described the impression these 
restrictions left in Europe, remarking “America’s allies are beginning to 
wonder if their concept of democracy is the same as yours.”61 After de-
scribing a number of exclusions of artists, scientists, and writers under the 
McCarran Act, the New York Times echoed Greene’s concern. “What we are 
worried about is the attempt of Senator McCarran and his friends to create 
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a futile intellectual cordon sanitaire about the United States—an attempt 
which has seriously damaged our reputation as a liberal democracy abroad 
and has encouraged the forces of reaction, parochialism and xenophobia 
at home.”62

In 1952, Senator McCarran and his colleague Congressman Francis E. 
Walter (D-PA), a fellow cold warrior and immigration restrictionist, spon-
sored the most comprehensive and exclusionary law ever enacted. It re-
mains the current immigration law in the United States. Resembling a Rus
sian matryoshka nesting doll, the Immigration and Nationality Act of 1952 
(“McCarran-Walter Act”) not only combined all previous immigration and 
naturalization laws into one statute, but also represented the culmination of 
ideological exclusion and deportation.

The McCarran-Walter Act attempted to avoid the bureaucratic chaos and 
national embarrassment that arose during the McCarran Act’s initial imple-
mentation in 1950.63 It left the Communist and world Communism provi-
sions intact, but revised the totalitarian provision. The revised provision did 
not include Fascist and Nazi organizations and now added an exception for 
foreigners who had terminated membership in totalitarian organizations 
within five years of the visa request.64 It also included an exception for an “in-
nocent joiner” of such organizations.65

“Seldom has a bill exhibited the distrust evidenced here for citizens and 
aliens alike—at a time when we need unity at home and the confidence of 
our friends abroad.”66 Truman included this sharp rebuke to Congress before 
it passed the McCarran-Walter Act over his veto. In addition to expressing his 
disgust that the act maintained the discriminatory national origins quotas 
established by the Johnson-Reed Act of 1924, Truman characterized the 
ideological exclusion provisions as a form of “thought control” and “incon-
sistent with our democratic ideals,” and he emphasized the detrimental ef-
fects of such restrictions to America’s self-professed image as a free and 
welcoming nation.

Under the McCarran-Walter Act, consular officials’ decisions to deny visas 
continued to be nonreviewable, and these officials were not required to pro-
vide the visa applicant with a reason for the denial or the evidence used to 
support it.67 Truman also argued that conferring unlimited power and ulti-
mate discretion to the attorney general to exclude or deport was akin to the 
power and discretion given to President Adams under the Alien Friends Act 
of 1798. Truman chastised Congress for turning the attorney general into a 
censor and providing no standards or definitions “to guide discretion in the 
exercise of powers so sweeping.”68
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The McCarran-Walter Act had also strengthened the attorney general’s 
control and ultimate discretion over which foreigners he could admit or ex-
clude. The Attorney General could admit someone deemed inadmissible if 
that person’s entry would be in the public interest.69 The act also included a 
provision permitting the attorney general to bar a foreign noncitizen, legal 
resident who had left the United States, if reentry would be contrary to the 
nation’s interests.70 James P. McGranery, the new attorney general, sought to 
use his authority and discretion under this provision to bar renowned silent 
film star Charlie Chaplin from reentering the United States.

Eventually subpoenaed but never called to testify about his politics, 
Chaplin sent a preemptive and taunting telegram to HUAC in 1947: “While 
you are preparing your engraved subpoena I will give you a hint on where 
I stand. I am not a Communist. I am a peace-monger.”71 Two years later, Sen-
ator Harry Cain (R-WA) called to deport Chaplin. He submitted a statement 
to the Senate Judiciary Committee listing Chaplin’s alleged “connections 
with Communist fronts and Communist-dominated organizations.” Cain 
also cited a telegram Chaplin sent to Pablo Picasso in 1948. He asked Picasso 
to organize a rally of French artists in front of the US embassy in Paris to 
protest against the deportation of Hanns Eisler, a Vienna-born former Holly
wood composer and Communist, from the United States. Cain described 
Chaplin’s request as one that “skirts perilously close to treason.”72 The FBI 
had been investigating Chaplin since the 1920s, and by 1949, the INS and 
J. Edgar Hoover were working together to find sufficient evidence to support 
grounds to deport or exclude Chaplin based on his subversive affiliations 
and beliefs.73

In September 1952, a few months after the passage of the McCarran-
Walter Act, Chaplin sailed to London on a European tour to promote his 
new film, Limelight. After consulting with Hoover and the INS, McGranery 
seized the opportunity once Chaplin, a foreign noncitizen, was out of 
the United States, and revoked his reentry permit.74 Accusing Chaplin of a 
“leering, sneering attitude toward the country whose gracious hospitality has 
enriched him,” McGranery insisted Chaplin submit to an interview regarding 
his views, morals, and associations in order to “prove his worth and right to 
enter the United States.”75 Chaplin refused, and in April 1953, he announced 
that he and his family would not return.76 He was sad and angry, describing 
his treatment as the “object of lies and vicious propaganda by powerful reac-
tionary groups who by their influence and by the aid of America’s yellow press 
have created an unhealthy atmosphere in which liberal minded individuals 
can be singled out and persecuted.”77
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Graham Greene penned an open letter to Chaplin published in the New 
Republic. Greene denounced Chaplin’s exclusion as another one of the nation’s 
“ugly manifestations of fear.” He wrote, “To our pain and astonishment you 
paid the United States the highest compliment in your power by settling 
within her borders, and now we feel pain but not astonishment at the 
response—not from the American people in general, one is sure, but from 
those authorities who seem to take their orders from such men as McCarthy.” 
Greene described Chaplin’s treatment as a “disgrace,” and he insisted that con-
demnation of his exclusion and of McCarthyism were matters of interna-
tional importance. “Intolerance in any country wounds freedom throughout 
the world.”78

Perhaps the most compelling critique and description of the implemen-
tation and effect of ideological exclusion under McCarranism appeared in the 
October 1952 special issue of the Bulletin of the Atomic Scientists: A Magazine for 
Science and Public Affairs entitled “American Visa Policy and Foreign Scien-
tists.”79 A number of eminent scientists contributed to the issue, including 
British and French scientists who had applied for visas to come to the United 
States and had faced delays, interrogations, and denials due to their affilia-
tions. Albert Einstein, himself an immigrant from Germany, cautioned 
against such visa denials as having a damaging effect on scientific discovery, 
asserting that “the free, unhampered exchange of ideas and scientific conclu-
sions is necessary for the sound development of science as it is in all other 
spheres of cultural life.”80 Hans A. Bethe, a professor of physics at Cornell Uni-
versity, emphasized the importance of the oral communication of scientific 
results and the sharing of ideas and experiments in person by traveling to and 
working in other laboratories abroad.81

Victor F. Weisskopf, a professor of physics at the Massachusetts Institute 
of Technology, found that at least sixty scientists had been barred from the 
United States under the McCarran Act. He described a visa application pro
cess that had bewildered, annoyed, angered, and embarrassed the scientists. 
The delay in the time between visa application and receipt, stretching from 
four months to over one year, made it difficult for American scientists to plan 
meetings, as well as for foreign scientists to attend them. Political activities, 
present and past, appeared to have been the reason behind many visa denials, 
despite evidence of anti-Communist attitudes.82

Visa applicants were required to fill out a questionnaire, under oath, listing 
all the organizations they had been associated with in the past fifteen years. 
Applicants found this procedure repugnant, and many feared that if they 
could not remember a particular organization, the consular official could 
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interpret this omission as error or perjury. Finally, there was an oral inter-
view with the consular official, who asked the applicant detailed questions 
regarding his or her political affiliations, beliefs, and attitudes, including 
questions such as “What do you think of the United States’ policy in Korea?” 
and “What’s your stand on NATO?”83

Edward Shils, a professor of social sciences on the Committee of Social 
Thought at the University of Chicago, described the “ineptitude” of consular 
officials who lacked the knowledge, time, and training necessary to assess the 
applicants’ written work and its significance, as well as the nature of the ap-
plicants’ political affiliations. Shils depicted officials as insecure and fearful 
to issue visas. There was no risk to the official to delay or deny a visa, but great 
risk if the official admitted the “wrong” applicant. While their decisions were 
nonreviewable by superiors or the courts, they were reviewable by Congress, 
which was more likely to question an official’s decision to grant rather than 
to deny a visa. According to Shils, the xenophobia inherent in the McCarran-
Walter Act also led officials to justify the law and their role enforcing it, and 
provided additional motivation for them to exclude.84

Shils mentioned applicants’ reluctance to request a waiver, an exception 
to their exclusion, from the State Department and granted by the attorney 
general in order to be admitted to the United States; such a request added 
to their humiliation and implied guilt. He declared, “Nearly every refusal 
of a visa, every unnecessary prolongation of the bureaucratic labyrinth 
through which a visa applicant must pass, embarrasses a Western friend 
of the United States and the Western alliance.” It gave the impression that 
there was no difference between the United States and the Soviet Union 
and that Europeans should avoid “involvement in a quarrel between the 
two paranoid, freedom-hating, barbarian regimes with which they have 
no common interests.”85

M. Louis LePrince Ringuet, a French physicist and professor at L’Ecole 
Polytechnique in Paris, echoed Shils’s sentiments, describing the difficulties 
and frustration in obtaining a visa to come to the United States. He explained 
that the vast majority of French scientists, “irrespective of their political opin-
ions,” belonged to the Association des Travailleurs Scientifique, and that 
membership in this association had inexplicably served as the basis for visa 
denials and effectively barred most French scientists. Ringuet wrote of the de-
plorable effect visa denials had on French opinion of America, adding, “I 
have even had occasion to see the expression ‘Iron Curtain of the West’ quite 
widely applied to the United States.”86
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Deportation, Detention, and Denaturalization  
under McCarranism

While foreign visitors faced visa denials, preventing them from entering the 
United States, foreign-born residents faced denaturalization and deportation, 
preventing them from staying in the United States. The McCarran-Walter Act 
had provided the attorney general not only with absolute, unlimited discre-
tionary power to exclude, but also with discretionary power to arrest, detain, 
and deport noncitizens from the United States.

Under the McCarran-Walter Act, the deportation hearings remained only 
“quasi-judicial.” Where one or more INS officers served as “investigator, pros-
ecutor, and judge,” they also lacked impartiality. The fact that deportation 
hearing officers were under the immediate supervision of an INS district di-
rector provided an incentive for the officers to tailor their decisions to meet 
their supervisor’s expectations and focus on enforcement of the law. Hearing 
officers were poorly paid and recruited through promotion within the INS. 
In 1952, there were 119 full-time hearing officers, 74 of whom were former 
immigration inspectors, 21 of whom had law degrees, 32 of whom had col-
lege degrees, and 60  percent of whom had no college education or legal 
training.87 The attorney general’s approval of a deportation hearing deci-
sion and his deportation order were final. The McCarran-Walter Act ex-
empted consular officials’ decisions and deportation hearings from the 
APA, but later in Shaughnessy v. Pedreiro (1955), the Supreme Court held the 
act did not exempt the attorney general’s orders from conformity to and 
review under the APA.88

The threat of deportation affected not just foreign noncitizens within the 
United States but also naturalized immigrants who faced the threat of denat-
uralization. Once stripped of their citizenship, these foreigners could also 
be subject to deportation. By 1950, the Justice Department had included de-
naturalization drives with its deportation drives, announcing it had planned 
to deport 3,000 foreigners due to their affiliations and to denaturalize 1,000.89 
In 1953, the Justice Department announced it would deport 12,000 and de-
naturalize 10,000.90

The actual numbers of foreigners deported and those denaturalized were 
far lower than these declarations. Between 1950 and 1956, 788 foreigners were 
ideologically excluded from the United States, but only 231 foreigners were 
deported on ideological grounds, 26 were denaturalized, and 91 were denied 
naturalization for lack of attachment to the principles of the Constitution due 
to their beliefs or associations with subversive organizations.91 Yet, while 
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many foreigners were not deported or denaturalized, it was the threat and 
the fear of deportation and denaturalization and the potential detention 
pending deportation that took their toll physically and psychologically on 
foreign-born residents. Fear, intimidation, and inhibition served as the most 
significant tools of McCarthyism and McCarranism.

ACPFB staff members also became targets of the Justice Department, in-
cluding efforts to denaturalize with the intent to deport. An emigrant from 
Russia, Rose Chernin became a citizen in 1928. She was active in the Inter-
national Labor Defense in the early 1930s. In 1934, she joined the Commu-
nist Party and was arrested under California’s Criminal Syndicalism law. In 
1951, Chernin, who was also the founder and executive director of the Los 
Angeles chapter of the ACPFB, was indicted and later convicted under the 
Smith Act.92

In 1952, the Justice Department initiated proceedings to revoke Chernin’s 
citizenship in order to deport her once she had served her sentence under the 
Smith Act.93 In order to denaturalize an individual, the Justice Department 
had to present evidence of a concealment of material fact or willful misrepre
sentation during the naturalization process. In these cases, naturalized for-
eigners were accused of failing to disclose membership in certain subversive 
or Communist organizations during the naturalization process, which thus 
invalidated their citizenship. The Justice Department was unsuccessful in its 
efforts to denaturalize Chernin, but did succeed in curtailing her work for the 
ACPFB while she fought to protect her citizenship.94

The McCarran-Walter Act added a new ground for revocation of citizen-
ship: refusal to testify as a witness in a congressional committee concerning 
his or her subversive activities or for being convicted of contempt of Congress 
for such a refusal within ten years of naturalization.95 American-born citi-
zens could refuse to testify under the Fifth Amendment’s privilege against 
self-incrimination and face a year in jail for contempt. But, if foreign-born citi-
zens refused to testify, they could be stripped of citizenship and face subse-
quent deportation.

Refusing to testify before a congressional committee could also lead to de-
portation. Cedric Belfrage, a British journalist and co-founder of the inde
pendent, left-wing journal the National Guardian, had resided in the United 
States for twenty-seven years. In 1953, Belfrage refused to answer questions 
regarding his activities and affiliations when he was called to testify before 
HUAC. Edward J. Shaughnessy, the district director of Immigration in New 
York, immediately issued a warrant to deport Belfrage, who was sent to Ellis 
Island. In 1954, the BIA affirmed Belfrage’s deportation order for his alleged 
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prior membership in the Communist Party in 1937.96 In 1955, Belfrage was 
forced to leave the United States and return to England.97

Two years later, Belfrage published an account of his detention and depor-
tation in The Frightened Giant: My Unfinished Affair with America. He concluded 
with his press statement upon his departure in 1955. “I leave with a clear con-
science and a heart less heavy than it might have been, since I know two 
things as definitely as I ever knew anything,” he wrote. “The Walter-McCarran 
Act under which I am being deported is as unconstitutional as a counterfeit 
dollar, as Harry Truman said in stronger terms when he vetoed it; and that 
the people will eventually repeal it just as they ash-canned the Alien and Se-
dition laws 150 years ago.”98

By 1954, 340 foreign-born noncitizens had been arrested for deporta-
tion.99 The deportees included men and women, mostly over the age of fifty, 
many who had lived in the United States for decades and had American-
born spouses and children. Those who faced deportation included Russian-
born Alexander Bittelman, aged sixty-one, who had resided in the United 
States for thirty-nine years, Italian-born Francesco Costa, aged eighty-
three, who had been a resident for fifty years, and Ukrainian-born Rose 
Nelson, aged fifty, who had been a resident for forty years.100 Russian 
Polish-born Benny Saltzman, aged fifty-six, who had resided for thirty-eight 
years, worked as a house painter in the Bronx in New York City. He was or-
dered deported for his past membership in the Communist Party in 1936. 
“This is the home, the land that I love. Everything is here,” he said. Saltzman’s 
American-born son had been killed fighting in World War II and was buried 
in the United States.101

While these foreigners were ordered deported, many never left the United 
States. In fact, Saltzman remained in the Bronx, unable to be deported because 
no country would accept him.102 The Soviet Union had closed its borders after 
briefly reopening them in the 1930s, so many deportees who had emigrated 
from Russia remained unless another country agreed to accept them. In 1952, 
a Finnish journalist with Canadian citizenship named Knut Heikkinen was 
ordered deported for past membership in the Communist Party, but Canada 
sought to denaturalize him and Finland had yet to agree to accept him. He 
was arrested and convicted in 1953 for failing to apply for travel documents 
to self-deport.103 The Supreme Court later overturned his conviction.104 Even 
if deportees’ countries of origin were willing to accept them, some faced 
persecution upon arrival. In 1952, Korean journalist Sang Rhup Park was 
ordered deported for alleged membership in the Communist Party. A critic 
of South Korean President Syngman Rhee, Park argued he would suffer 
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physical persecution if deported to South Korea. A federal judge enjoined 
the Justice Department from deporting him.105

Initially, foreigners who were ordered deported from the United States 
were either detained on Ellis Island on the East Coast or Terminal Island on 
the West Coast after Angel Island closed in 1940. The ACPFB struggled to get 
detainees released on bail. The McCarran-Walter Act included a provision al-
lowing the attorney general, at his discretion, to deny bail and keep the de-
portee in custody.106

Under the act, if the deportee posted bail, or after six months of deten-
tion pending deportation, he or she would be placed on supervisory parole. 
This conditional release required the deportee to remain within a fifty-mile 
radius, report periodically to an immigration officer, submit to psychiatric 
and medical examinations, terminate any membership or affiliation with 
Communist or subversive organizations proscribed by the attorney general, 
and give information, under oath, on his or her friends, habits, associations, 
and activities. If the deportee failed to comply with any of these conditions, 
he or she faced a $1,000 fine and / or one year in jail.107 While the deportee 
was no longer detained on Ellis Island or Terminal Island, the supervisory pa-
role requirements exploited the deportee’s desire to avoid or escape deten-
tion, and these requirements effectively turned him or her into an informer 
for the Justice Department.

While orchestrating the ACPFB’s legal challenges to the McCarran Act 
and McCarran-Walter Act, Carol King traveled across the United States, 
working to prevent denaturalizations, deportations, and detentions. Over 
two decades representing deportees, King had focused her efforts on deten-
tion and bail, especially when she could not prevent deportation. King con-
tinued to argue against prolonged detention and pushed for deportees’ re-
lease on bail.108

In her last case, King represented John Zydok, a Russian immigrant, who 
had been a member of the Communist Party when he was arrested for de-
portation in 1949 and released on $2,000 bail. In 1950, Zydok was rearrested 
and ordered deported under the McCarran Act.109 This time, the attorney gen-
eral did not release Zydok on bail, and he was detained for five months. King 
filed a writ of habeas corpus and argued that the denial of bail was arbitrary and 
capricious and that the attorney general was abusing his discretion in de-
taining Zydok, as well as violating the APA, Zydok’s Fifth Amendment right 
to due process, and his Eighth Amendment right against cruel and unusual 
punishment.110 King could find no one willing to argue on Zydok’s behalf on 
his appeal in federal court. So, on November 26, 1951, after thirty years of 
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practicing law as the leading immigration attorney in the United States, King 
argued her first case before the Supreme Court.111 Two months later, King died 
of cancer at the age of fifty-six.

Fighting McCarranism while under Attack

As foreign visitors and long-time residents found themselves facing ideolog-
ical exclusion or deportation, denaturalization, and detention, familiar 
organizations came to their aid. The American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU) 
handled visa denials, in addition to challenging the constitutionality of pros-
ecutions under the Smith Act and the McCarran Act. Unfortunately, there was 
little the ACLU could do beyond contacting the State Department and directly 
appealing to consular officials and the secretary of state to issue a visa and 
admit the foreigner to the United States.112 While the ACLU participated in 
efforts to challenge deportation and detention, it was the ACPFB that took the 
lead in these cases. While the ACLU and ACPFB defended foreign-born non-
citizens against McCarranism, they found that they also had to defend them-
selves. Unlike the ACLU, the ACPFB never purged Communists from the 
organization. The purge had split and damaged the ACLU, but the purge, as 
well as a close relationship between its legal director, Morris Ernst, and J. Edgar 
Hoover, had successfully prevented the ACLU from being labeled a 
Communist-front and had saved it from demise. The ACPFB would not be 
so lucky.

After the 1940 resolution and purge, the ACLU’s anti-Communist leader-
ship remained in place for the next fifteen years. While it would challenge 
some aspects of the anti-Communist fervor during McCarthyism, including 
loyalty oaths, blacklisting, visa denials, and Smith Act prosecutions, it was 
cautious. During these years, the ACLU would often submit amicus curiae briefs 
during the appeals in constitutional challenges in lieu of direct representa
tion, and it was reluctant to work too closely with groups that the Justice De-
partment had designated as Communist-fronts. One ACLU staff member 
expressed reluctance working with a Midwest branch of the ACPFB on an ex-
clusion case. He remarked, “It looks like a possible civil liberties case, but I 
am not enthused with the prospect of playing footsie with these people.”113 
By 1955, the leadership had departed, the tide of McCarthyism had turned, 
and the ACLU began to openly and vigorously challenge anti-Communist 
measures and free speech suppression.114

In 1951, philosopher and civil libertarian Corliss Lamont founded the 
Emergency Civil Liberties Committee (ECLC), a legal organization focused 
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primarily on defending those prosecuted under the McCarran Act. Lamont 
had grown increasingly disappointed and frustrated with the ACLU since the 
1940 resolution and especially with its cautious approach toward challenging 
McCarranism and McCarthyism. The State Department not only sought to 
prevent Communists from entering the United States, but also American 
Communists from leaving it. It withheld or revoked passports from anyone 
it had “reason to believe” was a member of a Communist organization, anyone 
whose “conduct abroad is likely to be contrary to the best interest of the 
United States,” or anyone who would “engage in activities which will advance 
the Communist movement.”115 The ECLC became the main organization rep-
resenting Americans whose passports were withheld by the State Depart-
ment. ECLC clients included the actor, singer, and activist Paul Robeson and 
the artist Rockwell Kent. The ECLC’s legal challenges to the withholding of 
passports, however, also turned the ECLC into a target, and it soon had to start 
handling its own passport cases, when the State Department revoked 
Lamont’s passport.116

From the first deportation drive in 1946, the ACPFB did not hesitate in 
bringing legal challenges on behalf of the deportees, arguing for release and 
reasonable bail, appealing deportation orders, and calling for an end to su-
pervisory parole. Abner Green worked tirelessly to raise funds to support 
legal counsel for deportees and to publicize their accounts in calling for re-
form, support, and protest. A prolific writer, Green continued to produce the 
ACPFB newsletter, the Lamp, and pamphlets comparing anti-Communist ef-
forts to the Alien Friends Act and Sedition Act, the Palmer Raids, and the 
Doak deportation drives, while publicizing deportees’ accounts and pro-
viding legal analysis of the McCarran-Walter Act’s provisions.117

When the anti-Communism of the late 1930s returned in the late 1940s, 
so did accusations that the ACPFB was a Communist-front organization. The 
ACPFB continuously and consistently denied it was a Communist-front, 
publicly and privately, before Congress and the courts. Anti-Communist 
members and those who feared blacklists and guilt by association dealt a 
significant blow to ACPFB sponsorship when many of them resigned or 
denied their sponsorship in an effort to disassociate themselves from a per-
ceived Communist organization.

ACPFB sponsorship began to drop, and Green received dozens of letters 
asking him to cancel the sender’s sponsorship, or to remove the sender from 
any record of him or her as a contributor or from ACPFB letterhead or 
sponsorship lists.118 Green received one such letter from actor Edward  G. 
Robinson, who had publicly supported the ACPFB during World War II and 
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assisted in its fundraising efforts. In 1950, Robinson was called to testify 
before HUAC and presented with evidence of his alleged affiliations with 
Communist organizations, including the ACPFB. Seeking to clear his name 
and avoid being blacklisted because of such affiliations, Robinson wrote to 
Green requesting that he “immediately discontinue the usage of [his] name in 
connection with your association” or in connection with any of the ACPFB’s 
activities and to remove his name from any ACPFB mailing lists.119

“Should Miss Liberty Be deported?” A pamphlet produced and distributed by the 
American Committee for Protection of Foreign Born in 1950, describing the Statue 

of Liberty as a “foreigner,” born in France, who immigrated to the United States  
and represents “ideas of freedom and equality” threatened by the Justice 

Department’s deportation drives. It discusses Peter Harisiades’s case and asks  
for contributions to “fight against the deportation hysteria and to provide  

defense and assistance to those non-citizens who are under attack.”
New York Public Library, http://digitalcollections​.nypl​.org​/items​/3b3f91f0​-d5f4​-0134​-b40b​

-00505686a51c.

http://digitalcollections.nypl.org/items/3b3f91f0-d5f4-0134-b40b-00505686a51c
http://digitalcollections.nypl.org/items/3b3f91f0-d5f4-0134-b40b-00505686a51c
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While some wrote to Green to cancel their sponsorship, others wrote to 
Green to inquire whether the ACPFB was indeed a Communist-front. They 
cited the ACPFB’s almost exclusive representation of Communists and former 
Communists in its legal challenges. Green responded that the ACPFB’s defense 
of the foreign-born remained the same, but the Justice Department’s “attitude 
toward citizens and non-citizens” had changed. The Justice Department, and 
not the ACPFB, had made the choice to focus its attention on Communists.120 
Green categorically denied that the ACPFB was a Communist-front. “We 
never inquire into the political beliefs of those non-citizens who apply to us 
for assistance,” he wrote. “In deportation and naturalization the most 
important principle question is whether non-citizens who are members of 
or former members of the Communist Party can become citizens of the 
United States. Our organization maintains that political beliefs cannot 
serve as the basis for the denial of citizenship of the United States. At the 
same time, we find that many who are not members of the Communist 
Party face serious difficulties in naturalization because of their progressive 
or labor activities.”121

During the 1950s, Abner Green and the ACPFB became targets of the 
attorney general and the Subversive Activities Control Board (SACB). After 
twenty years of defending foreigners from governmental suppression, the 
ACPFB now had to defend itself. When Green was called before the SACB, 
he refused to “name names” and provide information about ACPFB spon-
sorship. Green served six months in prison for contempt after again re-
fusing to disclose the names of ACPFB sponsors and contributors to a New 
York grand jury.122 In 1953, the attorney general petitioned the SACB to 
order the ACPFB to register as a Communist-front organization.123 Pro-
testing and refusing to register, Green appealed the SACB’s order following 
a hearing in 1955.124

The most damage to the ACPFB came from the New York State attorney 
general. Designating the ACPFB as a charitable organization, it ordered 
Green to turn over the committee’s records, sponsorship lists, and activi-
ties under the New York Social Welfare Law.125 Green was not giving up or 
giving in, and he refused to disclose the lists. He denied that the ACPFB was 
a charitable organization and identified it as a political one, which was thus 
not subject to the Social Welfare Law. The attorney general then enjoined 
the ACPFB from soliciting funds pending Green’s appeal of the charitable 
organization designation.126 By 1958, the ACPFB was hobbled, unable to 
fund legal challenges to deportations and denaturalizations in the courts.127 
The indefatigable Green persisted in his battle against the designations and 
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to prevent disclosure of ACPFB sponsorship lists until his death from a 
brain tumor in 1959.

Ira Gollobin would continue his fight. Gollobin was a lawyer who had 
joined the ACPFB in 1936 and, with King, represented foreigners facing de-
portation. He became the ACPFB’s general counsel after King’s death and 
not only challenged ideological deportations, but also the ACPFB’s designa-
tion as a Communist-front and registration with the SACB. Litigation 
lasted until the mid-1970s.128 As the Supreme Court would eventually de-
clare guilt by association and registration with the SACB unconstitutional, 
the SACB vacated the order for the ACPFB to register as a Communist-
front.129 Through the late 1960s and early 1970s, the ACPFB shifted its 
focus from deportation to assisting refugees to the United States and 
helping immigrants from Mexico, Haiti, and Latin America.130 In 1982, the 
ACPFB agreed to be absorbed by the ECLC as part of a special immigrant 
rights division of the legal organization dedicated to working on foreign-
born issues and visa denials.131

A Conflicted Supreme Court

In a series of decisions in the early 1950s, the majority of the Supreme Court 
consistently upheld the constitutionality of ideological restrictions under the 
plenary power doctrine. Yet, some members expressed their growing concern 
over judicial deference under the doctrine, as well as the insulation of ideo-
logical exclusion and deportation from substantive review and due process 
protections, the use of confidential evidence by the attorney general, and his 
ultimate discretion to detain, deport, and exclude based on such evidence in 
the name of national security.

In United States ex rel. Knauff v. Shaughnessy (1950), a 4–3 decision (Justices 
Tom C. Clark and William O. Douglas did not take part in the decision), the 
Supreme Court upheld the attorney general’s discretion to exclude Ellen 
Knauff, the German wife of an American citizen, based on confidential evi-
dence that her entry would be “prejudicial to the interests of the United 
States.”132 Writing for the majority, Justice Sherman Minton cited the plenary 
power doctrine and its legal precedent, characterizing the admission of for-
eigners to the United States as “a privilege granted by the sovereign United 
States Government.”133 Affirming the constitutionality of the attorney gen-
eral’s use of confidential evidence and his discretion to determine whom to 
exclude, Minton described this authority as “final and conclusive.”134 “It is not 
within the province of any court, unless expressly authorized by law, to 
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review the determination of the political branch of the Government to ex-
clude a given alien,” he wrote.135 Minton also declared “any procedure au-
thorized by Congress for the exclusion of aliens is due process,” and thus, 
foreigners facing exclusion were not entitled to a fair hearing or constitu-
tional protections.136

In his dissenting opinion, Justice Robert Jackson expressed his apprehen-
sion and discomfort with the attorney general’s use of confidential evidence 
to bar Knauff’s entry to the United States. “Security is like liberty, in that many 
are the crimes committed in its name,” Jackson warned. “The plea that evi-
dence of guilt must be secret is abhorrent to free men, because it provides a 
cloak for the malevolent, the misinformed, the meddlesome, and the corrupt 
to play the role of informer undetected and uncorrected.”137 Jackson upheld 
Congress’s plenary power to exclude, but he expressed concern over the lack 
of due process for Knauff. “I do not question the constitutional power of Con-
gress to authorize immigration authorities to turn back from our gates any 
alien or class of aliens,” he wrote. “But I do not find that Congress has autho-
rized an abrupt and brutal exclusion of the wife of an American citizen 
without a hearing.”138

ACPFB client Peter Harisiades, the Greek immigrant who had been ar-
rested under the Smith Act during the 1946 deportation drive, had already 
voluntarily left the United States. Fearing persecution if deported to Greece, 
Harisiades was granted asylum in Poland and left the United States in 1952, 
just when his test case finally came before the Supreme Court.139

In Harisiades v. Shaughnessy (1952), a 6–2 decision (Justice Clark recused 
himself), the Supreme Court affirmed the order to deport Harisiades. Writing 
for the majority, Justice Jackson deferred to the legislative and executive 
branches and their authority to determine whom to deport under the plenary 
power doctrine.140 “That aliens remain vulnerable to expulsion after long res-
idence is a practice that bristles with severities. But it is a weapon of defense 
and reprisal confirmed by international law as a power inherent in every sov-
ereign state. Such is the traditional power of the Nation over the alien, and 
we leave the law on the subject as we find it.”141

Jackson acknowledged calls for judicial intervention in deportation cases. 
“There is no denying that, as world convulsions have driven us toward a closed 
society, the expulsion power has been exercised with increasing severity, 
manifest in multiplication of grounds for deportation, in expanding the sub-
ject classes from illegal entrants to legal residents, and in greatly lengthening 
the period of residence after which one may be expelled,” he wrote. “This is 
said to have reached a point where it is the duty of this Court to call a halt 
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upon the political branches of the Government.”142 Yet, Jackson refused to call 
a halt, insisting “nothing in the structure of our Government or the text of 
our Constitution would warrant judicial review by standards which would 
require us to equate our political judgment with that of Congress.”143

Addressing Congress’s judgment, Jackson wrote, “Congress received evi-
dence that the Communist movement here has been heavily laden with aliens, 
and that Soviet control of the American Communist Party has been largely 
through alien Communists. It would be easy for those of us who do not have 
security responsibility to say that those who do are taking Communism too 
seriously, and overestimating its danger.”144 Congress had not only refused 
to repeal the Smith Act, but had passed even stricter provisions in the Mc-
Carran Act. Jackson cited Dennis v. United States (1951) upholding the Smith 
Act’s provisions as not violating the First Amendment. He insisted only 
Congress, and not the courts, could change the law. “We, in our private 
opinions, need not concur in Congress’s policies to hold its enactments con-
stitutional. Judicially, we must tolerate what personally we may regard as a 
legislative mistake.”145

Carol King’s last case was decided by the Supreme Court in Carlson v. Landon 
(1952). In a 5–4 decision, the Supreme Court upheld the attorney general’s 
discretionary authority to refuse bail to those foreign noncitizens who were 
detained pending deportation.146 Writing for the majority, Justice Stanley 
Reed reaffirmed the attorney general’s authority under the plenary power 
doctrine and also described foreign noncitizens as subject to deportation at 
Congress’s discretion. “When legally admitted, [foreigners] have come at the 
Nation’s invitation, as visitors or permanent residents, to share with us the 
opportunities and satisfactions of our land,” he wrote. “So long, however, 
as aliens fail to obtain and maintain citizenship by naturalization, they re-
main subject to the plenary power of Congress to expel them under the 
sovereign right to determine what noncitizens shall be permitted to re-
main within our borders.”147

“Detention is necessarily a part of this deportation procedure,” Reed 
wrote. “Otherwise, aliens arrested for deportation would have opportunities 
to hurt the United States during the pendency of deportation proceedings.”148 
Since some foreigners would pose such a threat to the United States, Congress 
placed the discretion to grant or deny bail in the hands of the attorney gen-
eral.149 As the purpose of the McCarran Act was “to deport all alien Commu-
nists as a menace to the security of the United States,” he held that “the dis-
cretion as to bail in the Attorney General was certainly broad enough to 
justify his detention to all these parties without bail as a menace to the public 
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interest.”150 Reed concluded that the “refusal of bail in these cases is not arbi-
trary or capricious, or an abuse of power” and that “there is no denial of the 
due process of the Fifth Amendment under circumstances where there is rea-
sonable apprehension of hurt from aliens charged with a philosophy of vio
lence against this Government.”151

In Shaughnessy v. Mezei (1953), a 5–4 decision, the Supreme Court af-
firmed the denial of reentry to the United States to a foreign noncitizen 
under the attorney general’s discretionary authority.152 Hungarian immi-
grant Ignatz Mezei had lived in the United States for twenty-five years. 
After leaving the United States to visit his family, he was subsequently de-
nied reentry. The attorney general ordered Mezei’s “temporary exclusion to 
be made permanent without a hearing before a board of special inquiry” on 
the basis of “confidential” evidence, which he refused to disclose because it 
“would be prejudicial to the public interest.”153 All other countries, in-
cluding Hungary, refused to admit him, so Mezei was left stranded on Ellis 
Island for nearly two years, unable to leave, while also prevented from en-
tering the United States.

Writing for the majority, Justice Clark upheld Mezei’s denial of reentry and 
the attorney general’s discretion under the plenary power doctrine. Clark ac-
knowledged that if Mezei was being deported, he was entitled to a hearing, 
but he insisted that Mezei was not being deported; rather, he was being excluded 
from the United States. Congress did not provide for a hearing in exclusion 
cases; exclusion was left to the discretion of the attorney general. “That ex-
clusion by the United States plus other nations’ inhospitality results in pre
sent hardship cannot be ignored,” Clark wrote. “Whatever our individual es-
timate of that policy and the fears on which it rests, respondent’s right to 
enter the United States depends on the congressional will, and courts cannot 
substitute their judgment for the legislative mandate.”154

Justice Jackson wrote a scathing dissenting opinion. “It is inconceivable 
to me that this measure of simple justice and fair dealing would menace 
the security of this country. No one can make me believe that we are that 
far gone.”155 Referring to the use of confidential evidence, Jackson added, 
“This man, who seems to have led a life of unrelieved insignificance, must 
have been astonished to find himself suddenly putting the Government of 
the United States in such fear that it was afraid to tell him why it was afraid 
of him.”156

Jackson acknowledged that the law placed “more restrictions on the alien 
than on the citizen,” but he insisted that the “basic fairness in hearing proce-
dures does not vary with the status of the accused. If they would be unfair to 
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citizens, we cannot defend the fairness of them when applied to the more 
helpless and handicapped alien.”157 Jackson also expressed his concern over 
the use of national security and fear of Communism as means to justify any 
ends. “I have not been one to discount the Communist evil,” he wrote. “But 
my apprehensions about the security of our form of government are about 
equally aroused by those who refuse to recognize the dangers of Commu-
nism and those who will not see danger in anything else.”158

Rolling back McCarranism

By the end of 1954, Senator McCarthy had been publicly discredited and cen-
sured by the Senate, and Senator McCarran had died. Under Chief Justice Earl 
Warren, the Supreme Court began to roll back anti-Communist restrictions 
under McCarranism and help bring an end to McCarthyism. The court also 
focused its attention on ideological deportation, as well as detention. It clari-
fied previous decisions and definitions of “membership” and provided 
more procedural steps for the government and more safeguards for for-
eigners within the United States.

While it did not overturn Carlson v. Landon, the Supreme Court curbed 
the use of supervisory parole of deportees as informers under the con-
ditions of their parole. In United States v. Witkovich (1957), a 6–2 decision 
(Justice Charles Whittaker did not take part in the decision), the court held 
that immigration officials could no longer inquire as to the deportees’ ac-
tivities, associations, and habits. Writing for the majority, Justice Felix Frank
furter rejected the government’s contention that “the eloquent breadth” of 
the supervisory parole clause in the McCarran-Walter Act granted the at-
torney general unlimited, absolute discretion in information inquiries from 
parolees.159 “Congress did not authorize that official to elicit information 
that could not serve as a basis for confining an alien’s activities,” he wrote. 
“In providing for the release of aliens convicted of willful failure to depart, 
[Congress] specifically requires courts to inquire into both the effect of the 
alien’s release upon national security and the likelihood of his continued 
undesirable conduct.”160 Thus, immigration officials were allowed to gather 
only information relevant to the deportee’s parole, including whereabouts 
for the purposes of supervision and security, and the location to effect 
eventual deportation.161

Also in 1957, the Supreme Court dismissed a deportation order for former 
membership in the Communist Party. Charles Rowoldt, a German citizen, 
had joined the Communist Party in 1935 during the Great Depression.162 
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Rowoldt had joined the party, not because he did not like living under a 
democracy, but instead, because of widespread unemployment. “We had to 
fight for something to eat and clothes and shelter,” he stated. “We were not 
thinking then—anyways the fellows around me—of overthrowing any-
thing. We wanted something to eat, and something to crawl into.”163 Row-
oldt said that the few Communist meetings he attended in 1935 did not 
discuss overthrowing the government. “All they talked about was fighting 
for the daily needs. That is why we never thought much of joining those par-
ties in those days.”164

In Rowoldt v. Perfetto (1957), a 5–4 decision, the Supreme Court dismissed 
Rowoldt’s deportation under the McCarran Act. Writing for the majority 
again, Justice Frankfurter distinguished this case from Galvan v. Press (1952), 
where he had upheld the deportation of Juan Galvan, a Mexican citizen and 
former member of the Communist Party, under the McCarran Act. Frank
furter had argued that, while Galvan had not advocated the violent over-
throw of government, he was “aware that he was joining an organization 
known as the Communist Party which operates as a distinct and active po
litical organization,” and that this awareness when joining was sufficient 
grounds for deportation.165 In this case, Frankfurter held that Rowoldt’s mem-
bership in the Communist Party was devoid of any “political implications.” 
Rowoldt’s description of the motivation for his membership lacked a “mean-
ingful association” with the Communist Party, which Frankfurter declared 
was required in order to deport.166

This new “meaningful association” requirement was reminiscent of 
Louis F. Post’s interpretation of membership during the deportations delirium 
in 1920, which he had used to prevent deportations. This requirement 
now provided a significant hurdle to ordering ideological deportations for 
brief memberships in the Communist Party and Communist-front organ
izations, which had served as the basis for deportation orders throughout 
the past decade.

The Supreme Court further clarified “meaningful association” in Gastelum-
Quinones v. Kennedy (1963). Writing for the majority, in a 5–4 decision, Justice 
Arthur Goldberg dismissed Jose Maria Gastelum-Quinones’s deportation 
order for lack of a “meaningful association” with the Communist Party. Evi-
dence of dues payments and meeting attendance was insufficient.167

Goldberg required the government to prove that the foreigner had a mean-
ingful association with the Communist Party “either directly, by showing 
that he was, during the time of his membership, sensible to the Party’s na-
ture as a political organization, or indirectly, by showing that he engaged in 
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Party activities to a degree substantially supporting an inference of his aware-
ness of the Party’s political aspect.”168 Goldberg concluded by stating, “De-
portation is a drastic sanction, one which can destroy lives and disrupt fami-
lies,” and “the ultimate burden [of proof] in deportation cases such as this is 
on the Government,” not on the foreigner.169

Gastelum-Quinones v. Kennedy would mark the beginning of the end to the 
Justice Department’s fifteen-year crusade to deport foreigners for past mem-
bership in the Communist Party or Communist-front organizations. In 
1954, sixty-one were deported; then the number dropped to thirty in 1955, 
to seven in 1959, and to four in 1960.170 This judicial curb on ideological de-
portation also coincided with the Supreme Court beginning to strike down 
restrictions on fundamental rights including travel, advocacy, and associa-
tion, and its establishment of more speech-protective legal standards for 
expression.

In Yates v. United States (1957), the Supreme Court declared the conviction 
of a group of Communist Party members under the Smith Act unconstitu-
tional under the First Amendment. Overturning Dennis v. United States, the 
court held that merely advocating or teaching Communism was protected 
speech under the First Amendment and could not be restricted.171 The ECLC 
celebrated a victory in Kent v. Dulles (1958), when the court declared refusing 
to issue US passports based on alleged beliefs or past or present Communist 
Party membership violated American citizens’ fundamental right to travel 
under the Fifth Amendment.172 During the 1960s, the court continued to chip 
away at the suppression of Communist speech and free expression and as-
sociation. The court struck down loyalty oaths,173 and in Albertson v. Subver-
sive Activities Control Board (1965), it held that the McCarran Act’s registration 
requirement was a violation of the Fifth Amendment’s privilege against 
self-incrimination.174

In Lamont v. Postmaster General (1965), the Supreme Court expanded its in-
terpretation of First Amendment protections to include the right to receive 
information and ideas when it struck down a restriction on the delivery of 
Communist material and propaganda through the mail.175 In Red Lion Broad-
casting Co. v. FCC (1969), the court included the public’s right to hear as well as 
to speak.176 The court also extended First Amendment protections to Amer-
ican public schools, holding that neither “students [nor] teachers shed their 
constitutional rights to freedom of expression or speech at the schoolhouse 
gate.”177 American universities had been targets of McCarthyism. Profes-
sors faced anti-Communist investigations, firings, and blacklists.178 The 
court now characterized academic freedom as a special concern of the 
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First Amendment. “The vigilant protection of constitutional freedoms is 
nowhere more vital than in the community of American schools.”179 It de-
clared that “the nation’s future depends upon leaders trained through wide 
exposure to that robust exchange of ideas.”180

The Supreme Court also finally severed belief and advocacy from calls to 
action and actual threats of violence and provided First Amendment protec-
tion to radical expression and association. In Brandenburg v. Ohio (1969), the 
court returned to the syndicalism acts passed to crush the Industrial Workers 
of the World and used to suppress Communist speech and association. The 
court struck down an Ohio syndicalism statute’s advocacy and association 
provisions as unconstitutional under the First Amendment. It explicitly over-
turned Whitney v. California (1927) and established a speech-protective advo-
cacy test. Combining Justice Oliver Wendell Holmes Jr.’s “clear and present 
danger” test and Judge Learned Hand’s “direct incitement” test, the court is-
sued its new test to determine whether advocacy was protected. The govern-
ment could no longer restrict mere advocacy, but only speech “directed to in-
citing and producing imminent lawless action and is likely to incite or 
produce such action.”181

Within a decade, the Supreme Court had provided speech and association 
protections and created significant burdens of proof for the government to 
meet in order to ideologically deport. Yet, the court had not included ideo-
logical exclusion in this period of revision and reform. Visa denials under the 
McCarran-Walter Act continued. In the 1960s, a new president and his ad-
ministration sought to end ideological exclusion with the promise of trans-
forming the United States from a closed society into an open one. The ves-
tiges of McCarranism stood in his way.

Attempting to Open a Closed Society

“I’m fed up with the image we have as a police state. I keep seeing reports 
about excluding visitors because of their political views. We act like a closed 
society,” remarked President John F. Kennedy to Abba Schwartz in 1962.182 
The president had just appointed Schwartz, a liberal Washington lawyer spe-
cializing in refugee policy and law, to become the new head of the Bureau of 
Security and Consular Affairs, created by the McCarran-Walter Act to issue 
passports and visas within the State Department. Kennedy was an outspoken 
critic of the McCarran-Walter Act and had opposed its passage, and while in 
the Senate, he wrote A Nation of Immigrants, celebrating immigrants’ contri-
bution to the United States.183 As president, Kennedy advocated for the elim-
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ination of national origins quotas, an increase in refugee admissions, and an 
easing of the foreign relations tensions and national embarrassment due to 
ideological exclusions.184

After World War II, Congress passed legislation addressing admission of 
refugees, including the Displaced Persons Act of 1948 and the Refugee Relief 
Act of 1953. The provisions within these acts were narrow, including spe-
cific countries and numerical quotas, and they focused on admitting those 
who had faced persecution under the Nazis and those fleeing Communism. 
Communists were excluded from entry under these acts, as well as under 
the McCarran-Walter Act, and refugees were required to undergo screenings 
and evaluations to ensure they posed no threat to the United States, in-
cluding an ideological threat. Passed during the Cold War, these acts sought 
to project to the world, and to the Soviet Union, an American identity as an 
anti-Communist nation and a refuge to those seeking freedom.185

Kennedy had fought for admission of refugees while in the Senate, and 
now as president, he focused his efforts not just on admission, but on passing 
refugee policy and legislation to address resettlement and asylum in order to 
provide assistance to these newcomers once they arrived in the United States 
and to set them on the path to becoming American citizens who would con-
tribute to American society. Kennedy also pushed to broaden refugee legis-
lation to reflect not just an anti-Communist nation to the world, but also an 
open society.186

One of his first acts as president was to establish the Cuban Refugee 
Program in 1961. It provided additional funds to support resettlement for 
refugees who fled Cuba, including employment opportunities and health 
services. The Migration and Refugee Assistance Act of 1962 provided 
funds for the president to administer to support refugees for the “essen-
tials of life” and included resettlement and asylum protection for those 
fearing persecution if they returned. The act did not define refugees as spe-
cifically those who fled Communist countries, but rather included all those 
who, “because of persecution or fear of persecution on account of race, 
religion, or political opinion, fled from a nation or area in the Western 
Hemisphere.”187

In his book The Open Society, Schwartz wrote that the President had not 
just focused on refugees but had also directed Schwartz to eliminate visa 
restrictions and denials to foreign visitors with unorthodox political 
views. Kennedy, like Truman, considered ideological exclusion a form of 
“thought control.”188 According to Schwartz, Kennedy believed that such 
visits could be mutually beneficial. “It was all the more important, he said, for 
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the anti-American foreigner, whether he be a scientist, writer, lecturer, edu-
cator, artist or politician ‘to exchange ideas and information with our public 
and to be exposed to our free society.’ ”189

Yet, bureaucrats in the State Department did not share Kennedy’s perspec-
tive or embrace his impetus for change. According to Schwartz, those of-
fices still contained anti-Communist senior officers who were appointed to 
satisfy and appease McCarthy or who had close connections with conserva-
tives in Congress.190 He also described the fear that had pervaded the State 
Department since the beginning of the Cold War, which he called its “repres-
sive McCarthy hangover.”191 Firings and investigations of alleged Commu-
nists had plagued the department and created an atmosphere in which bu-
reaucrats overcompensated in demonstrating their anti-Communism by 
denying passports and refusing to grant visas.192

The McCarran Act had helped turn the visa office into a gatekeeper re-
sponsible for keeping the United States safe from foreign Communists. This 
security function within the visa office led to “security neuroses” and to the 
automatic refusal of visas to most of the applicants who fell under ideolog-
ical exclusion provisions because of past membership, without considering 
any other factors or the purpose of their visit.193 HUAC and the Senate Internal 
Security Subcommittee (SISS) also took a special interest in visa denials, and 
to some bureaucrats, granting a visa to a foreigner was not worth having to 
endure testifying and being questioned before Congress and potentially losing 
their jobs.194 Schwartz’s observations were consistent with Edward Shils’s cri-
tiques in the Bulletin of the Atomic Scientists in 1952.

Schwartz decided to use his power and discretion under the law to pre-
vent ideological exclusion and visa denials. The McCarran-Walter Act in-
cluded a waiver provision, enabling a foreigner to obtain a visa despite inad-
missibility, if admission was in the national interest and if it would not pose 
a threat to national security. The foreign visitor could request and receive a 
waiver for temporary admission to the United States, with a recommenda-
tion from the secretary of state and approval from the attorney general.195 
Schwartz and Attorney General Robert F. Kennedy worked together to rec-
ommend and grant waivers. Cultural exchange agreements made during the 
Eisenhower administration ensured that visas from the Eastern Bloc were 
typically not a problem.196 Trouble arose with those from other countries and 
critics of US foreign policy.

Just before Schwartz’s appointment, the State Department had refused to 
issue a visa to Mexican novelist and essayist Carlos Fuentes to come to the 
United States to participate in a televised debate on the Alliance for Progress 
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program in Latin America.197 It claimed that Fuentes was ineligible to receive 
a visa “on security grounds”; because he might be a Communist, it would 
not “be in the national interest” to allow him to visit the United States.198 
Schwartz believed the real reason for the denial was that the State Depart-
ment feared Fuentes would publicly criticize the Alliance for Progress pro-
gram and embarrass the American government during his visit.199 Scholars 
and writers denounced his exclusion and rebuked the State Department. 
They warned that barring Fuentes would damage the nation’s reputation 
among intellectuals abroad and would serve only to undermine the Alliance 
for Progress program.200 Schwartz recalled a professor of Latin American 
history in the United States who wrote to the State Department, “If this is 
the sanctimonious pomposity which guides the Department of State, I fully 
understand why the crowds of Lima and Caracas spat on our Vice-President 
and why Fidel Castro has remained in power so long. I think the facts of the 
matter indicate that the granting of a visa to Mr. Carlos Fuentes IS decidedly 
in the national interest. No reply required.”201

In 1964, Fuentes applied for another visa to visit the United States.202 
Fuentes was still deemed inadmissible under the McCarran-Walter Act, but 
now Schwartz was in the administration. He recommended a waiver, Ken-
nedy granted it, and Fuentes was admitted.203

Schwartz was then called to testify before HUAC and SISS regarding his 
recommendation of waivers to foreigners deemed inadmissible under the ide-
ological exclusion provisions of the McCarran-Walter Act. He would now 
join Louis F. Post and Frances Perkins on the list of public officials who had 
to defend their exercise of discretion in refusing to deport or to exclude for-
eigners based on their beliefs, associations, or expressions before Congress. 
Schwartz speculated that HUAC took a special interest in visas not only 
because its members wanted to continue the State Department policies of the 
1950s, but also because they were anxious about their role and were trying 
to stay relevant amidst the end of McCarthyism.204

Like Perkins, Schwartz also found himself the target of a conservative, 
anti-Communist congressman’s critique and calls for termination from his 
position. Congressman Michael A. Feighan (D-OH) had succeeded Francis 
Walter as chairman of the House Subcommittee on Immigration. Feighan had 
been an outspoken critic of Kennedy’s and Schwartz’s efforts. According to 
Schwartz, in 1964, Feighan was livid when Schwartz refused to revoke a visa 
granted to British actor Richard Burton on grounds that, if admitted to the 
United States, Burton would “imperil the morals of American youth.” Feighan 
later wrote to President Lyndon Johnson and asked him to fire Schwartz for 
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committing perjury in testimony before his subcommittee or for “gross and 
inexcusable incompetence in discharge of his official responsibilities.”205

In 1966, Schwartz learned that the Johnson administration had devel-
oped a reorganization plan that included abolishing the Bureau of Security 
and Consular Affairs, and thus would eliminate Schwartz’s position in the 
State Department.206 While the administration stated that cutting the Bu-
reau was a cost-saving measure made for budgetary reasons, Schwartz spec-
ulated that, given the timing of the approval of the plan, the bureau’s elimi-
nation was due to a deal struck between Johnson and Feighan for votes in 
the House and Senate to ensure the successful passage of the Hart-Celler Act 
of 1965, which eliminated the discriminatory national origins quotas passed 
in the Johnson-Reed Act of 1924.207 Rather than wait for Congress to pass 
the reorganization plan and lose his job, Schwartz resigned. The plan was 
never passed.208

The Cold War revived and continued the anti-Communist repression of the 
late 1930s, as the United States presented an anti-Communist identity to the 
world through its domestic and international policies and its use of ideolog-
ical exclusion and deportation to suppress dissent and prevent Communist 
subversion within the country. Public officials used old laws such as the Smith 
Act and new ones such as the McCarran Act of 1950 and McCarran-Walter 
Act of 1952 to criminalize Communist expression and establish guilt by as-
sociation. The detention, denaturalization, and deportation of foreign-born 
residents and visa denials to foreign visitors under these laws did not result 
in large numbers of expulsions or exclusions, but they did serve to intimidate 
and strike fear in foreigners, who were under the threat of being barred or 
ejected from the United States, and many Americans shared their fear, as well 
as their humiliation.

The McCarran-Walter Act granted the attorney general, as well as im-
migration and consular officials, tremendous discretion to exclude or de-
port, which renewed perpetual questions and criticism about ultimate dis-
cretion and authority to admit, bar, or expel held by the executive branch 
and resulted in congressional interrogations of those who used their discre-
tion and authority to refuse to deport or exclude. The motivations behind 
and implementations of ideological restrictions faced increased scrutiny 
by the public as well. Some argued these restrictions did not protect the 
United States from subversion but rather were a form of subversion them-
selves, undermining the nation’s values and identity as a free democracy, 
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damaging its reputation abroad, and inhibiting free exchange, inquiry, and 
scientific progress at home.

By the late 1960s, the United States was still entrenched in the Cold War, 
and it was continuing its efforts to fight Communism abroad. While anti-
Communism persisted in American culture, government, and foreign rela-
tions, McCarthyism had not returned. While Abba Schwartz had worked to 
reduce visa denials to foreign visitors in his determination to fulfill President 
Kennedy’s vision of an open society, ideological exclusion did not end, and 
the law did not change. The Hart-Celler Act had abolished the discriminatory 
national origins quotas, but it had also left the McCarran-Walter Act’s ideo-
logical restrictions intact.

The Supreme Court provided more protections against ideological depor-
tation and denaturalization and abuse of power in detention, but it had also 
upheld the constitutionality of ideological exclusion and deportation under 
the plenary power doctrine. Now, the court found itself at a crossroads. For 
the first time, free speech standards and First Amendment legal precedent 
would protect the expression and associations that had served as the basis 
for ideological exclusion and deportation under federal immigration restric-
tions. In United States ex rel. Turner v. Williams (1904), Chief Justice Melville Fuller 
had referred to Congress’s determination that anarchist speech presented a 
“bad tendency” and upheld John Turner’s exclusion under the Alien Immi-
gration Act of 1903. In Harisiades v. Shaughnessy (1952), Justice Jackson la-
mented upholding Harisiades’s deportation, because Congress and the court 
had determined Communism posed a grave danger and threat to national se-
curity. The Warren Court had replaced bad tendency with the speech-
protective incitement test, and the restrictions on Communist expression and 
association had been held unconstitutional. When faced with a new consti-
tutional challenge to ideological exclusion, would the court choose to apply 
First Amendment standards, or would it continue to interpret ideological ex-
clusion as an immigration issue and insulate it from substantive judicial re-
view under the plenary power doctrine?

In 1968, Richard M. Nixon was elected president of the United States. A 
month after his inauguration in 1969, Carlos Fuentes was en route to Mexico 
on a passenger ship, when he was denied permission to land in Puerto Rico, 
because he was deemed “undesirable” by the Justice Department and exclud-
able under the McCarran-Walter Act.209 An editorial in the New York Times 
denounced his exclusion: “One sure way to tarnish the United States is for 
some bureaucrat to decide that a writer, painter or other artists is an ‘unde-
sirable alien’ because of his work or beliefs. Politicizing literature is a common 
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practice for authoritarian governments; it should not become one for this 
country.”210

Three years after his resignation from the Johnson administration, Abba 
Schwartz reflected on his public service and his push to help create an open 
society. Commenting on Fuentes’s exclusion by the Nixon administration, he 
hoped it was “an isolated instance” and not a return to the restrictive policies 
of the 1950s.211 Schwartz’s hopes would soon be dashed.
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I N SEPTEMBER  1969, a forty-six-year-old Belgian Marxist economist named 
Ernest Mandel applied for a visa to visit the United States. Students at Stan-
ford University had invited Mandel to attend a conference on “Technology 
and the Third World” in October and to participate in a debate with renowned 
Canadian-born Keynesian economist and Harvard University Professor John 
Kenneth Galbraith. While Mandel awaited his visa, other colleges and uni-
versities invited him to speak on their campuses, including Amherst College, 
Princeton University, Columbia University, the New School for Social Re-
search, and the Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Mandel accepted 
these invitations. Yet, Mandel would never receive a visa to attend the Stan-
ford conference and debate Galbraith, or to speak at those universities and 
colleges. Under the Nixon administration, Mandel was ideologically excluded 
and barred from entry to the United States.

The presidency of Richard M. Nixon, who rose to prominence in the Mc-
Carthy era, marked the return of McCarranism and the use of ideological ex-
clusion to suppress the threat of dissent. The motivations behind the Nixon 
administration’s decisions and use of ultimate discretion to exclude or deport, 
including in the case of Ernest Mandel, were political and self-interested. 
These exclusions and deportations were part of the Nixon administration’s 
abuse of power and use of retaliation to stifle critics, punish perceived ene-
mies, win supporters, and secure Nixon’s reelection in 1972.

The return of McCarranism under the Nixon administration did not go 
unnoticed. It revived past arguments against ideological exclusion as a form 
of censorship, infringing on First Amendment rights, undermining values of 
free speech and democracy, and depicting the United States as a fearful, 
insecure nation. The Supreme Court once again confronted the question of 
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whether to evaluate the constitutionality of explicit ideological restrictions 
under immigration or First Amendment legal precedent. While Mandel was 
not the only one who faced exclusion under the Nixon administration, his 
case resulted in the most important and influential legal strategies and con-
stitutional challenges to ideological exclusion in the United States.

Ernest Mandel

Ernest Ezra Mandel was born in Frankfurt, Germany, in 1923 and raised in 
an educated, secular Jewish family in Antwerp, Belgium. As a teenager, Mandel 
joined Antwerp’s branch of the Trotskyist Revolutionary Socialist Party and 
then the Belgian resistance movement in World War II. During the German 
occupation, Mandel was arrested for distributing anti-Fascist, anti-capitalist 
leaflets to German soldiers in 1944. Deported to Germany, Mandel passed 
through “half a dozen prison and work camps” before being liberated by the 
Americans in 1945. As a “resistance fighter, a Jew and a Trotskyist, despised 
by Stalinist fellow prisoners,” Mandel believed that luck played a role in his 
survival, but he credited his ability to communicate and talk politics with his 
German guards, in addition to other prisoners, as the key to his self-
preservation.1 These experiences convinced Mandel of the power of free ex-
change and to become an ardent internationalist.2

In the 1950s and 1960s, Mandel was a leader in the Trotskyist Fourth In-
ternational. He was a passionate lecturer and a prolific writer, publishing 
dozens of articles on Marxism and economics and editing the Belgian So-
cialist newspaper La Gauche (the Left). Mandel wrote Marxist Economic Theory, 
published in French in 1962 and in English in 1968. The two-volume book 
described and promoted the theory and received international attention 
and praise.3

In the late 1960s, Mandel served as a generational bridge between mem-
bers of the Old and New Left, encouraging antiwar activists to unite with 
workers in a common cause for reform and revolution. In support of the 
May 1968 protests in France, Mandel participated in demonstrations and 
spoke to students and to protest leader Daniel Cohn-Bendit. Like Cohn-
Bendit, Mandel was expelled and barred from France because of his involve-
ment in the protests.4

Mandel traveled to the United States twice in the 1960s, first in March 1962, 
under a “working journalist” visa, and again in September 1968, with his 
wife Gisela, under a “tourist” visa.5 During his 1968 visit, Mandel delivered 
lectures at over a dozen universities and colleges. At the International As-
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sembly of Revolutionary Student Movements, sponsored by the Columbia 
University Students for a Democratic Society (SDS), Mandel addressed 600 
people. In his lecture, “The Revolutionary Student Movement: Theory and 
Practice,” Mandel urged students to broaden their protests beyond their 
campuses by including working-class demands and to ground their ac-
tivism in Marxism.6

During both visits, Mandel was able to enter and leave the United States 
freely (albeit under surveillance), and, while there was some press coverage 
of his lectures, there was no protest, violent riot, or campus unrest in re-
sponse to his remarks. So Mandel was shocked when his visa application 
was denied in September 1969. Mandel soon learned that he had become 
ensnared in the ideological exclusion provisions of the McCarran-Walter 
Act. Mandel was ineligible to receive a visa under two provisions within 
Section 212(a)(28) of the McCarran-Walter Act: (1) foreigners who “advo-
cate the economic, international, and governmental doctrines of world 
communism”; and (2) foreigners who “write or publish . . . ​the economic, 
international, and governmental doctrines of world communism.”7 Unbe-
knownst to Mandel, the visas he had received in 1962 and 1968 were ob-
tained under waivers of inadmissibility for temporary admission. He had 
received these waivers with a recommendation from the secretary of state 
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and the approval from the attorney general, which was at his discretion.8 
This time, in 1969, the new Nixon administration had refused to grant a 
waiver and had excluded Mandel.

“The Pragmatist”

During his campaign, Nixon pledged to bring an honorable end to the 
Vietnam War and “law and order” to the United States.9 Nixon had attempted 
to appeal to all Americans, including those who opposed the Vietnam War. 
Yet, almost a year into his presidency, Nixon dismissed these vocal critics 
and protesters in the streets and on college campuses as a minority, and he 
now claimed to represent the “Silent Majority,” whom he called upon to 
support him.10

Nixon chose his close friend and campaign manager, John N. Mitchell, as 
his attorney general. Mitchell, a fifty-six-year-old New York municipal bonds 
lawyer, took a tough stance against student protesters, as well as leftist organ
izations and their leaders.11 Mitchell would soon come to embody Nixon’s 
“law and order” campaign promise, which he immediately sought to fulfill.12

Mitchell had little patience or sympathy for the student protesters and an-
tiwar demonstrators on and off college campuses and called for their arrest. 
The Black Panthers, the Weathermen, and members of the New Left disgusted 
Mitchell. He authorized surveillance of these groups and pushed for the use 
of warrantless wiretaps in the interest of “national security” and to thwart 
“domestic subversion.”13 While his predecessor, Ramsey Clark, had chosen 
not to file charges against the leaders of the protests outside the Democratic 
National Convention in 1968, Mitchell worked with US attorneys in Chicago 
to prosecute eight men for conspiracy and incitement to riot, including Stu-
dents for a Democratic Society (SDS) leader Tom Hayden, Black Panther 
Bobby Seale, and Abbie Hoffman and Jerry Rubin, founders of the Youth In-
ternational Party (known as the “Yippies”).14 The “Chicago Eight” were in-
dicted by a federal grand jury on March 20, 1969. Mitchell personally an-
nounced their indictment.15

In December  1969, a few weeks after the massive antiwar Vietnam 
Moratorium demonstrations, Newsweek published a short profile of Mitchell 
entitled “The Pragmatist.” It described Mitchell as the “chief architect of 
Richard Nixon’s victory” and the one cabinet member who had Nixon’s “ear 
and confidence.” The profile mentioned Mitchell’s reverence for “the virtues 
of pragmatism.” When describing his Justice Department, he advised, 
“Watch what we do instead of what we say.”16
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Pointing to his delays on desegregating schools in Mississippi and his 
tough stance on antiwar demonstrators, Mitchell’s critics viewed his Justice 
Department as “tinged with more politics than pragmatism.” Recounting a 
television interview with Mitchell’s wife, Martha, in which she stated that her 
husband would like to take “some of the liberals in this country and change 
them for the Russian Communists,” Newsweek quoted Mitchell’s amendment: 
“Transpose the word ‘liberal’ into ‘violence-prone militant radicals.’ I would 
be delighted to change them for some of the academically inclined Marxist 
Communists.” Noting Mitchell’s recent visa denial to Belgian Marxist econo-
mist Ernest Mandel, Newsweek added, “But as the Attorney General urges, 
Mitchell’s actions bear more watching than his words.”17

Under the McCarran-Walter Act, neither the secretary of state nor the at-
torney general was required to disclose the reason behind refusing to rec-
ommend a waiver or refusing to grant one. Mandel’s Immigration and Natu-
ralization Service (INS) file, obtained under the Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA), includes statements from State and Justice Department officials pro-
viding the reasons for Mandel’s receipt of waivers in 1962 and 1968. In an 
internal report on Mandel in 1962, the US embassy in Brussels described 
Mandel’s reputation in Belgium as a “left-wing anti-communist Socialist 
who is hated and feared by Belgian communists.” It also noted that many 
pro-American Socialists in the government were associated with La Gauche 
and many prominent intellectuals and politicians had made “positive state-
ments” regarding Mandel.

The report urged an immediate waiver for Mandel, asserting that the “de-
nial of visa would result in most adverse public relations and would severely 
damage U.S. prestige in socialist and intellectual circles in Belgium and West 
Europe in general.” In granting the waiver, the Justice Department added, “It 
is clearly in the U.S. interest to avoid the unfortunate publicity that would 
be caused by a denial of the waiver.”18 In 1968, Mandel received a waiver for 
the same reasons.19 Yet, in 1969, Attorney General Mitchell and the Justice 
Department apparently did not share these concerns over adverse public re-
lations and tarnishing America’s prestige.

In communication with Alta Fowler, the administrator of the Bureau of 
Security and Consular Affairs in Brussels, Mandel claimed that he was un-
aware that he had previously obtained visas in 1962 and 1968 through the 
McCarran-Walter Act’s waiver provision.20 During his 1968 visit, Mandel had 
attended and spoken at a cocktail party, where the hosts had raised funds for 
the legal defense of participants in the May 1968 student protests in France. 
Mandel insisted he was not directly involved in the fundraising.21 According 
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to Fowler, upon receiving a waiver, a foreign visitor received a conditional visa, 
which required the visitor to adhere to special restrictions on travel activi-
ties while in the United States. Mandel had violated these restrictions by 
deviating from his itinerary and engaging in activities beyond the stated 
purpose of his trip. Therefore, Secretary of State William  P. Rogers had 
recommended that Mandel not receive a waiver of inadmissibility.22

Mandel attempted to assuage the State Department’s concerns.23 He ex-
plained that since he did not know that he had received his previous visas 
through the waiver provision, he was also unaware of the special restrictions 
on his activities during his visit to the United States. While Mandel wrote, 
“Personally, I believe that such promises are inappropriate and contrary to 
the elementary principles of liberty,” he promised Fowler that if he received 
a visa, he would disclose his full itinerary to the State Department and would 
not to stray from it.24

In light of this new information, the State Department changed its mind. 
“In view of [Mandel’s assurances that he will now follow the waiver require-
ments] in the interest of free expression of opinion and exchange of ideas, 
we recommended a waiver for Mr. Mandel.”25 The attorney general would 
now have to grant the waiver for Mandel to obtain a visa. While in most cases 
granting a waiver upon the secretary of state’s recommendation was pro 
forma, it was not in this case. Mitchell refused to grant the waiver. A few weeks 
later, Mitchell appeared in a television interview. When asked if he had dis-
cussed the Mandel case with Rogers, Mitchell snapped, “Hell no!”26

Leaks to the press attributed to sources within the State Department de-
scribed a rift between Mitchell and Rogers over the Mandel case.27 Rogers and 
Under Secretary of State Elliot Richardson had sent a recommendation to the 
Justice Department to grant a waiver, which, they argued, was “in the national 
interest.”28 After Mitchell rejected their recommendation, these State Depart-
ment sources added, “It was clear in advance that the Attorney General did 
not share their opinion on how the visa-granting power should be used.”29

The State Department publicly announced Mitchell’s final decision to deny 
the waiver for Mandel, while the Justice Department refused to comment. The 
New York Times reported that in announcing Mitchell’s decision, the State De-
partment “took the unusual step of disassociating the Secretary of State 
from it, stating that the department had recommended that Dr. Mandel be 
allowed to make his scheduled visit.”30 There was no attempt to “paper over 
the differences among two Cabinet members, as is usually done once a de-
cision is made final.”31 One State Department staffer commented, “It’s not 
up to us to take the blame for their argument.”32 In the Newsweek profile of 
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Mitchell, another State Department staffer recalled that when discussing 
Mandel’s exclusion, Rogers had asked, “Why should we be afraid of this man 
and his ideas?”33

While initially refusing to comment, the Justice Department would not 
stay silent forever. When asked about Mandel a few days after the State De-
partment’s announcement, Mitchell replied, “I don’t think we need to import 
any more trouble than we have.” Citing Mandel’s exclusion from France, 
Mitchell described him as having “quite a track record in this country,” and 
went on to state that it “would be most appropriate that [Mandel] remain in 
Belgium and not return to this country to carry out some of the activities he 
did on his previous trips.”34

INS Associate Commissioner James F. Greene answered most of the in-
quiries regarding the reasons for Mandel’s exclusion on behalf of the Justice 
Department. Greene insisted that Mandel’s straying from his itinerary during 
his 1968 visit when he attended the cocktail party fundraiser justified his ex-
clusion and represented “a flagrant abuse of the opportunities afforded him 
to express his views in this country.” Greene claimed that Mandel had 
“sought to obtain money for the assistance of those involved in the student-
labor riots in France during the Spring of 1968, responsibility for inciting 
which lies heavily on him, and for which he has been barred from readmis-
sion by that country.” While Mandel was an academic and had presented 
his ideas, Greene wrote, “He spent as much or more of his time in covert 
association with individuals and organizations dedicated to the promo-
tion of violence and the systematic undermining of our social and political 
systems.”35

Greene insisted that Mandel’s exclusion was not a form of censorship and 
a threat to free expression and that the Justice Department had denied only 
two waivers out of “over a thousand such requests involving the same or sim-
ilar grounds of inadmissibility” since January  1969.36 “The mere recital of 
these figures serves to rebut any charge that we seek to erect a barrier against 
the free interchange of ideas and the advocacy, within proper bounds and by 
proper means, of social, economic, and political philosophies which vary 
from our own and which are repugnant to the vast majority of our people.”37

Greene’s responses were not only defensive, but also disingenuous. Mandel 
was excluded, not because he had strayed from his itinerary in 1968, but 
because of his beliefs and associations and a fear of what he might say and to 
whom on college campuses. Mitchell did not want to “import any more 
trouble than we have,” and Greene’s emphasis on Mandel’s alleged “covert” 
activities and incitement of protests in France revealed a deep concern over 
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Mandel’s return. The Justice Department did indeed “seek to erect a barrier 
against the free interchange of ideas” between Mandel and students and pro-
fessors in the United States. And this barrier was part of the Nixon adminis-
tration’s efforts to suppress dissent on and off college campuses.

“Silly, Stupid, Irrational and also Grievously Bad Politics”

Critics of the Nixon administration’s use of the McCarran-Walter Act to ex-
clude Mandel compared it to McCarthyism in the 1950s and a sign of a re-
turn of McCarranism. They reiterated previous arguments that ideological 
exclusion was censorship, and it reflected a nation that lacked confidence 
in its people and undermined its ideals. The attorney general’s refusal to 
admit Mandel was an abuse of governmental power that threatened aca-
demic inquiry and exchange and would damage the international reputation 
and credibility of the United States.

The American professors who had invited Mandel to speak at their insti-
tutions and participate in conferences were outraged by his exclusion, but 
they were determined to hear Mandel. The Stanford students who had orga
nized the conference on “Technology and the Third World” did not cancel the 
event. Instead, they arranged for Mandel to tape-record the lecture and mail 
it to them. In lieu of a debate, Mandel responded to Galbraith via a trans-
Atlantic telephone call; the call lasted thirty minutes and cost $100.38

Before he rebutted Mandel’s argument that “Western capitalism was re-
sponsible for the undeveloped state of most nations of the Southern Hemi
sphere,”39 Galbraith addressed Mandel’s exclusion: “It seems to me that the 
failure to give Ernest Mandel a visa is silly, stupid, irrational and also griev-
ously bad politics. It angers everyone involved. It angers the Belgians. It an-
gers the Americans and so far as I can see doesn’t please anybody.”40 Galbraith 
urged the audience to write to the State Department condemning this “stupid 
action.”41 A letter to the New York Times, signed by Noam Chomsky, Arno 
Mayer, Richard Poirier, S. E. Luria, Richard Falk, Susan Sontag, Robert Paul 
Wolff, and Robert Heilbroner, characterized Mandel’s exclusion as an “egre-
gious violation of academic freedom.” As Galbraith had instructed his audi-
ence, the letter signers encouraged readers to write to the State Department 
to protest Mandel’s visa denial.42

By then, the State Department had recommended a waiver for Mandel and 
the Justice Department had refused to grant the waiver. Academics then 
shifted their protests and petitions from the secretary of state to the attorney 
general. In a letter addressed to Mitchell, Princeton University President 
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Robert F. Goheen wrote to express his “distress” over Mitchell’s decision to 
exclude Mandel.43 Identifying Princeton as one of the universities that had in-
vited Mandel to speak on its campus, Goheen argued that excluding him 
would do “grave injury to the very idea of the free society which we prize.”44 
He contended that allowing Mandel to come and speak was in “keeping with 
the tradition of open inquiry and free expression which has long been a key-
stone of the intellectual life of the Western world, as well as a basic tenet of 
our nation.”45

Alan Simpson, the president of Vassar College, also wrote a letter to 
Mitchell protesting Mandel’s exclusion. He argued that Mitchell’s action 
“strikes at the heart of the freedom of an academic institution to provide an 
open forum for the free interplay of ideas.” Simpson characterized Mitchell’s 
use of power and discretion as “inappropriate” and an echo of the McCarthy 
era. Simpson wrote that this old approach would “not only discredit our po
litical system but will very likely increase the alienation so many of our col-
lege students and faculty already feel toward their government.”46

Professors, students, teaching fellows, administrative staff, and employees 
from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Boston University, and Har-
vard University signed a petition protesting Mandel’s exclusion.47 They 
called on Mitchell to permit Mandel to enter the country to speak at a con-
ference scheduled for December 4, 1969.48 There were 210 signatures.

While many American academics focused their protests against Mandel’s 
exclusion as a violation of academic freedom and free exchange and expres-
sion, some also voiced concern about the damage it would do to the nation’s 
reputation by depicting the United States as a fearful, insecure nation. In a 
long letter to Mitchell, Yale University President Kingman Brewster Jr. urged 
Mitchell to reconsider his decision. He argued that when “the nation’s senior 
legal officer shows a fear of freedom, I fear for the freedom of the nation. 
When the freedom at issue is freedom of thoughtful expression, my concern 
is especially deep.” Brewster insisted that only when Mandel is permitted to 
enter the United States “will the credibility of our government’s willing-
ness to take the risk of freedom of thought and expression be restored among 
the international community of scholars, on the nation’s campuses, and to the 
citizens of the United States.”49

Norman Birnbaum, a professor of sociology who had invited Mandel to 
speak at Amherst College, wrote to Mitchell describing his exclusion of 
Mandel as another step in his “campaign against dissent in America” and a 
reflection of “a mentality more appropriate to a police state than to Amer-
ican democracy.” Birnbaum suggested that Mitchell would have much in 
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common with his counterparts in the Soviet Union, where “politicians are 
free of the tiresome burdens of criticism from either an opposition party, 
from universities, or from press or television.”50

The New York Times characterized Mandel’s exclusion as an “idiotic deci-
sion” that undermined the “credibility of the United States as the defender of 
freedom of speech and ideas” and proved that “the bad old days of censor-
ship by visa are not yet over.” It described the “empty chair” at the Stanford 
conference as an “embarrassment suffered by this country as a result of this 
triumph of police over diplomacy, of fear over freedom and of ideological ri-
gidity over democratic common sense.”51 In “McCarranism Revisited,” the 
editors argued that Mitchell had ignored “the damage thus inflicted on the 
image of America as the defender of freedom of ideas.”52 The Chicago Daily 
News described Mitchell’s refusal to grant a waiver as a “fearful policy” and 
rebuked the Justice Department for trying to “fight the war of ideas with de-
nial and repression.”53 It insisted that the country would only lose in that 
kind of fight, which would depict the United States as weak and fearful, as 
opposed to a confident and free nation. “America and Americans, we be-
lieve, are secure and strong enough, and correct enough in their ideals, to 
withstand an ideological onslaught from any quarter. Mitchell evidently 
thinks otherwise.”54

While almost all national newspapers supported Mandel’s entry to the 
United States, one exception was the Chicago Daily Tribune. It described Mandel 
as a dangerous radical who was responsible for the May 1968 protests in 
France and who would encourage revolt and bring revolution to college cam-
puses if allowed entry. It rebuked the State Department for recommending a 
waiver, while it praised Mitchell’s refusal and his exclusion of Mandel.55

The press coverage of Mandel’s exclusion captured the public’s attention, 
and many concerned citizens wrote to their representatives. In a letter to Con-
gressman Howard  W. Robison (R-NY), William Faris wrote that while he 
was sure that he would disagree with Mandel’s point of view, “many Ameri-
cans, myself included, feel that we should never be prevented from hearing 
and discussing with advocates of various positions, even if they are for-
eigners.”56 Faris asked, “Is it now Justice Department policy that there are 
points of view that it is afraid to let us hear?”57

In a telephone interview, Mandel expressed his surprise “at the great in-
terest this visa issue has aroused since I am not at all an international celeb-
rity.” He added, “It shows that public opinion in the United States is very much 
alive to the dangers that threaten our basic freedom.”58
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On November 29, the Socialist Scholars Conference held in New York 
played a tape-recorded lecture entitled “Revolutionary Strategy in the Impe-
rialist Countries,” which Mandel had intended to deliver in person. Mandel 
stated that his visa denial “demonstrates a lack of confidence on the part of 
the Nixon administration in the capacity of its supporters to combat Marxism 
on the battleground of ideas.”59 He assured the audience that he would not 
have brought “high explosives” into the United States, “but only, as I did be-
fore, my revolutionary views which are well known to the public.”60 Mandel 
asked why the Nixon administration was so afraid of him and his ideas when 
his books are freely sold in America. “In the nineteenth century the British 
ruling class, which was sure of itself, permitted Karl Marx to live as an exile 
in England for almost forty years,” Mandel explained. “Times have certainly 
changed when the most powerful of capitalist governments today refuses a 
brief visit to an exponent of his doctrines!”61

Leonard Boudin

Leonard Boudin, the general counsel for the Emergency Civil Liberties Com-
mittee (ECLC), now called the National Emergency Civil Liberties Committee 
(NECLC),62 agreed to represent Mandel and challenge his ideological exclu-
sion in court.63 One of the nation’s most prominent civil liberties attorneys, 
the fifty-seven-year-old Boudin had worked tirelessly to challenge the con-
stitutionality of McCarranism in the 1950s and 1960s.64

Boudin’s triumphs in the Supreme Court included Kent v. Dulles (1958), 
which established the right to travel as a fundamental liberty held by Amer-
ican citizens and declared the refusal to issue US passports to US citizens 
based on their past or present membership in the Communist Party or al-
leged Communistic beliefs or associations was unconstitutional.65 Boudin 
also won in Lamont v. Postmaster General (1965), which established the right 
to receive information under the First Amendment and struck down a pro-
vision authorizing the postmaster to detain “communist political propa-
ganda” sent through the mail.66

Boudin’s losses in the Supreme Court included Zemel v. Rusk (1965). In this 
case, the court upheld the secretary of state’s refusal to issue a passport to a 
US citizen who wanted to visit Cuba to “gather information.” Distinguishing 
the case from Kent v. Dulles, the court held that the refusal was based not on 
the passport applicant’s views or associations, but rather on foreign policy 
and national security concerns, which outweighed the right to travel.67
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By 1969, Boudin was representing critics of the Vietnam War, such as 
Dr. Benjamin Spock and civil rights activist Julian Bond, and, like William 
Kunstler, he would become an important attorney for the New Left. Boudin 
was appalled to learn of the Nixon administration’s return to McCarranism. 
In a telephone interview, Boudin called Mandel’s ideological exclusion under 
the McCarran-Walter Act as “pure cold-blooded politics” and “an affront to 
the academic community.”68 He remarked, “It has a Neanderthal quality about 
it that just isn’t 1969.”69

David Rosenberg started working for Boudin’s law firm, Boudin, Rabi-
nowitz, and Standard, as a delivery boy and then as an attorney after he 
graduated from New York University Law School in 1967. He later formed 
his own firm and then became a professor at Harvard Law School. Rosenberg 
devised the legal strategy that challenged Mandel’s exclusion under the First 
Amendment. He relied on the successful legal precedent Boudin had helped 
establish in Kent v. Dulles and Lamont v. Postmaster General, while avoiding un-
successful arguments and the precedent set in Zemel v. Rusk. He also used re-
cent Supreme Court decisions articulating the value of academic inquiry 
and freedom under the First Amendment and establishing a right to hear to 
bolster his argument that Mandel’s exclusion was unconstitutional.70

The biggest challenge was United States ex rel. Turner v. Williams (1904), which 
upheld the constitutionality of ideological exclusion under the plenary power 
doctrine and had stated that foreigners seeking entry did not hold constitu-
tional rights, including under the First Amendment. To overcome this 
obstacle, Rosenberg decided that Boudin and the NECLC would not only 
represent Mandel, the foreigner seeking entry, but also the American profes-
sors in the United States who had invited him to speak at their campuses. 
Boudin would argue that the exclusion of a foreigner invited to the United 
States was a form of censorship and that, by refusing to grant the waiver to 
Mandel, Mitchell had unconstitutionally violated Americans’ right to receive 
information and to hear under the First Amendment.71

Boudin and Rosenberg asked some of the American professors who had 
invited Mandel to come to the United States to join him in a lawsuit.72 Boudin 
also asked the NECLC to create the Ernest Mandel Legal Defense Fund to raise 
money for the case, as well as public awareness, especially on college cam-
puses.73 On March 19, 1970, Boudin filed a legal Complaint against Attorney 
General Mitchell and Secretary of State Rogers in the US District Court for 
the Eastern District of New York, challenging the constitutionality of the 
McCarran-Walter Act’s ideological restrictions and Mandel’s exclusion. In 
addition to Mandel, the “American Plaintiffs” included Norman Birnbaum 
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from Amherst College, Wassily Leontief from Harvard University, Robert 
Heilbroner from the New School for Social Research, Robert Paul Wolff from 
Columbia University, and David Mermelstein and Louis Menashe from the 
Polytechnic Institute of Brooklyn.74 A few months later, the NECLC added 
Noam Chomsky from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology and Richard 
Falk from Princeton University to this list.75

In the Complaint, Boudin argued that the ideological exclusion provisions 
unconstitutionally restricted and abridged Americans’ First Amendment 
rights. This exclusion acted as a prior restraint on their right “to exercise their 
freedom of academic inquiry by engaging Mandel in an open and face-to-face 
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exchange of information and opinions.”76 Boudin claimed that the provisions 
were void on their face and as applied to Mandel because they predicated in-
admissibility on the foreigner’s mere belief in or advocacy of unpopular po
litical viewpoints and in the absence of any evidence that the foreigner would 
engage in unlawful speech or conduct. He argued that the waiver provision 
that gave the attorney general “unbridled discretion” to exclude failed to pro-
vide any “procedural safeguards” or “adequate or ascertainable standards” 
for making the determination to grant or deny a waiver violating Americans’ 
Fifth Amendment right to due process.77

At the end of the Complaint, Boudin requested a declaratory judgment 
and a preliminary and permanent injunction to invalidate sections of the 
McCarran-Walter Act and to restrain the State Department and Justice Depart-
ment from enforcing them in Mandel’s visa application for admission to the 
United States. Boudin also requested that a three-judge panel be convened to 
review the case, as required by federal statute upon bringing a constitutional 
challenge to an act of Congress.78 The US district court granted this request, 
and a three-judge panel was designated and heard arguments in Mandel v. 
Mitchell on the afternoon of June 24, 1970.79

Shirley Graham Du Bois

The NECLC Press Release announcing the designation of the three-judge 
panel in the Mandel case had mentioned another ideological exclusion under 
the Nixon administration.80 In May 1970, news broke that the Justice Depart-
ment had refused to grant a waiver of inadmissibility to Shirley Graham Du 
Bois, the seventy-four-year-old widow of the renowned scholar and civil rights 
activist, W. E. B. Du Bois.81 Graham Du Bois was deemed inadmissible under 
the McCarran-Walter Act due to her alleged beliefs and affiliations with Com-
munist organizations.82 The Justice Department also had refused to grant a 
waiver despite the State Department’s recommendation.83 Yet, by August, the 
Justice Department would reverse its decision.

During the 1950s, W. E. B. Du Bois had become a target of McCarranism 
due to his political associations. In 1961, outraged by the Supreme Court’s 
decision to uphold the constitutionality of the McCarran Act,84 Du Bois joined 
the American Communist Party, and he and Graham Du Bois left the United 
States, moved to Accra, Ghana, and became citizens of Ghana.85 When her 
husband died in 1963, Graham Du Bois remained in Ghana until she fled 
during a coup d’etat in 1967 and moved to Cairo, Egypt.86 In February 1970, 
Graham Du Bois, a writer and political activist who championed civil rights, 



169

pan-Africanism, women’s liberation, and anticolonialism, received invita-
tions to come to the United States to speak at Fisk University and other col-
lege campuses. No longer an American citizen, Graham Du Bois obtained a 
Tanzanian passport and applied for a tourist visa, but was deemed inadmis-
sible under the McCarran-Walter Act, and the Justice Department now re-
fused to grant a waiver.87

Graham Du Bois’s exclusion was widely reported and condemned in the 
national and international press.88 Roy Wilkins, executive director of the Na-
tional Association for the Advancement of Colored People (NAACP), sent a 
telegram to Mitchell referring to his refusal to grant Graham Du Bois a 
waiver as a “monstrous error” and stating that he found it “inconceivable that 
the presence in this country of Mrs. S. G. Du Bois widow of the late W. E. B. Du 
Bois, can be regarded by sane men as a menace to the national security.”89 
Congresswoman Shirley Chisholm (D-NY) protested Graham Du Bois’s 
exclusion “in the name of all black Americans.”90 New York Assemblyman 
Charles Rangel also expressed his outrage and argued that barring Graham 
Du Bois was “part of Mr. Mitchell’s invidious campaign against black people 
in the United States—as shown by the Justice Department’s past repressive 
actions against the Black Panthers and other militant Black leaders.”91

Graham Du Bois was angry and disappointed by her visa denial and ap-
preciated the support and press coverage of her plight to enter the United 
States. She, too, viewed her exclusion as part of the Nixon administration’s 
repressive approach to activism, as well as being consistent with the McCar-
ranism that had led her and her husband to leave the United States.92

In late May, Daniel Patrick Moynihan, the counselor to the president for 
urban affairs, sent Nixon a memorandum discussing the Justice Department’s 
refusal to grant a waiver for Graham Du Bois. Nixon responded suggesting it 
might be a “good case for clemency” and to explore the possibility of letting 
Graham Du Bois in the country.93 Yet, others disagreed.

In June, INS Commissioner Raymond F. Farrell responded to Nixon’s sug-
gestion, and sent a memorandum to Egil “Bud” Krogh Jr., deputy assistant to 
the president for domestic affairs. Farrell stated that the purpose of visa re-
strictions was “to protect the national interest and the continuing good order 
and well-being of the nation.” He argued that allowing Graham Du Bois to 
enter the United States would “not be in the best interests of this country,” 
despite the State Department’s favorable recommendation on her behalf.94 
Farrell stated that Graham Du Bois “has been affiliated with over thirty 
Communist-controlled organizations,” and she had served in “leadership 
positions” in many of them. He also claimed “there was no evidence of any 
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change in her views.” Farrell explained that the Justice Department refused 
to grant a waiver because Graham Du Bois’s primary reason for visiting was 
to speak at Fisk University and at a number of college campuses and that those 
activities “did not outweigh, from a national interest view, the factors in her 
background which compelled the initial denial of the visa.”95

Three days later, Bud Krogh sent a memorandum to Kenneth R. Cole Jr., 
an assistant to John Ehrlichman, the White House counsel. Krogh reiterated 
Farrell’s justification for excluding Graham Du Bois and then added:

While much has been written on campuses that the government 
should not prevent a speaker—regardless of political views—from 
coming on to campus, I do not think we gain anything in the present 
climate by permitting Mrs.  Du Bois to come back and lecture 
throughout the country. Clemency is not an issue here; it is simply 
whether or not we are going to grant her a visa to come back and talk 
to young people who currently are star-struck by representatives of the 
Third World and the hard-core Communist revolutionaries. In addi-
tion, I don’t see what benefit we will really gain either in the academic 
community or the liberal domain at large by permitting Mrs. Du Bois 
to return. I do see a real disadvantage among our supporters—if I can 
use such a loose term—by letting such a renowned Communist back 
into our country.96

At the end of his memorandum, Krogh suggested Ehrlichman recommend 
the administration should not permit Graham Du Bois to enter the United 
States,97 which is what he did.98

Krogh’s comments revealed not only the political motivations in keeping 
Graham Du Bois out—namely, to appease Nixon’s base support, his “Silent 
Majority”—but also the calculus. The decision was not about free exchange 
of ideas or speech, but about what Nixon would lose or gain in permitting 
Graham Du Bois to enter the United States. The Nixon administration had 
readily assumed the role of a censor, making the decision based on whether 
her entry was in its best interests.

In August, the Justice Department reversed its decision to exclude Graham 
Du Bois. She now stated she wished to come to the United States to settle 
some personal business and to attend a dedication of the Black Hall of Fame 
in New York. The State Department once again recommended a waiver, and, 
in light of Graham Du Bois’s new reasons for her visit, the Justice Department 
granted the waiver.99 Apparently, as long as Graham Du Bois had no inten-
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tion of visiting American colleges and universities and speaking her mind to 
students on these campuses, she was free to return to the United States, 
temporarily.

Prior to the Justice Department’s reversal, Graham Du Bois had contacted 
Abdeen M. Jabara, a lawyer in Detroit, Michigan, to help her challenge her visa 
denial. Jabara had been hired to obtain a visa for Tariq Ali, a twenty-six-
year-old British Pakistani political activist, as well as a friend of Mandel’s and 
fellow Trotskyist.100 Ali was denied a waiver in December 1969 after appearing 
in a photograph with a burning American flag during a protest demonstra-
tion in front of the US embassy in London.101

Jabara told Graham Du Bois that her exclusion from the United States was 
“part of a developing pattern here.” He described Mandel’s waiver denial and 
Boudin’s legal challenge, which Jabara was watching very closely. Jabara ex-
plained he would adopt Boudin’s First Amendment argument to challenge 
Graham Du Bois’s ideological exclusion.102 This plan proved unnecessary 
when the Nixon administration permitted Graham Du Bois to come to the 
United States. Mandel, however, remained excluded. The fate of his entry was 
left to the US district court.

Mandel Wins in US District Court

On March 18, 1971, the three-judge panel in the US district court issued a 2–1 
opinion in favor of Mandel and the American professors. In Mandel v. Mitchell, 
Second Circuit Court of Appeals Judge Wilfred Feinberg and US District 
Court Judge John Dooling Jr. declared the ideological exclusion provisions 
within the McCarran-Walter Act to be unconstitutional, violating the First 
Amendment, and the waiver provision to be unconstitutional, violating due 
process under the Fifth Amendment.103 They ordered a preliminary injunc-
tion against enforcing the exclusion provisions against Mandel, which had 
prevented the issuance of his entry visa.104

Writing for the majority, Dooling held that Mandel’s exclusion fell under 
First Amendment law and the American professors’ right to receive infor-
mation and therefore was subject to current First Amendment standards 
and protections, including evaluation under “strict scrutiny” by the court. 
Under strict scrutiny, a restriction on fundamental rights, including those 
under the First Amendment, must be narrowly tailored to further a compel-
ling governmental interest, or it is unconstitutional. Dooling concluded that 
the ideological exclusion provisions were unconstitutionally overbroad. 
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The teaching or advocating of “world communism” was now considered 
protected expression under the First Amendment, and thus, the govern-
ment’s exclusion based on this expression could not be considered fur-
thering a compelling interest.105 Dooling also noted that “Mandel’s visit is 
in general to be limited to the academic community,” and deserved First 
Amendment protection because it “gives particularized enhancement to the 
values for the self-governing process that are jeopardized by such exclusions 
as this case presents.”106

Drawing on the past, Dooling included references to the Sedition Act of 
1798 and James Madison’s observation that “the censorial power is in the 
people over the Government, and not in the Government over the people.”107 
He argued the people were sovereign and that the attorney general’s absolute 
and unchecked discretion had turned him into a censor, exercising prior re-
straints on speech he found unacceptable for Americans’ ears. Dooling con-
cluded that Mandel’s exclusion was the kind of censorship the First Amend-
ment was designed to prevent.108

US District Court Judge John Bartels issued a dissenting opinion. He wrote 
that Mandel’s exclusion fell under immigration law and the plenary power 
doctrine. Bartels asserted that the federal government was sovereign and held 
the right to exclude was a matter of foreign policy and national security.109 
Therefore, the judiciary must defer to the legislative and executive branches 
and their determinations on whom to exclude or admit and why. The district 
court could not and should not question the McCarran-Walter Act’s exclu-
sionary provisions or the attorney general’s discretion and authority to en-
force them.110 Citing Zemel v. Rusk, Bartels concluded, “And, if the right to 
speak and publish does not carry with it the unrestrained right to gather in-
formation and ideas for American audiences, then the right to hear does not 
carry with it the unrestrained right to have foreign citizens orate those ideas 
in the United States.”111

While Boudin and the NECLC celebrated their victory, Dooling’s opinion 
and Bartels’s dissent revealed a fundamental conflict in interpreting ideolog-
ical restrictions as a question of First Amendment or immigration law, and 
national sovereignty as held by the people or by the federal government.112 
The American professors renewed their invitations to Mandel, but he re-
mained excluded from the United States. The government had appealed the 
three-judge panel decision to the US Supreme Court, which would now have 
to confront this conflict in interpretation of ideological exclusion and to de-
termine which legal precedent should apply to Mandel’s case.
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The Mandel Case at the Supreme Court

The government’s brief to the Supreme Court reiterated Judge Bartels’s argu-
ments in his dissent and his application of the plenary power doctrine, 
which as such required judicial deference to Congress and the attorney gen-
eral.113 It emphasized that the ideological exclusion provisions under the 
McCarran-Walter Act concerned the admission of foreigners and were a 
regulation of “action, not speech.” These provisions did not place restraints 
on communication with Mandel or access to his ideas or publications, but 
rather on his physical presence within the United States.114 The govern-
ment insisted that a challenge to the explicit exclusion categories within 
these provisions was a political question—one not for the courts, but for 
Congress to address.115

In their brief to the Supreme Court, Boudin and Rosenberg insisted 
Mandel’s exclusion “concerns the rights of American citizens” and “has se-
riously impaired the First Amendment right of citizens to hold academic 
discussions and to receive information. Planned meetings were disrupted 
and specific invitations or contemplated discussions were precluded.”116 
Boudin and Rosenberg also focused on the attorney general’s unlimited 
discretion to grant or deny a waiver of inadmissibility “on a case by case 
basis” under the McCarran-Walter Act. They did not challenge the consti-
tutionality of the act, but rather they argued that Congress intended for the 
waiver provision to provide temporary admission of foreigners in the 
“public interest,” which included free exchange and inquiry in the United 
States protected under the First Amendment. They insisted that Mitchell 
had abused his discretion and not proffered a “legitimate” reason “in the 
realm of national security, foreign relations or otherwise” for why he had 
denied a waiver to Mandel.117

Boudin and Rosenberg most likely shifted the emphasis of their argument 
to focus on the attorney general’s use of discretion and adopted a more 
narrow, careful approach, because they were concerned that a majority of the 
Supreme Court justices might be reluctant to follow Dooling’s lead and apply 
First Amendment law and strict scrutiny to Mandel’s exclusion. Attempting 
to align the case with Kent v. Dulles, which curbed the State Department’s un-
bridled discretion to issue or deny passports to American citizens, Boudin 
and Rosenberg provided a pathway for the court to conclude that Mandel’s 
exclusion was unconstitutional, without the justices thinking they would have 
to strike down the McCarran-Walter Act or overturn the well-established ple-
nary power doctrine and decades of legal precedent to do so.
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The Supreme Court heard oral arguments on April 18, 1972. Representing 
the government, Deputy Solicitor General Daniel Friedman noted the shift 
in emphasis in Boudin and Rosenberg’s brief focusing on the attorney gen-
eral’s discretion and his reason for denying the waiver to Mandel. He insisted 
the plenary power doctrine applied to the case, and not the First Amendment, 
and framed the constitutional question as one considering whether Ameri-
cans could force the United States to admit entry to anyone they wished. 
Friedman argued that while “the people in this country admittedly have a First 
Amendment right to listen to speaking that is going on, they do not, we think, 
have a right to overrule the settled power of the Congress and force the ad-
mission of an alien who belongs to a category that Congress has said is not 
to be admitted.”118

Boudin framed the constitutional question as one considering the First 
Amendment rights of Americans to hear and to receive information. He ar-
gued that the plenary power doctrine did not give the attorney general the 
absolute power and unlimited discretion to violate these rights. He also de-
scribed Mandel’s visit as essential to academic freedom and intellectual in-
quiry, which the court had previously held was an important First Amend-
ment value.119 At the end of his argument, Boudin distinguished this case 
from United States ex rel. Turner v. Williams by emphasizing that this case con-
cerned American litigants asserting their First Amendment rights. He de-
scribed “poor Mr. Turner” as a man who had challenged his ideological ex-
clusion by arguing that being barred violated his First Amendment rights, 
which, as a foreigner, he did not possess. “I would like to re-argue Turner 
against Williams, but it’s too late.” Boudin told the court. He then added 
sheepishly, “and if Clarence Darrow failed, I would certainly fail.”120

Just before oral arguments, attorneys Melvin Wulf and David Carliner filed 
an amicus curiae brief on behalf of the American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU) 
in support of Mandel’s entry.121 They not only insisted First Amendment law 
should apply, but also viewed the case as a chance to challenge the plenary 
power doctrine’s reliance on legal precedent upholding immigration restric-
tions such as Chinese exclusion. Wulf and Carliner suggested the Supreme 
Court reexamine “these precedential pages of history” in light of the develop-
ment of antidiscrimination laws.122 They urged the court to question the con-
tinued use of exclusions passed at the height of McCarthyism and racist legal 
relics such as the Chinese Exclusion Case. “If ‘writing upon a clean slate,’ this 
Court would strike down a statute of Congress which required the expulsion, 
for example, of all aliens who are Jews or black, or who advocate the smoking 
of tobacco or the practice of birth control,” they wrote, “there appears to be no 



175

reason not to correct a page of history which should never have been written.” 
Their brief cited Brown v. Board of Education of Topeka (1954) as an example.123

In a preliminary conference meeting of the justices, the breakdown of 
votes was 7 to 2 in favor of reversing the US district court’s decision and up-
holding Mandel’s exclusion. While Justice William O. Douglas and Justice 
William J. Brennan found Judge Dooling’s opinion persuasive, the other jus-
tices believed the court was not ‘writing on a clean slate,’ and instead was 
bound by significant legal precedent and the plenary power doctrine.124 Jus-
tice Thurgood Marshall was initially assigned to write the majority opinion, 
but, after oral arguments, he switched sides. Marshall wrote to Chief Justice 
Warren E. Burger that he could no longer write for the majority:

While I appreciate the assignment of this opinion to me and have 
worked on it almost continuously since that time, I sincerely regret that 
I find myself unable to write it. As a matter of fact, I am convinced that 
my vote was in error. You will remember that my vote was to agree 
because ‘we had come too far to turn back.’ However, my further re-
search convinces me that I am not in accord with The Chinese Exclusion 
Case and do not agree that the Constitution gave to either Congress or 
the Executive the broad power they assert. As I said before I am sorry, 
but I will have to go down as a ‘backslider.’125

The vote was now 6 to 3. Burger reassigned the majority opinion to Justice 
Harry Blackmun.126

A “Facially Legitimate and Bona Fide Reason”

Justice Blackmun did not ask any questions during oral arguments, but an ex-
amination of his notes on the case reveals some of his reservations and con-
cerns, which were later reflected in his opinion. Regarding the attorney gen-
eral’s refusal to grant the waiver, Blackmun wrote, “I may not like the rules 
but are they unconstitutional?” He did not want to challenge the plenary 
power doctrine or overturn legal precedent. “I must leave immigration and 
entry to Congress,” Blackmun added. “I do not want to reexamine old deci-
sions on absolute Congressional power.” Describing Boudin’s approach as 
“one on slippery ground,” Blackmun appeared worried that some Americans 
would have the power to “force” the entry of any foreign visitor, despite the 
government’s objections or a compelling interest. “Who could we stop?” he 
asked. “Would this mean the American Nazi party could force to invite Hitler? 
Or Chinese Americans Chairman Mao?”127
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On June 29, 1972, the Supreme Court reversed the US district court deci-
sion. In Kleindienst v. Mandel, the court upheld the constitutionality of the 
McCarran-Walter Act’s ideological exclusion provisions and Mandel’s exclu-
sion under them.128 Blackmun began his opinion with a description of the 
case and provided a brief summary of the history of Congress’s exclusion of 
foreigners since 1875, citing the exclusion of anarchists and then of Commu-
nists as a part of that history.129 Blackmun then adopted the government’s 
framing of the constitutional question as “whether the First Amendment con-
fers upon the Appellee professors, because they wish to hear, speak, and de-
bate with Mandel in person, the ability to determine that Mandel should be 
permitted to enter the country, or, in other words, to compel the Attorney 
General to allow Mandel’s admission.”130

Blackmun rejected the government’s assertion that excluding Mandel in-
volved no restriction on First Amendment rights.131 “The rights asserted here, 
in some contrast, are those of American academics who have invited Mandel 
to participate with them in colloquia, debates, and discussion in the United 
States,” he wrote. “In light of the Court’s previous decisions concerning the 
‘right to receive information,’ we cannot realistically say that the problem 
facing us disappears entirely or is nonexistent because the mode of regula-
tion bears directly on physical movement.”132 Blackmun also rejected the con-
tention that books, tapes, and “telephone hook-ups” were sufficient to convey 
Mandel’s message in lieu of his physical presence on American campuses, 
which he argued “overlooks what may be particular qualities inherent in 
sustained, face-to-face debate, discussion and questioning.”133

Blackmun then turned to Boudin’s argument. He focused on Boudin’s 
claim that the attorney general’s discretion to refuse to grant a waiver was 
unconstitutional because of its breadth and its lack of standards and proce-
dures.134 Boudin insisted that, absent a reason for the attorney general’s de-
nial of a waiver, First Amendment protections should apply and prevail. 
Blackmun rejected this argument out of concern that “either every claim 
would prevail, in which case the plenary discretionary authority Congress 
granted the Executive becomes a nullity or courts in each case would be re-
quired to weigh the strength of the audience’s interest against that of the 
Government in refusing a waiver to the particular alien applicant, according 
to some as yet undetermined standard.”135 Yet, Blackmun also rejected the 
government’s argument that Congress had delegated the decision to grant or 
deny the waiver to the attorney general, who had “sole and unfettered dis-
cretion” and did not have to provide any reason for his decision.136
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Attempting to forge a middle path between the opposing arguments, 
Blackmun concluded by issuing a narrow holding and a new legal standard. 
First, Blackmun asserted that the attorney general had “validly” exercised his 
discretion and had provided a reason for Mandel’s exclusion. “Previous abuses 
by Mandel [straying from his itinerary during his 1968 visit] made it inap-
propriate to grant a waiver again,” he wrote. Second, Blackmun held that this 
reason was not “arbitrary or capricious,” but instead, it was a “facially legiti-
mate and bona fide reason” for the attorney general to deny a waiver to Mandel, 
and, as such, sufficient to be constitutional.137

Blackmun did not define or elaborate on what constituted this reason, but 
explained that under the plenary power doctrine, if the attorney general pre-
sented such a reason, “the courts will neither look behind the exercise of that 
discretion nor test it by balancing its justification against the First Amend-
ment interests of those who seek personal communication with the appli-
cant.”138 Blackmun then carefully dodged the question of how to proceed in 
cases where no reason is given, stating, “What First Amendment or other 
grounds may be available for attacking exercise of discretion for which no jus-
tification whatsoever is advanced is a question we neither address nor decide 
in this case.”139

While Blackmun acknowledged that “First Amendment rights are impli-
cated” in this case, he insisted these rights were not “dispositive of our inquiry 
here.”140 Blackmun deferred to Congress’s plenary power to regulate for-
eigners’ entry and its delegation of enforcement, including ideological exclu-
sion provisions, to the executive branch.141 According to Blackmun, national 
sovereignty was held by the federal government, and not by the people, and 
he refused to weigh First Amendment protections against a sovereign nation’s 
right to control its borders and to self-preservation.142

Justices Douglas, Marshall, and Brennan dissented. They argued that ide-
ological exclusion was a First Amendment issue and that the Attorney Gen-
eral’s discretionary authority had to meet First Amendment legal standards. 
They rejected Blackmun’s new “facially legitimate and bona fide reason” stan-
dard, as well as his determination that Mitchell’s reason had satisfied it.

In his opinion, Douglas focused on the attorney general’s discretion and 
authority to exclude. He asked if, under this authority, “one who maintains 
that the earth is round can be excluded? That no one who believes Darwinian 
theory shall be admitted?”143 He wrote, “Congress never undertook to entrust 
the Attorney General with the discretion to pick and choose among the ide-
ological offerings which alien lecturers tender from our platforms, allowing 

THE RETURN OF McCARRANISM



THREAT OF DISSENT

178

those palatable to him and disallowing others.”144 Douglas described the dis-
cretion to deny visas to certain foreign speakers as a form of “thought con-
trol,” which turned the attorney general into “a censor.”145 Absent an actual 
threat to national security, Mandel’s exclusion was unconstitutional.

In a separate opinion, Marshall, joined by Brennan, wrote, “I, too, am 
stunned to learn that a country with our proud heritage has refused 
Dr. Mandel temporary admission. I am convinced that Americans cannot 
be denied the opportunity to hear Dr.  Mandel’s views in person because 
their Government disapproves of his ideas.” He continued, “The freedom to 
speak and the freedom to hear are inseparable; they are two sides of the 
same coin. But the coin itself is the process of thought and discussion. The 
activity of speakers becoming listeners and listeners becoming speakers in 
the vital interchange of thought is the ‘means indispensable to the discovery 
and spread of political truth.’ ”146

Marshall sarcastically dismissed the government’s use of such “milestones” 
as the legal precedent used to “exclude and expel Chinese aliens from our 
midst” but did not insist this legal precedent be overturned or reconsidered 
in order to hold Mandel’s exclusion was unconstitutional.147 As Marshall ex-
plained, the case concerned Americans’ First Amendment rights, so First 
Amendment precedent and standards should apply. “Without any claim that 
Mandel ‘live’ is an actual threat to this country, there is no difference between 
excluding Mandel because of his ideas and keeping his books out because of 
their ideas. Neither is permitted.”148

Marshall was also perplexed by Blackmun’s new “facially legitimate and 
bona fide reason” standard, which he referred to as “unusual” and as too low 
to override constitutional rights.149 Describing the court’s deference to the 
attorney general as “unprecedented,” Marshall declared, “Even the briefest 
peek behind the Attorney General’s reason for refusing a waiver in this case 
would reveal that it is a sham.”150 The government did not produce evidence 
that Mandel had knowingly or willfully departed from his itinerary, and there 
was no “factual hearing” to see if Mitchell had “any support for his determi-
nation.”151 He concluded, “Nothing is served—least of all our standing in the 
international community—by Mandel’s exclusion. In blocking his admission, 
the Government has departed from the basic traditions of our country, its 
fearless acceptance of free discussion.”152

With the creation of the “facially legitimate and bona fide reason” standard, 
Blackmun had delivered a blow to the plenary power doctrine and the at-
torney general’s ultimate discretion and the ability to use that discretion to 
make determinations to admit or exclude without disclosing the reason. 
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Albeit a low standard, it was a standard nonetheless, and future challengers 
to ideological exclusions and waiver denials would be able to hold the gov-
ernment to that standard. Yet, it was far lower than what would be applied in 
a First Amendment case.

A few months after the Supreme Court’s decision, Mandel wrote to his 
friends and supporters at the NECLC, thanking all of those instrumental in 
challenging his exclusion, including Boudin and Rosenberg, and marveling 
at the widespread support for his admission to the United States. He noted, 
“We are living in an epoch of deep social crisis, when this principle [of free 
communication of ideas and of human beings] is all too often trampled 
upon.”153 Mandel also reflected on the lessons of history. “No revolutionary 
change was ever prevented by trying to suppress free circulation of ideas,” he 
wrote. “If anything, such measures of suppression always in the end hasten 
radical social change rather than stopping it.”154

Abuse of Power

While the Supreme Court had upheld the constitutionality of Mandel’s ideo-
logical exclusion, the Nixon administration may not have been celebrating. 
The previous week, five men, with connections to Nixon’s reelection cam-
paign, were caught breaking into and attempting to wiretap the offices of 
the Democratic National Committee at the Watergate Hotel. Two days later, 
the Supreme Court struck down Mitchell’s use of warrantless wiretaps he au-
thorized in the name of “national security” as violating the Fourth Amend-
ment.155 While Nixon would win reelection in November, the public would 
soon learn of the abuse of power and illegality committed in order to make 
that possible.

One example of the Nixon administration’s abuse of power during this 
time period that is often overlooked is the Justice Department’s attempt to 
deport John Lennon from the United States. In 1968, Lennon was convicted 
of possession of cannabis resin in England. Lennon’s drug conviction could 
have led to his exclusion under a provision in the McCarran-Walter Act, but, 
in 1970, Lennon was able to successfully obtain a visa under a waiver, autho-
rized by Mitchell.156 The popular British musician and his wife and collabo-
rator, Yoko Ono, had become outspoken critics of the Vietnam War, and their 
participation in rallies, television interviews, and recording of “Give Peace a 
Chance” had attracted quite a bit of public attention.157 In February 1972, 
citing Lennon’s drug conviction, the Justice Department refused to renew 
Lennon’s visa and, once it expired, ordered him to leave the United States.158
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Although Lennon did not face deportation under an explicit or implicit 
ideological restriction, many, including Lennon, believed that his deportation 
was retaliatory. The Justice Department had used the drug conviction as a pre-
text to expel Lennon because of his beliefs and expressions.159 “The real 
reason is that I’m a peacenik,” Lennon replied, when asked why he thought 
he was being deported.160 An article entitled “American Hospitality,” pub-
lished in Newsday, noted that the United States had welcomed Lennon when 
he was a member of “The Beatles,” but it now sought to exclude him after be-
coming involved in the antiwar movement.161 In “Love It and Leave It,” the 
New York Times described the “official” reason for deporting Lennon as “sus-
picious,” arguing it was because of his “unconventional views and radical 
statements,” and recalled Charlie Chaplin’s exclusion two decades earlier.162 
The comparison was apt, as well as ironic. In April, the Nixon administra-
tion had permitted Chaplin to return to the United States to receive an hon-
orary Academy Award for lifetime achievement.163

Lennon hired New York immigration attorney Leon Wildes. Deter-
mined to keep Lennon in the United States, Wildes submitted a FOIA 
request, and subsequently filed a lawsuit to obtain documents he believed 
would reveal Mitchell’s motivations behind the deportation order. Wildes 
discovered that the INS had a scheme that prioritized deportation and de-
ferred action as part of its exercise of prosecutorial discretion. Lennon was 
not considered a high priority for deportation, but something had 
changed.164 One of the documents was a letter Senator Strom Thurmond 
(R-SC) sent to Mitchell before Mitchell resigned to manage Nixon’s reelec-
tion campaign. Thurmond noted, “Many headaches might be avoided if ap-
propriate action be taken in time,” and attached a memorandum on 
Lennon from the Senate Internal Security Subcommittee. According to a 
“confidential source,” Lennon was affiliated with a group of New Left leaders, 
who were “strong advocates of the program to ‘dump Nixon,’ ” and planned 
to hold rock concerts in primary election states to attract young voters 
and recruit them to disrupt the Republican National Convention, as the 
Democratic National Convention had been disrupted in 1968. The group 
intended to use Lennon “as a drawing card” to promote the concerts, which 
“will pour tremendous amounts of money into the coffers of the New Left.” 
The source “felt that if Lennon’s visa is terminated it would be a strategy 
counter-measure.”165

After three years of investigation and litigation, in 1975, the Second 
Circuit Court of Appeals overturned Lennon’s deportation order. It found 
that Lennon’s conviction in England for possession of cannabis resin did not 



181

render him excludable under the McCarran-Walter Act’s provisions.166 In his 
argument before the court, Wildes also revealed Thurmond’s letter and 
other documents demonstrating its influence on the decision to deport 
Lennon. Wildes remarked, “There is substantial reason to believe that offi-
cial governmental action was based principally on a desire to silence political 
opposition squarely protected by the First Amendment.”167 The court 
agreed, insisting, “The courts will not condone selective deportation based 
upon secret political grounds.”168 It signaled the protection of noncitizens 
within the United States against public officials’ application of viewpoint 
discrimination and retaliatory motivations behind their exercise of prosecu-
torial discretion to determine who to deport. The decision was a victory for 
Wildes and for Lennon, who obtained a “green card” granting him legal per-
manent residency in the United States in 1976. Wildes and Lennon had not 
only publicly revealed yet another instance of the Nixon administration’s 
abuse of power, but also the political motivations behind the Nixon admin-
istration’s use of immigration law to suppress dissent.

By 1969, many in the United States believed that the worst of the McCarthy 
era was behind them. Times had changed, legal precedent had changed, and 
the Cold War had changed. What had not changed were the ideological ex-
clusion provisions under the McCarran-Walter Act. The return of Nixon 
marked the return of McCarranism and the use of these provisions as tools 
to suppress radicalism, stifle criticism, and attempt to gain political advantage. 
The exclusion of Ernest Mandel also marked the return of familiar arguments 
against ideological exclusion and its use as a form of censorship, undermining 
American values and threatening free speech.

While the Mandel case was over, Leonard Boudin was not done with the 
Nixon administration. He defended Daniel Ellsberg against criminal charges 
for theft, conspiracy, and espionage, brought by Mitchell, for Ellsberg’s dis-
closure of the Pentagon Papers. Some of the White House advisors who 
had recommended excluding Shirley Graham Du Bois were involved in a 
covert investigative unit, which broke into Ellsberg’s psychiatrist’s office to 
gather information to discredit him and also sought to discredit Boudin.169 
The revelation of the Nixon administration’s misconduct led to a mistrial 
and the dismissal of charges against Ellsberg in 1973 and a victory for 
Boudin.170 The investigation of Nixon’s abuse of power would result in the 
end of his presidency and prison sentences for members of his administra-
tion, including Mitchell. Mandel would spend the rest of his life continuing 
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to publish, lecture, and advocate for radical and revolutionary change. In 
1994, he received a visa and spoke in the United States one last time before 
he died in 1995.171

The Mandel case revived old arguments against ideological exclusion 
under the McCarran-Walter Act and its use as a tool of political repression, 
but the legal challenge brought by Boudin and David Rosenberg was new. It 
led to a significant change to the exercise of ultimate discretion to exclude 
and a pathway to challenge ideological exclusion cases in federal court. 
Justice Blackmun’s opinion acknowledged Americans’ First Amendment 
rights in exclusion cases and his “facially legitimate and bona fide reason” 
standard placed a limit on the government’s discretionary power. Yet, his 
standard fell short of speech-protective standards and strict scrutiny applied 
in First Amendment cases and his opinion upheld the constitutionality of 
exclusion under the McCarran-Walter Act’s ideological restrictions. These 
restrictions would remain intact and ready to be used by the next presiden-
tial administration.
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ON AUGUST 1, 1975, the United States signed the Helsinki Final Act. The act 
concluded a series of negotiations following the 1973 Conference of Security 
and Cooperation in Europe held in Helsinki, Finland. Referred to as the “Hel-
sinki Accords,” the act was not a treaty, but an international agreement signed 
by thirty-five nations, including the Soviet Union, to promote particular 
values and “ensuring conditions in which their people can live in true and 
lasting peace free from any threat to or attempt against their security.”1 The 
accords were part of détente and viewed as an important step in international 
efforts to ease Cold War tensions. The United States committed itself to 
the “freer movement” of individuals by easing security restrictions and fa-
cilitating travel and cultural exchange, as well as to “respect human rights 
and fundamental freedoms, including the freedom of thought, conscience, 
religion or belief.”2

During President Jimmy Carter’s tenure, the Helsinki Accords helped push 
Congress toward curbing ideological exclusion under the McCarran-Walter 
Act. In 1977, in an effort to resolve the discrepancy between ideological ex-
clusion and the commitment to this international agreement, Congress passed 
an amendment to the Foreign Relations Authorization Act, sponsored by 
Senator George McGovern (D-SD). The “McGovern Amendment” applied to 
the ideological exclusion provisions in Section 212(a)(28) of the McCarran-
Walter Act, which addressed past or present beliefs, advocacy, or member-
ship in proscribed organizations that advocate anarchism, or the overthrow 
of government by force, or the “economic, international, or governmental 
doctrines of world communism.”

The McGovern Amendment sought to prevent exclusions based on guilt 
by association by increasing oversight of denials of waivers of inadmissibility 
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by the secretary of state and by limiting reasons for denials to national secu-
rity concerns. Under the amendment,

The Secretary of State should, within 30 days of receiving an applica-
tion for a nonimmigrant visa by any alien who is excludable from the 
United States by reason of membership in or affiliation with a pro-
scribed organization but who is otherwise admissible to the United 
States, recommend that the Attorney General grant the approval nec-
essary for the issuance of a visa to such alien, unless the Secretary 
determines that the admission of such alien would be contrary to the 
security interests of the United States and so certifies to the Speaker 
of the House of Representatives and the Chairman of the Committee 
of Foreign Relations of the Senate.3

Two years later, in 1979, Congress added an exemption to the McGovern 
Amendment, which reflected US foreign relations and support of Israel, as 
well as terrorism fears. The exemption pertained to the Palestine Liberation 
Organization (PLO). The United States had refused to recognize the State of 
Palestine and the PLO until the PLO recognized the State of Israel. Members 
of Congress also expressed concern about admitting PLO members and of-
ficers associated with terrorism and violence abroad.4 Now, the McGovern 
Amendment explicitly did not apply to admission for any PLO “member, of-
ficer, official, representative, or spokesman.”5

Over the next decade, President Ronald Reagan’s administration found 
ways to circumvent the McGovern Amendment and continued to use the 
McCarran-Walter Act’s provisions to ideologically exclude and deport foreign 
scholars, writers, artists, officials, and activists. The administration defended 
its use of the act’s provisions and justified these exclusions and deportations 
based on foreign policy interests and terrorism concerns.

Those excluded from the United States, as well as members of Congress, 
the press, and the public, condemned the Reagan administration’s ideolog-
ical exclusions and deportations as a form of censorship, which they said 
would damage the United States and its reputation. They dismissed the ad-
ministration’s foreign policy and terrorism reasons as a pretext to suppress 
dissent. The visa denials to these foreign visitors under implicit and explicit 
provisions in the McCarran-Walter Act were also retaliatory, based on the 
Reagan administration’s disapproval of their affiliations and expressions crit-
icizing US foreign policy. Leonard Boudin and the National Emergency Civil 
Liberties Committee (NECLC) joined American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU) 
attorneys to challenge these visa denials in federal court, using the Ernest 
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Mandel case strategy and arguing that such ideological exclusions violated 
Americans’ First Amendment rights.

Lawmakers in Congress seized the opportunity presented by this public 
criticism and litigation to push to revise, reform, and repeal the explicit ide-
ological exclusion provisions within the McCarran-Walter Act. While they 
were successful, their efforts led to exclusion and deportation based on mem-
bership in and material support of terrorist organizations. As the Cold War 
came to a close, this shift from Communism to terrorism opened the door 
to new forms of ideological exclusion and deportation, familiar arguments, 
and uses of guilt by association.

Ideological Exclusion under Reagan

The McGovern Amendment addressed the waiver provision, and thus, it did 
not apply to all of the exclusionary “security” provisions in the McCarran-
Walter Act. Under Sections 212(a)(27) and (a)(29) visa applicants could not 
receive a waiver, and exclusion was mandatory.

Section 212(a)(29) excluded those who “probably would, after entry” en-
gage in unlawful activities “relating to espionage, sabotage, public disorder, 
or in other activity subversive to the national security.”6 Section 212(a)(27) 
excluded those “who seek to enter the United States solely, principally, or in-
cidentally to engage in activities which would be prejudicial to the public 
interest, or endanger the welfare, safety, or security of the United States.”7 This 
section was an implicit provision, similar to the Alien Friends Act of 1798, 
and it left tremendous discretion in the hands of the secretary of state and at-
torney general to exclude whoever they believed would pose a threat to the 
United States.

Former Security and Consular Affairs Bureau Chief Abba Schwartz re-
called rarely using Sections  212(a)(27) and (a)(29) to exclude during his 
tenure in the 1960s. According to Schwartz, Section 212(a)(27) was “imposed 
only in cases of ‘political’ personages whose activities would be seriously em-
barrassing politically to the United States,” or to “dictators themselves and 
their followers whose regimes we oppose, whose succeeding governments 
we have recognized, and who were likely to engage in activities on our soil 
which would prejudice our relationship with other governments.”8 His inter-
pretation of the statute was narrow and applied to activities and not to 
membership in organizations under Section 212(a)(28).

In his State of the Union address in 1985, President Reagan declared, 
“We must not break faith with those who are risking their lives—on every 
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continent from Afghanistan to Nicaragua—to defy Soviet aggression and 
secure rights which have been ours from birth.”9 Referred to as the “Reagan 
Doctrine,” foreign policy during the Reagan administration focused on 
conducting the Cold War through containment and through support of 
anti-Communists abroad to counter and to reverse Soviet expansion and in-
fluence. While President Carter had eased tensions with Cuba, reaching an 
agreement with Fidel Castro to open diplomacy and exchange and admitting 
Cuban refugees during the Mariel Boatlift in 1980, the Reagan administra-
tion’s approach led to increased tensions with Fidel Castro and Cuba.

Reagan administration policies included trade sanctions and embargoes, 
suspensions on travel to and from Cuba, and restrictions on emigration 
from Cuba. Other examples of the Reagan Doctrine included the sup-
port and funding of the Contras in their efforts to topple the Sandinista 
National Liberation Front Socialist government in Nicaragua and of the 
Mujahideen resistance fighters seeking to push back the Soviet invasion of 
Afghanistan.

Reagan also listed Cuba as a state sponsor of terrorism for its support of 
leftist groups in Central and Latin America. Castro dismissed the charge and 
described Reagan as “a madman, an imbecile and a bum.”10 While Reagan 
expanded his own definition of terrorism to suit his foreign policy, terrorist 
acts abroad had become a significant threat and resulted in the loss of Amer-
ican lives. Between 1981 and 1989, there were 600 terrorist attacks abroad 
including embassy bombings, airline and ship hijackings, and hostage-
takings.11 Reagan entered the White House in 1981 at the end of the Iran 
hostage crisis. This crisis was part of an anti-American response by sup-
porters of the Iranian revolution to Carter’s admission of Shah Mohammad 
Reza Pahlavi to the United States for medical treatment.

Admissions of certain foreign officials or public figures to the United States 
could lead to serious consequences for Americans abroad and US foreign 
policy, and the threat of potential terrorist attacks committed within the 
United States was also of great concern. Yet, these consequences and concerns 
did not appear to be the factors determining the Reagan administration’s use 
of Section 212(a)(27) to deny visas to certain foreign visitors. Boudin and 
ACLU attorneys noticed that the State Department had started to use Sec-
tion 212(a)(27) to exclude foreigners based on membership and associations, 
yet these exclusions should have fallen under Section 212(a)(28). They also 
noticed the use of Section 212(a)(27) to exclude foreigners based on their 
prior advocacy or criticisms of the United States and its policies. The State 
Department had started to abandon initial exclusions under Section 212(a)



One Door Closes, Another Opens

187

(28) to avoid the national security reasons and oversight requirements for 
waiver denials under the McGovern Amendment. A handful of ideological 
exclusion cases demonstrated this strategic shift.

On March 3, 1983, the State Department denied a visa to Chilean Hor-
tensia Bussi de Allende, the sixty-eight-year-old widow of Chile’s first So-
cialist president, Salvador Allende, overthrown by a military coup led by Au-
gusto Pinochet in 1973. After her husband’s death during the coup, Bussi 
fled and lived in exile in Mexico. Her visa denial was reminiscent of Shirley 
Graham Du Bois’s exclusion in 1970. Bussi had applied for a visa to come to 
the United States after receiving an invitation by the Northern California Ec-
umenical Council to deliver a lecture at an event for International Women’s 
Week in San Francisco, as well as numerous invitations to speak from reli-
gious and educational institutions in California. She planned to speak about 
the political and social situation in Latin America, the role of women in 
human rights struggles, and United States policies in Latin America.12

The State Department claimed Bussi was a “highly placed and active 
member of the World Peace Council, which has a direct affiliation with the 
Communist Party of the Soviet Union.”13 The Reagan administration had crit-
icized the World Peace Council for its opposition to deployment of US nu-
clear missiles in Europe and described the organization as an “instrument of 
Soviet foreign policy.”14 Bussi stated she had never been denied a visa to travel 
to the United States in the past, including most recently in 1981, when she 
attended an anti-apartheid meeting at the United Nations. While she had at-
tended World Peace Council meetings, she was not a high official in the organ
ization or a member of any political party, including the Communist Party. 
She described the State Department’s decision as an “arbitrary action,” and 
added, “I don’t think I’m so dangerous at my age.”15

Having initially barred Bussi under Section 212(a)(28) because of her af-
filiations, the State Department would have had to certify that Bussi posed a 
national security threat to the United States, as required by the McGovern 
Amendment. Under Secretary of State Lawrence Eagleburger did not consider 
the waiver for Bussi. Instead, he issued an advisory opinion sent to the US em-
bassy in Mexico to deny Bussi’s visa under Section 212(a)(27). He cited Bus-
si’s membership in the World Peace Council and the speeches she would de-
liver. Eagleburger deemed Bussi’s entry to the United States as “prejudicial to 
the public interest.”16

Later that year, the Reagan administration used Section 212(a)(27) to deny 
visas to Cuban scholars Olga Finlay and Leonor Rodríguez Lezcano. In clas-
sified documents, the State Department described them as “two officers of 
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the Federation of Cuban Women,” considered an “instrumentality of the 
Cuban Communist Party.”17 Finlay and Lezcano had been invited to testify 
at hearings held by the New York City Commission on the Status of Women, 
on Cuban families and the Cuban response to juvenile delinquency. The State 
Department stated it would be prejudicial to the public interest for the two 
Cuban women to address an American audience. The State Department later 
granted Finlay a visa to attend the Pan American Health Organization in 
Washington, DC, on the condition she not speak to any American groups 
during her visit.18

In September 1983, Italian General Nino Pasti, a NATO vice air marshal 
and top nuclear strategist, was invited to deliver lectures on nuclear policy; 
Pasti supported nuclear disarmament. At the time, there was a debate within 
the United States regarding the deployment of nuclear missiles in Western Eu
rope. Despite having obtained visas to visit the United States on five separate 
occasions, Pasti was barred by the State Department because of his views and 
association with the World Peace Council, like Bussi. Initially, Pasti was 
barred under Section 212(a)(28), but when he applied for a waiver of inad-
missibility, the State Department switched its justification to Section 212(a)
(27), describing Pasti’s visit to the United States as “prejudicial to the conduct 
of the foreign affairs of the United States.”19

The State Department also refused to disclose the reason behind its visa 
denial to Nicaragua’s interior minister Tomás Borge, who was invited to come 
to the United States to speak on Nicaraguan policies. The Reagan adminis-
tration opposed the Sandinista National Liberation Front and did not want 
to give Borge, one of its founders, a “propaganda platform in the United 
States.”20 Questions about Borge were directed to Secretary of State George P. 
Shultz. Shultz had previously served in the Nixon administration in various 
positions including as secretary of labor and secretary of the treasury. He 
was known for famously refusing President Richard Nixon’s request to inves-
tigate and audit the individuals on Nixon’s “enemies list.”21

As secretary of state, Shultz had used his ultimate discretion to deny 
Borge’s visa, because he objected to Borge’s presence and what he might say. 
Shultz did not appear to consider the rights of those who had invited Borge 
to come to the United States and had wanted to hear him speak. When asked 
about the visa denial to Borge, Shultz replied, “As a general proposition I 
think we have to favor freedom of speech, but it can get abused by people 
who do not wish us well, and I think we have to take some reasonable pre-
cautions about that.” While Shultz said he did not believe Borge was “going 
to overthrow the government or anything like that,” he was concerned that 
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his visit would distract from the Contadora group meeting held in Panama to 
discuss conflicts in Central America.22

“Good grief,” responded John Coatsworth, a professor of Latin American 
history, who had arranged for Borge to speak at the University of Chicago 
during his visit. “It’s hard to know where to start responding to a statement 
of that kind. . . . ​The notion that denying a visa to Borge will facilitate the Con-
tadora peace-making process is not only absurd, it’s preposterous.” He re-
marked, “The First Amendment means nothing at all if it does not permit 
American citizens to listen to views their government disapproves of.”23

While the Reagan administration defended its use of the McCarran-
Walter Act’s ideological exclusion provisions as an important foreign 
policy tool, the press and members of the public continued to criticize these 
visa denials, which some characterized as a “vestige of McCarthyism.”24 
Describing ideological exclusions as a form of censorship, they asked why 
Americans should “fear foreigners’ free speech” and be shielded from their 
views.25 Why was the Reagan administration was so afraid of Hortensia 
Bussi de Allende and engaged in a “persistent pattern” of excluding for-
eigners based on their associations and critiques of US foreign policy?26 
Such exclusions not only suppressed dissent, but also reflected a lack of con-
fidence in liberal democracy and free expression that would embarrass the 
United States. They argued America was “making the world safe from democ-
racy,” and not safe for it.27

George P. Shultz, Secretary of State, testifies before the House Foreign  
Affairs Committee on February 9, 1984

Mark Reinstein / Alamy Stock Photo.
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Barney Frank’s Crusade

During the Reagan administration, Congressman Barney Frank (D-MA) was 
one of the most outspoken critics of ideological exclusion. Born in Bayonne, 
New Jersey in 1940, he graduated from Harvard College and Harvard Law 
School and served in the Massachusetts State Legislature before his election 
to the US House of Representatives in 1980. Frank vividly remembered 
watching the Army-McCarthy Hearings in 1954, when he was a teenager. He 
wrote in his autobiography that watching those hearings “inspired my fasci-
nation in government.” He admired the Army’s attorney Joseph Welch and 
was “glad to see Welch score heavily against the McCarthy side.”28 During his 
tenure in Congress in the 1980s, Frank pushed for AIDS funding, as well as 
the elimination of exclusion categories in the McCarran-Walter Act, including 
“psychopathic personalities,” “sexual deviation,” and “mental defect,” which 
were used to bar homosexuals under immigration policy. In 1987, Frank came 
out publicly as homosexual. Frank described these exclusions, as well as ide-
ological exclusions, as an “egregious example of bigotry” and motivated by a 
fear of admitting “undesirables.”29

Frank was not the first to challenge the McCarran-Walter Act in Congress. 
In the 1950s, Senator Herbert Lehman (D-NY) was an outspoken critic of both 
the McCarran and McCarran-Walter Acts, but was not successful in his at-
tempts to defeat their passage. He compared the McCarran Act to the Alien 
Friends Act and Sedition Act of 1798, and warned that its provisions would 
not “catch only those whose views you hate. All of us may become victims 
of the gallows we erect for the enemies of freedom.”30 Lehman described the 
McCarran-Walter Act as reflecting “fear, suspicion, and distrust of the for-
eigners outside our country, and of the aliens within our country.” He joined 
Senator Hubert Humphrey (D-MN) in sponsoring competing legislation that 
offered liberal immigration provisions with more protections for those or-
dered excluded or deported.31 Senator Patrick McCarran (D-NV) made sure 
the bill never made it out of the Senate Judiciary Committee, which he 
chaired.32

At the height of McCarthyism, many members of Congress reluctantly 
voted for the McCarran Act and McCarran-Walter Act out of fear of red-
baiting from senators like McCarran, and subsequently losing elections.33 
There simply was no incentive to get rid of ideological exclusion or deporta-
tion provisions within these acts and seem weak on Communism. There were 
other attempts to repeal or revise the provisions, including when the Nixon 
administration barred Carlos Fuentes from disembarking in Puerto Rico in 



One Door Closes, Another Opens

191

1969. Critics of the exclusion, including editors at the New York Times, called 
on Congress to “re-examine and eliminate these purposeless restrictions 
which make the United States ridiculous rather than secure.”34 Congressman 
James Scheuer (D-NY) and Senator J. William Fulbright (D-AR), longtime 
chairman of the Senate Foreign Relations Committee, condemned Fuentes’s 
exclusion and sought to repeal the provisions and revise the law, but they 
were unsuccessful.35

While the Reagan administration took a tough stance on Communism, 
times had changed, the Cold War had changed, and anti-Communism had 
changed. McCarthyism was over and, Frank hoped, so was the same fear that 
had led some to pass the McCarran-Walter Act. He now saw a chance to 
change the law, especially after public criticisms characterizing recent visa de-
nials as a return of McCarthyism and a form of censorship.36 Frank found 
the explicit ideological exclusions and deportations within the McCarran-
Walter Act repressive, punishing protected speech and dissent, and re-
flecting anachronistic objects of fear and perceived sources of subversion 
within the United States. “The notion that somehow we are this pristine na-
tion and we will be polluted from outside is crazy,” he said. “What harm a 
philosophical anarchist is to the United States I do not understand. But this 
law keeps them out.”37

In June 1984, the Subcommittee on Immigration, Refugees, and Interna-
tional Law of the House Judiciary Committee held a hearing to discuss two 
bills Frank had introduced.38 H.R. 4509 and H.R. 5227 included repealing the 
ideological exclusion provisions under Sections 212(a)(28) and (a)(27). They 
also barred entry to anyone whom the attorney general or consular officer 
“knows or has reasonable ground to believe probably / likely would engage 
after entry in any activity (i) which is prohibited by the laws of the United 
States relating to espionage or sabotage, (ii) which endangers public safety or 
national security, or (iii) a purpose of which is the opposition to, or the con-
trol or overthrow of the Government of the United States by force, violence, 
or other unconstitutional means.” The bills barred anyone “who is an active 
member of an organization that is engaged in violence or terrorist activities,” 
unless entering as temporary visitors.39

Frank opened the hearing stating “I think we are going to be dealing today 
with one of the most fundamental questions that a society deals with; namely, 
the extent to which we as citizens trust ourselves and our own judgment. 
I think we have inherited a statutory scheme, which really puts the Govern-
ment in a position of acting as a censor, puts the Government in the position 
of deciding what is and is not fit material for the American people to hear, 
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and read, and talk about.” Frank then addressed the United States’ identity and 
values, as well as the importance of beginning the process to change this leg-
islation, “which was wrong, in my judgment, when it was enacted, and has 
become progressively more embarrassing to this country.” He declared, “One 
of the great strengths of this country, both domestically and internationally, 
is our commitment to freedom, our self-confidence, our view that we are 
strong enough and wise enough as a people to take on all comers.” Frank con-
cluded, “We have, I think, an unfortunate piece of legislation here which 
suggests that somehow we are not mature enough, we are not stable enough 
to take all ideas and all forms of debate and allow them to go forward.”40

In her testimony, Joan Clark, assistant secretary for consular affairs in the 
State Department, rejected the characterization of the ideological exclusion 
and deportation provisions as “ideological censorship” and insisted that the 
United States did not exclude based on abstract belief or expression.41 Clark 
also objected to any potential elimination of Section 212(a)(27), stating that 
the provision was not aimed at excluding based on ideology but was a for-
eign policy tool, reflecting the United States’ views and assisting in foreign 
relations. “Denying a visa is a U.S. Government action, and is considered as 
an act of the U.S. Government,” she explained.

Clark argued that a visa denial was a form of government expression and 
diplomacy. “For example there are bilateral relationships with other countries 
to be considered. If we are supporting one point of view, we certainly need 
to make the point known I think to the government that is concerned.”42 
Frank questioned the legitimacy of excluding critics of the United States 
because such dissent would contradict the US government’s positions.43

Clark argued that ideological exclusion provisions also had been used to 
exclude terrorists or those supporting terrorist organizations.44 She men-
tioned terrorism in response to Frank’s question regarding the exclusion of 
Italian playwright Dario Fo and his wife, Franca Rame, in August 1983, who 
had wanted to come to the United States to attend the New York Shakespeare 
Festival and lecture at the New York School of Arts and Yale Drama School. 
Frank referred to a New York Times article, which included quoted remarks 
from an officer in the Italian consulate regarding Fo’s exclusion: “Nobody at 
State thinks Fo is going to foment revolution or throw bombs. . . . ​It’s just 
that . . . ​Dario Fo has never had a good word to say about the [United States].”45 
Clark stated that Fo was excluded under Section 212(a)(28), because in an 
interview with his wife, the US embassy learned he had raised funds for 
Soccorso Rossa (Red Aid), which Clark described as an organization that 
“provides support for the Italian terrorist groups.”46
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Clark then discussed statistics. Between 1963 and 1982, 519 nonimmi-
grant visas were denied under Section  212(a)(27) out of over 70 million 
nonimmigrant visas issued during that period. The chairman of the com-
mittee, Congressman Romano Mazzoli (D-KY), noted that there were 
twenty-six visa denials under this provision in 1983. Under Section 212(a)
(28), foreign visitors could overcome a visa denial through a waiver. Maz-
zoli cited 26,973 visa denials under this provision and 26,211 waivers per-
mitting admission, leaving approximately 700 excluded from the United 
States. Frank was not reassured by this number and argued, “If the mayor of 
a town were to allow 26,000 requests to have speeches and deny 700, I think 
that would be outrageous.” Even if one received a waiver, this process took 
time. Frank thought not much was accomplished if one applied for a visa to 
attend an event in the United States only to receive the visa after the event 
was over.47

In her testimony before the committee, Jeri Laber, the executive director 
of the US Helsinki Watch Committee, a nongovernmental organization mon-
itoring human rights provisions under the Helsinki Accords, stated that 
ideological exclusions represented an “egregious” violation of the accords 
and urged repeal of the McCarran-Walter Act’s exclusion provisions. Laber 
began her testimony by mentioning that under the Reagan administration, 
the Swedish author Jan Myrdal, the son of Nobel laureate Gunnar Myrdal, the 
author of the seminal work on race relations, An American Dilemma: The Negro 
Problem and Modern Democracy (1944), had received a restricted visa to come 
to the United States based on alleged Communist affiliations. It had gen-
erated a lot of discussion in the Swedish press, as well as anti-American 
sentiment.48

Laber described ideological exclusions as “shameful and embarrassing.” 
They sent the impression to the world that “our Government is so fearful and 
defensive that it will not give foreigners who are critical of its policies an op-
portunity to express their views.” She compared the humiliating experience 
of answering questions about political views and affiliations and visa denials 
to her own experience failing to obtain a visa to enter the Soviet Union. Laber 
noted that exclusions made the United States “extremely vulnerable” to criti-
cisms of hypocrisy when American leaders accused other governments of vi-
olating the Helsinki Accords, “dedicated to encouraging the free exchange of 
ideas and the free movement of citizens across national borders.”49

Listing a number of artists, scholars, and writers who had been excluded, 
including Dario Fo, Carlos Fuentes, and Nobel laureates such as the Chilean 
poet and politician Pablo Neruda and the Colombian novelist Gabriel García 
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Márquez, Laber described how Márquez had experienced difficulties ob-
taining a visa since 1963. In April, Laber wrote an article in the New York 
Times describing Márquez’s failure to appear at an event in New York City to 
discuss US foreign policy in Central America. Due to his “political beliefs,” 
the United States had issued Márquez a conditional visa under a waiver of in-
admissibility, which he had declined. Márquez explained he had refused to 
travel to the United States on a visa that restricted his freedom during his visit 
for “reasons of principle and personal dignity.”50

Morton Halperin, a foreign policy expert who had served in the Depart-
ment of Defense during the Johnson administration and as a staff member 
for the National Security Council in 1969 during the Nixon administration, 
testified on behalf of the ACLU as the director of its Washington office and 
of the Center for National Security Studies. Halperin described such exclu-
sions as Márquez’s as a loss to American society, culture, and intellectual 
and political life. Responding to the recital of statistics, he remarked that if 
fifty of those 700 excluded were Nobel laureates, it is “a real loss, even if it is 
a small number.” Halperin also noted the number does not include people 
who refuse to apply, no longer wanting to endure the indignity of answering 
questions about their beliefs and affiliations and the prolonged uncer-
tainty, waiting to know if those affiliations or beliefs will be used to bar them 
from the United States.51

As someone who had worked in the government, Halperin appreciated 
that some expression might prove embarrassing and understood the State De-
partment’s desire to have foreign policy tools at its disposal to prevent it, but 
the price was too high with ideological exclusion. Avoiding embarrassment 
was not a sufficient justification for violating First Amendment freedoms and 
liberal democratic values, and Congress must step in and protect the right of 
Americans to communicate with foreigners about political, cultural, or in-
tellectual issues.52

Halperin quoted President Harry Truman’s veto of the McCarran-Walter 
Act and characterization of the “distrust” the act displayed for citizens and 
foreigners. He echoed Laber’s statement that ideological exclusions violated 
the Helsinki Accords, and noted that exclusions contradicted Reagan’s affir-
mation of those principles in recent remarks about how “expanding contact 
across borders and permitting a free exchange or interchange of information 
and ideas increase confidence; sealing off one’s people from the rest of the 
world reduces it.” Halperin also described the State Department’s attempt 
to circumvent the McGovern Amendment requirements and reminded the 
committee that in 1983, the State Department had submitted a proposal to 
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Congress to revise the amendment to permit the secretary of state to consider 
“foreign policy factors” in addition to national security interests as a basis 
for denying waivers.53

Halperin urged the committee to view these ideological exclusions during 
the Reagan administration as part of the administration’s concerted effort to 
restrict the free flow of information. He cited the administration’s classifica-
tion of Canadian films dealing with acid rain and nuclear war as political pro-
paganda and regulating their distribution and screenings in 1983. According 
to Halperin, in 1982, after five years without restriction, the administration 
prohibited American tourists from traveling to Cuba under the International 
Emergency Economic Powers Act of 1977. In 1981, after almost twenty years 
without restriction, the government instituted an embargo on Cuban publi-
cations, including the newspaper Granma, sent to readers in the United States 
under the Trading with the Enemy Act of 1917.54

He believed Frank’s bills “would strengthen our constitutional system by 
ensuring American’s [sic] access to foreign people and ideas, making possible 
a more fully informed and politically sophisticated citizenry.”55 Halperin 
concluded his testimony with some suggestions for the bills and any future 
legislation seeking to eliminate ideological exclusions.

Halperin recommended a provision prohibiting exclusion based on “any 
past or expected speech, activity, belief, affiliation, or membership, which if 
held or conducted within the United States by a US citizen, would be pro-
tected by the First Amendment.” The provision would also prohibit exclu-
sion based on “the expected consequences of any activity” if conducted in the 
United States, if the activity would be protected by the First Amendment. Rec-
ognizing a potential for the abuse of discretion in exclusions based on “na-
tional security” grounds, he recommended limiting the government’s discre-
tion to exclude, and to extend it only to activity that was not protected by 
the First Amendment.56 In 1977, the Supreme Court had reaffirmed its holding 
in Kleindienst v. Mandel (1972), including use of the lower “facially legitimate 
and bona fide reason” standard of review.57 Thus, Halperin now urged Con-
gress to take action by passing this legislation and not to wait for the courts 
to raise the standard of review for ideological exclusion cases to be consis-
tent with First Amendment standards and protections.

He also recommended that Congress include a statutory “standing to sue” 
provision, which “would permit any person within the United States in-
tending to communicate with a foreigner who is denied admission in viola-
tion of the statute to bring a civil action to enforce compliance with the law.” 
While Kleindienst v. Mandel had established that individuals within the United 



THREAT OF DISSENT

196

States had standing to sue in exclusion cases, a statutory provision would 
eliminate any potential barriers to litigation or lack of clarity in court deci-
sions by preventing the government from arguing in each exclusion case that 
individuals lacked the standing to sue.58

As Frank predicted, the hearings were a good start to discussing ideolog-
ical exclusion and deportation and how to end the practice through legisla-
tion. However, Frank’s bills never made it out of the committee. According 
to Frank, as he was working on rewriting immigration law, Congress decided 
the best course of action was to divide the legislation into two parts. The first 
part focused on illegal immigration, including amnesty and employer sanc-
tions, which became the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986. The 
second part would focus on legal immigration and exclusion categories.59

While Frank continued to fight to eliminate ideological restrictions from 
the McCarran-Walter Act, he was not alone. In addition to the ACLU, the PEN 
American Center had already joined his crusade.

PEN American Center

In 1921, British poet Catherine Amy Dawson Scott founded PEN International 
(Poets, Essayists, and Novelists, later broadened to include playwrights and 
editors) to unite writers after World War I. Eugene O’Neill, Willa Cather, 
Robert Frost, Ellen Glasgow, Edwin Arlington Robinson, and Robert Benchley, 
founded the PEN American Center in New York City a year later. One of the 
principles PEN stood for was “the unhampered transmission of thought 
within each nation and between all nations”; thus, “members pledge them-
selves to oppose any form of suppression of freedom of expression in the 
country and community to which they belong.”60

William Styron, a Pulitzer Prize–winning novelist and author of The Con-
fessions of Nat Turner and Sophie’s Choice, testified on behalf of PEN American 
Center at the 1984 congressional hearings on Frank’s bills to eliminate exclu-
sions within the McCarran-Walter Act. Styron described how ideological 
exclusion undermined PEN’s principles and mentioned the importance of “di-
rect face-to-face discourse and confrontation” for writers. He dismissed ar-
guments that access to works by authors who were barred from the United 
States provided sufficient free exchange of ideas and communication between 
these authors and Americans. Styron compared the argument to questioning 
the reason for universities if the country already had libraries. “Writers—just 
as other professionals, businessmen, and politicians—are charged with un-
derstanding the world as it is,” he told the committee. “It is crucial to writers 
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that they meet and talk with others who are grappling for the same sorts of 
expressions of truth.”61

Styron also described how ideological exclusion damaged America’s rep-
utation abroad. The barring of writers, scholars, and artists depicted the 
United States as a nation that lacked confidence in its own values and free-
doms, which appeared to be “more fragile than we claim they are.” Styron 
recounted Gabriel García Márquez’s choice between bureaucratic humiliation 
and visiting the United States, which Márquez considered his spiritual home 
and source of inspiration after reading works by William Faulkner. He also 
discussed the resentment felt by authors subjected to exclusion, such as British 
writer Graham Greene in 1952. He stated that Greene had developed a “path-
ological anti-Americanism, largely because of what I feel, what most people 
who followed his troubles and travels with the State Department felt was a 
gross mistreatment.” Since his initial exclusion in 1952, Greene had traveled 
to the United States, but on a conditional visa granted by a waiver of inad-
missibility due to his month-long membership in the Communist Party when 
he was a teenager. Styron added, if an influential man like Greene is “so soured 
on our way of life that he becomes an old grump, and known as the man who 
hates America, then I think we have done both him and us a disservice.”62

In his testimony, Styron mentioned an event held on April  30, 1984, 
sponsored by PEN’s Fund for Free Expression, where he joined writers E. L. 
Doctorow, John Irving, Susan Sontag, Arthur Miller, and Carolyn Forché to 
read works by authors who had been ideologically excluded from the United 
States, including Greene, Neruda, Márquez, Julio Cortázar, Dario Fo, Doris 
Lessing, Michel Foucault, Czeslaw Milosz, Dennis Brutus, Ángel Rama, and 
Alberto Moravia.63 At the event, Forché commented, “I am puzzled as to why 
my government is afraid of a free exchange of ideas. I would hope that my 
country and its institutions are strong enough to endure freedom of expres-
sion.” Irving described the exclusion provisions under the McCarran-Walter 
Act as “vestiges of McCarthyism” that “shame us today.” Miller explained, “I 
doubt strongly that this law could have been passed before 1952, the wildest 
time of McCarthyism . . . ​but it’s hung on the books because most people 
aren’t aware of it.”64

Carlos Fuentes had also attended the April 30 event. The State Department 
had recommended waivers and issued restricted visas to Fuentes to visit the 
United States since his exclusion in 1969. Fuentes had subsequently visited 
to speak and teach at American colleges and universities. Unlike Márquez, 
Fuentes chose not to decline a limited visa and to continue to travel to 
the United States. Refusing to visit and engage “would be giving in to the 
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negative and isolationist spirit of the law,” he said. “And we would be de-
nying our solidarity with those individuals and institutions in the USA that 
so steadfastly seek the removal of Section 28.”65

A few months after the congressional hearings in 1984, the ACLU and 
PEN’s Fund for Free Expression jointly convened a conference held on Sep-
tember 18, in Washington, DC. Entitled “Free Trade in Ideas,” the one-day 
conference addressed the free exchange of scientific information inhibited by 
federal regulations, ideological exclusion of foreign visitors under the 
McCarran-Walter Act, access to foreign films restricted by the government, 
and travel to Cuba.

The American Association of University Professors, the American Asso-
ciation of Arts and Sciences, and the Federation of American Scientists, 
joined thirty-nine other organizations co-sponsoring the event, and speakers 
addressed an audience of 300 artists, writers, scholars, activists, and lawyers.66 
Speakers included First Amendment lawyer Floyd Abrams and Hodding 
Carter, assistant secretary of state for public affairs in Jimmy Carter’s admin-

Carlos Fuentes in Washington, DC, 1984
Miguel Sayago / Alamy Stock Photo.
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istration. Hodding Carter described the Reagan administration as “not 
uniquely evil,” but its information control, secrecy, and intolerance of dissent 
as “the most virulent in my lifetime.” He urged the organizations in the audi-
ence to focus on consistent and continuous advocacy against ideological ex-
clusion and to forget about “a ritual denunciation or resolution at their 
yearly meeting.” They “should be hitting it and hitting it and hitting it to the 
point of boredom.”67

Audience members also heard from those excluded under the McCarran-
Walter Act. Fuentes recounted his visa denials and waivers since the 1960s, 
describing exclusionary provisions as belonging to “the realm of sado-
masochism, not to the legal ledgers of a self-respecting, powerful democ-
racy.” Nino Pasti and Dario Fo spoke live from Toronto, Canada, via satellite, 
and Márquez and Hortensia Bussi de Allende delivered prepared remarks on 
videotape, which were played for the audience. Márquez announced that the 
State Department had recently granted him an unrestricted visa to visit the 
United States, which he would accept. “It is a good precedent, not only for 
myself, but for all those who find themselves in the same situation.”68

The increase in public pressure from organizations to end ideological ex-
clusions under the McCarran-Walter Act and the press attention to their ef-
forts prompted members of the Reagan administration to address the public 
to defend its policies and to defend themselves. In 1986, PEN International’s 
Forty-Eighth Congress held the first of its annual meetings in New York City. 
Over 600 writers attended. PEN American Center hosted the meeting and its 
president, Norman Mailer, had chosen its theme: “The Writer’s Imagination 
and the Imagination of the State.” At the suggestion of John Kenneth Gal-
braith, Mailer had invited Secretary of State Shultz to deliver the keynote 
address at the meeting’s opening plenary session, sparking protests from PEN 
members. E. L. Doctorow and Grace Paley were among the sixty-five signers 
of a public letter denouncing Mailer’s decision to invite Shultz as “inappro-
priate,” given Shultz’s leadership in the State Department, which “has, in the 
past, excluded many writers from the United States using the McCarran-
Walter Act.” Paley called his invitation to speak “outrageous.” She asked, 
“What is his relationship to us? Is he a writer? What has he got to do with us? 
There is no reason to have him here, and people resent it.” On January 12, 
Shultz delivered his speech, “The Writer and Freedom,” after receiving the 
letter and a “chorus of hisses and boos” from the audience.69

“I am so pleased and honored to be here,” Shultz said. “It has been a 
long while since the International Conference of PEN has been held in the 
United States. America is proud to have you here. Diversity, debate, contrast, 
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argumentativeness are what we as a people thrive on. So, as individuals, 
each of you is truly welcome here.” Addressing the protests to his appear-
ance at the conference, Shultz explained he had recently learned he had 
become “the latest PEN controversy,” but in “Norman’s world, it a high 
form of flattery—and that’s how I take it. And I salute you for taking this 
decision in favor of free speech.”70

Shultz praised the United States as a place where “writers can speak, write 
and publish without political hindrance,” in contrast to other nations where 
writers “may be silenced, imprisoned even killed” if their work appeared to 
threaten the government or its leaders. To Shultz, a free society was vindi-
cated by the “outspokenness, even the obstreperousness, and the self-evident 
vitality of the artists and intellectuals,” which PEN and the audience demon-
strated. He added, “And serious people know the difference between freedom 
and its absence.”71

Shultz then addressed concerns about exclusions under the McCarran-
Walter Act. “This Administration is committed, and I am personally com-
mitted, to protecting free expression of all political ideas,” he declared. He in-
sisted that the United States has never had an “approved policy” to deny 
visas to foreign visitors “merely because the applicant wants to say that he 
disapproves of the United States or one of its policies.” Shultz announced a 
State Department policy change for exclusions under the McCarran-Walter 
Act: “When a writer or artist seeks a visa for the purpose of speaking or 
lecturing or performing in the United States, the administration of the Act 
now involves the strong presumption against denying access for foreign 
policy reasons.”72

Yet, there was an exception to this “new” policy. Shultz emphasized 
that the United States would exclude foreigners “who aim to undermine 
our system through their actions, who are likely to engage in proscribed 
intelligence activities, or who raise funds or otherwise assist our enemies.” 
He did not provide any further details or definitions of these activities or 
enemies.73

Shultz concluded his speech with praise for PEN members and a show of 
support from the administration. “The yearning for freedom is the most 
powerful political force all across the planet. You are among its champions,” 
he said. “You can be proud of what you have done for that cause. And don’t 
be so surprised by the fact that Ronald Reagan and I are on your side.”74

Shultz’s speech sparked conversation among the writers about the role of 
the state. Mailer, for one, declared it a “victory for free speech.” Yet, Shultz 
did not quell concerns about ideological exclusions or rehabilitate his image 
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or that of the State Department. Instead his speech renewed the push to end 
exclusions under the McCarran-Walter Act. An editorial in the New York Times 
noted that the State Department continued to exclude based on affiliations 
under Section 212(a)(28) and that not every applicant received a waiver. While 
Shultz proudly announced a new policy of a “presumption against denying 
access for foreign policy reasons,” his State Department still used guilt by as-
sociation to deny visas. “The thought is welcome, but a close reading of 
Mr. Shultz’s text suggests considerably less change than meets the eye.”75

Moynihan-Frank Amendment

John G. Roberts Jr.’s copy of Shultz’s speech at the PEN International confer-
ence had marked the passages discussing exclusion under the McCarran-
Walter Act.76 Long before becoming the chief justice of the Supreme Court, 
Roberts had served as associate counsel to the White House from 1982 to 
1986. During February 1986, Roberts was tasked with responding to a res-
olution sent to the Reagan administration by the American Bar Association 
(ABA), which called for revision to Section  212(a)(28) of the McCarran-
Walter Act.

Under ABA Resolution 103, “An alien invited to the United States to speak 
or otherwise participate in an exchange of ideas should not be denied a visa 
solely on the basis of past or current political beliefs or political associations 
or on the basis of the expected content of the person’s statements in the United 
States.” The ABA’s recommendation was narrow and conservative. It stated 
that this revision applied only to nonimmigrant visas under Section 212(a)
(28) and would not preclude visa denials to those whose presence or activity 
in the United States the government believed would harm the interests of 
the United States, including foreign relations. It would also not prevent re-
ciprocal visa denials used to gain entry for Americans to another country, or 
interfere with the ability of the government to continue to exclude terror-
ists, those who sought entry to engage in illegal activity, or those detrimental 
to the nation’s security or interests. The ABA emphasized that its recom-
mendation for revision to Section 212(a)(28) left intact the other exclusion 
provisions the administration could use for foreign policy, including presi-
dential proclamation.77

The presidential proclamation the ABA referred to was under Sec-
tion  212(f) of the McCarran-Walter Act, which provided that “whenever 
the President finds that the entry of any aliens or of any class of aliens into 
the United States would be detrimental to the interests of the United States, 
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he may by proclamation, and for such a period as he shall deem necessary, 
suspend the entry of all aliens or any class of aliens as immigrants or non-
immigrants, or impose on the entry of aliens any restrictions he may deem 
to be appropriate.”78

At that time, Reagan had issued two proclamations. The first concerned 
refugees from Haiti and Cuba. Proclamation 4865, issued in 1981, suspended 
the entry of undocumented foreigners from the high seas and directed the 
interdiction of certain vessels carrying them.79 The second explicitly per-
tained to foreign policy with Cuba and its government. Proclamation 5377, 
issued in 1985, suspended entry to Cuban officers, or employees of the Cuban 
government or members of the Cuban Communist Party holding official or 
diplomatic passports, and to individuals who were considered by the secre-
tary of state to be officers or employees.80

State Department legal advisor Abraham  D. Sofaer had asked Fred  F. 
Fielding, counsel to the president, for comments regarding the ABA resolu-
tion. According to Roberts, Sofaer saw no issue with repealing Section 212(a)
(28), as it would be consistent with State Department practice in its current 
administration of the provision. Sofaer had described the waiver process 
under Section 212(a)(28) as “time-consuming, expensive, and sterile.”81

In his memorandum to Fielding, Roberts expressed skepticism that the 
provision served no purpose if a significant percentage did not receive waivers. 
He also recommended that Fielding insist administrators “guarantee that ex-
clusion for foreign policy reasons would be just as readily available (and de-
fensible in court) without [Section 212(a)28] as with it.” Roberts noted that 
the elimination of this provision would mean that Section 212(a)(27) “must 
be fully usable for foreign policy exclusions.” He dismissed the suggestion that 
the foreign policy presidential proclamation provision was sufficient as the 
presidential proclamation “is unworkable with respect to individual cases.” 
He concluded by asking why the Reagan administration was “trailing after 
ABA on this.” Roberts argued that, rather than “reacting” to the ABA’s reso-
lution, if Sofaer and the State Department thought repealing Section 212(a)
(28) was wise, then “we should propose it and submit our own bill.”82

In his response to Sofaer, Fielding incorporated Roberts’s recommenda-
tions, including his last one regarding the ABA. He wrote, it “seems prefer-
able to seize the initiative and submit our own proposals to Congress, stealing 
some thunder from those who hardly support the administration. This ap-
proach would also better enable us to control the specific statutory language 
of any repeal or modification.”83 In a follow-up for Sofaer, Roberts cautioned 
that Sofaer’s proposed revision to the McCarran-Walter Act, excluding for-
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eigners “who would be detrimental to the national security,” was “a far cry 
from exclusion for foreign policy reasons, which he and the ABA have argued 
would be retained as a legitimate basis for exclusion.”84

On June 23, 1987, the Subcommittee on Immigration, Refugees, and In-
ternational Law, held a hearing to discuss H.R. 1119, a revised bill introduced 
by Congressman Frank and forty-six of his colleagues to repeal and replace 
the ideological exclusion and deportation provisions within the McCarran-
Walter Act. The bill removed the security provisions, Sections 212(a)(27), 
(a)(28), and (a)(29), and replaced them with a provision that excluded foreign 
visitors whom the consular official or attorney general “knows, or has reason-
able ground to believe, is likely to engage after entry in any activity which is 
prohibited by the laws of the United States relating to espionage or sabotage, 
any other criminal activity which endangers public safety or national secu-
rity, any activity a purpose of which is the opposition to, or the control or 
overthrow of, the Government of the United States by force, violence, or other 
unconstitutional means, or any terrorist activity.” It also barred any foreigner 
who has engaged in terrorist activity, which it defined as “organizing, abet-
ting, or participating in a wanton or indiscriminate act of violence with ex-
treme indifference to the risk of causing death or serious bodily injury to in-
dividuals not taking part in armed hostilities.” These provisions also applied 
to deportation.85

Incorporating Morton Halperin’s suggestions at the 1984 hearing, Frank’s 
revised bill included judicial review within the statute and the “standing to 
sue” provision, based on Kleindienst v. Mandel (1972). A citizen or permanent 
resident “who intends to meet in person with, or hear in person, an alien, and 
who has been denied such opportunity because the alien has been denied the 
issuance of a visa or entry . . . ​may bring a cause of action for review of the 
denial in any District Court of the United States in which the individual re-
sides or . . . ​intended to meet or hear the alien.”86

In his testimony before the committee on behalf of the Reagan adminis-
tration, Sofaer opposed the elimination of Section  212(a)(27) for foreign 
policy reasons. He suggested replacing the language of the statute, providing 
the executive with the authority to deny visas to persons whose admission 
to the United States would cause “potentially serious foreign policy conse-
quences.” Sofaer also opposed the inclusion of the judicial review provision 
and “standing to sue.” He argued, “Foreign policy exclusions are essentially 
political decisions and should only be made by the branches of Govern-
ment charged with this authority under the Constitution.” The judiciary must 
defer to the legislative and executive branches and could not review political 
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decisions. Sofaer expressed concern that litigation could require the gov-
ernment to reveal “sensitive information, including intelligence sources and 
methods, in order to prove its case.” The administration would be forced to 
choose between damaging American diplomacy or the nation’s intelligence 
operations.87

During the hearing, Frank and Congressman Mazzoli engaged in a discus-
sion about the terrorism provisions with Dr.  Juliana Geran Pilon, a senior 
policy analyst at the Heritage Foundation, a conservative public policy think 
tank. Pilon noted that H.R 1119 did not include a specific exclusion for mem-
bers or officers of the PLO, which was included in the McGovern Amend-
ment. Pilon expressed concern that absent a similar provision in the bill, the 
PLO would not be subject to exclusion.88 Frank was emphatic that the PLO 
was implicitly included in the terrorist exclusion. Frank’s response reflected 
Congress’s categorization in the Anti-Terrorism Act of 1987, which desig-
nated the PLO as a terrorist organization and “a threat to the interests of the 
United States and its allies, and to international law.” The committee also dis-
cussed whether fundraising activities fell under the terrorism provision. 
Frank insisted fundraising did, under the “abetting” language, and, according 
to Frank, this included raising funds for guns or food.89

This time, Frank was not waiting for Congress to pass another immigra-
tion act to address the exclusion provisions. Senator Daniel Patrick Moynihan 
(D-NY) joined Frank in his crusade against ideological restrictions, and, in 
December 1987, Congress passed Section 901 of the Foreign Relations Au-
thorization Act, referred to as the “Moynihan-Frank Amendment.” While it 
was a temporary measure with a one-year sunset provision, Section  901 
prohibited exclusion and deportation from the United States “because of 
any past, current, or expected beliefs, statements, or associations which, if 
engaged in by a United States citizen in the United States, would be pro-
tected under the Constitution of the United States.”90 The Senate Committee 
on Foreign Relations described it as an “affirmation of the principles of the 
First Amendment.”91

In 1988, Congress extended the Moynihan-Frank Amendment for two 
more years. It also included some restrictions and exceptions reflecting the 
concerns expressed in the 1987 hearings. Congress restricted the amendment 
to apply to nonimmigrant visitors, as opposed to immigrants. It included a 
foreign policy and national security reason for exclusion, but only if it did 
not conflict with the existing protections under the amendment. Congress 
also incorporated the PLO exception in the McGovern Amendment, ex-
cluding PLO members, officials, officers, representatives, or spokesmen, 
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and H.R. 1119’s definition of terrorist activity and its terrorist provision, 
but added membership in a terrorist organization. It barred anyone the at-
torney general or consular officer knew or had reason to believe had engaged 
in terrorist activity, as an individual or member of an organization, or was 
likely to engage in such activity after entry.92

The text of the Moynihan-Frank Amendment represented a significant 
moment in the history of ideological exclusion and deportation. The amend-
ment effectively repealed the ideological restrictions based on expression, 
belief, and association within the McCarran-Walter Act and held foreign non-
citizens inside the United States and those applying for visas to visit to the 
same First Amendment speech-protective standards and safeguards as US 
citizens.

The Moynihan-Frank Amendment closed the door on the ideological 
exclusions and deportations based on anarchist or Communist beliefs, as-
sociations, and expressions that had persisted within federal legislation for 
over half a century. Yet, the restrictions and terrorism provisions that re-
mained would also open the door to future ideological exclusions and depor-
tations through guilt by association with and material support to terrorist 
organizations.

Litigation

The ACLU and NECLC worked together and brought legal challenges on be-
half of the organizations and individuals who had invited Borge, Pasti, 
Finlay, Lezcano, and Bussi to come to the United States, challenging their 
exclusion for violating Americans’ First Amendment right to receive in-
formation. By 1988, the federal courts had determined the visa denials 
were unconstitutional. In Abourezk v. Reagan, Leonard Boudin joined Steven 
Shapiro, who led the ACLU attorneys challenging the exclusion of Borge, 
Pasti, Finlay, and Lezcano. In Allende v. Shultz, Shapiro joined Boudin who 
challenged Bussi’s exclusion.

In 1984, DC District Court Judge Harold H. Greene granted summary 
judgment in favor of the government in Abourezk v. Reagan. Greene dismissed 
Shapiro and Boudin’s argument that Section 212(a)(27) pertained to the activi-
ties of the foreigner and not merely presence within the United States. Greene 
cited the entry of the former Shah of Iran and his mere presence in the 
United States, which resulted in serious consequences for the United States, 
including the hostage crisis. He also rejected their argument that (a)(27) 
did not explicitly exclude based on foreign policy reasons, but rather for 
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direct threat to national security and safety. In light of the executive’s “sub-
stantial independent authority” in foreign relations and in the admission of 
foreigners, Greene located foreign policy implicitly within (a)(27)’s clauses re-
garding “prejudicial to the public interest” and “endangering the welfare.”93

Yet, when he applied the “facially legitimate and bona fide reason” standard 
established in Kleindienst v. Mandel (1972), the government initially failed the 
test. Absent further details beyond the government’s assertion the admis-
sion of Borge, Pasti, Finlay, and Lezcano “would have been prejudicial to the 
conduct of foreign affairs,” Greene considered it reasonable to conclude 
that the State Department denied the visas because it “did not agree with or 
feared the content of whatever communication they might make while in 
this country.” Under (a)(27), foreigners could not be excluded solely for the 
content of their speech.

The State Department then provided the court with a classified affidavit 
from Under Secretary Eagleburger, which Greene inspected in camera (pri-
vately), without disclosure to Shapiro, Boudin, or the plaintiffs. After this 
inspection, Greene reversed and concluded that the government did have a 
“facially legitimate and bona fide reason” to exclude. The reason was based not 
on what Borge, Pasti, Finlay, and Lezcano might say, but on their “personal 
status as officials of governments or organizations hostile to the United 
States.” These organizations or governments might seek to acquire “legiti-
macy and respectability” through the admission of their officials to the 
United States.94

In Allende v. Shultz (1985), Massachusetts District Court Judge Andrew A. 
Caffrey held in favor of Bussi. Caffrey began his decision by upholding the 
right of the American invitees to bring a challenge to Bussi’s exclusion in fed-
eral court, as a violation of their First Amendment right to receive informa-
tion, citing Kleindienst v. Mandel. As Morton Halperin predicted in the 1984 
hearings when he advocated for a statutory “standing to sue,” despite the legal 
precedent set in Mandel, the government had argued the case should be dis-
missed because the American invitees lacked standing.95

Caffrey then declared that the government had failed to provide a “facially 
legitimate and bona fide reason” for excluding Bussi under Section 212(a)(27). 
The State Department had barred Bussi based on her membership in the 
World Peace Council, and (a)(27) did not include membership, but rather ac-
tivities. The membership statute was under Section 212(a)(28) and subject to 
the McGovern Amendment’s waiver requirement. The provisions were not 
interchangeable. The (a)(28) provision would be superfluous if (a)(27) encom-
passed the same reasons for exclusion. The State Department could not 
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simply replace one provision with another to serve its needs or desire to cir-
cumvent statutory requirements. The government produced a classified af-
fidavit from the State Department for the judge’s in camera review, as it did in 
Abourezk v. Reagan. Unlike Greene, Caffrey declined to inspect the affidavit. 
Caffrey explained that the First Circuit Court of Appeals had ruled the court 
could not grant summary judgment based on evidence, which the opposing 
party (in this case the plaintiffs) was denied access to review.96

Shapiro and Boudin appealed Greene’s ruling in Abourezk v. Reagan to the 
DC Court of Appeals, and in 1986, a three-judge panel (2–1) vacated Greene’s 
decision and remanded the case for further review. Writing for the majority, 
future Supreme Court Justice Ruth Bader Ginsburg concluded that Greene 
had incorrectly analyzed Section 212(a)(27) when he granted summary judg-
ment in favor of the government and that questions of material fact re-
mained in the case. She also expressed concern regarding his reliance on clas-
sified evidence not disclosed to the plaintiffs to render his decision and 
justify exclusion, which she argued was unfair and undermined the adver-
sarial system.97

Judge Ginsburg’s interpretation was the same as Caffrey’s. The provisions 
of Section 212(a)(27) and (a)(28) were not interchangeable, and thus required 
independent reasons to support exclusion. The government’s concern about 
what Borge, Pasti, Finlay, and Lezcano might say in the United States stemmed 
from their membership in organizations or affiliation with governments 
and thereby fell under the (a)(28) category, and not from their anticipated 
activities or mere presence under (a)(27). According to Ginsburg, “A reason 
that is in addition to the fact of membership but not independent of that fact 
provides an insufficient bulwark against the possibility of Executive evasion 
of the will of Congress as expressed in the McGovern Amendment.”98

After reviewing the legislative history of Section  212(a)(27) in the 
McCarran-Walter Act, which she described as “terse and tugs in more than 
one direction,” Ginsburg concluded that while the text of (a)(27) explicitly 
listed “activities” and not mere presence within the United States, the inter-
pretation of the statute had included presence in certain circumstances where 
the foreigner was a member or associated with a terrorist or criminal organ
ization or brutal, authoritarian regime. Greene should have required the gov-
ernment to produce more examples of this interpretation of (a)(27) and pro-
vide the plaintiffs with the chance to refute them and offer counter-examples. 
Yet, visa denials based on a generalization about affiliations or member-
ship in organizations was a “brand of guilt by association Congress sought 
to check” with the McGovern Amendment. Thus, Ginsburg held that the 
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government could exclude under (a)(27) only if it established a reason indepen
dent from membership in and affiliation with an organization under (a)(28).99

Ginsburg concluded with a reminder that the plenary power doctrine re-
quired judicial deference to the executive branch, but it did not eliminate ju-
dicial review entirely. “The Executive has broad discretion over the admission 
and exclusion of aliens, but that discretion is not boundless,” she wrote. “It 
extends only as far as the statutory authority conferred by Congress and may 
not transgress constitutional limitations. It is the duty of the courts, in cases 
properly before them, to say where those statutory and constitutional bound
aries lie.”100

In 1988, the DC District Court held that the government had not provided 
sufficiently independent reasons to justify exclusion of Borge, Pasti, Finlay, 
and Lezcano under Section 212(a)(27) and ordered the government to grant 
their visas to enter the United States. At this time, the Moynihan-Frank 
Amendment effectively changed the law and the evaluation of exclusions.101

A year later, the DC Circuit Court held that the Presidential Proclamation 
5377, signed in 1985, which barred Cuban officers of the Cuban Communist 
Party could bar Finlay and Lezcano entry, as it constituted an independent 
reason under Section 212(a)(27). The court also held that Presidential Proc-
lamation 5887, signed in 1988, which suspended entry to officers and em-
ployees of the government of Nicaragua would similarly bar Borge from 
entry to the United States.102

A few months before the DC District Court’s decision, the First Circuit 
Court of Appeals affirmed Caffrey’s decision in Allende v. Shultz. While the 
State Department had since granted Bussi’s application for a visa, Boudin 
sought a declaratory judgment from the court that the government had ex-
ceeded its authority under Section 212(a)(27) and violated the plaintiffs’ First 
Amendment right to receive information. The court agreed, arguing that (a)
(27) pertained to activities and not membership or status, as did (a)(28). It 
noted that the State Department had conceded that its decision to exclude 
Bussi from the United States would have been different if she had intended 
to visit a sick relative rather than deliver speeches. The government’s foreign 
policy concern did not change the fact that this concern “flows directly from 
anticipated content of [Bussi’s] speech in the United States and anticipated 
reaction of American audiences.” Under the Moynihan-Frank Amendment, 
this concern was not a legitimate basis for exclusion.103

The decision was a victory for Boudin and also his last major case. He died 
a year later, in 1989. His obituary in the New York Times discussed the celebrated 
civil liberties lawyer’s impressive legal career, including his successful 
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Supreme Court challenge to ideological passport restrictions in Kent v. Dulles 
(1958), establishing the fundamental right to travel. It named some of his 
clients—Paul Robeson, Daniel Ellsberg, Julian Bond, and Dr. Benjamin Spock.

The obituary also included descriptions of his children. His son, Michael 
Boudin, was a deputy assistant attorney general in the antitrust division of 
the Justice Department. His daughter, Kathy Boudin, was a former member 
of the Weathermen serving a prison sentence for her involvement in the 
Brink’s armored truck felony-murder in 1981 after living underground as a 
fugitive. She had fled an explosion in Greenwich Village killing three fellow 
Weathermen after their accidental detonation of a bomb in 1970.104

Yet, Boudin’s obituary did not mention Ernest Mandel or Hortensia Bussi 
de Allende. It did not mention his other successes in the Supreme Court, in-
cluding Lamont v. Postmaster General (1965), establishing the right to receive in-
formation under the First Amendment, or Kleindienst v. Mandel (1972), estab-
lishing the right of Americans to challenge the exclusion of foreigners as a 
violation of their First Amendment right to hear and receive information. 
These cases and clients are an important part of Boudin’s significant legacy 
and of the history of ideological exclusion, immigration, and First Amend-
ment freedoms in the United States.

In 1998, the NECLC was absorbed by the Center for Constitutional Rights 
(CCR), a human rights legal organization focusing on First Amendment, im-
migration, and civil liberties cases. Founded in 1966, CCR had consistently 
represented civil and human rights activists, protesters, and immigrants and 
immigrant activists. In the 1980s, CCR challenged human rights violations 
in Nicaragua and Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) surveillance of the US-
based Committee in Solidarity with the People of El Salvador (CISPES). A 
lawyer named David Cole went to work for CCR shortly after graduating from 
Yale Law School in 1984. Cole’s first trial was his defense of Margaret Ran-
dall, a poet, photographer, and activist who had lived in Mexico, Nicaragua, 
and Cuba. Randall was born in New York City in 1936, and when she returned 
in the 1980s, the Reagan administration sought to deport her under the 
McCarran-Walter Act for advocating the doctrines of “world communism.” 
The administration unsuccessfully argued that Randall had forfeited her US 
citizenship when she obtained Mexican citizenship in the 1960s.105

Like Boudin, Cole would pursue a legal career in civil liberties and First 
Amendment law. Whereas Boudin’s career traced anti-Communism from the 
late 1930s to the end of the Cold War, Cole’s legal representation in the 1980s 
and 1990s and into the twenty-first century would follow the transition from 
Communism to terrorism as the object of fear within the United States.
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The Shift toward Terrorism

In 1986, the Reagan administration created the Alien Border Control Com-
mittee as part of its counterterrorism strategy. The committee examined pro-
posals for the deportation of those with links to international terrorism and 
visa restrictions to foreigners “likely to be supportive of terrorist activity 
within the United States,” as well as for the Immigration and Naturalization 
Service (INS) to receive more access to Central Intelligence Agency data.106 
According to Cole, the committee developed a plan to selectively deport for-
eign activists who were critical of the United States and its foreign policy, spe-
cifically targeting activists “not in conformity with their immigration status” 
and deporting them by using existing law, including terrorism provisions, as 
well as secret, classified evidence.107

The Popular Front for the Liberation of Palestine (PFLP) was a Marxist-
Leninist group affiliated with the PLO, which was critical of US foreign 
policy and of its support of Israel in the Middle East. Founded in 1967 by 
George Habash, the PFLP had been affiliated with the PLO since 1968, but 
maintained its autonomy. Beginning in the late 1960s, members of the PFLP 
had been responsible for a series of terrorist acts abroad, focusing on Israeli 
targets and often involving plane hijackings or airport and ground attacks.

In the 1980s and 1990s, Cole represented immigrants in the United States 
who were members of or linked to the PFLP. Two cases reveal the government’s 
use of the McCarran-Walter Act and the Moynihan-Frank Amendment to de-
port based on guilt by association with the PFLP and the interpretation of 
these laws in federal courts that prevented their deportation. These cases 
raised questions regarding membership, affiliation, designation, support, and 
confidential evidence familiar from previous cases concerning alleged Com-
munists and affiliations with Communist organizations. Judges also turned 
to legal precedent from the 1940s and 1950s to guide them in determining 
whether Cole’s clients fell under the terrorist restrictions and if those restric-
tions were unconstitutional.

In 1986, the INS sought to deport Fouad Yacoub Rafeedie, a legal perma-
nent resident who had emigrated from the West Bank in 1975 and was living 
with his family in Ohio. Rafeedie was an outspoken critic of the United States’ 
support of Israel and its foreign policy in the Middle East and advocated for 
Palestinian rights, publishing articles and speaking on television and radio. 
He was also a member of Arab and Palestinian political and cultural organ
izations in the United States. Returning from a brief trip to Syria, he was 
stopped at the border by INS, which then pursued his deportation, deeming 
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him excludable under the McCarran-Walter Act. Based on confidential infor-
mation submitted to the DC District Court, the INS claimed that Rafeedie 
attended a meeting of the Palestinian Youth Organization (PYO) while in Syria 
and that PYO was an affiliate of PFLP. It alleged Rafeedie was a “high-ranking 
member” of the PFLP.108

In Rafeedie v. INS (1988), DC District Court Judge Joyce Hens Green held 
Rafeedie could not be deported under the Moynihan-Frank Amendment to 
the McCarran-Walter Act. Green determined that the PLO exception applied 
only to the PLO and not to alleged affiliates like the PFLP. Green then turned 
to the terrorist activity exception. The government’s case was based on guilt 
by association. It had not shown that Rafeedie was likely to engage in terrorist 
activity (“organizing, abetting or participating in a wanton or indiscriminate 
act of violence”) after entry or had engaged in such activity in the past, as an 
individual or as part of any organization.

The government claimed that Rafeedie had fundraised and recruited for 
the PFLP, but offered no evidence. Green looked to the conference report in 
Congress accompanying the Moynihan-Frank Amendment, which she found 
broadly interpreted the provision to include recruiting and financing or fund
raising. Cole argued that such activity should be read as “activity specific” in 
the context of terrorist activities, to facilitate terrorism and not just to pro-
vide funds for the organization. Some activities might not pertain to ter-
rorism. Green was skeptical.109

“Conceivably, under some circumstances, [Rafeedie’s] fundraising and re-
cruiting might be characterized as passive, innocent, or in furtherance of 
advocacy or speech,” Green wrote. “On the other hand, the money may well 
have been raised directly for the PFLP’s ‘war chest’ to finance its activities, in-
cluding terrorist activities.” Because the government did not provide a de-
scription of the evidence of Rafeedie’s recruiting or fundraising, it was im-
possible to determine if his alleged activities “did in fact directly aid the PFLP 
in carrying out terrorist activities or whether they were clearly for nonter-
rorist purposes.” Green ended with a discussion of which party bore the 
burden of proof. It might be impossible for both the government and Rafeedie 
to demonstrate that fundraising and recruiting directly supported terrorist 
activity or that it was solely used for innocent purposes. Green concluded that 
a foreigner “assumes this risk of proof when he becomes involved with a ter-
rorist organization and does not clearly delimit his activities on its behalf.”110

Rafeedie was not deported, but his case revealed how similarly situated 
immigrants were vulnerable to deportation based on their associations 
and memberships in organizations the government considered terrorist 
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organizations and through material support such as recruiting or fund
raising. The same could also apply to exclusion cases. In her decision, Green 
did not address whether Rafeedie knew or had reason to know that the PFLP 
was considered a terrorist organization by the government, and that his as-
sociation and activities could be used as grounds to deport him. Green did, 
however, raise the question and possibility of “innocent” support to a ter-
rorist organization and limiting one’s support to lawful as opposed to ter-
rorist activities.

Reflecting this shift to terrorism, another case focused on affiliation and 
membership. The “Los Angeles Eight” (LA 8) case began in January 1987, 
when FBI and INS officials arrested seven Palestinians and one Kenyan im-
migrant in Los Angeles, California and charged them with being affiliated 
with the PFLP, which it claimed advocated the doctrines of “world commu-
nism” and thus made them subject to deportation under Section 212(a)(28) 
of the McCarran-Walter Act. The government abandoned those grounds, and 
a few months later switched to other provisions. Two of the Palestinians, 
Khader Musa Hamide and Michel Ibrahim Shehadeh (both legal permanent 
residents), were charged under a provision in the McCarran-Walter Act, Sec-
tion 241(a)(6)(F)(iii), for being members of or affiliating with an organization 
that “advocates or teaches the unlawful damage, injury or destruction of 
property.” The other six were charged under other provisions, not pertaining 
to advocacy or membership.111

While Hamide and Shehadeh were in the midst of administrative appeals 
of their deportation orders, the other six and the American-Arab Anti-
Discrimination Committee (ADC) requested a declaratory judgment, chal-
lenging the constitutionality of this provision under the McCarran-Walter 
Act, which they argued posed an immediate threat of deportation and 
chilled their First Amendment right to free expression and association 
within the United States. They cited the government’s efforts to deport those 
affiliated with the PFLP, including Rafeedie, and the government’s switch to 
different provisions of the McCarran-Walter Act in order to deport. The INS 
had not disavowed its intent to deport these six on similar charges in the 
future.112

In ADC v. Meese (1989), California District Court Judge Stephen V. Wilson 
struck down the ideological deportation provisions in the McCarran-Walter 
Act as unconstitutionally overbroad and thus chilling speech and association 
protections and violating the First Amendment. In his decision, he directly 
confronted the question posed by ideological deportation and discussed by 
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scholars, advocates, and jurists for nearly a century. Wilson held that non-
citizens within the United States were entitled to the same First Amendment 
protections and safeguards as citizens and subject to the same standards of 
judicial review.113

Wilson then turned to the Supreme Court’s decision in Harisiades v. 
Shaughnessy (1952). While the court had upheld deportation and deferred to 
Congress under the plenary power doctrine, the decision was consistent 
with the suppression of Communist expression and association under the 
prevailing First Amendment standard at the time, Dennis v. United States 
(1951). Wilson rearticulated Zechariah Chafee Jr.’s argument that the Bill of 
Rights did not distinguish between citizens and noncitizens, and then cited 
Justice Frank Murphy’s concurring opinion in Bridges v. Wixon (1945), re-
marking on the disparity between rights held within the United States and 
within the deportation setting, which made such an “empty mockery of 
human freedom.”114

Wilson concluded his opinion by applying the current First Amendment 
standard to the ideological deportation provisions in the McCarran-Walter 
Act, which they failed. Under Brandenburg v. Ohio (1969), the First Amend-
ment protected advocacy unless it was directed to incite lawless activity 
that was imminent and likely to occur. The McCarran-Walter provisions 
were overbroad, encompassing protected advocacy, and thus violated the 
First Amendment.115

During President George H. W. Bush’s administration, Congress finally 
passed immigration reform addressing the exclusion and deportation cate-
gories. The legislation focused on terrorism and closed perceived loopholes. 
The Immigration Act of 1990 amended the McCarran-Walter Act and simply 
did not include the ideological exclusion provisions in Sections 212(a)(27) and 
(28).116 The 1990 act incorporated Sofaer’s proposed text to replace (a)(27) 
by excluding foreigners if their entry or activities in the United States “would 
have potentially serious adverse foreign policy consequences for the United 
States.”117 It also incorporated the Moynihan-Frank Amendment, prohibiting 
exclusion or restrictions on entry based on past, present, and future expected 
beliefs, associations, and expressions.118 This included foreign government 
officials. Addressing John Roberts’s foreign policy concern, there was an 
exception for all nonofficials if the secretary of state determined the admis-
sion would “compromise a compelling foreign policy interest.” The secretary 
was required to report the name and provide the reason for the exclusion to 
Congress.
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While the 1990 act eliminated exclusions based on “world commu-
nism” or what would be “prejudicial to the public interest,” it incorporated 
the Moynihan-Frank Amendment exception for anyone who “engaged in 
terrorist activity or is likely to engage in terrorist activity upon entry to 
the United States.” The definition of terrorist activity focused on action 
(such as hijacking, sabotage, assassination, and use of biological weapons 
or explosives).119 The terrorist activity provision also included anyone 
who knowingly provided “any type of material support” to an actor who 
that person “knows or has reason to believe has committed or plans to 
commit” terrorist activity. Such support included planning and preparation, 
communication, gathering information, recruiting, and funds, as well as 
the “soliciting of funds or other things of value” for a terrorist organ
ization or terrorist activity.120 The 1990 act excluded officers and high-
ranking officials in the PLO and explicitly designated the PLO as a terrorist 
organization.121

Congress and President Bill Clinton felt increased public pressure to pass 
antiterrorism legislation after the World Trade Center attack in 1993 and after 
the Oklahoma City bombing in 1995.122 The Antiterrorism and Effective 
Death Penalty Act of 1996 (AEDPA) left tremendous power and discretion in 
the hands of the secretary of state to designate a group a Foreign Terrorist 
Organization (FTO) and to determine if it “engages in terrorist activity.” AEDPA 
criminalized “material support” to a designated FTO, and membership in and 
material support to a designated FTO were grounds for exclusion and depor-
tation. In 1997, Secretary of State Madeleine Albright added Hamas, Hez
bollah, and the PFLP to the FTO list. AEDPA authorized the use of classified, 
secret evidence in terrorist deportation cases without full disclosure to the 
deportee and provided for the immediate detention of deportees subject to 
special removal proceedings.123

The Moynihan-Frank Amendment and the Immigration Act of 1990 re-
quired the government to demonstrate that a foreigner was likely to engage 
or had engaged in terrorist activity either as an individual or in an organ
ization in order to exclude. Under AEDPA, membership in a designated FTO 
was sufficient; it was guilt by association. In Rafeedie v. INS, Judge Green dis-
cussed whether foreigners could limit their material support to lawful activities 
and if the government was required to distinguish between support for ter-
rorist and lawful activities. Green described foreigners as assuming the risk 
of exclusion by providing any support to an organization the US govern-
ment deemed a terrorist organization. Under AEDPA, it appeared that no 
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such delineation or limitation of support mattered. Any support to a desig-
nated FTO constituted material support.

During the 1980s, the Reagan administration sought to ideologically exclude 
foreign visitors from the United States and to circumvent the McGovern 
Amendment’s requirement pertaining to explicit exclusions in Section 212(a)
(28) under the McCarran-Walter Act by turning to Section 212(a)(27), an im-
plicit exclusion that barred those engaging in activities prejudicial to the 
public interest or endangering the welfare, safety, or security of the United 
States. It argued that such exclusions were necessary to effect US foreign 
policy and were reflective of that policy. Those excluded, the public, mem-
bers of Congress, and legal advocates dismissed this justification and ar-
gued that the Reagan administration used the law as a form of retaliatory 
exclusion of critics of its foreign policy and those who expressed dissenting 
views they sought to suppress. Congressman Barney Frank seized the op-
portunity to rid the United States of ideological exclusion and deporta-
tion under the McCarran-Walter Act and pushed to revise the law. When 
the ACLU and the PEN American Center joined him in calling for the end 
of ideological exclusions under the act, their arguments rearticulated those 
made in the past regarding the damage done to the United States and its 
reputation abroad and the depiction of the nation as fearful and lacking 
confidence in its own institutions, democratic values, and people.

The NECLC and the ACLU successfully challenged the Reagan adminis-
tration’s use of Section 212(a)(27) in federal courts and reaffirmed the ability 
of individuals and organizations within the United States to challenge exclu-
sions based on the right to receive information and to hear under the First 
Amendment, as established in Kleindienst v. Mandel (1972). Judge Ruth Bader 
Ginsburg held the Reagan administration accountable for its attempts to 
evade statutory requirements by switching to another provision of the 
McCarran-Walter Act to suit its needs and to suppress criticism. She asserted 
that the executive branch did not hold limitless discretion to exclude and 
could not use its discretion to violate the Constitution. The DC Circuit Court 
agreed, but later upheld exclusions based on foreign policy and under Rea-
gan’s use of presidential proclamations to suspend entry to foreign nationals 
under Section 212(f) of the McCarran-Walter Act. The circuit court’s opinion 
showed judicial deference to the president’s exercise of ultimate discretion 
to suspend foreign nationals under this presidential proclamation power.



THREAT OF DISSENT

216

Although Frank succeeded in eliminating ideological exclusion under the 
McCarran-Walter Act through the Moynihan-Frank Amendment, and later 
in the Immigration Act of 1990, these laws paved the way for the shift of ex-
clusions and deportations based on Communism to those based on terrorism. 
This shift and the designation of terrorist organizations and discussions 
of affiliation resembled the shift from suppression of radicalism and anar-
chism in the early twentieth century to Communism in the 1930s and into 
the 1950s. Members of Congress, as well as Labor and Justice Department of-
ficials, had parsed definitions and sought to revise statutes in order to ideo-
logically exclude or deport Communists, as did those who challenged these 
exclusions and deportations. Once the McCarran Act and the McCarran-
Walter Act explicitly included Communists and members of Communist 
organizations as excludable and deportable, as well as using guilt by associa-
tion with designated Communist-front groups, it became harder to prevent 
deportations and exclusions based on belief and association.

Leonard Boudin observed the use of the McCarran-Walter Act from its 
passage at the height of McCarthyism to the Nixon administration and 
through the Reagan administration. He drew on his experiences challenging 
civil liberties and First Amendment violations to establish legal precedent that 
he and his colleagues would later employ in new challenges. Similarly, David 
Cole would take his experiences and perspective as a lawyer at CCR chal-
lenging the McCarran-Walter Act, including the LA 8 and Rafeedie cases, 
during this shift toward terrorism in the late 1980s, and use them to bring more 
legal challenges and develop his arguments.

During the 1990s, Cole joined the Georgetown Law Center faculty and 
continued to represent clients facing civil liberties violations and deporta-
tion. The government also remained determined to deport the LA 8. The 
INS charged members of the LA 8 with material support to a terrorist organ
ization under the Immigration Act of 1990, but a district court ruled that the 
INS had selectively targeted the LA 8 for deportation based on their lawful 
activities and that this violated the First Amendment.

In 1995, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the district court’s 
ruling and noncitizens’ entitlement to First Amendment protections. The INS 
tried again under the Illegal Immigration Reform and Immigrant Responsi-
bility Act of 1996 (IIRIRA), arguing that its provisions stripped federal courts 
of judicial review of the attorney general’s decision to commence action or 
execute removal orders, thus barring the court from review for selective 
deportation. The district court and court of appeals again held in favor of 
the LA 8 and their First Amendment claims.124
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In Reno v. ADC (1999), a 8–1 decision, the Supreme Court held in favor of 
the attorney general and the INS. Writing for the majority, Justice Antonin 
Scalia argued that under the plenary power doctrine, Congress had the power 
to regulate immigration, which included stripping power from the courts to 
review decisions by the executive branch regarding selective enforcement 
claims, such as the LA 8’s selective deportation claim under the First Amend-
ment. Scalia then appeared to contradict Justice Murphy, Judge Wilson, and 
the Ninth Circuit’s contention that noncitizens and citizens were entitled to 
the same First Amendment protection.125

“When an alien’s continuing presence in this country is in violation of the 
immigration laws, the Government does not offend the Constitution by de-
porting him for the additional reason that it believes him to be a member of 
an organization that supports terrorist activity,” he wrote.126 Scalia appeared 
to be placing challenges to selective enforcement in deportation proceedings 
outside of First Amendment protections for foreign noncitizens, as well as dis-
missing First Amendment protection for lawful activities and associations if 
the government believed the foreign noncitizen was a member of an organ
ization that provides support for terrorist activity. Scalia did not specify 
whether that organization was a designated FTO or if that support included 
lawful activities.

Scalia did not address whether lawful activities by members of a desig-
nated FTO or as material support to a designated FTO fell outside First 
Amendment protections for US citizens. This expanded the questions raised 
by Judge Green and Cole’s defense of Rafeedie. A decade later, Cole would 
bring this question and a First Amendment challenge to the Supreme Court, 
and the United States would use material support provisions to ideologically 
exclude and suppress dissent. The Cold War had come to a close, and the new 
War on Terror had begun.
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ON T HE MORNI NG OF SEPTEMBER  11, 2001, nineteen members of the rad-
ical extremist Sunni Islamist and Salafi jihadist global terrorist organization, 
al-Qaeda, located in Afghanistan, hijacked four American passenger planes 
and deliberately crashed them into the World Trade Center towers in New 
York and the Pentagon in Virginia; one of the planes did not reach its target 
and crashed in Pennsylvania. Approximately 3,000 people died in what was 
considered the most devastating terrorist attack in American history. The hi-
jackers were all of Middle Eastern descent, chosen by Osama Bin Laden, the 
leader of al-Qaeda. Their preparation included obtaining visas to come to the 
United States and training to fly commercial airliners.

Recalling the anti-anarchist fervor and violence that followed President 
William McKinley’s assassination in 1901, the weeks after the attacks on 
“9 / 11” saw some seeking revenge by attacking individuals of Middle Eastern 
or South Asian descent, treating them as scapegoats or suspects.1 The Jus-
tice Department coordinated efforts to interrogate, detain, and deport Middle 
Eastern immigrants or visitors on visas as “material witnesses” or as preven-
tative measures, without due process or access to legal counsel.2 Stunned by 
such a devastating terrorist attack within the United States, an anxious na-
tion called on the government to protect it.3

On September 20, 2001, President George W. Bush addressed a joint ses-
sion of Congress and the public and announced the United States’ “War on 
Terror.” This war “will not end until every terrorist group of global reach has 
been found, stopped, and defeated,” he stated. “We will direct every resource 
at our command, every means of diplomacy, every tool of intelligence, every 
instrument of law enforcement, every financial influence, and every neces-
sary weapon of war, to the disruption and to the defeat of the global terror 
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network.” Bush encouraged other nations to join the United States in its War 
on Terror, but his message was polarizing. There was no room for dissent in 
this war: “Either you are with us, or you are with the terrorists.”4

A century earlier, the War on Anarchy had declared war on belief, asso-
ciation, and expression considered by many lawmakers, jurists, and members 
of the public to be inextricably linked to violence and the overthrow of gov-
ernment by force. Conversely, the War on Terror was a war on violence used 
to inflict harm and provoke fear, yet efforts to fight this war often focused on 
beliefs, associations, and expressions of dissent. The laws used to prevent ter-
rorist attacks were broad and encompassed lawful advocacy and nonviolent 
activities and associations. The War on Terror also represented the comple-
tion of a shift toward ideological restrictions based on terrorism that began 
in the 1980s and had continued through the 1990s. If the 1980s and 1990s 
had opened a back door to guilt by association with terrorist organizations 
and suppression through material support provisions, the United States 
walked through that door after 9 / 11.

During the Bush and Obama administrations, and then into the Trump 
administration, laws and restrictions used and passed to fight the War on 
Terror in the name of national security raised familiar concerns, as did judi-
cial deference under the plenary power doctrine and public officials’ use and 
abuse of discretion to exclude or deport from the United States. Civil liber-
ties lawyers brought legal challenges to ideological exclusions and organ
izations such as the American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU) took action 
through media campaigns and protests. They argued that civil liberties did 
not have to be violated to conduct the War on Terror and that national se-
curity concerns did not justify suppression of dissent and speech chilling or 
policies that discriminated based on race, ethnicity, religion, and view-
point. Members of the public returned to comparisons with previous re-
strictions and historical examples of repression in the name of national se-
curity. They also reiterated arguments that exclusions reflected a fearful 
nation, undermining America’s image as a democracy and identity as a na-
tion of immigrants.

“Fear and Freedom Are at War”

President Bush’s September 20 address included a declaration that “fear and 
freedom are at war.” Americans were free, and the terrorists wanted to de-
stroy that freedom and make them fearful and vulnerable to attack.5 Thus, 
those in the United States were presented with a false dichotomy: freedom 
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or security. You are either with us or against us. The rhetoric and choice be-
tween security and civil liberties were similar to the Federalists’ rhetoric and 
defense of the Alien Friends Act in 1798.

Within days after the attacks, members of Congress proposed bills to 
strengthen security measures, incorporating many changes to criminal, im-
migration, financial, and intelligence law.6 On October 26, 2001, Bush signed 
“The Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Re-
quired to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act” (USA PATRIOT Act).7 This 
act removed barriers between foreign intelligence and law enforcement of-
ficials, and it included enhanced surveillance and information gathering and 
sharing from websites, “sneak and peek” warrants, and “roving wiretaps” of 
citizens and noncitizens.8

Congress swiftly passed the USA PATRIOT Act. It approved the 342-page 
omnibus bill, with a vote in the House of 357 to 66 and in the Senate of 98 to 
1. The lone dissenter in the Senate was Russ Feingold (D-WI). Feingold argued 
the act posed a threat to civil liberties by eliminating constitutional protec-
tions for freedom of speech and due process and against illegal searches and 
seizures. He was particularly concerned about racial and religious profiling 
and surveillance.9

Attorney General John Ashcroft dismissed concerns and criticism of the 
USA PATRIOT Act during his testimony before the Senate Judiciary Com-
mittee on December 6, 2001: “We need honest, reasoned debate, not fear-
mongering. To those who scare peace-loving people with phantoms of lost 
liberty, my message is this: Your tactics only aid terrorists, for they erode our 
national unity and diminish our resolve. They give ammunition to Ameri
ca’s enemies and pause to America’s friends. They encourage people of good-
will to remain silent in the face of evil.”10

In 2002, a year after the attacks on 9 / 11, the ACLU launched a new public 
campaign, Keeping America “Safe and Free” as an alternative to what it per-
ceived as the Bush administration’s “Safe or Free” dichotomy and as a rebuke 
to Ashcroft.11 Congress created a new agency, the Department of Homeland 
Security (DHS). In 2003, the Immigration and Naturalization Service (INS) 
was reorganized and divided into the US Citizenship and Immigration Ser
vices (USCIS), US Immigration and Customs Enforcement (ICE), and US Cus-
toms and Border Protection (CBP). In the years that followed, the War on 
Terror demonstrated that the lost liberties were not “phantoms.”

Whistleblowers in the National Security Agency under DHS revealed 
the vast data-mining collection during the War on Terror and surveillance of 
noncitizens and citizens. Under the Bush and Obama administrations, CBP 
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agents were authorized to check phones and laptops of any American citizen 
or foreign-born noncitizen entering the United States at the border. These 
phone and laptop checks raised privacy concerns, as well as questions of 
Fourth Amendment protections against unreasonable searches and seizures 
without probable cause and First Amendment protections against speech 
chilling and the suppression of expression.12

No-fly lists and terror watchlists also raised issues regarding rights 
and protections of American citizens and foreign nationals entering the 
United States. “Lookout” lists had been in effect since the early twentieth 
century in the State Department and passport office. Those who found 
themselves excluded did not know why or how they appeared on the list and 
had to challenge their exclusion, often through litigation and filing Freedom 

Attorney General John Ashcroft depicted as a Puritan evocative of James 
Montgomery Flagg’s iconic Uncle Sam “i want you for u.s. army” recruiting 
poster in 1917 in “i want your civil liberties,” by Ann Telnaes, published in  
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of Information Act (FOIA) requests. The lookout lists were consolidated 
after 9 / 11, and many found that they were on the no-fly list and prevented 
from traveling to or from the United States with no explanation.13

The conflation of terrorism with Middle Eastern and Muslim immigrants 
and Arab Americans was not new and did not start after 9 / 11. It began in 
the 1970s and 1980s with a string of terrorist attacks abroad, including hi-
jackings and bombings during the Carter and Reagan administrations, as well 
as with the World Trade Center bombing in 1993. The attacks on 9 / 11 exac-
erbated and perpetuated existing stereotypes and presumptions that disloy-
alty and subversion were linked to nationality, ethnicity, or religion.14 This 
resulted in surveillance of Arab American, Middle Eastern, and Muslim com-
munities and profiling at airports and subway stations. The Countering Violent 
Extremism Task Force manifested a discriminatory focus on these commu-
nities, rather than on those espousing white nationalist and white suprem-
acist extremism, as did the National Security Entry-Exit Registration 
System (NSEERS), which targeted foreign nationals from Muslim-majority 
countries for special screening and registration.15

The ACLU challenged civil rights and liberties violations, including 
those under the USA PATRIOT Act, in a fearful atmosphere of suspicion 
and surveillance that included guilt by association, intimidation, and speech 
chilling.16 The ACLU and various organizations such as the Center for Con-
stitutional Rights and the PEN American Center worked together to bring 
legal challenges in all areas, including ideological exclusion and material 
support to terrorism.

Ideological Exclusion and Material Support

Beginning in 2003 and continuing into 2007, the ACLU began to document 
a number of ideological exclusion cases and took the lead in challenging 
their constitutionality. In its report called “The Excluded: Ideological Exclu-
sion and the War on Ideas,” the ACLU detailed over a dozen such exclusions 
from the United States.17

The report began by describing ideological exclusion as a “discredited 
practice,” recounting those ideologically excluded under the McCarran-Walter 
Act of 1952 such as Gabriel García Márquez, Pablo Neruda, and Carlos Fuentes, 
and the efforts to restrict, revise, or repeal the act, including the McGovern 
Amendment and the Moynihan-Frank Amendment.18

Noting that the Immigration Act of 1990 reduced the exclusion catego-
ries, the ACLU declared, “Ideological exclusion was thrown into the dustbin 
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of history, which is where it should have remained.” During the first six years 
of the War on Terror, the Bush administration had now revived ideological 
exclusion under the USA PATRIOT Act and existing terrorist provisions.19

According to the ACLU, a number of professors were among those ex-
cluded. Dora María Téllez, a former Sandinista and minister of health in Ni-
caragua, was a professor at the Central American University in Managua and 
had traveled to the United States on many occasions. In 2003, Téllez accepted 
a position as a visiting professor in Latin American Studies at Harvard Uni-
versity. In preparation, she sought to enroll in English training classes in the 
United States and applied for a student visa, but she was denied on the ground 
that she had previously engaged in “terrorist activity.” After her exclusion, 
Téllez had to resign from her visiting professorship.20

Adam Habib, a South African scholar, political analyst, and human rights 
activist, found himself excluded from the United States in 2006. Habib had 
traveled to the United States a number of times since 9 / 11 and had previously 
lived there for three years while earning his PhD from the City University of 
New York. When he arrived at John F. Kennedy airport to attend some meet-
ings in the United States, Habib was detained for seven hours. He initially as-
sumed it was because he was a Muslim and the interrogation was a form of 
harassment, but Habib described being asked repeatedly about his political 
views and associations. Habib had publicly criticized US foreign policy and 
the war in Iraq. After the interrogation, which he compared to the questioning 
he had received in South Africa during apartheid, officials revoked his visa 
and put him on a plane back to South Africa. A few months later, visas for 
Habib’s wife and two sons were revoked, causing his eldest son to miss a two-
week long Junior Ambassadors Program in the United States. The ACLU 
noted that Habib might also have been excluded as part of a pattern of de-
nying entry to other South African Muslims.21

After contacting the State Department, Habib learned that his visa had 
been revoked “prudentially” under a provision in the McCarran-Walter Act. 
He received no further explanation. Then, upon accepting an invitation 
to speak at an American Sociological Association (ASA) conference, he ap-
plied for another visa, but the status of his application remained pending, 
and he was unable to attend the conference. In 2007, the ACLU and ASA 
sued the State Department and DHS, and challenged the constitutionality of 
Habib’s exclusion.22

During this time, the ideological exclusion of a professor that received 
the most public attention was the visa denial to Swiss scholar Tariq Ra-
madan under the USA PATRIOT Act. Tariq Ramadan was born in Geneva, 
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Switzerland in 1962 to a prominent Egyptian Muslim family; his grandfather, 
Hassan al-Banna, founded the Muslim Brotherhood in 1928. He studied phi-
losophy and French literature at the University of Geneva, where he also re-
ceived a PhD in Arabic and Islamic studies. A prolific writer and popular 
lecturer and commentator on Islam and the West, Ramadan was considered 
one of Europe’s “most influential and provocative Muslim thinkers.”23 Ra-
madan promoted a liberal, reformist vision of Islam, in which Muslims inte-
grated into Western society, but also retained their Muslim identity. He 
argued that Muslim women should not be forced to wear a hijab, but they 
should be free to wear one. Ramadan denounced terrorism and the charac-
terization of Islam as a violent religion, but he was also a controversial figure. 
Ramadan expressed criticism of Israel, the War on Terror, and “Jewish 
French intellectuals,” and he was accused of “double-talk” and criticized for 
views perceived to condone violence and extremism, reflect Islamic funda-
mentalism, and reveal anti-Semitism.24

In January 2004, the University of Notre Dame offered Ramadan a ten-
ured professorship to teach Islamic studies in its Institute for International 
Peace and Justice. Ramadan accepted the position. Notre Dame submitted 
a work visa on Ramadan’s behalf, which was approved in May 2004. Ra-
madan and his family made arrangements for their move to the United 
States, scheduled for early August, but on July 28, the US embassy in Bern 
revoked his visa without explanation.25 The consulate advised Ramadan 
that he could reapply for a visa, which he did, on October 4, but when Ra-
madan had not received a response by December 13, he resigned from his 
position.26

Section  411 of the USA PATRIOT Act had added a provision to the 
McCarran-Walter Act that excluded foreigners who “have used [their] posi-
tion of prominence within any country to endorse or espouse terrorist ac-
tivity, or to persuade others to support terrorist activity or a terrorist organ
ization, in a way that the Secretary of State has determined undermines United 
States efforts to reduce or eliminate terrorist activities.”27 A spokesman for 
DHS stated that Ramadan’s visa had been revoked because he endorsed or 
espoused terrorist activity under Section 411.28

Ramadan was “shocked” by his visa revocation and by the reason. “I had 
consistently opposed terrorism in all of its forms, and still do,” he wrote in 
“Why I’m Banned in the USA,” published in the Washington Post. “And, before 
2004, I had visited the United States frequently to lecture, attend conferences 
and meet with other scholars. I had been an invited speaker at conferences 
or lectures sponsored by Harvard University, Stanford, Princeton and the 
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William Jefferson Clinton Presidential Foundation. None of these institu-
tions seemed to consider me a threat to national security.”29

Ramadan’s exclusion troubled many American scholars. “I worry about 
the implications for academic freedom and more generally for freedom of 
speech and openness of American society,” said Scott Appleby, a professor 
at Notre Dame’s Institute for International Peace and Justice. Describing the 
importance of Ramadan’s views on Islam and foreign policy to American stu-
dents, Appleby explained, “A secondary, more subtle level of concern is 
about how ready we are as a society to hear a discourse that is authentically 
Muslim, not an extremist discourse but one that is critical of U.S. policy.”30 “I 
fear for the future of American education,” wrote Molly Greene, an Ottoman 
Empire scholar and professor at Princeton University. “Are we going to re-
treat from the world and deny our students access to anyone whose views, 
they, or the government, might find uncomfortable?”31

The ACLU and PEN American Center stepped in to help Ramadan chal-
lenge his exclusion. Using the legal strategy introduced in the Ernest Mandel 
case, they arranged for American institutions, including the American As-
sociation of University Professors (AAUP) and the American Academy of Re-
ligion (AAR) to invite Ramadan to deliver lectures and to attend confer-
ences. On September 16, 2005, Ramadan applied for a visa to visit the United 
States to participate in these events. DHS officials did not proceed in an-
swering Ramadan’s visa request.

On January 25, 2006, the “American Plaintiffs”—the ACLU, AAUP, AAR 
and PEN—filed a Complaint in a US district court in New York challenging 
Ramadan’s exclusion from the United States as violating their First Amend-
ment right to receive information and to hear Ramadan and his views.32 In 
September, DHS responded that Ramadan was excluded from the United 
States, not for “endorsing or espousing terrorist activity,” but for providing 
material support to a terrorist organization under the REAL ID Act of 2005, 
which broadened existing statutes to include support to undesignated ter-
rorist organizations that provided material support to designated terrorist 
organizations.33 Similar to the Reagan administration’s switch from using 
Section 212(a)(28) to using Section 212(a)(27) of the McCarran-Walter Act to 
deny visas in the 1980s, DHS had switched to another statutory provision in 
order to exclude Ramadan.

According to Ramadan, during an interview for his 2005 visa application, 
DHS officials questioned him about his political views and associations. Ra-
madan told them that, between 1998 and 2002, he had donated approximately 
$1,336 to the Association de Secours Palestinian (ASP).34 In August 2003, the 
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US Treasury Department listed ASP as a fundraiser in Switzerland for Hamas, 
a designated terrorist organization, and listed ASP as a “Specially Designated 
Global Terrorist” organization.35 Based on this 2005 interview, DHS had now 
barred Ramadan from the United States because his donations to ASP con-
stituted material support to Hamas. It argued that Ramadan “reasonably 
should have known” that ASP funded Hamas, and therefore should have 
known his donations were providing support to a designated terrorist 
organization.36

To Ramadan, this contention was absurd. Characterizing ASP as a human-
itarian organization assisting Palestinians, Ramadan asked how he could 
have reasonably known that ASP was funding a terrorist organization, when 
the United States did not designate it as such until a year after Ramadan had 
made his last donation. “I am increasingly convinced that the Bush adminis-
tration has barred me for a much simpler reason: It doesn’t care for my po
litical views,” Ramadan wrote in “Why I’m Banned in the USA.”37

“In recent years, I have publicly criticized U.S. policy in the Middle East, 
the war in Iraq, the use of torture, secret CIA prisons and other government 
actions that undermine fundamental civil liberties,” Ramadan explained. “I 
have called upon Western societies to be more open toward Muslims and to 
regard them as a source of richness, not just of violence or conflict.” He asked, 
“What words do I utter and what views do I hold that are dangerous to Amer-
ican ears, so dangerous, in fact, that I should not be allowed to express them 
on U.S. soil?”38

“I fear that the United States has grown fearful of ideas. I have learned first-
hand that the Bush administration reacts to its critics not by engaging them, 
but by stigmatizing and excluding them,” wrote Ramadan. “Will foreign 
scholars be permitted to enter the United States only if they promise to mute 
their criticisms of U.S. policy? It saddens me to think of the effect this will 
have on the free exchange of ideas, on political debate within America, and 
on our ability to bridge differences across cultures.”39

In 2007, the US district court in New York upheld Ramadan’s exclusion. 
Citing Kleindienst v. Mandel (1972), Judge Paul Crotty held that DHS had pre-
sented a “facially legitimate and bona fide reason” to justify excluding Ramadan 
for material support to a terrorist organization.40 Crotty explained that the 
REAL ID Act’s material support provision applied retroactively to Ramadan, 
and included donations to ASP prior to its special designation as a charity 
funding Hamas, a designated terrorist organization. Under the doctrine of 
consular non-reviewability, Crotty deferred to the decision by DHS officials 
that Ramadan did not demonstrate that he did not know or should not have 
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reasonably known that ASP was supporting Hamas, and therefore, Rama-
dan’s donations to ASP were donations to Hamas.41 The ACLU appealed.

In 2009, the Second Circuit Court of Appeals reversed Crotty’s decision, 
but it did so narrowly. The court upheld the United States’ right to exclude 
Ramadan for material support to a terrorist organization and the application 
of the REAL ID Act’s material support provision to Ramadan, but it rejected 
Crotty’s deference to the DHS officials and his holding.42 Under this provi-
sion, the consular official “was required to confront Ramadan with the 
allegation against him and afford him the subsequent opportunity to dem-
onstrate by clear and convincing evidence that he did not know, and reason-
ably should not have known, that the recipient of his contributions was a 
terrorist organization.”43 DHS officials did not give Ramadan this opportu-
nity when they denied his visa application. Therefore, the court remanded 
the case to DHS for further proceedings, so Ramadan could produce such 
evidence in his defense.44

Ramadan and the ACLU celebrated this legal victory. Although, a narrow 
decision, the Second Circuit had given them hope that one day, Ramadan 
would be able to obtain a visa and come to the United States.45 “I am very 
gratified with the court’s decision,” remarked Ramadan. “I am eager to en-
gage once again with Americans in the kinds of face-to-face discussions that 
are central to academic exchange and crucial to bridging cultural divides.”46 
Melissa Goodman, one of Ramadan’s ACLU attorneys, called on the Obama 
administration to “immediately end Professor Ramadan’s exclusion.” She 
added, “We also encourage the new administration to reconsider the exclu-
sion of other foreign scholars, writers and artists who were barred from the 
country by the Bush administration on ideological grounds.”47

On January 20, 2010, Secretary of State Hillary Clinton signed orders 
rescinding the exclusions of Habib and Ramadan and authorizing the State 
Department to issue visas to both scholars. Clinton cited her discretionary 
authority under the McCarran-Walter Act.48 After Clinton’s order, both 
Ramadan and Habib obtained visas to visit the United States, but the 
McCarran-Walter Act, the USA PATRIOT Act, and the material support stat-
utes remained law.

On April  8, 2010, Ramadan arrived at Newark Liberty International 
Airport with a visa.49 Ramadan received a visa for a five-day visit, which 
included a series of meetings and lectures in Washington, Chicago, Detroit, 
and New York City.50 His first stop was the stage in Cooper Union’s Great 
Hall to participate in a panel discussion, “Secularism, Islam, and Democ-
racy: Muslims in Europe and the West.” A century earlier, Emma Goldman 
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had delivered speeches on that stage condemning John Turner’s exclusion 
under the Alien Immigration Act of 1903. While Ramadan would not share 
the same fate as Turner or Goldman, he would share the same stage and 
contribution to the history of ideological exclusion and deportation in the 
United States.

In the wake of the Second Circuit’s opinion and significant publicity and 
public outcry, Clinton had used her ultimate discretion to admit the scholars, 
while DHS officials and the Bush administration had used their discretion to 
exclude them. The cases served as a reminder of the importance of discre-
tion and of who holds that discretion to determine the fate of foreigners 
seeking to enter the United States, as well as the potential for abuse of discre-
tion under the law.

The Ramadan case also illustrated how material support, including do-
nations to organizations, could be used as grounds for exclusion. It raised 
questions about how restrictions on material support could be used to sup-
press free expression and association of individuals and organizations within 
the United States, and whether those restrictions were constitutional.

Since the 1990s, David Cole had continued to teach at Georgetown Law 
Center and to provide legal representation in civil liberties and terrorism 
cases. The US government had also continued to try to deport Cole’s clients, 
Khader Musa Hamide and Michel Ibrahim Shehadeh, in the “Los Angeles 
Eight” (LA 8) case, until an immigration judge, Bruce J. Einhorn, dismissed 
the case in 2007. Einhorn revealed that the government had admitted long 
ago that it did not have evidence against Hamide and Shehadeh, and that the 
pursuit to deport them for their affiliations with the Popular Front for the Lib-
eration of Palestine (PFLP) was intended to suppress dissent and their lawful 
activities and advocacy. Einhorn described the government’s effort to deport 
these two men over the course of two decades as “an embarrassment to the 
rule of law.”51

During the early years of the War on Terror, Cole wrote Enemy Aliens: 
Double Standards and Constitutional Freedoms in the War on Terrorism (2003). The 
book begins with a discussion of civil liberties violations after 9 / 11, and, 
in particular, the targeting of foreign-born noncitizens. He then proceeds 
to mention some of the historical antecedents throughout the twentieth 
century and to draw connections with twenty-first century violations, de-
scribing deportations, detentions, and government surveillance from the 
Red Scare to the Cold War to the War on Terror.52 Cole also chose to turn to 
the past to help understand and inform the present when he revised and re-
published a 1999 book, Terrorism and the Constitution: Sacrificing Civil Liberties 
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in the Name of National Security (2002, 2006), co-authored with James  X. 
Dempsey. In the third edition, they discuss terrorism statutes and legal 
challenges in the 1980s and 1990s and make comparisons with those in the 
War on Terror, concluding that guilt by association with terrorist organ
izations continues to pose a threat to First Amendment protections as it did 
two decades earlier.53

A few weeks before Tariq Ramadan was able to enter the United States and 
take the stage at Cooper Union, Cole had stood before the Supreme Court on 
behalf of the Center for Constitutional Rights (CCR) and argued that the cur-
rent material support statutes were unconstitutionally overbroad and violated 
the First Amendment. CCR represented the Humanitarian Law Project (HLP), 
a human rights organization based in Los Angeles, which held a consultative 
status with the United Nations. According to Cole, the HLP had focused on 
helping Turkey’s Kurdish minority by “encouraging recognition of their basic 
human rights, and promoting a peaceful resolution of their conflict with 
Turkey’s government.” The HLP worked with the Kurdistan Workers’ Party 
(“PKK”), “the principal political organization representing the Kurds in Turkey, 
specifically by training and assisting them in human rights advocacy.” How-
ever, because “training” fell under material support, the HLP was concerned 
that its work with PKK had become a crime, when the secretary of state listed 
the PKK as a designated foreign terrorist organization (FTO). The HLP joined 
other American groups seeking to challenge the material support law, in-
cluding the Sri Lankan Tamils who wanted to provide support to the Libera-
tion Tigers of Tamil Eelam (LTTE), a designated FTO.54

The definition of material support, originally under the Antiterrorism and 
Death Penalty Act of 1996 (AEDPA) and then under an amendment by a 2004 
law, the Intelligence Reform and Terrorism Prevention Act (IRTPA), included 
“service,” “training,” “expert advice or assistance,” and “personnel.” Cole ar-
gued those terms were unconstitutionally overbroad and vague, encom-
passing lawful activities and association. The HLP and the Tamils wanted to 
engage in lawful, nonviolent activity protected by the First Amendment, but 
potential criminal prosecution for providing material support to a designated 
FTO precluded their activities and advocacy.55

In Holder v. Humanitarian Law Project (2010), a 6-3 decision, the Supreme 
Court upheld the constitutionality of the statute and the definitions of ma-
terial support.56 Writing for the majority, Chief Justice John  G. Roberts  Jr. 
found the terms “training” and “expert advice” were sufficiently specific, 
and the statute had distinguished these terms from what could be consid-
ered “independent advocacy.”57 He also argued that material support could 



THREAT OF DISSENT

230

serve to “legitimate” a designated FTO and thus interfere with US foreign 
policy and alliances with other nations. Roberts was persuaded by the gov-
ernment’s argument that providing material support to a designated FTO, 
even “seemingly benign” or lawful, “bolsters the terrorist activities of that 
organization.”58 He then provided some examples of hypothetical scenarios 
of such bolstering.

According to Roberts, the PKK could use training on “how to use human-
itarian and international law to peacefully resolve disputes” in order to 
“pursue peaceful negotiation as a means of buying time to recover from short-
term setbacks, lulling opponents into complacency, and ultimately pre-
paring for renewed attacks.” He continued, “A foreign terrorist organization, 
introduced to the structures of the international legal system might use the 
information to threaten, manipulate, and disrupt.” Roberts added, “This pos-
sibility is real, not remote.”59

Roberts dismissed the dissenting opinion, which “fails to address the real 
dangers at stake.” He wrote, “In the dissent’s world, such training is all to the 
good,” but the legislative and executive branches of government “have con-
cluded we live in a different world: one in which the designated foreign ter-
rorist organizations ‘are so tainted by their criminal conduct that any contri-
bution to such an organization facilitates that conduct.’ ”60

Justice Stephen J. Breyer wrote the dissenting opinion, joined by Justice 
Ruth Bader Ginsburg and Justice Sonia Sotomayor. Breyer did not believe 
the government had met its burden of showing “that an interpretation of 
the statute that would prohibit this speech- and association-related activity 
serves the Government’s compelling interest in combatting terrorism.”61 
He insisted, “Not even the ‘serious and deadly problem’ of international ter-
rorism can require automatic forfeiture of First Amendment rights.”62 Rob-
erts’s argument about bolstering presented “no natural stopping place” 
where lawful activities could be used to serve terrorist ends.63 Mere coordi-
nation with a designated FTO was not sufficient to eliminate First Amend-
ment protections. Breyer argued that the statute should be interpreted as 
prohibiting activity whereby one “purposefully intends it to help terrorism” 
or “knows (or willfully blinds himself to the fact) that the activity is signifi-
cantly likely to assist terrorism.”64

This distinction between knowingly supporting terrorist activities and 
supporting or engaging in lawful activities was a distinction for which Cole 
had advocated since the late 1980s. A week after the decision, Cole wrote an 
article in the New York Review of Books entitled “The Roberts Court’s Free Speech 
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Problem,” where he began by contrasting the Roberts Court’s upholding of 
Congress’s material support restrictions on forms of advocacy in Holder v. Hu-
manitarian Law Project, while striking down a regulation of organizations’ 
campaign spending as a restriction on a form of protected speech that violated 
the First Amendment a few months earlier in Citizens United v. Federal Election 
Commission (2010).65

Cole argued that the Roberts Court’s decision in Humanitarian Law Project 
presented a serious threat to association and advocacy. He gave a series of ex-
amples, including former President Jimmy Carter’s monitoring elections in 
Lebanon in June 2009, an action that could have led to prosecution under ma-
terial support for “expert advice” to Hezbollah, a designated FTO. He also 
noted that when newspapers published opinion pieces by Hamas leaders, they 
were providing a “service,” which could constitute material support for 
Hamas, a designated FTO.66

Cole was also disturbed by Chief Justice Roberts’s supposition on how ad-
vising might be manipulated to serve terrorist activities, in contrast to the 
“heavy burden of justification on the government” and evidence he required 
in Citizens United. Cole observed that in Humanitarian Law Project, “Once the gov-
ernment invoked national security and the war on terror, the Court simply 
deferred to rank speculation,” instead of requiring “hard evidence” and eval-
uating the restriction under strict scrutiny, as required for content-based re-
strictions on speech. Cole concluded, “When the Court allows unsupported 
speculation about ‘terrorism’ and disapproval of a speaker’s viewpoint to jus-
tify making advocacy of human rights a crime, the First Amendment as we 
know it is in serious jeopardy.”67 The Roberts Court had chosen to uphold 
the government’s use of material support laws to suppress speech and jus-
tify guilt by association.

In the years that followed, questions continued to arise over material 
support provisions and free expression and association. Scholars and ana-
lysts voiced concern over reports of making the Muslim Brotherhood a 
designated terrorist organization, warning of the consequences to foreign re-
lations and the potential of provoking extremism, as well as the ramifications 
for research and academic exchange in the United States and throughout 
the Middle East, including speech chilling and potential prosecution.68 The 
decision in Humanitarian Law Project also raised questions about liability and 
prosecution of social media platforms under antiterrorism laws for pro-
viding material support to designated terrorist organizations using their 
products.69
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Extreme Vetting

In his farewell address in 1796, President George Washington had warned 
about the danger posed by foreign influence and partiality to one nation, as 
well as political factions for such factions “are likely, in the course of time and 
things, to become potent engines, by which cunning, ambitious, and unprin-
cipled men will be enabled to subvert the power of the people and to usurp 
for themselves the reins of government.” Washington also emphasized the 
importance of the separation of powers within the federal government and 
guarding against too much power held by one department without a check 
by others.70

The Trump administration would test Washington’s warnings. Deep po
litical divisions within the nation led to and have continued through the 
Trump presidency. Accusations of President Trump’s abuse of power, ob-
struction, and partiality to Russia and its president, Vladimir Putin, have 
also persisted. Yet, it was the separation of powers that proved most salient 
during the first few years of the Trump administration. Trump’s focus on 
immigration restrictions, including extreme vetting policies, demonstrated 
how much authority and ultimate discretion the executive branch holds, as 
well as the extent of judicial deference to that authority under the plenary 
power doctrine.

On June 16, 2015, Donald J. Trump, a New York real estate developer and 
reality television celebrity, announced his candidacy for president of the 
United States with a vow to “Make America Great Again.” While he did not 
define what he considered the factors that would constitute a “great” nation, 
he did specify the source of subversion within the United States and what he 
believed was not making America great. In his announcement he referred to 
Mexican immigrants as “rapists” and “bringing crime” across the border.71 At 
campaign rallies he told his supporters he would deport illegal immigrants, 
build a wall between Mexico and the United States to prevent illegal immi-
gration, and have Mexico pay for the wall.72 Trump also targeted Muslims in 
his remarks as the source of subversion and terrorism within the United 
States. Stating that he thought “Islam hates us,” he suggested government sur-
veillance of mosques and perhaps establishing a Muslim database, and he 
called for a “total and complete shutdown of Muslims entering the United 
States” in the wake of the mass shooting terrorist attack in San Bernardino, 
California by a Muslim couple in 2015.73

After becoming the Republican nominee, Trump gave a speech in 
Youngstown, Ohio, on August 15, 2016, in which he proposed what appeared 
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to be a revised version of his Muslim ban to “temporarily suspend immigra-
tion from some of the most dangerous and volatile regions in the world that 
have a history of exporting terrorism.” He also declared his intention to “Make 
America Great Again” by implementing a screening test for immigrants and 
visitors and to admit only “those who share our values and respect our people” 
into the United States. “In the Cold War, we had an ideological screening test,” 
Trump said. “The time is long overdue to develop a new screening test for the 
threats we face today. I call it extreme vetting.”74

With the election of Trump to the presidency, many were troubled by his 
campaign promises and concerned he would implement his policy proposals. 
Three days after the election, the New York Times published a letter from ACLU 
Executive Director Anthony Romero addressed to President-elect Trump. It 
included a list of Trump’s campaign promises and described them as “un-
American” as well as “unconstitutional.” Romero warned, “If you do not re-
verse course and endeavor to make these campaign promises a reality, you 
will have to contend with the full firepower of the ACLU at your every step.” 
He concluded, “Our staff of litigators and activists in every state, thousands 
of volunteers, and millions of supporters stand ready to fight against any en-
croachment on our cherished freedoms and rights.”75 Helping to lead this 
fight would be David Cole, the ACLU’s new national legal director. The ACLU 
had also launched a new donation campaign with a picture of Trump and the 
words “See You in Court.”76

Over the next three years, the Trump administration focused on restricting 
legal and illegal immigration through exclusion, detention, denaturaliza-
tion, and deportation efforts. Using executive orders and changes to rules 
within the USCIS and DHS, the Trump administration attempted to elimi-
nate asylum protections, temporary protected status, prosecutorial dis-
cretion and deferred action in deportation cases, and legal permanent resi-
dency for use of public assistance under the likely to become a “public 
charge” immigration exclusion first introduced in the nineteenth century. 
Stephen Miller, senior policy advisor to the president and a staunch im-
migration restrictionist, was largely responsible for orchestrating these 
efforts.77

Shortly after President Trump’s inauguration, he began to fulfill his cam-
paign promises, including implementing the extreme vetting he had men-
tioned on the campaign trail. This vetting included using social media to ideo-
logically exclude and chill speech, as well as Trump’s first initiative—the travel 
ban—designed by Stephen Miller. The ACLU would see Trump in court.
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The Travel Ban

On January 27, 2017, Trump signed Executive Order 13769: “Protecting the 
Nation from Foreign Terrorist Entry into the United States,” citing his au-
thority under Section 212(f) of the McCarran-Walter Act. It was the foreign 
policy presidential proclamation provision that allowed the president to sus-
pend the entry of any foreigner or class of foreigners or place restrictions on 
their entry if the president determines that entry would be “detrimental to 
the US interest.”78

Trump cited visa issuance as crucial to national security and the failure 
of State Department policies to prevent the 9 / 11 terrorists from entering the 
United States. His executive order stated, “The United States must be vigilant 
during the visa-issuance process to ensure that those approved for admission 
do not intend to harm Americans and that they have no ties to terrorism.” It 
continued, “In order to protect Americans, the United States must ensure that 
those admitted to this country do not bear hostile attitudes toward it and its 
founding principles. The United States cannot, and should not, admit those 
who do not support the Constitution, or those who would place violent ide-
ologies over American law.” It added, “The United States should not admit 
those who engage in acts of bigotry or hatred (including ‘honor’ killings, other 
forms of violence against women, or the persecution of those who practice 
religions different from their own) or those who would oppress Americans 
of any race, gender, or sexual orientation.”79

Trump insisted that to ensure proper security screenings and verification 
of those admitted to the United States, he needed to lower admitted refugees 
from 110,000 to 50,000, bar refugees from Syria indefinitely, bar refugees 
from all other countries for 120 days, bar entry from Muslim-majority coun-
tries Iran, Iraq, Libya, Somalia, Sudan, Syria, and Yemen for ninety days, and 
prioritize admission of refugees from minority religions based on religious 
persecution. Trump claimed these countries currently did not have sufficient 
security screenings in place.80

The Trump administration had not provided any guidance to CBP agents 
or DHS officials regarding the implementation of this travel ban.81 There was 
chaos at airports in the United States reminiscent of Ellis Island during the 
implementation of the McCarran Act of 1950. Foreigners who fell under the 
ban were in-flight, about to get on planes with visas in hand, or in the pro
cess of obtaining visas. Those within the United States were unsure about the 
status of relatives, friends, and colleagues subject to the ban or their own 
status if they left the country and tried to reenter. Lawyers rushed to the 
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airports to provide legal assistance to arrivals subject to the travel ban, and 
thousands rushed to protest the ban and welcome arrivals.82 Some held 
signs stating “We are a nation of immigrants,” “No hate no fear, refugees are 
welcome here,” and “No ban, no wall.” Many recalled Trump’s campaign 
promise to ban all Muslims from the United States. To them, this executive 
order was not just a travel ban; it was Trump’s Muslim ban.83

On January 28, Romero and ACLU attorneys including Omar C. Jadwat, 
the director of the ACLU Immigrants’ Rights Project, and the deputy director, 
Lee Gelernt, arrived at the US district court in Brooklyn, New York, to request 

Protesters rally against President Trump’s travel ban in front of Tom Bradley 
International Terminal at Los Angeles International Airport on  

January 29, 2017
Christine Chew / UPI / Alamy Stock Photo.
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a stay of removal and restraining order to immediately stop the travel ban. 
Outside the courthouse a large crowd had gathered and chanted “A-C-L-U, 
We are here, We Stand with you!”84 US District Court Judge Ann Donnelly 
issued the stay and a nationwide injunction stopping the travel ban. She held 
that the ban would cause “irreparable harm” if implemented and that there 
was a likelihood of success in establishing that the ban was unconstitutional 
insofar as it violated due process and equal protection rights.85

Over the course of the next month, more federal judges would issue tem-
porary restraining orders or injunctions to stop the travel ban. There were 
more federal district court decisions, more appeals to the circuit courts, and 
more revisions to the travel ban in response to these decisions.86 In March 
2017, the Trump administration revised the travel ban; it removed Iraq from 
the list and added North Korea, Chad, and Venezuela. It changed the indefi-
nite restriction on Syrian refugees to 120 days; removed the minority reli-
gions priority; exempted lawful permanent residents, dual nationals trav-
eling on unrestricted country passports, and those already in the United 
States or already in possession of a valid visa; and expanded a waiver provi-
sion included within the travel ban to admit those foreign nationals with 
significant contacts or facing undue hardship due to the ban.87

On June 26, 2017, the Supreme Court issued a per curiam (from the court) 
opinion in which it agreed to hear appeals from cases in the upcoming 
term. It also granted a stay of the injunctions, which allowed the revised 
travel ban to go into effect, but only in regard to those who did not have a 
“bona fide relationship with an entity or person in the United States.”88 
During the next few months, there were more rulings in the district and cir
cuit courts, and the district court case in Hawaii headed for the Supreme 
Court. In 2018, DHS announced the implementation of “enhanced security 
procedures for refugees.”89

The main legal arguments against the travel ban included a statutory 
and constitutional argument. The statutory argument contended that the 
travel ban exceeded the authority granted by Congress to the President, in-
cluding overriding existing terrorist prevention schemes. It also contra-
dicted the Hart-Celler Act of 1965, which prohibited preference or discrim-
ination in the issuance of immigrant visas based on race, sex, nationality, 
place of residence, or place of birth. This was the provision that repealed the 
discriminatory national origins quotas in the Johnson-Reed Act of 1924. 
While Section 212(f) of the McCarran-Walter Act of 1952 gave Trump broad 
discretion to exclude, that discretion was bounded by congressional action 
and legislation.90
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The constitutional argument charged that the travel ban was discrimina-
tory because it violated the Establishment Clause under the First Amendment. 
The Establishment Clause prohibits the government from favoring or disfa-
voring one religion over another and from displaying religious animus. If the 
government action intended to disfavor a particular religion, it violated the 
Establishment Clause. The text of the first travel ban included all Muslim 
majority countries and a preference for religious minorities. Trump’s state-
ments during his presidential campaign calling for a Muslim ban could dem-
onstrate this violation, but they raised questions about using campaign 
statements as evidence against presidential policies. Yet, Trump had not dis-
avowed his campaign statements or the first travel ban, which he continued 
to embrace and identify as the strongest iteration of the ban.91 Furthermore, 
when former New York City Mayor Rudy Giuliani, Trump’s personal lawyer 
and advisor, appeared on television a day after Trump announced the travel 
ban, Giuliani explained that Trump had called him after his campaign an-
nouncement of the Muslim ban and asked Giuliani how to “do it legally.”92

The main legal argument in defense of the travel ban was the president’s 
broad, ultimate discretion under Section 212(f) and judicial deference to the 
President and Congress under the plenary power doctrine. Under Kleindienst 
v. Mandel (1972), Trump needed a “facially legitimate and bona fide reason” to 
exclude, and the court should not “look behind” his reason. On its face, the 
travel ban did not ban Muslims, not all Muslim majority countries were listed 
in the revised ban, and Trump had articulated his reason for the ban—or, 
more precisely, articulated what he claimed was a facially legitimate and bona 
fide reason: namely, national security.93

Once again, the Supreme Court would have to confront the plenary power 
doctrine and decide whether it would defer to the executive branch and apply 
the “facially legitimate and bona fide reason” standard or evaluate the execu-
tive’s decision and use of discretion under strict scrutiny and First Amend-
ment standards. It would also confront its own legacy upholding the consti-
tutionality of discrimination against and internment of Japanese Americans 
in the name of national security. In that regard, there was one Supreme Court 
precedent that was mentioned repeatedly in federal court decisions and public 
discussions in comparison to the travel ban.

In Korematsu v. United States (1944), the court held that Executive Order 9066 
authorizing internment did not violate equal protection under the Constitu-
tion and deferred to the judgment of Congress and the executive under their 
war power authority that those of Japanese descent were disloyal and posed 
an internal threat to the United States.94 The solicitor general had misled the 
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court regarding this threat and knowingly suppressed an official naval intel-
ligence report, which described Japanese Americans as posing little risk to 
national security.95 In 1983, a federal district court judge overturned Fred 
Korematsu’s conviction in light of this deception, and in 1988, President 
Reagan signed the Civil Liberties Act, which paid reparations to individuals 
who were interned and issued a formal apology.96 Yet, the decision in Kore-
matsu, upholding the constitutionality of internment, remained and had 
never been overturned in the Supreme Court.

In his dissenting opinion in Korematsu, Justice Robert Jackson issued a 
warning about the consequences of the court’s decision and violations of the 
nation’s values and protections in the name of national security: “Once a ju-
dicial opinion rationalizes such an order to show that it conforms to the 
Constitution, . . . ​the principle then lies about like a loaded weapon, ready for 
the hand of any authority that can bring forward a plausible claim of an ur-
gent need. Every repetition imbeds that principle more deeply in our law and 
thinking and expands it to new purposes.”97

On June 26, 2018, in Trump v. Hawaii, a 5–4 decision, the Supreme Court 
upheld Trump’s travel ban.98 Writing for the majority, Chief Justice Roberts 
found that Trump had not exceeded his authority and broad discretion under 
Section 212(f) and that the court should defer to his authority and discretion 
to exclude. Roberts was familiar with Section 212(f) from his work in the 
Reagan administration and cited Reagan’s use of the proclamation provision 
as part of US foreign policy efforts. He noted that other presidents had used 
Section 212(f) to bar from specific countries, that doing so was entirely within 
the scope of the statute, and that it did not violate the Hart-Celler Act’s pro-
hibitions. The travel ban was not discriminatory; it focused on inadequate in-
formation and security protocols within the countries listed in the ban. Ac-
cordingly, the ban’s aim was to put pressure on those countries, while 
protecting the United States.

Roberts cited the inclusion of a waiver provision and case-by-case review 
as support for upholding the travel ban, and he rejected claims that Trump’s 
findings of inadequate information and security protocols were insufficient 
and unpersuasive. Roberts insisted Section 212(f) required Trump to “make” 
a finding that entry would be “detrimental to the interests of the United States,” 
not to “explain that finding with sufficient detail to enable judicial review.”99

Roberts also held that the travel ban did not violate the Establishment 
Clause. He dismissed Trump’s statements during his campaign and while 
president, and held that Trump had a “facially legitimate and bona fide reason” 
to exclude. Even applying a rational basis standard and looking behind the 
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reason, he found “the entry policy is plausibly related to the Government’s 
stated objective to protect the country and improve vetting processes.”100

Roberts rejected comparisons with Korematsu v. United States: the “forcible 
relocation of US citizens to concentration camps, solely and explicitly on 
the basis of race, is objectively unlawful and outside the scope of Presidential 
authority.” Trump’s travel ban, by contrast, was a “facially neutral policy de-
nying certain foreign nationals the privilege of admission. The entry suspen-
sion is an act that is well within executive authority and could have been 
taken by any other President.” Roberts described Korematsu as “gravely wrong 
the day it was decided,” and it “has been overruled in the court of history,” 
with ‘no place in law under the Constitution.’ ”101

In a dissenting opinion, Justice Sotomayor, joined by Justice Ginsburg, at-
tacked the chief justice and the majority for blatantly ignoring the facts—
namely, that Trump’s campaign statements and those made after he became 
president revealed his intent and religious animus and that the travel ban vet-
ting was a pretext used to enact a Muslim ban. “The United States of Amer
ica is a Nation built upon the promise of religious liberty. Our Founders hon-
ored that core promise by embedding the principle of religious neutrality in 
the First Amendment,” she wrote. “The Court’s decision today fails to safe-
guard that fundamental principle. It leaves undisturbed a policy first adver-
tised openly and unequivocally as a ‘total and complete shutdown of Mus-
lims entering the United States’ because the policy now masquerades behind 
a façade of national-security concerns.” Sotomayor described revisions to the 
travel ban as “repackaging,” which did “little to cleanse” it “of the appearance 
of discrimination.” She argued, based on Trump’s own words, that “a reason-
able observer would conclude that the Proclamation was motivated by anti-
Muslim animus. That alone suffices to show that plaintiffs are likely to suc-
ceed on the merits of their Establishment Clause claim.” Sotomayor charged 
Roberts and the majority with “turning a blind eye to the pain and suffering 
the Proclamation inflicts upon countless families and individuals, many of 
whom are United States citizens.”102

Sotomayor rejected the use of the “facially legitimate and bona fide reason” 
standard applied to exclusion. As Justice Thurgood Marshall had argued in 
his dissenting opinion in Kleindienst v. Mandel, she argued for applying First 
Amendment standards of review to determine the constitutionality of an ex-
clusion charged with violating the First Amendment. Sotomayor found 
Roberts’s approach perplexing “given that in other Establishment Clause 
cases, including those involving claims of religious animus or discrimination, 
this Court has applied a more stringent standard of review.”103
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Sotomayor concluded by addressing Korematsu v. United States, which pre-
sented “stark parallels” with the reasoning in the court’s holding. “As here, the 
Government invoked an ill-defined national-security threat to justify an 
exclusionary policy of sweeping proportion,” she wrote of Korematsu. “As 
here, the exclusion order was rooted in dangerous stereotypes about a 
particular group’s supposed inability to assimilate and desire to harm the 
United States.” While Sotomayor appreciated Roberts’s repudiation of Ko-
rematsu, it did not absolve the majority from its decision in this case. “By 
blindly accepting the Government’s misguided invitation to sanction a dis-
criminatory policy motivated by animosity toward a disfavored group, all 
in the name of a superficial claim of national security, the Court redeploys 
the same dangerous logic underlying Korematsu and merely replaces one 
‘gravely wrong’ decision with another.”104

Justice Breyer also wrote a dissenting opinion, joined by Justice Elena 
Kagan. Breyer focused on the waiver provision in Trump’s travel ban, permit-
ting case-by-case review and admission under exemptions to the ban. He 
believed this waiver system was an indicator of the intentions and constitu-
tionality of the ban, since a review of its application should “make clear” that 
it did not intend to “deny visas to numerous Muslim individuals (from those 
countries) who do not pose a security threat.” In his review of the implemen-
tation of the waiver system, Breyer found evidence that the government was 
“not applying the Proclamation as written.”105

In the first month, only two waivers were approved out of 6,555 eligible 
applicants. While the government claimed that number increased to 430 in 
the first four months, Breyer found that number “miniscule” compared to the 
number of applicants. He noted a significant drop in number of student 
visas and nonimmigrant visas from countries affected by the ban, pro
cessing errors, as well as discrepancies between waiver determinations by 
consular officials in different countries. Officials did not receive guidance on 
how to exercise their discretion to enforce the ban and to issue waivers. 
Breyer wrote, “Given the importance of the decision in this case, the need for 
assurance that the Proclamation does not rest upon a ‘Muslim ban,’ and the 
assistance in deciding the issue that answers to the ‘exemption and waiver’ 
questions may provide, I would send this case back to the District Court 
for further proceedings.”106

Breyer’s concern about the waivers not only cast doubt on the travel ban’s 
constitutionality, but also raised concern about the current and future im-
plementation of the ban. His discussion of waivers recalled those under the 
McCarran-Walter Act for ideological exclusions under Section 212(a)(28) and 
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the use and abuse of discretion to deny them. He also provided guidance for 
future constitutional challenges to the travel ban in federal district court.

The decision in Trump v. Hawaii was a split decision that fell along ideo-
logical lines—liberal and conservative. The “swing” justice and deciding vote 
in the case was Justice Anthony Kennedy. He joined the majority but wrote 
a separate concurring opinion, which appeared to be a direct instruction, or 
perhaps a concerned plea, to Trump and consular officials regarding their use 
of discretion.

While government officials’ words and actions may not all be reviewable 
by the court, “that does not mean those officials are free to disregard the Con-
stitution and the rights it proclaims and protects,” Kennedy wrote. “Indeed, 
the very fact that an official may have broad discretion, discretion free from 
judicial scrutiny, makes it all the more imperative for him or her to adhere to 
the Constitution and to its meaning and its promise.”107 Kennedy insisted, “It 
is an urgent necessity that officials adhere to these constitutional guarantees 
[of freedom of belief and expression] and mandates in all their actions, even 
in the sphere of foreign affairs.” He added, “An anxious world must know that 
our Government remains committed always to the liberties the Constitution 
seeks to preserve and protect, so that freedom extends outward, and lasts.”108

A few days later, Kennedy announced his retirement from the Supreme 
Court, and Trump v. Hawaii (2018) would become part of his legacy on the 
court. Kennedy’s decision to defer to Trump and his authority evoked the ap-
prehensions and forewarnings articulated by Democratic-Republican Con-
gressman Albert Gallatin in his response to the Alien Friends Act of 1798 
and the tremendous power and discretion it left to President John Adams. “Is 
that a government of laws which leaves us no security but in the confidence 
we have in the moderation and patriotism of one man?”109

Social Media and Speech Chilling

In April 2017, Jameel Jaffer issued a call for concern regarding Trump’s ex-
treme vetting policy and ideological exclusion. As an attorney working at the 
ACLU, Jaffer had represented Tariq Ramadan and Adam Habib and had chal-
lenged their exclusions. Jaffer was now the executive director of the Knight 
First Amendment Institute at Columbia University, a legal organization that 
“defends the freedoms of speech and press in the digital age through strategic 
litigation, research, and public education.”110

In an article entitled “Censorship at the Border Threatens Free Speech Ev-
erywhere,” published by Just Security, Jaffer warned of potential ideological 
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exclusions under the Trump administration. He described foreign visitors 
and Americans detained and interrogated about their travels, associations, 
beliefs, and activities at the border by CBP agents, who also asked for their 
cellphones or laptops. The Trump administration was considering a require-
ment that noncitizens disclose their social media handles, in addition to an-
swering questions about their beliefs and associations, as a condition of ad-
mission. Jaffer wrote, “The aim is to empower consular and border officials 
to ensure that would-be visitors to the United States embrace American 
values, a concept that the Trump administration has not defined.”111

Jaffer drew on his experience and representation—recalling that in the 
Habib and Ramadan cases he had learned that under its foreign affairs 
manual, “the State Department instructed consular officers that the Pa-
triot Act authorized them to exclude foreign nationals who had voiced 
‘irresponsible expressions of opinion.’ ” As Trump had mentioned ideo-
logical restrictions during the Cold War, Jaffer also looked back at those 
restrictions. He briefly turned to history and exclusions under the McCarran-
Walter Act, mentioning its passage over President Truman’s veto and 
criticisms, as well as the exclusions under it including Dario Fo, Gabriel 
García Márquez, and Nino Pasti. Such exclusions proved embarrassing to 
the United States, he said, and were “a testament to official paranoia and 
closed-mindedness.”112

What worried Jaffer was not just turning back the clock, but turning back 
the clock with social media as a tool. He predicted that such a use of social 
media and revival of ideological exclusion under extreme vetting would be 
more “pernicious” than during the Cold War. Jaffer noted, everyone carries 
their expressions, associations, and beliefs on their phones or laptops. Con-
sular officials and CBP agents can inspect texts, as well as tweets, posts, likes, 
and retweets on social media and interpret their meaning and significance. 
While such content includes inquiry or browsing and does not necessarily 
reflect the device owner’s views or opinions, now all of it had the potential 
to be used by officials to exclude individuals at the border or deny visa ap-
plications at their discretion.113

Jaffer argued that this use of social media would not only lead to capri-
cious and discriminatory exclusions, but also to a chilling effect on expres-
sion and association and to self-censorship. Foreign visitors, immigrants, and 
American citizens inside and outside the United States may be hesitant to 
follow groups or post, like, or tweet expressions that might be suspicious, 
fearing that doing so could lead to their exclusion from the United States or 
from other countries.114
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A month later, in May 2017, as part of enhanced screening, the State De-
partment required visa applicants to fill out a supplemental form, DS-5535, 
which asked applicants to list their employment history, contacts and ad-
dresses, and social media and email accounts and handles for the past fif-
teen years.115 This screening was quite similar to the lists of organizations 
and affiliations visa applicants had to complete beginning in the 1950s under 
the McCarran Act.

A year after Jaffer issued his warning, Carrie DeCell, one of his colleagues 
at the Knight First Amendment Institute, wrote an article in the Guardian with 
an update on Trump’s extreme vetting initiative. DeCell described examples 
of a recent pattern of cases of foreign-born activists who had been denied 
entry to the United States, as well as an increase of interrogations of Amer-
ican activists and inspections of cell phones and social media at the border.116 
In April 2018, Australian Muslim activist Yassmin Abdel-Magied was sched-
uled to speak at the PEN World Voices Festival. Upon arrival, CBP agents 
pulled her aside, inspected her phone, and “following a minute-long review 
of her case,” denied her entry and cancelled her visa. They claimed that Abdel-
Magied was traveling on the wrong visa, despite her having obtained that 
visa for her previous trips to the United States to attend similar events. Shaun 
King is an American journalist and civil rights activist. Returning from a trip 
to Cairo with his family, King was detained and questioned about his travels 
and role in Black Lives Matter. According to King, the CBP agent had “clearly 
been reading my tweets and knew all about me.”117

DeCell also included selective deportation as an example of “muzzling” 
activists and chilling speech under extreme vetting. One case involved 
New Sanctuary Coalition executive director and immigration activist Ravi 
Ragbir. An immigrant from Trinidad, Ragbir had been living and working 
in New York City under an order of deportation after he lost his legal per-
manent resident status due to a criminal conviction. Ragbir’s deportation 
order was in deferred action, and he was not a priority to be deported. This 
changed when Ragbir voiced his criticism of Trump’s immigration policies, 
and he was detained during a routine check-in with ICE on January  11, 
2018. His lawyers filed a writ of habeas corpus to get him released and were 
successful in their challenge to his selective deportation as a violation of the 
First Amendment.118

It remains unclear for how long the Government will retain records of ap-
plicants’ social media and other online activities, if it will use social media to 
continue to monitor applicants and their activities, and how information col-
lected will be interpreted and used to inform immigration decisions. “This is 
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censorship under the guise of immigration enforcement,” DeCell wrote. “The 
public has a right to know how the administration is conducting its new ide-
ological screening test, and at what cost to the broader public discourse.” On 
behalf of the Knight First Amendment Institute, DeCell filed a Freedom of In-
formation Act (FOIA) request and pursued litigation to obtain information 
about individuals who have been excluded, what information is being col-
lected from visa applicants, and how it is being used.119

On June 13, 2018, the Brennan Center for Justice sent a letter to Congress 
signed by forty-six civil liberties and human rights organizations, including 
the ACLU and the Knight First Amendment Institute. The letter requested 
congressional oversight of the Trump administration’s extreme vetting poli-
cies. It called on Congress to obtain information on the implementation of 
ideological exclusion and the decisions to grant waivers under the travel ban. 
Given that the administration provided “no policies, procedures, or guidelines 
governing the issuance of waivers,” the letter demanded that Congress require 
the State Department and USCIS to provide criteria used for waiver denials 
and for visa denials.120

The letter concluded by asking Congress to “fulfill its constitutional duty 
to the American people to serve as a check on the Executive.”121 The courts 
could no longer serve as the only check on the Trump presidency and the 
travel ban. It was now time for Congress to step in.

The attacks of 9 / 11 ushered the United States into the War on Terror, with a 
focus on fear versus freedom. Congress passed new laws including the USA 
PATRIOT Act and retained and revised material support of terrorist organ
izations provisions introduced in the 1990s. New agencies in DHS such as 
USCIS and CBP turned to old methods to suppress dissent and criticism of 
US foreign and domestic policies, including ideological exclusion. New legal 
challenges to these exclusions as violating Americans’ First Amendment right 
to receive information and to hear revived old arguments against exclusions 
as threatening freedom of speech, impeding academic inquiry, undermining 
democracy, and depicting the United States as a fearful, insecure nation.

In his opinion in Holder v. Humanitarian Law Project (2010), Chief Justice Rob-
erts upheld the constitutionality of a statute criminalizing material support 
to terrorist organizations and deferred to the executive and legislative 
branches. Roberts issued a similar opinion in Trump v. Hawaii (2018), defer-
ring to the executive branch under the plenary power doctrine and the pres-
ident’s authority and ultimate discretion under the presidential proclamation 
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provision in the McCarran-Walter Act. In both cases, judicial deference out-
weighed First Amendment arguments and protections when restrictions per-
tained to national security, terrorism, and foreign policy.

David Cole expressed his concern regarding the use of material support 
statutes as a backdoor to suppression of dissent and guilt by association, 
which would chill speech and prevent the exercise of First Amendment free-
doms. He drew on his litigation from the late 1980s through the 1990s during 
the transition from the Cold War to the War on Terror, as well as his knowl-
edge of the past and its connection with the present. Jameel Jaffer cited his 
representation of individuals facing ideological exclusion after 9 / 11 while 
working at the ACLU, when he issued his warning about extreme vetting 
during the Trump administration and DHS officials’ use of content on so-
cial media to potentially deny visas and bar foreign visitors from entry. Like 
Cole, Jaffer saw similarities not only with the recent past, but also with the 
Cold War.

The accounts of the effects of the travel ban included the separation of fam-
ilies and spouses without recourse, long delays, and problems with ob-
taining waivers.122 Those within the United States and those barred under the 
travel ban described its waiver system as discriminatory and its implementa-
tion as arbitrary and capricious. Following the Supreme Court’s decision in 
Trump v. Hawaii, they brought lawsuits calling its legality into question, as Jus-
tice Breyer had done in his dissenting opinion. While the Supreme Court 
upheld the constitutionality of Trump’s travel ban under Section 212(f) of the 
McCarran-Walter Act, these lawsuits and evaluations of the waiver system by 
federal courts could curtail or even end its implementation.123

On April 10, 2019, Congresswoman Judy Chu (D-CA) and over a dozen 
of her colleagues in the House of Representatives heeded the call to serve as 
a check on the executive branch and introduced the “NO BAN Act” (National 
Origin-Based Antidiscrimination for Nonimmigrants Act). The act was in-
tended to repeal the travel ban and amend the Hart-Celler Act to prohibit 
discrimination based on religion. It also included congressional oversight and 
placed limitations on the executive branch’s discretion and power to restrict 
under the presidential proclamation provision. The act required the president, 
the State Department, and DHS to provide specific evidence to justify a sus-
pension or restriction on entry to the United States and applied strict scru-
tiny to the president’s order, requiring the executive branch to “narrowly tailor 
the suspension or restriction to meet a compelling government interest.”124

In late August  2019, Ismail Ajjawi, a seventeen-year-old Palestinian 
from Lebanon, traveled to the United States to start his freshman year as an 
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undergraduate student at Harvard University. According to Ajjawi, he 
spent eight hours at Boston Logan International Airport. During this pe-
riod, CBP agents searched the content on his phone and laptop, questioned 
him, and then deemed Ajjawi “inadmissible” to enter the United States and 
revoked his visa. Ajjawi told the Harvard Crimson that during the questioning, 
one of the agents “started screaming at me. She said that she found people 
posting political points of view that oppose the US on my friend[s] list.” He 
told her, “I have no business with such posts and that I didn’t like, [s]hare or 
comment on them and told her that I shouldn’t be held responsible for 
what others post.”125

Ajjawi’s exclusion received widespread social media and national and in-
ternational press attention discussing his exclusion. Apparently, he was not 
the only student who had difficulty entering the United States. A month 
earlier, Harvard University President Lawrence Bacow wrote to Secretary of 
State Mike Pompeo and Acting DHS Secretary Kevin McAleenan to complain 
that international students and instructors were experiencing an increase in 
visa delays and denials that were “making these scholars’ attendance and en-
gagement in the university unpredictable and anxiety-ridden.”126 Harvard 
University and Ajjawi’s scholarship sponsor organization, America-Middle 
East Educational and Training Service (AMIDEAST), intervened to help Aj-
jawi gain admission to the United States. Their intervention, in addition to 
international attention and protests, worked. A week later, Ajjawi was allowed 
to return to the United States just in time to attend his first day of classes at 
Harvard on September 3.127

Ajjawi’s exclusion was precisely what Jaffer and Carrie DeCell had warned 
could happen if DHS officials used social media to ideologically exclude. The 
next student, scholar, or visitor might not receive the same attention when 
he or she is excluded for similar reasons. “The chilling effects of incidents like 
these ripple through communities far beyond Harvard’s incoming freshman 
class, resulting in widespread self-censorship on social media and threatening 
intellectual freedom,” said DeCell in her response to the Ajjawi case.128

When Donald Trump mentioned the Cold War ideological screening test 
when he introduced extreme vetting, it was a sign that he wanted to go back-
ward. Yet, this process had already begun. The ideological exclusions during 
the Cold War continued with the shift to the War on Terror. While the 
McCarran-Walter Act provisions used to ideologically exclude were gone, the 
use of material support to terrorist organizations had replaced them as a tool 
of political repression by using guilt by association. The use of social media 
as a way to suppress dissent through exclusion and deportation was new but 
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the use of associations and expressions to bar or eject individuals from the 
United States resulting in speech chilling and self-censorship was not. An ex-
amination of the War on Terror reveals that perhaps the best description of 
the history of ideological exclusion and deportation may be Jean-Baptiste Al-
phonse Karr’s epigram, “plus ça change, plus c’est la même chose” (“the more that 
changes, the more it’s the same thing”).
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T HE HISTORY OF ideological exclusion and deportation in the United States 
is not a history about vast numbers of foreign-born visitors or immigrants 
who were barred or expelled on the basis of belief, expression, or association. 
For example, between 1900 and 1961, 1,230 “subversive or anarchistic” for-
eigners were barred from the United States out of 595,435 foreigners who 
were excluded. Between 1908 and 1961, 1,499 “subversive or anarchistic” for-
eigners were expelled from the United States out of 492,217 foreigners who 
were deported.1

These numbers may be negligible, but they do not reflect those foreigners 
who chose to leave or to never apply to visit the United States, those ordered 
deported but who never left, those detained for months or years, or those who 
were placed on supervisory parole. These numbers also do not reflect public 
officials’ attempts to suppress the threat of dissent or their perception and de-
piction of foreigners as the source of subversion. Nor, do these numbers 
show the exploitation of the vulnerability of foreign-born citizens and non-
citizens under the law, or their fear of deportation, exclusion, denaturaliza-
tion, and detention based on their past or present beliefs, expressions, and 
associations. These numbers reveal nothing about the chilling effect on ex-
pressions of dissent and on freedom of association, and intimidation felt by 
foreigners inside and outside the United States resulting in self-censorship. 
Nor can they capture the embarrassment and humiliation caused by the en-
forcement of ideological restrictions. These numbers will never be able to 
reflect the damage done to free exchange, literature, scientific discovery, aca-
demic inquiry, or to the identity of the United States as a liberal democracy 
and to its image and reputation abroad.

Conclusion
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The history of ideological exclusion and deportation in the United States 
is not a story of statistics, but rather one of political repression and fear. It is 
a narrative that can be traced through the passage, use, revision, and repeal 
of laws, as well as the legal challenges to these laws, which reveal a remark-
able consistency and continuity. Discretion and authority, as well as consti-
tutionality and judicial review, have been central to the conflicts that shape 
this history.

Public officials—including the president, secretary of labor, secretary of 
state, and the attorney general—have used existing ideological restrictions 
at their discretion to suppress the threat of dissent or urged members of Con-
gress to pass new ones in the name of national security. Some officials have 
tried to expel or bar as many foreigners as possible, while others have ex-
cluded or deported fewer foreigners, applying their ultimate and interpre-
tive discretion. They struggled to implement restrictions or used prosecuto-
rial discretion to delay or cancel deportations under them. Throughout the 
twentieth century, use of discretion reflected the personal views of the public 
officials and the perceptions and politics of the time. It also led to contention 
over enforcement of these laws—including conflicts among members of pres-
idential administrations, as well as tensions with members of Congress. 
Public officials who chose to use their authority to prevent deportations or 
exclusions faced interrogations over their exercise of ultimate, interpretive, 
and prosecutorial discretion by congressional committees, and officials had 
to defend themselves against efforts to oust them from their positions.

Tensions also emerged regarding the constitutionality of ideological ex-
clusion and deportation laws. The consolidation of unchecked authority to 
deport and exclude in the legislative and executive branches of government, 
which is vulnerable to abuse of power and arguably a violation of the separa-
tion of powers, has been a concern since the Alien Friends Act of 1798. Under 
the plenary power doctrine, the judicial branch defers to the legislative branch, 
which holds the power to pass, revise, and repeal immigration laws, including 
ideological exclusion and deportation provisions, and defers to the executive 
branch, which enforces these laws. This nineteenth century doctrine, based 
on legal precedent upholding Chinese exclusion, continues to insulate exclu-
sion and deportation cases from substantive judicial review.

First Amendment legal standards and constitutional due process protec-
tions for immigrants and noncitizens have also been points of contention that 
the Supreme Court and Congress have wrestled with throughout the twen-
tieth century and into the twenty-first. The majority of the Supreme Court 
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has acknowledged more rights and protections for citizens and noncitizens 
within the United States, including under the First Amendment, but it has 
been reluctant to stray from its application of the plenary power doctrine and 
deference under it. While the court has expanded judicial safeguards and 
applied strict scrutiny to restrictions on expression and association to pre-
vent viewpoint discrimination and censorship, it has not extended those 
safeguards and scrutiny to exclusion cases or these First Amendment pro-
tections to foreign noncitizens outside the United States. Congress and the 
majority of the court have also cast shadows over these constitutional pro-
tections by providing a back door to suppression through guilt by associa-
tion, including the conflation of action and speech within federal statutes 
that contain provisions that prohibit providing material support to ter-
rorist organizations.

An underlying perpetual fear of subversion, the perception of foreigners 
as the source of subversion, and the use of ideological exclusion and depor-
tation as a tool of political repression are not relegated to the past. While the 
persons feared, the beliefs, expressions, and associations deemed subversive, 
and the methods and technology used have shifted over time, the perceived 
threat of dissent remains. Congress has passed ideological restrictions, public 
officials have enforced them, and the Supreme Court has upheld their con-
stitutionality under the plenary power doctrine. This pattern will continue 
until Congress provides the proper safeguards and oversight to prevent ex-
clusions and deportations on the basis of belief, association, and expression, 
and the court reevaluates judicial deference under the plenary power doctrine 
and serves as a stronger check on the legislative and executive branches by 
applying strict scrutiny and current speech-protective First Amendment stan-
dards to ideological exclusions as well as deportations.
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FOIA	 Freedom of Information Act
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